
 

 

 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development 
Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting will be held both in person at the County Council Chambers, 100 Ribaut Road, 

Beaufort, and virtually through Zoom. 

Monday, November 20, 2023 
3:00 PM 

AGENDA 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
                    MARK LAWSON, CHAIRMAN                                                 ANNA MARIA TABERNIK, VICE-CHAIR 
                    DAVID P. BARTHOLOMEW                                                                                                                  GERALD DAWSON 
            YORK GLOVER                                                                           JOSEPH F. PASSIMENT, EX-OFFICIO 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES- September 18, 2023 

6. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address Council in a respectful 
manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of profane, abusive, or 
obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, giving of a speaker's 
time to another is not allowed.  

7. UPDATE FROM ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR - Patrick Hill 
 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

8. FINANCE DEPARTMENT UPDATE - Denise Christmas, Interim Deputy Administrator & Christine Webb, 
Director of Compliance 

9. GFOA AWARD FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR 2022  - Denise Christmas, Interim Deputy 
Administrator  

1



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

10. DISCUSSION AND AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE ACCOMMODATIONS TAX BOARD (2% STATE) 
- A-Tax Board Chairman Jonathan Sullivan 

11. DISCUSSION ON FUNDING FOR WORKFORCE HOUSING - John Robinson, Interim County Administrator 

12. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH BEAUFORT-JASPER WATER 
SEWER AUTHORITY AND THE TOWN OF BLUFFTON TO JOINTLY FUND THE INSTALLATION OF SEWER 
FACILITIES IN THE STONEY CREEK AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF PREVENTING FURTHER CONTAMINATION 
OF THE MAY RIVER HEADWATERS. (FISCAL IMPACT: this project was an original ARPA planned project. 
Total impact $1,000,000) - Hank Amundson, Special Assistant to the County Administrator 

13. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE DECLARING CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2 
MULLET STREET AS SURPLUS PROPERTY,  AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO 
EXECUTE ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR THE SALE OF THE REAL PROPERTY,  AND ALLOCATING 
PROCEEDS FROM THE SALE OF REAL PROPERTY  (FISCAL IMPACT: Proceeds from sale of real property to 
be used for expansion and improvement projects to the Alljoy Boat landing and surround area, any 
remaining funds to be allocated to the Capital Improvement Fund for other capital improvement 
projects in Beaufort County) - Brittany Ward, County Attorney  

14. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 
- Katherine Mead, Human Resources Director 

15. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION REPEALING AND REPLACING COUNCIL’S RULES AND 
PROCEDURES - Chairman Passiment 

16. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AMANDA DICKMAN, LIBRARY DIRECTOR TO THE FIRST STEPS PARTNERSHIP 
BOARD 

17. AGENCIES, BOARDS, AND COMMISSIONS APPOINTMENTS & REAPPOINTMENTS - (RECOMMEND 
APPROVAL OF THE APPOINTMENT OF JOHN VAROL TO THE BEAUFORT COUNTY TRANSPORATION 
COMMITTEE FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF NOVEMBER 2027) 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 

18. PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) TO RECEIVE LEGAL ADVICE WHERE THE ADVICE RELATES 
TO PENDING LITIGATION (SEVERAL MATTERS) 

19. MATTERS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 

20. ADJOURNMENT 

TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 
BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

2

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


 

 

 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development 
Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting was held both in person at the County Council Chambers, 100 Ribaut Road, 

Beaufort, and virtually through Zoom. 

Monday, September 18, 2023 
3:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Watch the video stream available on the County's website to hear the Council’s discussion of a specific topic or 
the complete meeting. https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Committee Chairman Lawson called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m.  

PRESENT 
Chairman Mark Lawson 
Vice-Chairman Anna Maria Tabernik 
Council Member David P. Bartholomew 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Ex-Officio Joseph F. Passiment 
Council Member Paula Brown 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Lawrence McElynn 
ABSENT 
Council Member York Glover 
Council Member Logan Cunningham 
Council Member Thomas Reitz 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Committee Chairman Lawson led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

3. FOIA 

Committee Chairman Lawson noted that public notification of this meeting has been published, posted, 
and distributed in compliance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act.  

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Passiment, seconded by Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik, to 
approve the agenda. 

3

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

The Vote - The motion was approved without objection.  

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Passiment, seconded by Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik, to 
approve the minutes of July 26, 2023. 

The Vote - The motion was approved without objection. 

6. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full comment. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=714 

1. Skip Hoagland (arrived late, so he spoke after agenda item 7) 

7. DIVISION UPDATE FROM ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATORS DALE BUTTS & PATRICK HILL 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full update.  

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=144 

Assistant County Administrator of Finance Dale Butts briefed the Committee on the Assessor’s Office’s 
community engagement events to discuss the reassessment notices, which will take place in early October 
at Beaufort County libraries.  

Committee Chairman Lawson and Mr. Butts discussed the appeal process for the reassessments.  

Council Member Passiment commented that Beaufort County Assessor Ebony Sanders’ presentation on 
reassessment illustrated the process and procedure for anyone who has questions.   

Assistance County Administrator of Information Technology Patrick Hill briefed the Committee on 
Beaufort County’s results in the nationwide cybersecurity review, which measures the gaps and 
capabilities of local government cybersecurity programs, the implementation of data loss protection 
policies and the FOIA Exterro System, and the County’s cybersecurity insurance through Tokyo Marine.  

Council Member Passiment and Mr. Hill discussed ADA compliance and the County’s website capabilities.  

Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik asked about the FOIA process for text messages on County-provided 
phones. Mr. Hill replied that the individual would be contacted because the IT Department does not have 
the capability to access text messages.  

Committee Chairman Lawson asked if Mr. Hill and the IT Department have the resources they need to 
prevent cyberattacks. Mr. Hill replied that the IT Department has the tools and support we need to protect 
County and citizen data.  

Council Member Brown and Director of Risk Management and Safety Kyle Jackson discussed the County's 
cybersecurity insurance through Tokyo Marine.  

 

8. DISCUSSION AND PRESENTATION OF YEAR TO DATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FY 2024 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=886 

Interim Deputy County Administrator Denise Christmas presented the expenditures and revenues for the 
General Fund and Capital Improvement Fund for July and August and the rollover of purchase orders in 
the Capital Improvement Fund.   

Council Member Howard asked for examples of the rolled-over purchase orders. Ms. Christmas replied 
that the County’s purchase order for ambulances was rolled over.  

4

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=714
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=144
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=886


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Ms. Denise Christmas also provided an overview of Fiscal Year 2023’s year-end, including the revenues, 
expenditures, and fund balance. Ms. Christmas also commented on the upcoming audit for Fiscal Year 
2023, the account conversion in Munis to reduce the number of line items, and the implementation of 
project accounting.   

Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik voiced her support for the reduction of line items and for the Finance 
Department’s provision of project accounting training. Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik also asked if the 
presentation would be made available on the County’s website. Ms. Christmas confirmed that it would be 
available and would contain links to the digital budget book and live data.  

Council Member Passiment confirmed with Ms. Christmas that there are no concerns with the County 
collecting only 79.5% of the revenue in Fiscal Year 2023.  

Council Member Howard asked if enterprise funds, including solid waste and stormwater, could be 
reported to the Committee. Ms. Christmas commented that she could present all the enterprise funds.  

9. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF PURCHASE AND PAYMENT OF HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE PLAYGROUND 
EQUIPMENT AT BEAUFORT COUNTY’S PORT ROYAL CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF $799,052. (FISCAL 
IMPACT: $799,052 to be paid out of Capital Improvement Project Fund 10401600-54436; account 
balance is $4,820,179) 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=1774 

Assistant County Administrator of Development Chuck Atkinson commented on a handicap-accessible 
playground structure that was procured via a Sourcewell national cooperative contract and a procedural 
sequencing error that led the structure to be installed before the Council provided approval.  

Council Member Brown confirmed that the County had not paid the invoice for the equipment and asked 
if it would be possible to have the structure removed. Mr. Atkinson replied that there was money 
appropriated from the Capital Improvement Fund for a number of different playgrounds, including a 
handicap-accessible playground, and his hope that the sequencing error would not overshadow the need 
for inclusive facilities.  

Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik noted that the County is under scrutiny because of issues with 
procurements, contracts, purchase orders, and bids and that the procurement process was not followed. 
Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik added the person responsible should be held accountable.  

Committee Chairman Lawson asked what staff can do to ensure this type of error does not happen again. 
Mr. Atkinson explained that there should be education to ensure everyone understands the process that 
must be followed. Mr. Atkinson added that appropriate action is being taken in terms of disciplinary 
measures.  

Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik and Mr. Atkinson discussed Sourcewell and the playground equipment 
vendor.  

Council Member Bartholomew asked about the shipping expenditure of $21,000 for the playground 
equipment. Mr. Atkinson commented that the large scale of the facility resulted in the high shipping cost.    

Council Member Passiment commented on the potential benefit of a master purchase order.  

Council Member McElynn asked if Council Members would be able to receive information in an executive 
session about the accountability actions that were taken. Interim County Administrator John Robinson 
replied that there could be limited discussions about the personnel actions in an executive session.  

The Committee discussed the possibility of entering into an executive session to discuss the personnel 
issues.  

5

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=1774


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Howard, seconded by Council Member Dawson, to recommend 
approval of purchase and payment of handicap accessible playground equipment at Beaufort County's 
Port Royal Center in the amount of $799,052. 

Discussion: Council Member Brown voiced her objection to the motion. 

Council Member Howard noted that the Port Royal's Town Council members favor the handicap 
playground.  

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Lawson, Vice-Chairman Tabernik, Council Member Bartholomew, 
Council Member Dawson, Council Member Passiment, Council Member Howard, and Council Member 
McElynn. Voting Nay: Council Member Brown. The motion passed by 7:1.  

10. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A GRANT FOR PROJECT COMIDA (FISCAL 
IMPACT: No fiscal impact) 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=3059 

Special Projects Director Hank Amundson discussed how the Beaufort County Economic Development 
Corporation helped a business gain a $50,000 grant and that Council County needs to vote to accept the 
grant funding. Director Amundson also explained that the Economic Development Cooperation will assist 
the business in providing proof of the funds to be reimbursed. 

Council Member McElynn asked for an explanation of Project Comida.  

John O'Toole, Executive Director of Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation, commented 
that the business is hoping to set up a food processing and meal preparation facility but is struggling to 
find a location suitable for the $8.1 million project. Mr. O’Toole also commented that this item is to ensure 
that the County is comfortable being the fiduciary agent when the funds are distributed.  

Motion: It was moved by Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik, seconded by Council Member Brown, to 
recommend approval of a resolution to accept a grant for Project Comida. 

The Vote - The motion was approved without objection.  

11. DISCUSSION OF DEVELOPING SITES FOR DIVERSE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT IN BEAUFORT COUNTY 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=3409 

Executive Director of Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation John O'Toole briefed the 
Committee on the investment into Beaufort County, including the $341 million already invested and the 
$100 million in the pipeline, which supports new jobs and job retention. Mr. O’Toole also commented on 
the Economic Development Corporation’s recommendations for 1,500 acres worth of real estate.  

12. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO RENEW MEMBERSHIP WITH THE SOUTHERN CAROLINA REGIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT ALLIANCE (FISCAL IMPACT:  funds for this come from the General Fund account 
#10001198-55240.  $495,000 is budgeted for the year in this account.  $120,000 is for the Southern 
Carolina.  $375,000 is for the Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation) 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=3891 

Special Projects Director Hank Amundson commented on the renewal of the contract with the Southern 
Carolina Development Alliance for a five-year term with no fee increases.  

6

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=3059
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=3409
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=3891


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

President and CEO of the Southern Carolina Development Alliance, Danny Black, briefed the Committee 
on the changes made to the contract in other counties and the planned updates to the contract with 
Beaufort County to keep the language consistent. Mr. Black also discussed how the contract will provide 
the same amount of money but will be for a five-year instead of a three-year term.  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Passiment, seconded by Council Member Brown, to 
recommend approval to renew membership with the Southern Carolina Regional Development Alliance. 

The Vote - The motion was approved without objection.  

13. DISCUSSION OF ELECTED OFFICIALS’ COMPENSATION 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=4167 

County Attorney Brittany Ward commented that the Finance Committee meeting on August 12, 2019, 
referenced the need to amend the base salary for elected officials. Ms. Ward noted that two elected 
officials, the Auditor and the Coroner, are not receiving the same salary as other elected officials.  

Council Member McElynn noted that if someone leaves an elected position, the cost-of-living adjustment, 
COLA, increases, and other salary adjustments remain tied to the position, but the 5% bonus for re-
election would be deducted.  

Ms. Ward commented that the ordinance establishing base salaries was not amended, so the salaries of 
officials elected since 2019 are based on the 2015 salaries with the added COLAs.  

Council Member Passiment confirmed that the Council did not adopt an ordinance to adjust the base 
salary in 2019, so the base salary from 2015 still must be used.  

Council Member McElynn asked, and Ms. Ward confirmed that the presentation reflects the 2019 base 
salary recommendation and the COLAs and other salary adjustments. Council Member McElynn and Ms.  
Ward also discussed the re-calculation of the base salary for the probate judge.  

Council Member Passiment suggested moving this item forward to the Council and asked staff to provide 
information by Monday, September 25th's Council meeting. 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Passiment, seconded by Council Member Brown, to send this 
to Council for approval at Monday's meeting with the caveat that the salaries of the auditor and the 
coroner be corrected to the desired salaries.  

Ms. Ward commented that the salary changes are to be implemented at the time the Auditor and Coroner 
were elected so that they will be paid retroactively. 

Interim County Administrator John Robinson noted that the base salary for elected officials would become 
part of the annual budget discussions moving forward. 

Council Member Tabernik asked whether the payment of the filing fee was based on salary and whether 
the payment provided was correct. Interim Deputy County Administrator Denise Christmas replied that 
the filing fee was based on salaries but that staff reached out to the State Election to determine the base 
salary amount used.  

Committee Chairman Lawson noted that this change would not affect the salaries of Council Members. 

The Vote - The motion was approved without objection.  

14. DISCUSSION AND REVIEW OF COUNTY COUNCIL'S RULES AND PROCEDURES DRAFT DOCUMENT (FISCAL 
IMPACT: No Fiscal Impact) 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full discussion. 

7

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=4167


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=5341 

Council Member Passiment briefed the Committee on the planned update for the Rules and Procedures 
Manual since it was adopted in 1985 and last updated in 2015. Council Member Passiment commented 
that a draft iteration of the manual has been shared with Council Members and that they will take 
comments into consideration for future drafts.  

 

15. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) TO ENGAGE IN DISCUSSIONS AND NEGOTIATIONS 
INCIDENT TO PROPOSED CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS AND PROPOSED PURCHASE OF REAL 
PROPERTY (PROJECT TEAMWORK) 

PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) TO ENGAGE IN DISCUSSIONS AND NEGOTIATIONS 
INCIDENT TO PROPOSED CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (BURR FORMAN ANNUAL LOBBYING 
CONTRACT) 

PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) TO ENGAGE IN DISCUSSIONS AND NEGOTIATIONS 
INCIDENT TO PROPOSED CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (LOWCOUNTRY INSIDE TRACK, LTD.) 

PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) TO RECEIVE LEGAL ADVICE WHERE THE ADVICE 
RELATES TO THREATENED OR POTENTIAL LITIGATION (FORMER EMPLOYEES AND FORMER 
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR) 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Passiment, seconded by Committee Vice-Chair Tabernik, to 
enter into an executive session. 

The Vote - The motion was approved without objection. 

16. MATTERS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 

No matters arising out of executive session. 

17. ADJOURNMENT 

Adjourned at or around 5:30 p.m. 

 

Ratified:   

 

8

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272313?ts=5341


ACCOUNT ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL ESTIM REV ESTIM REV ADJ REVISED ESTIM REV

5400-90-0000-42200 CABL FRAN 0 0 0

5400-90-0000-43680 TOWN OF HH -160,000 0 -160,000

5400-90-0000-43780 FEDERAL FD -52,730 0 -52,730

5400-90-0000-44840 RAMP FEES -280,000 0 -280,000

5400-90-0000-44850 PARKING F -186,718 0 -186,718

5400-90-0000-44860 TAXI/LIMO -25,000 0 -25,000

5400-90-0000-44890 FIRE FEES -350,000 0 -350,000

5400-90-0000-44895 SECURITY F -216,000 0 -216,000

5400-90-0000-44896 SECURITY R -12,000 0 -12,000

5400-90-0000-47010 MISC REV -71,234 0 -71,234

5400-90-0000-47100 FBO LEASES -70,000 0 -70,000

5400-90-0000-47105 FBO CONC -25,000 0 -25,000

5400-90-0000-47110 FBO FUEL -680,000 0 -680,000

5400-90-0000-47120 RENT COMM -460,000 0 -460,000

5400-90-0000-47121 RENT SPACE -188,000 0 -188,000

5400-90-0000-47130 RENTAL CAR -18,800 0 -18,800

5400-90-0000-47131 RENTAL CAR -26,025 0 -26,025

5400-90-0000-47132 RENTAL CAR -800,000 0 -800,000

5400-90-0000-47140 RENT SHOP -20,000 0 -20,000

5400-90-0000-47150 RENT ADVE -30,000 0 -30,000

5400-90-0000-47180 FLIGHT TRN -6,000 0 -6,000

5400-90-0000-47190 OPERATING -45,000 0 -45,000

5400-90-0000-47210 RENTAL PRO -79,700 0 -79,700

5400-90-0000-47220 HANG RENT -116,500 0 -116,500

5400-90-0000-47230 HANG X 52 -49,500 0 -49,500

5400-90-0000-47240 HANG X 80 -33,800 0 -33,800

5400-90-0000-49100 XFER IN 0 -150,000 -150,000

TOTAL REVENUE $4,002,007 $150,000 $4,152,007

5400-90-0000-50020 SALARIES A 980,313 0 980,313

5400-90-0000-50060 OVERTIME 40,000 0 40,000

5400-90-0000-50100 EMPLOYER F 63,260 0 63,260

5400-90-0000-50110 EMPLOYER M 14,795 0 14,795

5400-90-0000-50120 EMPLOYER S 119,503 0 119,503

5400-90-0000-50130 EMPLOYER P 79,955 0 79,955

5400-90-0000-50140 EMPLOYER G 132,000 0 132,000

5400-90-0000-50150 EMPLOYER W 32,000 0 32,000

5400-90-0000-50198 EMP PEN 68 51,150 0 51,150

5400-90-0000-51000 ADVERTISIN 290,000 0 290,000

5400-90-0000-51010 PRINTING 500 0 500

5400-90-0000-51030 POSTAGE 500 0 500

5400-90-0000-51040 LICENSES & 2,000 0 2,000

5400-90-0000-51041 SWU FEES 33,000 0 33,000

5400-90-0000-51050 TELE/COMM 18,000 0 18,000

5400-90-0000-51060 ELECTRICIT 135,000 0 135,000

5400-90-0000-51070 W/S/G 16,500 0 16,500

5400-90-0000-51110 MAINTENANC 180,000 0 180,000

9

Item 8.



5400-90-0000-51120 EQUIP MAIN 10,000 0 10,000

5400-90-0000-51130 REPAIRS TO 75,000 0 75,000

5400-90-0000-51150 RENTALS 2,000 0 2,000

5400-90-0000-51160 PROFESSION 650,000 -20,000 630,000

5400-90-0000-51170 NON-PROFES 275,000 20,000 295,000

5400-90-0000-51300 VEHICLE MA 15,000 0 15,000

5400-90-0000-51310 DUES & SUB 5,000 0 5,000

5400-90-0000-51320 TRAIN & CO 16,500 0 16,500

5400-90-0000-51500 VEHICLE IN 7,500 0 7,500

5400-90-0000-51510 BLDG INS 45,000 0 45,000

5400-90-0000-51540 INSURANCE 27,000 0 27,000

5400-90-0000-51990 MISC.EXP 5,000 0 5,000

5400-90-0000-52010 SUPPLIES 20,000 0 20,000

5400-90-0000-52050 UNIFORMS 6,500 0 6,500

5400-90-0000-52500 FUELS & LU 20,000 0 20,000

5400-90-0000-52600 NON-CAP EQ 2,500 0 2,500

5400-90-0000-53010 BOND INTER 56,000 0 56,000

5400-90-0000-54200 CAP EQUIP 260,000 0 260,000

5400-90-0000-57999 LOCAL M 10,531 150,000 160,531

5400-90-0000-58500 DEPRECIA 305,000 0 305,000

TOTAL EXPENSES $4,002,007 $150,000 $4,152,007

REVENUE $1,953,354.00

EXPENSES $1,049,677.22

NET INCOME $903,676.78

10

Item 8.



ACTUAL YTD REVENUE PERCENTAGE

-16,728.92

-69,085.84

-28,800.00

-211,189.12

-40,267.04

-5,400.00

-183,078.16

-112,963.12

-4,852.00

-31,650.68

-29,973.20

-12,054.80

-250,806.22

-254,167.02

-129,940.30

-8,231.75

-8,860.00

-383,466.44

-14,247.17

-14,613.37

-1,181.21

-11,922.73

-43,020.00

-54,172.10

-21,423.00

-11,260.00

0.00

$1,953,354 47.05%

330,899.81

36,139.79

22,140.70

5,178.11

41,917.09

29,910.32

27,251.74

0.00

0.00

121,666.02

0.00

255.46

0.00

0.00

4,510.46

38,667.86

4,192.87

36,744.03

11

Item 8.



2,992.76

8,111.13

1,257.90

126,806.31

91,772.01

4,143.32

0.00

4,291.73

0.00

0.00

460.06

0.00

3,881.68

1,545.87

5,331.11

0.00

14,718.88

84,890.39

0.00

0.00

$1,049,677 25.28%

12

Item 8.



ACCOUNT ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL ESTIM REV ESTIM REV ADJ REVISED ESTIM REV
5100-90-0000-44801 FUEL SALES -413,038 0 -413,038
5100-90-0000-44802 FUEL JET -450,000 0 -450,000
5100-90-0000-44810 OIL SALES -4,500 0 -4,500
5100-90-0000-44840 RAMP FEES -30,000 0 -30,000
5100-90-0000-44850 PARKING F -3,500 0 -3,500
5100-90-0000-44870 TIE DOWN F -28,000 0 -28,000
5100-90-0000-44881 MERCH SALE -10,000 0 -10,000
5100-90-0000-47010 MISC REV -4,500 0 -4,500
5100-90-0000-47132 RENTAL CAR -2,500 0 -2,500
5100-90-0000-47180 FLIGHT TRN -7,500 0 -7,500
5100-90-0000-47190 OPERATING -2,000 0 -2,000
5100-90-0000-47210 RENTAL PRO -39,000 0 -39,000
5100-90-0000-47220 HANG RENT -140,000 0 -140,000
5100-90-0000-49100 XFER IN -1,466,500 0 -1,466,500

TOTAL REVENUE $2,601,038 $0 $2,601,038

5100-90-0000-50020 SALARIES A 196,501 0 196,501
5100-90-0000-50100 EMPLOYER F 12,183 0 12,183
5100-90-0000-50110 EMPLOYER M 2,849 0 2,849
5100-90-0000-50120 EMPLOYER S 36,470 0 36,470
5100-90-0000-50140 EMPLOYER G 18,000 0 18,000
5100-90-0000-50150 EMPLOYER W 6,700 0 6,700
5100-90-0000-50160 EMPLOYER T 1,500 0 1,500
5100-90-0000-51000 ADVERTISIN 2,500 0 2,500
5100-90-0000-51030 POSTAGE 50 150 200
5100-90-0000-51040 LICENSES & 5,500 0 5,500
5100-90-0000-51041 SWU FEES 18,535 0 18,535
5100-90-0000-51050 TELE/COMM 2,000 0 2,000
5100-90-0000-51060 ELECTRICIT 18,000 0 18,000
5100-90-0000-51070 W/S/G 600 0 600
5100-90-0000-51110 MAINTENANC 9,000 0 9,000
5100-90-0000-51120 EQUIP MAIN 1,000 0 1,000
5100-90-0000-51130 REPAIRS TO 15,000 -2,180 12,820
5100-90-0000-51150 RENTALS 17,500 0 17,500
5100-90-0000-51160 PROFESSION 1,000 0 1,000
5100-90-0000-51170 NON-PROFES 34,100 0 34,100
5100-90-0000-51300 VEHICLE MA 5,000 -1,103 3,897
5100-90-0000-51310 DUES & SUB 3,000 0 3,000
5100-90-0000-51320 TRAIN & CO 1,200 0 1,200
5100-90-0000-51500 VEHICLE IN 750 0 750
5100-90-0000-51510 BLDG INS 15,000 0 15,000
5100-90-0000-51540 INSURANCE 12,600 0 12,600
5100-90-0000-51990 MISC.EXP 0 1,980 1,980
5100-90-0000-52010 SUPPLIES 3,500 -900 2,600
5100-90-0000-52050 UNIFORMS 500 0 500
5100-90-0000-52500 FUELS & LU 5,000 0 5,000
5100-90-0000-54100 SITE DEVEL 1,466,500 0 1,466,500
5100-90-0000-57900 CCARD FEES 2,500 0 2,500
5100-90-0000-58000 PURCHASE 5,000 0 5,000
5100-90-0000-58030 PURCHASE C 7,500 2,053 9,553
5100-90-0000-58100 JET FUEL 280,000 0 280,000
5100-90-0000-58200 AVIATION 340,000 0 340,000
5100-90-0000-58500 DEPRECIA 54,000 0 54,000

TOTAL EXPENSES $2,601,038 $0 $2,601,038

REVENUE $332,849.00
EXPENSES $290,949.28
NET INCOME $41,899.72

13

Item 8.



ACTUAL YTD REVENUE PERCENTAGE
-122,147.84
-117,465.46

-2,189.99
-10,498.93

-417.75
-15,707.64

-3,741.37
-5,231.60
-1,105.16
-3,949.67
-1,773.12
-1,909.47

-46,710.59
0.00

$332,849 12.80%

44,738.72
2,773.82

648.73
8,288.31

0.00
0.00
0.00

-18,711.84
13.70

1,700.00
0.00

1,102.13
6,709.15

112.11
5,498.05

882.10
8,611.05
5,880.45

20.75
14,179.00

459.67
1,425.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

840.99
0.00

1,008.38
243.83

1,020.69
16,285.75

0.00
0.00

9,538.57
177,680.17

0.00
0.00

$290,949 11.19%

14

Item 8.



ACCOUNT ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL ESTIM REV ESTIM REV ADJ REVISED ESTIM REV

5010-90-1340-41010 CURR TAX -9,600,000 0 -9,600,000

5010-90-1340-44230 WASTE DISP -9,000 0 -9,000

5010-90-1340-46010 INTEREST -10,000 0 -10,000

5010-90-1340-47410 SALE OF RE -400,000 0 -400,000

5010-90-1340-49100 XFER IN -1,750,000 0 -1,750,000

TOTAL REVENUE $11,769,000 $0 $11,769,000

5010-90-1340-50020 SALARIES A 1,752,226 0 1,752,226

5010-90-1340-50060 OVERTIME 2,000 0 2,000

5010-90-1340-50100 EMPLOYER F 108,671 0 108,671

5010-90-1340-50110 EMPLOYER M 25,415 0 25,415

5010-90-1340-50120 EMPLOYER S 325,204 0 325,204

5010-90-1340-50140 EMPLOYER G 202,291 0 202,291

5010-90-1340-50150 EMPLOYER W 47,555 0 47,555

5010-90-1340-50160 EMPLOYER T 6,065 0 6,065

5010-90-1340-51000 ADVERTISIN 10,000 0 10,000

5010-90-1340-51010 PRINTING 3,500 0 3,500

5010-90-1340-51030 POSTAGE 2,000 0 2,000

5010-90-1340-51050 TELE/COMM 15,000 0 15,000

5010-90-1340-51060 ELECTRICIT 19,000 0 19,000

5010-90-1340-51070 W/S/G 22,000 0 22,000

5010-90-1340-51110 MAINTENANC 40,000 0 40,000

5010-90-1340-51120 EQUIP MAIN 25,000 0 25,000

5010-90-1340-51150 RENTALS 1,500 0 1,500

5010-90-1340-51160 PROFESSION 1,025,000 0 1,025,000

5010-90-1340-51162 LEGAL 6,000 0 6,000

5010-90-1340-51165 SW HAULING 1,830,000 0 1,830,000

5010-90-1340-51166 SW D/R 4,706,000 0 4,706,000

5010-90-1340-51300 VEHICLE MA 35,000 0 35,000

5010-90-1340-51310 DUES & SUB 1,000 0 1,000

5010-90-1340-51320 TRAIN & CO 6,500 0 6,500

5010-90-1340-51500 VEHICLE IN 8,000 0 8,000

5010-90-1340-51540 INSURANCE 700 0 700

5010-90-1340-52010 SUPPLIES 35,000 0 35,000

5010-90-1340-52050 UNIFORMS 35,000 0 35,000

5010-90-1340-52500 FUELS & LU 62,000 0 62,000

5010-90-1340-52600 NON-CAP EQ 5,000 0 5,000

5010-90-1340-54100 SITE DEVEL 1,041,825 0 1,041,825

5010-90-1340-54200 CAP EQUIP 242,620 0 242,620

5010-90-1340-56010 PAYROLL CO 121,928 0 121,928

TOTAL EXPENSES $11,769,000 $0 $11,769,000

15

Item 8.



ACTUAL YTD REVENUE PERCENTAGE

-434,578.00

-6,500.00

0.00

-39,612.32

0.00

$480,690 4.08%

512,551.17

5,447.00

31,493.64

7,365.58

95,369.97

21,662.16

0.00

0.00

315.00

52.16

845.63

2,547.52

4,358.08

5,816.59

11,745.67

1,455.00

113.00

81,375.86

0.00

675,758.57

1,113,683.37

13,220.89

0.00

2,629.66

0.00

0.00

11,135.30

12,228.95

11,907.26

743.11

0.00

0.00

0.00

$2,623,821 22.29%

16

Item 8.



ACCOUNT ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL ESTIM REV ESTIM REV ADJ REVISED ESTIM REV

5025-90-0000-44240 STORMWATER -6,178,114 0 -6,178,114

5025-90-0000-44436 CWI BEAUFO -62,400 0 -62,400

5025-90-0000-44437 CWI PORT R -22,900 0 -22,900

5025-90-0000-44438 CWI- BLUFF -449,000 0 -449,000

5025-90-0000-44439 CWI- BLUFF -261,000 0 -261,000

5025-90-0000-44483 PROJECT IN -122,000 0 -122,000

5025-90-0000-46010 INTEREST -100,000 0 -100,000

5025-90-0000-47010 MISC REV -19,334 0 -19,334

5025-90-0000-48910 CONT FROM -3,685,270 0 -3,685,270

TOTAL REVENUE $10,900,018.00 $0.00 $10,900,018.00

5025-90-9000-50020 SALARIES A 177,680 0 177,680

5025-90-9000-50060 OVERTIME 7,500 0 7,500

5025-90-9000-50100 EMPLOYER F 11,480 0 11,480

5025-90-9000-50110 EMPLOYER M 1,685 0 1,685

5025-90-9000-50120 EMPLOYER S 34,369 0 34,369

5025-90-9000-50140 EMPLOYER G 23,375 0 23,375

5025-90-9000-50150 EMPLOYER W 1,873 0 1,873

5025-90-9000-50160 EMPLOYER T 545 0 545

5025-90-9000-51000 ADVERTISIN 200 0 200

5025-90-9000-51010 PRINTING 200 0 200

5025-90-9000-51030 POSTAGE 50 0 50

5025-90-9000-51050 TELE/COMM 1,844 0 1,844

5025-90-9000-51110 MAINTENANC 313 0 313

5025-90-9000-51120 EQUIP MAIN 200 0 200

5025-90-9000-51150 RENTALS 960 0 960

5025-90-9000-51160 PROFESSION 17,500 0 17,500

5025-90-9000-51300 VEHICLE MA 1,248 0 1,248

5025-90-9000-51310 DUES & SUB 1,240 0 1,240

5025-90-9000-51320 TRAIN & CO 9,245 0 9,245

5025-90-9000-51500 VEHICLE IN 980 0 980

5025-90-9000-52010 SUPPLIES 2,200 0 2,200

5025-90-9000-52050 UNIFORMS 1,177 0 1,177

5025-90-9000-52500 FUELS & LU 1,000 0 1,000

5025-90-9000-52600 NON-CAP EQ 1,300 0 1,300

5025-90-9010-50020 SALARIES A 315,286 0 315,286

5025-90-9010-50060 OVERTIME 4,000 0 4,000

5025-90-9010-50100 EMPLOYER F 19,795 0 19,795

5025-90-9010-50110 EMPLOYER M 4,630 0 4,630

5025-90-9010-50120 EMPLOYER S 59,259 0 59,259

5025-90-9010-50140 EMPLOYER G 70,125 0 70,125

5025-90-9010-50150 EMPLOYER W 39,028 0 39,028

5025-90-9010-50160 EMPLOYER T 2,602 0 2,602

5025-90-9010-51000 ADVERTISIN 250 0 250

5025-90-9010-51010 PRINTING 200 0 200

5025-90-9010-51030 POSTAGE 100 0 100

5025-90-9010-51050 TELE/COMM 7,859 0 7,859

17

Item 8.



5025-90-9010-51110 MAINTENANC 2,500 0 2,500

5025-90-9010-51120 EQUIP MAIN 2,000 0 2,000

5025-90-9010-51150 RENTALS 500 0 500

5025-90-9010-51160 PROFESSION 626,000 0 626,000

5025-90-9010-51170 NON-PROFES 15,300 0 15,300

5025-90-9010-51300 VEHICLE MA 7,100 0 7,100

5025-90-9010-51310 DUES & SUB 1,175 0 1,175

5025-90-9010-51320 TRAIN & CO 16,999 0 16,999

5025-90-9010-51500 VEHICLE IN 4,500 0 4,500

5025-90-9010-51540 INSURANCE 100 0 100

5025-90-9010-52010 SUPPLIES 2,000 0 2,000

5025-90-9010-52050 UNIFORMS 5,500 0 5,500

5025-90-9010-52500 FUELS & LU 9,600 0 9,600

5025-90-9010-52600 NON-CAP EQ 3,500 0 3,500

5025-90-9010-58500 DEPRECIA 14,722 0 14,722

5025-90-9020-50020 SALARIES A 1,166,794 0 1,166,794

5025-90-9020-50060 OVERTIME 10,000 0 10,000

5025-90-9020-50100 EMPLOYER F 72,960 0 72,960

5025-90-9020-50110 EMPLOYER M 17,063 0 17,063

5025-90-9020-50120 EMPLOYER S 212,105 0 212,105

5025-90-9020-50130 EMPLOYER P 7,219 0 7,219

5025-90-9020-50140 EMPLOYER G 374,000 0 374,000

5025-90-9020-50150 EMPLOYER W 95,000 0 95,000

5025-90-9020-50160 EMPLOYER T 14,800 0 14,800

5025-90-9020-50198 EMP PEN 68 450,000 0 450,000

5025-90-9020-51000 ADVERTISIN 1,000 0 1,000

5025-90-9020-51010 PRINTING 150 0 150

5025-90-9020-51030 POSTAGE 250 0 250

5025-90-9020-51050 TELE/COMM 14,338 0 14,338

5025-90-9020-51070 W/S/G 1,280 0 1,280

5025-90-9020-51110 MAINTENANC 3,297 0 3,297

5025-90-9020-51120 EQUIP MAIN 4,000 0 4,000

5025-90-9020-51150 RENTALS 10,000 0 10,000

5025-90-9020-51160 PROFESSION 270,000 -200,000 70,000

5025-90-9020-51162 LEGAL 25,000 0 25,000

5025-90-9020-51166 SW D/R 20,000 0 20,000

5025-90-9020-51170 NON-PROFES 130,000 190,000 320,000

5025-90-9020-51220 CONTR SVC 120,000 0 120,000

5025-90-9020-51230 TRANSPORTA 1,500 0 1,500

5025-90-9020-51300 VEHICLE MA 200,000 0 200,000

5025-90-9020-51310 DUES & SUB 1,665 0 1,665

5025-90-9020-51320 TRAIN & CO 26,525 0 26,525

5025-90-9020-51500 VEHICLE IN 27,924 0 27,924

5025-90-9020-51540 INSURANCE 25,477 0 25,477

5025-90-9020-52010 SUPPLIES 301,800 0 301,800

5025-90-9020-52050 UNIFORMS 23,620 0 23,620

5025-90-9020-52500 FUELS & LU 160,000 0 160,000

18

Item 8.



5025-90-9020-52600 NON-CAP EQ 16,700 10,000 26,700

5025-90-9020-53000 BOND PRINC 58,824 0 58,824

5025-90-9020-53010 BOND INTER 182,386 0 182,386

5025-90-9020-54000 CAP VEH 644,000 0 644,000

5025-90-9020-54200 CAP EQUIP 531,207 0 531,207

5025-90-9020-54420 RENO BLDG 2,912,000 0 2,912,000

5025-90-9020-56000 GENERAL CO 150,000 0 150,000

5025-90-9020-56010 PAYROLL CO 349,340 0 349,340

5025-90-9020-58500 DEPRECIA 385,000 0 385,000

5025-90-9020-59100 XFER OUT 350,000 0 350,000

TOTAL EXPENSES 10,900,018 0 10,900,018

19

Item 8.



ACTUAL YTD REVENUE PERCENTAGE

-95,948.62

-679.90

-372.09

-4,634.08

-2,086.51

0.00

0.00

-6,100.00

0.00

$109,821.00 1.10%

40,402.14

41.22

2,426.48

567.49

7,503.83

3,749.76

0.00

0.00

0.00

78.91

20.91

52.41

0.00

0.00

168.27

131.92

0.00

0.00

3,248.06

0.00

43.99

0.00

0.00

0.00

83,642.94

148.27

5,042.21

1,179.25

15,128.78

9,430.86

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

963.29

20

Item 8.



576.00

0.00

211.60

115,791.94

150.00

351.99

0.00

1,067.04

0.00

0.00

79.98

1,445.47

2,588.09

0.00

0.00

273,213.82

8,311.77

17,270.15

4,039.01

50,935.60

2,351.99

25,802.84

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

116.36

0.00

1,242.30

293.98

0.00

256.82

1,184.51

150.19

0.00

2,652.90

43,752.98

0.00

0.00

18,037.67

0.00

1,301.50

0.00

48.44

78,659.39

6,513.93

23,164.82

21

Item 8.



9,095.33

0.00

91,193.03

0.00

0.00

24,288.81

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

980,111 8.99%

22

Item 8.



ACCOUNT ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ORIGINAL ESTIM REVESTIM REV ADJ REVISED ESTIM REV

1000-10-0000-41010 CURR TAX 100434000 0 100434000

1000-10-0000-41020 DELINQUENT 2100000 0 2100000

1000-10-0000-41030 AUTOMOBILE 7600000 0 7600000

1000-10-0000-41040 3% & 7% PE 500000 0 500000

1000-10-0000-41050 5% PENALTI 650000 0 650000

1000-10-0000-42010 BUILDING P 1604000 0 1604000

1000-10-0000-42030 MOBILE HOM 20000 0 20000

1000-10-0000-42040 MARRIAGE L 65000 0 65000

1000-10-0000-42060 COPPER PER 250 0 250

1000-10-0000-42200 CABL FRAN 280000 0 280000

1000-10-0000-42300 BUSINESS L 2000000 0 2000000

1000-10-0000-42310 ALCOHOL BE 75000 0 75000

1000-10-0000-43015 HOMESTEAD 2025000 0 2025000

1000-10-0000-43020 MERCHANTS 190000 0 190000

1000-10-0000-43021 MANUFACTUR 250000 0 250000

1000-10-0000-43022 MOTOR CARR 240000 0 240000

1000-10-0000-43040 PAYMENTS I 100000 0 100000

1000-10-0000-43041 PYMT IN LI 15000 0 15000

1000-10-0000-43051 LAF 5000 0 5000

1000-10-0000-43200 VETERANS O 5923 0 5923

1000-10-0000-43230 VOTER  REG 13500 0 13500

1000-10-0000-43250 SALARY SUP 45000 0 45000

1000-10-0000-43290 POLLUTION 2000 0 2000

1000-10-0000-43310 STATE AID 8353438 0 8353438

1000-10-0000-43770 STATE FDS 34783 0 34783

1000-10-0000-43780 FEDERAL FD 200000 0 200000

1000-10-0000-44010 3% COMM ON 450000 0 450000

1000-10-0000-44020 COUN RMC 5800000 0 5800000

1000-10-0000-44030 COUNTY STA 1300000 0 1300000

1000-10-0000-44040 COLLECT CO 60000 0 60000

1000-10-0000-44070 MISC FEE 5750 0 5750

1000-10-0000-44100 SHER FEES 40000 0 40000

1000-10-0000-44110 PROB FEES 610000 0 610000

1000-10-0000-44120 PROBADV 0 0 0

1000-10-0000-44130 PROBCOPY 0 0 0

1000-10-0000-44140 MAGI FEES 173678 0 173678

1000-10-0000-44150 CLERK FEES 110000 0 110000

1000-10-0000-44160 CLERK FEES 17000 0 17000

1000-10-0000-44170 FAMILY COU 248000 0 248000

1000-10-0000-44190 MAST FEES 110000 0 110000

1000-10-0000-44200 TREASURER 18000 0 18000

1000-10-0000-44205 TREAS MISC 16000 0 16000

1000-10-0000-44220 EMERGENCY 3700000 0 3700000

1000-10-0000-44225 EMS - COPY 10000 0 10000

1000-10-0000-44260 DSO  FEES 85000 0 85000

1000-10-0000-44280 ANIMAL SHE 10000 0 10000

23

Item 8.



1000-10-0000-44370 REZONING A 2000 0 2000

1000-10-0000-44375 CRB - APPL 5000 0 5000

1000-10-0000-44400 SPORTS FEE 100000 0 100000

1000-60-0000-44400 SPORTS FEE 118000 315000 433000

1000-60-0000-44420 AQUA CLASS 12000 0 12000

1000-60-0000-44430 RENTALS 11000 10000 1000

1000-60-0000-44440 SPONSORS 4000 22000 26000

1000-60-0000-44449 SUMM CAMP 20000 8000 28000

1000-60-0000-44450 AQUAADMISS 15000 18500 33500

1000-60-0000-44472 PROG FEE 75000 75000 0

1000-60-0000-44472-SENIOPROG FEE 0 355000 355000

1000-10-0000-44760 PAYROLL 13356 0 13356

1000-10-0000-44780 CREDIT FEE 2300 0 2300

1000-10-0000-45010 GENERAL SE 10500 0 10500

1000-10-0000-45020 DRUG FINES 2000 0 2000

1000-10-0000-45100 MAGISTRATE 542500 0 542500

1000-10-0000-45200 LIBR FINES 40000 0 40000

1000-10-0000-45400 FORFEITURE 0 0 0

1000-10-0000-45600 LATE FEE 100000 0 100000

1000-10-0000-46010 INTEREST 601000 0 601000

1000-10-0000-47010 MISC REV 70000 0 70000

1000-10-0000-47210 RENTAL PRO 30000 0 30000

1000-10-0000-47400 SALE OF CO 200000 0 200000

1000-10-0000-47410 SALE OF RE 0 0 0

1000-20-0000-47600 DONATION 500 0 500

1000-10-0000-47800 OVER/SHORT 0 0 0

1000-10-0000-48910 CONT FROM 0 375000 375000

1000-10-1060-44070 MISC FEE 0 0 0

1000-20-0000-48910 CONT FROM 9000 0 9000

1000-20-1243-44483 PROJECT IN 0 0 0

1000-10-1102-44510 VIDEO PROD 90000 0 90000

1000-10-0000-49100 XFER IN 1341250 0 1341250

TOTAL REVENUE $143,110,728.00 $883,500.00 $143,994,228.00

1000-60-0000-51360 ATHLETIC P $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-0000-52600 NON-CAP EQ $9,500.00 $0.00 $9,500.00

1000-10-0000-59100 XFER OUT $8,445,870.00 $0.00 $8,445,870.00

1000-60-0600-44420 AQUA CLASS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-60-0600-44450 AQUAADMISS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-10-1000-50020 SALARIES A $538,870.00 $0.00 $538,870.00

1000-10-1000-50060 OVERTIME $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1000-50100 EMPLOYER F $33,534.00 $0.00 $33,534.00

1000-10-1000-50110 EMPLOYER M $7,843.00 $0.00 $7,843.00

1000-10-1000-50120 EMPLOYER S $94,765.00 $0.00 $94,765.00

1000-10-1000-50130 EMPLOYER P $6,433.00 $0.00 $6,433.00

1000-10-1000-51000 ADVERTISIN $2,700.00 $0.00 $2,700.00

1000-10-1000-51010 PRINTING $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-10-1000-51030 POSTAGE $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

24

Item 8.



1000-10-1000-51150 RENTALS $750.00 $0.00 $750.00

1000-10-1000-51160 PROFESSION $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-10-1000-51310 DUES & SUB $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00

1000-10-1000-51320 TRAIN & CO $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1000-51323 MILEAGE $13,500.00 $0.00 $13,500.00

1000-10-1000-52010 SUPPLIES $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

1000-10-1000-52600 NON-CAP EQ $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1000-56000 GENERAL CO $50,000.00 $350,000.00 $400,000.00

1000-10-1010-50020 SALARIES A $967,490.00 $0.00 $967,490.00

1000-10-1010-50060 OVERTIME $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1010-50100 EMPLOYER F $60,170.00 $0.00 $60,170.00

1000-10-1010-50110 EMPLOYER M $14,072.00 $0.00 $14,072.00

1000-10-1010-50120 EMPLOYER S $180,123.00 $0.00 $180,123.00

1000-10-1010-51000 ADVERTISIN $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1010-51010 PRINTING $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

1000-10-1010-51030 POSTAGE $32,640.00 $0.00 $32,640.00

1000-10-1010-51150 RENTALS $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-10-1010-51160 PROFESSION $150,000.00 $0.00 $150,000.00

1000-10-1010-51310 DUES & SUB $6,500.00 $0.00 $6,500.00

1000-10-1010-51320 TRAIN & CO $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1010-52010 SUPPLIES $17,500.00 $0.00 $17,500.00

1000-10-1020-50020 SALARIES A $943,057.00 $57,408.00 $1,000,465.00

1000-10-1020-50060 OVERTIME $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

1000-10-1020-50100 EMPLOYER F $59,400.00 $3,408.00 $62,808.00

1000-10-1020-50110 EMPLOYER M $13,892.00 $797.00 $14,689.00

1000-10-1020-50120 EMPLOYER S $177,815.00 $10,203.00 $188,018.00

1000-10-1020-51000 ADVERTISIN $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

1000-10-1020-51010 PRINTING $86,000.00 $0.00 $86,000.00

1000-10-1020-51030 POSTAGE $192,000.00 $0.00 $192,000.00

1000-10-1020-51150 RENTALS $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1020-51160 PROFESSION $65,000.00 $0.00 $65,000.00

1000-10-1020-51310 DUES & SUB $11,000.00 $0.00 $11,000.00

1000-10-1020-51320 TRAIN & CO $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00

1000-10-1020-51990 MISC. EXP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-10-1020-52010 SUPPLIES $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1020-52600 NON-CAP EQ $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1020-57900 CCARD FEES $350,000.00 $0.00 $350,000.00

1000-10-1020-57910 BANK FEE $300,000.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

1000-10-1030-50020 SALARIES A $606,435.00 $0.00 $606,435.00

1000-10-1030-50100 EMPLOYER F $37,599.00 $0.00 $37,599.00

1000-10-1030-50110 EMPLOYER M $8,793.00 $0.00 $8,793.00

1000-10-1030-50120 EMPLOYER S $112,555.00 $0.00 $112,555.00

1000-10-1030-51010 PRINTING $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-10-1030-51030 POSTAGE $21,000.00 $0.00 $21,000.00

1000-10-1030-51110 MAINTENANC $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1030-51120 EQUIP MAIN $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1030-51150 RENTALS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25

Item 8.



1000-10-1030-51160 PROFESSION $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1030-51310 DUES & SUB $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-10-1030-51320 TRAIN & CO $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

1000-10-1030-51340 JURORS/WIT $260,000.00 $0.00 $260,000.00

1000-10-1030-52010 SUPPLIES $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00

1000-10-1030-52600 NON-CAP EQ $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1031-50020 SALARIES A $396,805.00 $0.00 $396,805.00

1000-10-1031-50100 EMPLOYER F $24,602.00 $0.00 $24,602.00

1000-10-1031-50110 EMPLOYER M $5,754.00 $0.00 $5,754.00

1000-10-1031-50120 EMPLOYER S $73,647.00 $0.00 $73,647.00

1000-10-1031-51010 PRINTING $6,200.00 $0.00 $6,200.00

1000-10-1031-51030 POSTAGE $8,500.00 $0.00 $8,500.00

1000-10-1031-51110 MAINTENANC $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1031-51150 RENTALS $15,500.00 $0.00 $15,500.00

1000-10-1031-51160 PROFESSION $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1031-51310 DUES & SUB $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1031-51320 TRAIN & CO $1,950.00 $0.00 $1,950.00

1000-10-1031-52010 SUPPLIES $11,000.00 $0.00 $11,000.00

1000-10-1031-57910 BANK FEE $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-10-1040-50020 SALARIES A $1,042,596.00 $0.00 $1,042,596.00

1000-10-1040-50100 EMPLOYER F $64,641.00 $0.00 $64,641.00

1000-10-1040-50110 EMPLOYER M $15,118.00 $0.00 $15,118.00

1000-10-1040-50120 EMPLOYER S $168,442.00 $0.00 $168,442.00

1000-10-1040-50130 EMPLOYER P $25,063.00 $0.00 $25,063.00

1000-10-1040-51000 ADVERTISIN $43,000.00 -$40,000.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1040-51000-NTCADVERTISIN $0.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00

1000-10-1040-51010 PRINTING $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00

1000-10-1040-51030 POSTAGE $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00

1000-10-1040-51110 MAINTENANC $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00

1000-10-1040-51150 RENTALS $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-10-1040-51310 DUES & SUB $8,500.00 $0.00 $8,500.00

1000-10-1040-51320 TRAIN & CO $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1040-52010 SUPPLIES $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00

1000-10-1040-52600 NON-CAP EQ $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1060-50020 SALARIES A $685,000.00 $0.00 $685,000.00

1000-10-1060-50060 OVERTIME $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1060-50100 EMPLOYER F $42,780.00 $0.00 $42,780.00

1000-10-1060-50110 EMPLOYER M $10,005.00 $0.00 $10,005.00

1000-10-1060-50120 EMPLOYER S $112,128.00 $0.00 $112,128.00

1000-10-1060-50130 EMPLOYER P $18,237.00 $0.00 $18,237.00

1000-10-1060-51030 POSTAGE $800.00 $0.00 $800.00

1000-10-1060-51110 MAINTENANC $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1060-51120 EQUIP MAIN $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1060-51150 RENTALS $600.00 $0.00 $600.00

1000-10-1060-51160 PROFESSION $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00

1000-10-1060-51310 DUES & SUB $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1060-51320 TRAIN & CO $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

26

Item 8.



1000-10-1060-52010 SUPPLIES $21,000.00 $0.00 $21,000.00

1000-10-1060-52050 UNIFORMS $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

1000-10-1070-50020 SALARIES A $45,235.00 $0.00 $45,235.00

1000-10-1070-50100 EMPLOYER F $2,805.00 $0.00 $2,805.00

1000-10-1070-50110 EMPLOYER M $656.00 $0.00 $656.00

1000-10-1070-50120 EMPLOYER S $8,396.00 $0.00 $8,396.00

1000-10-1070-51000 ADVERTISIN $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1070-51010 PRINTING $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1070-51030 POSTAGE $300.00 $0.00 $300.00

1000-10-1070-52010 SUPPLIES $750.00 $0.00 $750.00

1000-10-1081-50020 SALARIES A $1,724,465.00 $0.00 $1,724,465.00

1000-10-1081-50060 OVERTIME $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1081-50100 EMPLOYER F $108,157.00 $0.00 $108,157.00

1000-10-1081-50110 EMPLOYER M $25,295.00 $0.00 $25,295.00

1000-10-1081-50120 EMPLOYER S $136,719.00 $0.00 $136,719.00

1000-10-1081-50130 EMPLOYER P $214,065.00 $0.00 $214,065.00

1000-10-1081-51010 PRINTING $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-10-1081-51030 POSTAGE $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00

1000-10-1081-51110 MAINTENANC $45,000.00 $0.00 $45,000.00

1000-10-1081-51150 RENTALS $17,000.00 $0.00 $17,000.00

1000-10-1081-51310 DUES & SUB $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1081-51320 TRAIN & CO $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1081-51340 JURORS/WIT $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1081-52010 SUPPLIES $45,000.00 $0.00 $45,000.00

1000-10-1081-52600 NON-CAP EQ $40,000.00 $0.00 $40,000.00

1000-10-1090-50020 SALARIES A $331,910.00 $0.00 $331,910.00

1000-10-1090-50100 EMPLOYER F $20,578.00 $0.00 $20,578.00

1000-10-1090-50110 EMPLOYER M $4,813.00 $0.00 $4,813.00

1000-10-1090-50120 EMPLOYER S $61,602.00 $0.00 $61,602.00

1000-10-1090-51030 POSTAGE $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1090-51150 RENTALS $750.00 $0.00 $750.00

1000-10-1090-51310 DUES & SUB $700.00 $0.00 $700.00

1000-10-1090-51320 TRAIN & CO $850.00 $0.00 $850.00

1000-10-1090-52010 SUPPLIES $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-10-1090-52600 NON-CAP EQ $13,500.00 $0.00 $13,500.00

1000-10-1098-55000 DIRECT SUB $1,700,450.00 $0.00 $1,700,450.00

1000-10-1100-50020 SALARIES A $1,475,875.00 $0.00 $1,475,875.00

1000-10-1100-50060 OVERTIME $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1100-50100 EMPLOYER F $91,535.00 $0.00 $91,535.00

1000-10-1100-50110 EMPLOYER M $21,407.00 $0.00 $21,407.00

1000-10-1100-50120 EMPLOYER S $268,703.00 $0.00 $268,703.00

1000-10-1100-50130 EMPLOYER P $28,120.00 $0.00 $28,120.00

1000-10-1100-51010 PRINTING $1,150.00 $0.00 $1,150.00

1000-10-1100-51030 POSTAGE $400.00 $0.00 $400.00

1000-10-1100-51040 LICENSES & $3,520.00 $0.00 $3,520.00

1000-10-1100-51150 RENTALS $720.00 $0.00 $720.00

1000-10-1100-51160 PROFESSION $112,000.00 $0.00 $112,000.00

27

Item 8.



1000-10-1100-51310 DUES & SUB $9,108.00 $0.00 $9,108.00

1000-10-1100-51320 TRAIN & CO $65,386.00 $0.00 $65,386.00

1000-10-1100-51323 MILEAGE $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1100-52010 SUPPLIES $9,150.00 $0.00 $9,150.00

1000-10-1100-52600 NON-CAP EQ $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1100-56000 GENERAL CO $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00

1000-10-1101-50020 SALARIES A $238,210.00 $0.00 $238,210.00

1000-10-1101-50060 OVERTIME $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1101-50100 EMPLOYER F $14,800.00 $0.00 $14,800.00

1000-10-1101-50110 EMPLOYER M $3,461.00 $0.00 $3,461.00

1000-10-1101-50120 EMPLOYER S $44,305.00 $0.00 $44,305.00

1000-10-1101-51000 ADVERTISIN $75,000.00 $0.00 $75,000.00

1000-10-1101-51010 PRINTING $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1101-51030 POSTAGE $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-10-1101-51160 PROFESSION $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-10-1101-51310 DUES & SUB $21,500.00 $0.40 $21,500.40

1000-10-1101-51320 TRAIN & CO $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1101-52010 SUPPLIES $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1101-52600 NON-CAP EQ $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1102-50020 SALARIES A $469,540.00 $0.00 $469,540.00

1000-10-1102-50060 OVERTIME $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1102-50100 EMPLOYER F $29,731.00 $0.00 $29,731.00

1000-10-1102-50110 EMPLOYER M $6,953.00 $0.00 $6,953.00

1000-10-1102-50120 EMPLOYER S $89,003.00 $0.00 $89,003.00

1000-10-1102-51030 POSTAGE $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-10-1102-51120 EQUIP MAIN $45,885.00 $0.00 $45,885.00

1000-10-1102-51150 RENTALS $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1102-51160 PROFESSION $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1102-51310 DUES & SUB $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1102-51320 TRAIN & CO $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1102-52010 SUPPLIES $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

1000-10-1102-52600 NON-CAP EQ $48,200.00 $0.00 $48,200.00

1000-10-1103-50020 SALARIES A $591,040.00 $0.00 $591,040.00

1000-10-1103-50060 OVERTIME $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1103-50100 EMPLOYER F $36,706.00 $0.00 $36,706.00

1000-10-1103-50110 EMPLOYER M $8,585.00 $0.00 $8,585.00

1000-10-1103-50120 EMPLOYER S $109,883.00 $0.00 $109,883.00

1000-10-1103-51010 PRINTING $100.00 $0.00 $100.00

1000-10-1103-51030 POSTAGE $750.00 $0.00 $750.00

1000-10-1103-51150 RENTALS $1,300.00 $0.00 $1,300.00

1000-10-1103-51162 LEGAL $300,000.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

1000-10-1103-51170 NON-PROFES $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1103-51310 DUES & SUB $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

1000-10-1103-51320 TRAIN & CO $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1103-51323 MILEAGE $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1103-52010 SUPPLIES $5,500.00 $0.00 $5,500.00

1000-10-1111-50020 SALARIES A $1,150,560.00 $0.00 $1,150,560.00

28

Item 8.



1000-10-1111-50060 OVERTIME $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1111-50100 EMPLOYER F $71,396.00 $0.00 $71,396.00

1000-10-1111-50110 EMPLOYER M $16,698.00 $0.00 $16,698.00

1000-10-1111-50120 EMPLOYER S $213,730.00 $0.00 $213,730.00

1000-10-1111-51010 PRINTING $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-10-1111-51030 POSTAGE $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1111-51150 RENTALS $2,200.00 $0.00 $2,200.00

1000-10-1111-51160 PROFESSION $145,000.00 $0.00 $145,000.00

1000-10-1111-51310 DUES & SUB $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-10-1111-51320 TRAIN & CO $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

1000-10-1111-52010 SUPPLIES $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

1000-10-1111-52600 NON-CAP EQ $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1111-54200 CAP EQUIP $0.00 $0.25 $0.25

1000-10-1115-50020 SALARIES A $174,590.00 $0.00 $174,590.00

1000-10-1115-50060 OVERTIME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-10-1115-50100 EMPLOYER F $10,825.00 $0.00 $10,825.00

1000-10-1115-50110 EMPLOYER M $2,532.00 $0.00 $2,532.00

1000-10-1115-50120 EMPLOYER S $32,404.00 $0.00 $32,404.00

1000-10-1115-51030 POSTAGE $100.00 $0.00 $100.00

1000-10-1115-51160 PROFESSION $53,000.00 $0.00 $53,000.00

1000-10-1115-51310 DUES & SUB $2,355.00 $0.00 $2,355.00

1000-10-1115-51320 TRAIN & CO $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1115-51500 VEHICLE IN $500,000.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

1000-10-1115-51510 BLDG INS $585,000.00 $0.00 $585,000.00

1000-10-1115-51520 MED/PROF L $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1115-51540 INSURANCE $752,000.00 $0.00 $752,000.00

1000-10-1115-51580 GROUP COMP $2,100,000.00 $0.00 $2,100,000.00

1000-10-1115-52010 SUPPLIES $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

1000-10-1116-50020 SALARIES A $202,960.00 $0.00 $202,960.00

1000-10-1116-50100 EMPLOYER F $12,584.00 $0.00 $12,584.00

1000-10-1116-50110 EMPLOYER M $2,943.00 $0.00 $2,943.00

1000-10-1116-50120 EMPLOYER S $37,669.00 $0.00 $37,669.00

1000-10-1116-51000 ADVERTISIN $4,500.00 $0.00 $4,500.00

1000-10-1116-51010 PRINTING $700.00 $0.00 $700.00

1000-10-1116-51030 POSTAGE $25.00 $0.00 $25.00

1000-10-1116-51110 MAINTENANC $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-10-1116-51160 PROFESSION $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

1000-10-1116-51310 DUES & SUB $1,200.00 $0.00 $1,200.00

1000-10-1116-51320 TRAIN & CO $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-10-1116-52010 SUPPLIES $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1116-52600 NON-CAP EQ $2,800.00 $0.00 $2,800.00

1000-10-1120-50020 SALARIES A $1,625,860.00 $0.00 $1,625,860.00

1000-10-1120-50060 OVERTIME $50,000.00 $0.00 $50,000.00

1000-10-1120-50100 EMPLOYER F $103,903.00 $0.00 $103,903.00

1000-10-1120-50110 EMPLOYER M $24,300.00 $0.00 $24,300.00

1000-10-1120-50120 EMPLOYER S $309,184.00 $0.00 $309,184.00

1000-10-1120-51010 PRINTING $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00

29

Item 8.



1000-10-1120-51030 POSTAGE $101,000.00 $0.00 $101,000.00

1000-10-1120-51040 LICENSES & $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1120-51150 RENTALS $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

1000-10-1120-51160 PROFESSION $145,000.00 $0.25 $145,000.25

1000-10-1120-51310 DUES & SUB $27,000.00 $0.00 $27,000.00

1000-10-1120-51320 TRAIN & CO $22,000.00 $0.00 $22,000.00

1000-10-1120-52010 SUPPLIES $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1120-52050 UNIFORMS $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1122-50020 SALARIES A $336,515.00 $0.00 $336,515.00

1000-10-1122-50060 OVERTIME $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1122-50100 EMPLOYER F $21,483.00 $0.00 $21,483.00

1000-10-1122-50110 EMPLOYER M $5,024.00 $0.00 $5,024.00

1000-10-1122-50120 EMPLOYER S $64,313.00 $0.00 $64,313.00

1000-10-1122-51010 PRINTING $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

1000-10-1122-51030 POSTAGE $1,800.00 $0.00 $1,800.00

1000-10-1122-51120 EQUIP MAIN $6,600.00 $0.00 $6,600.00

1000-10-1122-51150 RENTALS $700.00 $0.00 $700.00

1000-10-1122-51310 DUES & SUB $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-10-1122-51320 TRAIN & CO $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-10-1122-52010 SUPPLIES $11,500.00 $0.00 $11,500.00

1000-10-1122-54200 CAP EQUIP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-10-1130-50020 SALARIES A $734,580.00 $0.00 $734,580.00

1000-10-1130-50100 EMPLOYER F $45,544.00 $0.00 $45,544.00

1000-10-1130-50110 EMPLOYER M $10,650.00 $0.00 $10,650.00

1000-10-1130-50120 EMPLOYER S $136,388.00 $0.00 $136,388.00

1000-10-1130-51000 ADVERTISIN $2,600.00 $0.00 $2,600.00

1000-10-1130-51010 PRINTING $2,700.00 $0.00 $2,700.00

1000-10-1130-51030 POSTAGE $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1130-51150 RENTALS $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1130-51160 PROFESSION $72,000.00 $0.00 $72,000.00

1000-10-1130-51310 DUES & SUB $3,300.00 $0.00 $3,300.00

1000-10-1130-51320 TRAIN & CO $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1130-52010 SUPPLIES $9,000.00 $0.00 $9,000.00

1000-10-1130-52600 NON-CAP EQ $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1134-51150 RENTALS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-10-1143-50011 STIPEND $13,500.00 $0.00 $13,500.00

1000-10-1143-50020 SALARIES A $672,915.00 $0.00 $672,915.00

1000-10-1143-50022 ELEC SAL $140,000.00 $0.00 $140,000.00

1000-10-1143-50060 OVERTIME $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-10-1143-50100 EMPLOYER F $54,958.00 $0.00 $54,958.00

1000-10-1143-50110 EMPLOYER M $12,853.00 $0.00 $12,853.00

1000-10-1143-50120 EMPLOYER S $164,518.00 $0.00 $164,518.00

1000-10-1143-51000 ADVERTISIN $9,000.00 $0.00 $9,000.00

1000-10-1143-51010 PRINTING $35,000.00 $0.00 $35,000.00

1000-10-1143-51030 POSTAGE $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-10-1143-51110 MAINTENANC $115,000.00 $2,417.00 $117,417.00

1000-10-1143-51150 RENTALS $13,000.00 $0.00 $13,000.00

30

Item 8.



1000-10-1143-51170 NON-PROFES $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1143-51310 DUES & SUB $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1143-51320 TRAIN & CO $35,000.00 $0.00 $35,000.00

1000-10-1143-52010 SUPPLIES $40,000.00 -$2,417.00 $37,583.00

1000-10-1150-50020 SALARIES A $1,252,910.00 $0.00 $1,252,910.00

1000-10-1150-50060 OVERTIME $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1150-50100 EMPLOYER F $78,300.00 $0.00 $78,300.00

1000-10-1150-50110 EMPLOYER M $18,312.00 $0.00 $18,312.00

1000-10-1150-50120 EMPLOYER S $234,396.00 $0.00 $234,396.00

1000-10-1150-51010 SALARIES A $800.00 $0.00 $800.00

1000-10-1150-51030 POSTAGE $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1150-51050 TELE/COMM $715,000.00 $0.00 $715,000.00

1000-10-1150-51110 MAINTENANC $1,705,000.00 $0.00 $1,705,000.00

1000-10-1150-51150 RENTALS $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-10-1150-51310 DUES & SUB $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1150-51320 TRAIN & CO $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1150-52010 SUPPLIES $7,500.00 $0.00 $7,500.00

1000-10-1150-52600 NON-CAP EQ $1,600,000.00 -$0.27 $1,599,999.73

1000-10-1152-50020 SALARIES A $656,575.00 $0.00 $656,575.00

1000-10-1152-50100 EMPLOYER F $40,708.00 $0.00 $40,708.00

1000-10-1152-50110 EMPLOYER M $9,520.00 $0.00 $9,520.00

1000-10-1152-50120 EMPLOYER S $121,860.00 $0.00 $121,860.00

1000-10-1152-51010 PRINTING $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-10-1152-51030 POSTAGE $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-10-1152-51110 MAINTENANC $1,635,287.00 $0.00 $1,635,287.00

1000-10-1152-51160 PROFESSION $120,000.00 $0.00 $120,000.00

1000-10-1152-51310 DUES & SUB $650.00 $0.00 $650.00

1000-10-1152-51320 TRAIN & CO $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1152-52010 SUPPLIES $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1152-52600 NON-CAP EQ $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1154-50020 SALARIES A $387,600.00 $0.00 $387,600.00

1000-10-1154-50100 EMPLOYER F $24,031.00 $0.00 $24,031.00

1000-10-1154-50110 EMPLOYER M $5,620.00 $0.00 $5,620.00

1000-10-1154-50120 EMPLOYER S $71,940.00 $0.00 $71,940.00

1000-10-1154-51030 POSTAGE $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1154-51110 MAINTENANC $42,000.00 $0.00 $42,000.00

1000-10-1154-51150 RENTALS $20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00

1000-10-1154-51160 PROFESSION $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-10-1154-51310 DUES & SUB $625.00 $0.00 $625.00

1000-10-1154-51320 TRAIN & CO $2,000.00 $465.00 $2,465.00

1000-10-1154-52010 SUPPLIES $11,000.00 -$465.00 $10,535.00

1000-10-1154-52050 UNIFORMS $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-10-1160-50020 SALARIES A $699,400.00 $0.00 $699,400.00

1000-10-1160-50100 EMPLOYER F $43,362.00 $0.00 $43,362.00

1000-10-1160-50110 EMPLOYER M $10,141.00 $0.00 $10,141.00

1000-10-1160-50120 EMPLOYER S $129,809.00 $0.00 $129,809.00

1000-10-1160-50500 EMPLOYEE R $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

31

Item 8.



1000-10-1160-51000 ADVERTISIN $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

1000-10-1160-51010 PRINTING $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1160-51030 POSTAGE $900.00 $0.00 $900.00

1000-10-1160-51150 RENTALS $2,300.00 $0.00 $2,300.00

1000-10-1160-51160 PROFESSION $130,000.00 -$0.50 $129,999.50

1000-10-1160-51310 DUES & SUB $2,750.00 $0.00 $2,750.00

1000-10-1160-51320 TRAIN & CO $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-10-1160-52010 SUPPLIES $11,000.00 $0.00 $11,000.00

1000-10-1162-50100 EMPLOYER F $6,800.00 $0.00 $6,800.00

1000-10-1162-50110 EMPLOYER M $1,590.00 $0.00 $1,590.00

1000-10-1162-51030 POSTAGE $150.00 $0.00 $150.00

1000-10-1162-51040 LICENSES & $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-10-1162-51160 PROFESSION $250,000.00 -$18,000.00 $232,000.00

1000-10-1162-51323 MILEAGE $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-10-1162-52050 UNIFORMS $300.00 $0.00 $300.00

1000-10-1162-52600 NON-CAP EQ $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-10-1198-55200 LRTA/PB $337,097.00 $0.00 $337,097.00

1000-10-1198-55202 MEC $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00

1000-10-1198-55203 ISLAND REC $150,000.00 $0.00 $150,000.00

1000-10-1198-55204 BSWCD $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-10-1198-55210 LCOG $140,338.00 $0.00 $140,338.00

1000-10-1198-55212 LCOG/W $26,155.00 $0.00 $26,155.00

1000-10-1198-55215 LCOG /HOME $75,000.00 $0.00 $75,000.00

1000-10-1198-55240 ECON DEV $495,000.00 $0.00 $495,000.00

1000-10-1198-55250 SMALL BUSI $40,000.00 $0.00 $40,000.00

1000-10-1199-50140 EMPLOYER G $12,000,000.00 $0.00 $12,000,000.00

1000-10-1199-50170 EMPLOYER U $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-10-1199-56000 GENERAL CO $300,000.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

1000-10-1199-56010 PAYROLL CO $4,150,000.00 -$71,816.00 $4,078,184.00

1000-20-1201-50020 SALARIES A $18,845,811.00 -$72,245.00 $18,773,566.00

1000-20-1201-50060 OVERTIME $382,652.00 $0.00 $382,652.00

1000-20-1201-50080 OT/TRAIN $45,000.00 $0.00 $45,000.00

1000-20-1201-50100 EMPLOYER F $1,168,440.00 $0.00 $1,168,440.00

1000-20-1201-50110 EMPLOYER M $273,264.00 $0.00 $273,264.00

1000-20-1201-50120 EMPLOYER S $1,061,514.00 $0.00 $1,061,514.00

1000-20-1201-50130 EMPLOYER P $2,865,578.00 $0.00 $2,865,578.00

1000-20-1201-50500 EMPLOYEE R $1,350.00 $0.00 $1,350.00

1000-20-1201-51000 ADVERTISIN $11,000.00 $0.00 $11,000.00

1000-20-1201-51010 PRINTING $26,000.00 $0.00 $26,000.00

1000-20-1201-51030 POSTAGE $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-20-1201-51040 LICENSES & $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

1000-20-1201-51050 TELE/COMM $255,480.00 $0.00 $255,480.00

1000-20-1201-51110 MAINTENANC $2,420,000.00 $0.00 $2,420,000.00

1000-20-1201-51120 EQUIP MAIN $140,000.00 $0.00 $140,000.00

1000-20-1201-51150 RENTALS $18,112.00 $0.00 $18,112.00

1000-20-1201-51160 PROFESSION $105,000.00 $0.00 $105,000.00

1000-20-1201-51170 NON-PROFES $109,108.00 $0.00 $109,108.00

32

Item 8.



1000-20-1201-51300 VEHICLE MA $77,322.00 $0.00 $77,322.00

1000-20-1201-51310 DUES & SUB $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-20-1201-51320 TRAIN & CO $112,500.00 $0.00 $112,500.00

1000-20-1201-51540 INSURANCE $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-20-1201-51990 MISC. EXP $121,288.00 $0.00 $121,288.00

1000-20-1201-52010 SUPPLIES $586,866.00 $0.00 $586,866.00

1000-20-1201-52050 UNIFORMS $456,001.00 $0.00 $456,001.00

1000-20-1201-52500 FUELS & LU $724,000.00 $0.00 $724,000.00

1000-20-1201-52600 NON-CAP EQ $892,044.00 $0.00 $892,044.00

1000-20-1201-54200 CAP EQUIP $0.00 $72,245.00 $72,245.00

1000-20-1201-55000 DIRECT SUB $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-20-1201-57700 TRUST FUND $125,000.00 $0.00 $125,000.00

1000-20-1211-50020 SALARIES A $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1211-50060 OVERTIME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1211-50100 EMPLOYER F $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1211-50110 EMPLOYER M $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1211-50120 EMPLOYER S $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1211-50130 EMPLOYER P $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1230-50020 SALARIES A $5,255,000.00 $0.00 $5,255,000.00

1000-20-1230-50060 OVERTIME $3,230,000.00 $0.00 $3,230,000.00

1000-20-1230-50100 EMPLOYER F $526,070.00 $0.00 $526,070.00

1000-20-1230-50110 EMPLOYER M $123,033.00 $0.00 $123,033.00

1000-20-1230-50120 EMPLOYER S $1,574,816.00 $0.00 $1,574,816.00

1000-20-1230-51010 PRINTING $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-20-1230-51030 POSTAGE $900.00 $0.00 $900.00

1000-20-1230-51040 LICENSES & $7,500.00 $0.00 $7,500.00

1000-20-1230-51060 ELECTRICIT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1230-51110 MAINTENANC $115,000.00 $25,000.00 $140,000.00

1000-20-1230-51120 EQUIP MAIN $9,000.00 $0.00 $9,000.00

1000-20-1230-51130 REPAIRS TO $33,000.00 $0.00 $33,000.00

1000-20-1230-51150 RENTALS $6,500.00 $0.00 $6,500.00

1000-20-1230-51160 PROFESSION $48,000.00 $0.00 $48,000.00

1000-20-1230-51220 CONTR SVC $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

1000-20-1230-51300 VEHICLE MA $7,500.00 $0.00 $7,500.00

1000-20-1230-51310 DUES & SUB $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-20-1230-51320 TRAIN & CO $25,000.00 $18,000.00 $43,000.00

1000-20-1230-52010 SUPPLIES $351,500.00 $0.00 $351,500.00

1000-20-1230-52050 UNIFORMS $45,000.00 $0.00 $45,000.00

1000-20-1230-52600 NON-CAP EQ $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-20-1230-54000 CAP VEH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1241-50020 SALARIES A $182,530.00 $0.00 $182,530.00

1000-20-1241-50060 OVERTIME $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-20-1241-50100 EMPLOYER F $11,472.00 $0.00 $11,472.00

1000-20-1241-50110 EMPLOYER M $2,683.00 $0.00 $2,683.00

1000-20-1241-50120 EMPLOYER S $33,878.00 $0.00 $33,878.00

1000-20-1241-51030 POSTAGE $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-20-1241-51110 MAINTENANC $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

33

Item 8.



1000-20-1241-51120 EQUIP MAIN $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-20-1241-51160 PROFESSION $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00

1000-20-1241-51170 NON-PROFES $17,500.00 $0.00 $17,500.00

1000-20-1241-51310 DUES & SUB $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-20-1241-51320 TRAIN & CO $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-20-1241-52010 SUPPLIES $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00

1000-20-1241-52050 UNIFORMS $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-20-1241-52600 NON-CAP EQ $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-20-1243-50020 SALARIES A $550,010.00 $0.00 $550,010.00

1000-20-1243-50100 EMPLOYER F $34,100.00 $0.00 $34,100.00

1000-20-1243-50110 EMPLOYER M $7,975.00 $0.00 $7,975.00

1000-20-1243-50120 EMPLOYER S $102,082.00 $0.00 $102,082.00

1000-20-1243-51010 PRINTING $100.00 $0.00 $100.00

1000-20-1243-51160 PROFESSION $175,000.00 $0.18 $175,000.18

1000-20-1243-51310 DUES & SUB $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

1000-20-1243-51320 TRAIN & CO $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-20-1243-52010 SUPPLIES $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-20-1243-52050 UNIFORMS $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-20-1243-52600 NON-CAP EQ $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-20-1250-50020 SALARIES A $3,250,000.00 $0.00 $3,250,000.00

1000-20-1250-50060 OVERTIME $500,000.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

1000-20-1250-50100 EMPLOYER F $232,500.00 $0.00 $232,500.00

1000-20-1250-50110 EMPLOYER M $54,375.00 $0.00 $54,375.00

1000-20-1250-50120 EMPLOYER S $104,400.00 $0.00 $104,400.00

1000-20-1250-50130 EMPLOYER P $677,025.00 $0.00 $677,025.00

1000-20-1250-51010 PRINTING $4,200.00 $0.00 $4,200.00

1000-20-1250-51030 POSTAGE $350.00 $0.00 $350.00

1000-20-1250-51110 MAINTENANC $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-20-1250-51120 EQUIP MAIN $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

1000-20-1250-51130 REPAIRS TO $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-20-1250-51150 RENTALS $5,500.00 $0.00 $5,500.00

1000-20-1250-51160 PROFESSION $1,735,630.00 $0.00 $1,735,630.00

1000-20-1250-51170 NON-PROFES $2,200.00 $0.00 $2,200.00

1000-20-1250-51200 MEALS/CONT $350,000.00 $0.00 $350,000.00

1000-20-1250-51310 DUES & SUB $1,700.00 $0.00 $1,700.00

1000-20-1250-51320 TRAIN & CO $18,000.00 $0.00 $18,000.00

1000-20-1250-52010 SUPPLIES $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-20-1250-52050 UNIFORMS $45,000.00 $0.00 $45,000.00

1000-20-1250-52600 NON-CAP EQ $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-20-1260-50020 SALARIES A $1,150,248.00 $0.00 $1,150,248.00

1000-20-1260-50060 OVERTIME $550.00 $0.00 $550.00

1000-20-1260-50100 EMPLOYER F $71,350.00 $0.00 $71,350.00

1000-20-1260-50110 EMPLOYER M $16,687.00 $0.00 $16,687.00

1000-20-1260-50120 EMPLOYER S $201,820.00 $0.00 $201,820.00

1000-20-1260-50130 EMPLOYER P $13,467.00 $0.00 $13,467.00

1000-20-1260-51000 ADVERTISIN $5,500.00 $0.00 $5,500.00

1000-20-1260-51010 PRINTING $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

34

Item 8.



1000-20-1260-51030 POSTAGE $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00

1000-20-1260-51150 RENTALS $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-20-1260-51310 DUES & SUB $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00

1000-20-1260-51320 TRAIN & CO $9,000.00 $0.00 $9,000.00

1000-20-1260-52010 SUPPLIES $10,500.00 $0.00 $10,500.00

1000-20-1260-52050 UNIFORMS $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-20-1260-54000 CAP VEH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-20-1270-50020 SALARIES A $300,505.00 $0.00 $300,505.00

1000-20-1270-50060 OVERTIME $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-20-1270-50100 EMPLOYER F $19,065.00 $0.00 $19,065.00

1000-20-1270-50110 EMPLOYER M $4,459.00 $0.00 $4,459.00

1000-20-1270-50120 EMPLOYER S $59,671.00 $0.00 $59,671.00

1000-20-1270-51010 PRINTING $2,200.00 $0.00 $2,200.00

1000-20-1270-51030 POSTAGE $100.00 $0.00 $100.00

1000-20-1270-51040 LICENSES & $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-20-1270-51110 MAINTENANC $690,000.00 $0.00 $690,000.00

1000-20-1270-51120 EQUIP MAIN $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-20-1270-51150 RENTALS $700.00 $0.00 $700.00

1000-20-1270-51160 PROFESSION $140,000.00 $0.00 $140,000.00

1000-20-1270-51320 TRAIN & CO $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

1000-20-1270-52010 SUPPLIES $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00

1000-20-1270-52050 UNIFORMS $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-20-1270-57900 CCARD FEES $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-30-1301-50020 SALARIES A $1,986,655.00 $0.00 $1,986,655.00

1000-30-1301-50060 OVERTIME $18,000.00 $0.00 $18,000.00

1000-30-1301-50100 EMPLOYER F $124,289.00 $0.00 $124,289.00

1000-30-1301-50110 EMPLOYER M $29,068.00 $0.00 $29,068.00

1000-30-1301-50120 EMPLOYER S $372,064.00 $0.00 $372,064.00

1000-30-1301-51010 PRINTING $100.00 $0.00 $100.00

1000-30-1301-51030 POSTAGE $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-30-1301-51110 MAINTENANC $500,000.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

1000-30-1301-51120 EQUIP MAIN $7,500.00 $0.00 $7,500.00

1000-30-1301-51150 RENTALS $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-30-1301-51160 PROFESSION $275,000.00 $0.00 $275,000.00

1000-30-1301-51170 NON-PROFES $345,000.00 -$68,000.00 $277,000.00

1000-30-1301-51310 DUES & SUB $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

1000-30-1301-51320 TRAIN & CO $14,000.00 $0.00 $14,000.00

1000-30-1301-52010 SUPPLIES $185,000.00 $0.00 $185,000.00

1000-30-1301-52050 UNIFORMS $45,000.00 $0.00 $45,000.00

1000-30-1301-52500 FUELS & LU $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-30-1301-52600 NON-CAP EQ $35,000.00 $0.00 $35,000.00

1000-30-1301-54000 CAP VEH $0.00 -$0.44 -$0.44

1000-30-1301-54200 CAP EQUIP $0.00 $68,000.00 $68,000.00

1000-30-1310-50020 SALARIES A $1,027,490.00 $0.00 $1,027,490.00

1000-30-1310-50060 OVERTIME $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-30-1310-50100 EMPLOYER F $63,828.00 $0.00 $63,828.00

1000-30-1310-50110 EMPLOYER M $14,928.00 $0.00 $14,928.00

35

Item 8.



1000-30-1310-50120 EMPLOYER S $191,073.00 $0.00 $191,073.00

1000-30-1310-51010 PRINTING $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-30-1310-51030 POSTAGE $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-30-1310-51041 SWU FEES $130,000.00 $0.00 $130,000.00

1000-30-1310-51042 HH POLICE $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-30-1310-51060 ELECTRICIT $2,300,000.00 $0.00 $2,300,000.00

1000-30-1310-51070 W/S/G $200,000.00 $0.00 $200,000.00

1000-30-1310-51110 MAINTENANC $150,000.00 $0.00 $150,000.00

1000-30-1310-51120 EQUIP MAIN $275,000.00 $0.00 $275,000.00

1000-30-1310-51130 REPAIRS TO $2,000,000.00 -$10,000.40 $1,989,999.60

1000-30-1310-51150 RENTALS $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-30-1310-51160 PROFESSION $150,000.00 $10,000.07 $160,000.07

1000-30-1310-51170 NON-PROFES $35,000.00 $500.00 $35,500.00

1000-30-1310-51310 DUES & SUB $1,200.00 $0.00 $1,200.00

1000-30-1310-51320 TRAIN & CO $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-30-1310-52010 SUPPLIES $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00

1000-30-1310-52050 UNIFORMS $15,000.00 -$500.00 $14,500.00

1000-30-1310-52600 NON-CAP EQ $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-30-1330-50020 SALARIES A $446,925.00 $0.00 $446,925.00

1000-30-1330-50060 OVERTIME $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-30-1330-50100 EMPLOYER F $27,865.00 $0.00 $27,865.00

1000-30-1330-50110 EMPLOYER M $6,517.00 $0.00 $6,517.00

1000-30-1330-50120 EMPLOYER S $83,413.00 $0.00 $83,413.00

1000-30-1330-51010 PRINTING $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-30-1330-51030 POSTAGE $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

1000-30-1330-51150 RENTALS $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-30-1330-51160 PROFESSION $400,000.00 $0.00 $400,000.00

1000-30-1330-51310 DUES & SUB $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-30-1330-51320 TRAIN & CO $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

1000-30-1330-52010 SUPPLIES $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-30-1330-52050 UNIFORMS $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-30-1330-52600 NON-CAP EQ $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00

1000-40-1400-50020 SALARIES A $668,035.00 $0.00 $668,035.00

1000-40-1400-50100 EMPLOYER F $41,418.00 $0.00 $41,418.00

1000-40-1400-50110 EMPLOYER M $9,687.00 $0.00 $9,687.00

1000-40-1400-50120 EMPLOYER S $123,987.00 $0.00 $123,987.00

1000-40-1400-51010 PRINTING $100.00 $4,000.00 $4,100.00

1000-40-1400-51030 POSTAGE $500.00 $0.00 $500.00

1000-40-1400-51040 LICENSES & $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-40-1400-51110 MAINTENANC $15,500.00 $0.00 $15,500.00

1000-40-1400-51120 EQUIP MAIN $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00

1000-40-1400-51150 RENTALS $10,000.00 $5,000.00 $15,000.00

1000-40-1400-51160 PROFESSION $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-40-1400-51310 DUES & SUB $9,000.00 $0.00 $9,000.00

1000-40-1400-51320 TRAIN & CO $40,000.00 $0.00 $40,000.00

1000-40-1400-52010 SUPPLIES $675,000.00 -$9,000.00 $666,000.00

1000-40-1400-52050 UNIFORMS $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

36

Item 8.



1000-40-1400-52500 FUELS & LU $50,000.00 $0.00 $50,000.00

1000-50-1500-50020 SALARIES A $137,385.00 $0.00 $137,385.00

1000-50-1500-50100 EMPLOYER F $8,518.00 $0.00 $8,518.00

1000-50-1500-50110 EMPLOYER M $1,992.00 $0.00 $1,992.00

1000-50-1500-50120 EMPLOYER S $25,500.00 $0.00 $25,500.00

1000-50-1500-51010 PRINTING $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

1000-50-1500-51030 POSTAGE $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00

1000-50-1500-51150 RENTALS $610.00 $0.00 $610.00

1000-50-1500-51310 DUES & SUB $300.00 $0.00 $300.00

1000-50-1500-51320 TRAIN & CO $7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

1000-50-1500-52010 SUPPLIES $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

1000-50-1598-55000 DIRECT SUB $398,000.00 $0.00 $398,000.00

1000-60-1600-50020 SALARIES A $2,787,600.00 $0.00 $2,787,600.00

1000-60-1600-50024 SEASONAL $120,000.00 $0.00 $120,000.00

1000-60-1600-50060 OVERTIME $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00

1000-60-1600-50100 EMPLOYER F $183,991.00 $0.00 $183,991.00

1000-60-1600-50110 EMPLOYER M $43,030.00 $0.00 $43,030.00

1000-60-1600-50120 EMPLOYER S $550,787.00 $0.00 $550,787.00

1000-60-1600-51000 ADVERTISIN $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

1000-60-1600-51030 POSTAGE $30.00 $0.00 $30.00

1000-60-1600-51040 LICENSES & $750.00 $0.00 $750.00

1000-60-1600-51110 MAINTENANC $36,500.00 $0.00 $36,500.00

1000-60-1600-51120 EQUIP MAIN $35,000.00 $0.00 $35,000.00

1000-60-1600-51130 REPAIRS TO $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00

1000-60-1600-51150 RENTALS $21,500.00 $0.00 $21,500.00

1000-60-1600-51160 PROFESSION $295,000.00 $0.00 $295,000.00

1000-60-1600-51170 NON-PROFES $6,500.00 $0.00 $6,500.00

1000-60-1600-51310 DUES & SUB $7,700.00 $0.00 $7,700.00

1000-60-1600-51320 TRAIN & CO $13,000.00 $0.00 $13,000.00

1000-60-1600-51360 ATHLETIC P $601,000.00 -$450,000.00 $151,000.00

1000-60-1600-51360-SENIOATHLETIC P $0.00 $450,000.00 $450,000.00

1000-60-1600-52010 SUPPLIES $186,500.00 $0.00 $186,500.00

1000-60-1600-52050 UNIFORMS $210,000.00 $0.00 $210,000.00

1000-60-1600-52500 FUELS & LU $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-60-1600-52600 NON-CAP EQ $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-60-1600-57900 CCARD FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

1000-60-1610-50020 SALARIES A $183,245.00 $0.00 $183,245.00

1000-60-1610-50100 EMPLOYER F $11,361.00 $0.00 $11,361.00

1000-60-1610-50110 EMPLOYER M $2,657.00 $0.00 $2,657.00

1000-60-1610-50120 EMPLOYER S $34,010.00 $0.00 $34,010.00

1000-60-1610-51000 ADVERTISIN $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-60-1610-51010 PRINTING $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-60-1610-51030 POSTAGE $250.00 $0.00 $250.00

1000-60-1610-51120 EQUIP MAIN $100.00 $0.00 $100.00

1000-60-1610-51130 REPAIRS TO $50,000.00 $0.00 $50,000.00

1000-60-1610-51310 DUES & SUB $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

1000-60-1610-51320 TRAIN & CO $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

37

Item 8.



1000-60-1610-52010 SUPPLIES $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

1000-60-1610-52050 UNIFORMS $600.00 $0.00 $600.00

1000-60-1610-52600 NON-CAP EQ $9,000.00 $0.00 $9,000.00

1000-60-1620-50020 SALARIES A $3,278,240.00 $0.00 $3,278,240.00

1000-60-1620-50100 EMPLOYER F $203,251.00 $0.00 $203,251.00

1000-60-1620-50110 EMPLOYER M $47,534.00 $0.00 $47,534.00

1000-60-1620-50120 EMPLOYER S $608,441.00 $0.00 $608,441.00

1000-60-1620-51010 PRINTING $7,500.00 $0.00 $7,500.00

1000-60-1620-51030 POSTAGE $11,500.00 $0.00 $11,500.00

1000-60-1620-51110 MAINTENANC $90,000.00 $0.00 $90,000.00

1000-60-1620-51150 RENTALS $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

1000-60-1620-51160 PROFESSION $37,500.00 $0.00 $37,500.00

1000-60-1620-51310 DUES & SUB $37,000.00 $0.00 $37,000.00

1000-60-1620-51320 TRAIN & CO $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-60-1620-52010 SUPPLIES $475,000.00 $0.00 $475,000.00

1000-60-1620-52050 UNIFORMS $1,750.00 $0.00 $1,750.00

1000-60-1620-52600 NON-CAP EQ $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

1000-60-1620-57900 CCARD FEES $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $143,634,936.00 $374,999.54 $144,009,935.54

38

Item 8.



ACTUAL YTD REVENUE

3831382

360433

4836928

40386

92521

669521

2355

30905

250

0

451420

0

0

46577

0

26218

64765

0

0

3036

0  

13125

10561

2043761

8696

0

0

4512855

0

0

1400

11217

224906

9090

7712

53741

25434

3424

69786

41082

6450

831

1292047

2721

57648

610

39

Item 8.



0

4450

0

182386

2885

12678  
9900

3476

26524

94511

18254

3472

253

5929

501

180211

12704

1836

85007

15303

5215

22078

5313

600  

26  

0

9200

252

0

241702

$19,798,408.00 13.80%
$1,445.74

$9,477.64  
$2,010,997.85

-$782.00

$442.49

$171,146.03

$650.69

$10,267.82

$2,401.38

$29,999.86

$2,109.27

$582.20

$298.53

$9.35

40

Item 8.



$289.85

$9,453.29

$12,582.29

$9,561.89

$4,204.47

$2,055.07

$0.00

$5,917.39

$253,908.57

$187.56

$15,471.49

$3,618.36

$46,220.62

$0.00

$104.86

$1,225.02

$458.40

$0.00

$3,994.66

$175.00

$8,852.11

$297,198.85

$3,848.61

$18,108.82

$4,235.14

$55,372.90

$7,947.55

$10,954.97

$28,289.38

$1,162.60

$29,235.14

$4,715.51

$4,746.77

$562.69

$4,153.32

$8,250.00

$33,111.09

$10,596.68

$197,032.29

$11,652.09

$2,725.11

$36,481.18

$697.42

$5,422.57

$19,800.00

$0.00

$900.03

41

Item 8.



$0.00

$125.00

$43.23

$72,813.77

$2,214.23

$0.00

$127,025.12

$7,652.20

$1,789.61

$23,538.17

$0.00

$0.00

$1,685.00

$811.85

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$2,565.45

$0.00

$330,812.15

$19,717.73

$4,611.44

$53,001.88

$9,508.19

$9,645.04

$0.00

$3,422.59

$1,320.88

$2,634.13

$1,147.00

$900.00

$6,499.92

$2,630.29

$0.00

$226,613.50

$0.00

$9,244.86

$3,218.48

$35,628.49

$7,316.37

$226.59

$1,241.57

$0.00

$280.45

$3,420.00

$0.00

$0.00

42

Item 8.



$2,253.25

-$42.45

$14,400.36

$850.40

$198.89

$2,668.45

$0.00

$0.00

$30.73

$351.86

$543,847.53

$7,671.46

$33,079.05

$7,736.29

$38,481.29

$72,711.88

$2,336.93

$9,049.99

$43,700.00

$4,611.27

$1,544.00

$1,822.70

$0.00

$16,547.05

$2,733.23

$105,672.42

$6,269.50

$1,466.26

$19,581.32

$72.63

$0.00

$0.00

$874.32

$947.32

$0.00

$850,225.00

$450,257.82

$195.21

$26,820.70

$6,413.16

$73,322.17

$8,875.82

$15.40

$30.60

$0.00

$262.50

$6,665.00

43

Item 8.



$518.63

$4,478.70

$0.00

$1,809.84

$2,481.42

$0.00

$42,880.65

$0.00

$2,627.89

$614.58

$7,948.37

$11,292.30

$0.00

$32.00

$7,000.00

$5,062.40

$191.00

$910.28

$0.00

$146,780.52

$7,416.12

$9,429.02

$2,205.17

$28,571.84

$0.63

$5,293.89

$303.17

$4,732.65

$158.00

$454.90

$702.33

$7,716.67

$189,425.03

$40.85

$11,636.47

$2,721.43

$35,108.93

$0.00

$11.50

$523.45

$167,643.58

$6.50

$280.00

$1,339.62

$69.43

$1,797.37

$333,253.81

44

Item 8.



$0.00

$20,081.59

$4,696.51

$59,408.57

$0.00

$596.04

$883.25

$0.00

$695.00

$1,744.18

$4,626.29

$1,249.14

$0.00

$55,570.11

$16.86

$3,391.40

$793.15

$10,300.44

$12.08

$50,989.69

$125.00

$1,171.77

$5,350.61

$7,227.70

$0.00

$167,658.01

$837,717.29

$1,082.29

$64,832.87

$3,899.28

$911.93

$12,013.83

$1,054.22

$26.75

$0.63

$4,279.74

$0.00

$137.94

$4,436.94

$225.10

$1,772.20

$515,554.51

$3,494.78

$30,608.22

$7,158.39

$96,124.57

$0.00

45

Item 8.



$935.56

$0.00

$1,049.20

$115,533.99

$8,241.27

$13,463.16

$5,274.25

$0.00

$116,559.36

$152.26

$6,896.77

$1,612.97

$21,626.86

$893.23

$339.41

$1,465.00

$253.15

$0.00

$1,439.46

$1,597.03

$25,000.00

$239,623.53

$14,594.87

$3,413.42

$44,392.08

$490.60

$270.71

$232.76

$289.85

$0.00

$881.00

$651.87

$2,645.77

$0.00

$228.42

$3,457.44

$190,269.56

$13,795.85

$10,387.07

$11,833.41

$2,767.54

$36,996.27

$0.00

$3,410.12

$3,084.51

$117,416.20

$1,048.75

46

Item 8.



$0.00

$950.00

$5,595.07

$20,220.99

$395,401.63

$9,043.39

$20,214.10

$4,727.58

$75,100.89

$0.00

$969.58

$219,781.95

$756,329.58

$3,266.87

$500.00

$0.00

$1,578.22

$442,438.05

$214,506.12

$13,030.67

$3,047.49

$39,749.75

$0.00

$0.00

$1,078,860.03

-$1,060.80

$75.00

$2,325.95

$352.75

$1,945.91

$116,532.01

$7,076.23

$1,654.93

$21,595.56

$20,942.52

$10,071.56

$7,319.13

$1,040.00

$564.99

$1,964.20

$2,404.98

$0.00

$195,111.69

$11,582.92

$2,708.92

$35,939.94

$353.08

47

Item 8.



$1,967.10

$0.00

$84.16

$872.75

$52,817.23

$0.00

-$39.55

$4,361.30

$659.99

$154.35

$0.00

$0.00

$400.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$168,548.50

$100,000.00

$75,000.00

$0.00

$35,084.50

$0.00

$18,750.00

$187,500.00

$20,000.00

$3,472,196.00

$4,090.35

$0.00

$0.00

$5,863,429.73

$210,304.16

$9,760.45

$366,037.29

$85,740.11

$323,450.66

$918,930.45

$855.66

$222.15

$4,904.14

$4,141.29

$250.00

$79,680.33

$1,245,661.40

$41,030.98

$10,308.18

$16,813.58

$18,913.48

48

Item 8.



$12,903.49

$33,037.08

$98,672.81

$830.34

$25,527.35

$110,324.92

$92,740.63

$134,231.44

$172,319.32

$0.00

$2,500.00

$0.00

$571,243.13

$17,152.90

$35,304.55

$8,287.68

$72,257.05

$42,108.38

$1,639,467.89

$1,065,985.00

$164,438.20

$38,457.49

$500,285.40

$363.66

$219.37

$2,517.10

$15.54

$133,405.76

$2,006.83

$6,010.52

$380.30

$20,686.76

$2,767.19

$2,664.71

$1,966.30

$5,098.19

$144,135.16

$10,650.87

$485.78

$18.29

$61,810.81

$1,781.18

$3,762.23

$879.89

$11,783.78

$0.00

$0.00

49

Item 8.



$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$9,164.71

$537.22

$0.00

$204,900.42

$12,453.55

$2,912.53

$37,504.38

$0.00

$17,933.06

$0.00

$4,912.97

$1,064.39

$448.61

$0.00

$1,016,868.06

$129,774.43

$68,622.99

$16,048.98

$26,953.27

$212,339.28

$63.13

$32.39

$77.50

$3,628.42

$4,433.22

$1,894.55

$522,510.48

$921.00

$120,042.64

$856.15

$6,748.03

$18,838.44

$10,984.48

$577.85

$436,026.28

$153.75

$26,243.94

$6,137.74

$77,089.42

$4,279.52

$1,487.72

$294.95

50

Item 8.



$314.29

$1,130.83

$3,382.78

$1,958.47

$4,360.52

$1,395.30

$18.29

$110,842.00

$4,060.45

$6,945.05

$1,624.26

$21,291.88

$0.00

$0.63

$0.00

$126,249.99

$0.00

$280.45

$62,169.10

$1,376.15

$8,235.47

$10.97

$119.90

$694,783.82

$14,473.38

$42,784.39

$10,006.08

$128,861.93

$20.07

$1.83

$90,169.74

$739.70

$1,135.95

$15,291.25

$52,949.07

$2,219.18

$10,803.54

$115,156.19

$7,045.16

$2,565.86

$5,106.70

$0.00

$15,264.75

$273,444.27

$1,945.84

$16,673.32

$3,899.42

51

Item 8.



$51,035.25

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$876,617.35

$70,643.39

$33,298.36

$89,731.08

$594,681.97

$253.15

$11,059.20

$11,593.28

$0.00

$0.00

$9,545.57

$3,332.55

$2,041.00

$140,929.59

$0.00

$8,528.13

$1,994.49

$26,115.69

$35.31

$0.00

$1,276.65

$0.00

$538.95

$7,737.75

$721.32

$545.65

$133.48

$200,436.52

$12,118.11

$2,834.08

$36,920.30

$1,847.33

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$16,723.82

$6,868.78

$1,959.35

$1,586.06

$21,125.70

$142,632.88

$1,360.13

52

Item 8.



$7,766.37

$60,941.03

$3,749.98

$877.03

$10,359.80

$444.89

$120.75

$253.15

$45.00

$6,461.52

$975.19

$0.00

$1,095,039.91

$0.00

$63,212.46

$70,062.60

$16,385.84

$187,969.35

$1,971.16

$0.00

$125.00

$19,844.98

$9,505.20

$35,340.78

$838.70

$92,866.00

$660.29

$258.73

$3,958.28

$37,799.85

$0.00

$48,030.37

$76,751.61

$110.81

$0.00

$5.76

$49,071.89

$3,019.77

$706.23

$9,107.75

$0.00

$105.93

$0.00

$0.00

$1,744.74

$0.00

$781.00

53

Item 8.



$496.05

$0.00

$0.00

$1,069,179.21

$64,216.57

$15,018.55

$198,058.51

$0.00

$3,458.53

$32,167.86

$2,155.40

$29,262.35

$771.36

$697.00

$150,910.22

$1,583.07

$1,532.12

$692.73

$43,887,608.83 30.48%

54

Item 8.



55

Item 8.



 

56

Item 8.



Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

Beaufort County
South Carolina

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2022

Executive Director/CEO

57

Item 9.



10/18/2023

Joseph Passiment
Council Chairman
Beaufort County, South Carolina

Dear Joseph:

We are pleased to notify you that your annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022 qualifies for GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. 
The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

When a Certificate of Achievement is awarded to a government, an Award of Financial Reporting 
Achievement (AFRA) is also presented to the individual(s) or department designated by the government 
as primarily responsible for its having earned the Certificate. This award has been sent to the submitter as 
designated on the application.

We hope that you will arrange for a formal presentation of the Certificate and Award of Financial 
Reporting Achievement, and give appropriate publicity to this notable achievement. A sample news 
release is included to assist with this effort.

We hope that your example will encourage other government officials in their efforts to achieve and 
maintain an appropriate standard of excellence in financial reporting.

Sincerely,

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services

58

Item 9.



The Government Finance Officers Association of 
the United States and Canada

presents this

AWARD OF FINANCIAL REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT
to

The Award of Financial Reporting Achievement is presented by the Government Finance Officers 
Association to the department or individual designated as instrumental in the government unit achieving 
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. A Certificate of Achievement is 
presented to those government units whose annual financial reports are judged to adhere to program 
standards and represents the highest award in government financial reporting.

Executive Director

Date: 10/18/2023

Finance Department
Beaufort County, South Carolina

59

Item 9.



10/18/2023

Raymond Williams
Chief Financial Officer 
Beaufort County, South Carolina

Dear Raymond:
 
We are pleased to notify you that your June 30, 2022 fiscal year end annual comprehensive financial 
report has been awarded GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. 
However, our review noted one or more serious deficiencies, which required that the Certificate be issued 
on a qualified basis. While these deficiencies do not disqualify your report from receiving the Certificate, 
failure to correct them in your next submission will almost certainly preclude award of the Certificate. If 
you have any questions, or do not understand precisely what changes are required, we strongly suggest 
that you contact us promptly in order to have sufficient time to correct the identified deficiencies for your 
next submission, keeping in mind that additional work by your staff and/or contractors (including 
possibly actuaries and auditors) may be necessary to do so.

The GFOA established the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting Program 
(Certificate Program) in 1945 to encourage and assist state and local governments to go beyond the 
minimum requirements of generally accepted accounting principles to prepare annual comprehensive 
financial reports that evidence the spirit of transparency and full disclosure and then to recognize 
individual governments that succeed in achieving that goal. The Certificate of Achievement is the highest 
form of recognition in governmental accounting and financial reporting. Congratulations on having 
satisfied the high program standards.

Your electronic award packet contains the following:

 A "Summary of Grading" form and a confidential list of comments and suggestions for 
possible improvements. These documents note the specific deficiency or deficiencies that caused 
the award qualification. We strongly encourage you to implement the recommended 
improvements in your next report. Certificate of Achievement Program policy requires that 
written responses to this year’s comments and suggestions for improvement be included when 
submitting your next report. If a comment is unclear or there appears to be a discrepancy, please 
contact the Technical Services Center at (312) 977-9700 and ask to speak with a Certificate of 
Achievement Program in-house reviewer.

 Certificate of Achievement. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year. A 
current holder of a Certificate of Achievement may reproduce the Certificate in its immediately 
subsequent annual comprehensive financial report. Please refer to the instructions for reproducing 
your Certificate in your next report.

 Award of Financial Reporting Achievement. When GFOA awards a government the Certificate 
of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting, we also present an Award of Financial 

60

Item 9.



Reporting Achievement (AFRA) to the department identified in the application as primarily 
responsible for achievement of the Certificate.

 Sample press release. Attaining this award is a significant accomplishment. Attached is a sample 
news release that you may use to give appropriate publicity to this notable achievement.

In addition, award recipients will receive via mail either a plaque (if first-time recipients or if the 
government has received the Certificate ten times since it received its last plaque) or a brass medallion to 
affix to the plaque (if the government currently has a plaque with space to affix the medallion). Plaques 
and medallions will be mailed separately.

Thank you for participating in and supporting the Certificate of Achievement Program. If we may be of 
any further assistance, please contact the Technical Services Center at (312) 977-9700.

Sincerely,

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services

61

Item 9.



Beaufort County 2% State ATAX Committee 
November 14, 2023 Presentations 

 
This year the ATAX Committee received a record 37 applications totaling $2,630,162.64 in funds request. 
The committee members present: 
Jonathan Sullivan – Chair 
Steve Green 
Anita Prather 
Dick Stewart 
 
The committees focus was to recommend funds to organizations/events that provided the best return 
on Investment, how many tourist are anticipated and what have the previous results been.  A tourist as 
defined by the State of South Carolina as someone traveling from more than 50 miles away.   
 
Greater Beaufort-Port Royal CVB,  
Tourism Marketing 2023-24:   Recommend $195,000 
This Organization is the DMO for Northern Beaufort County.  This DMO has demonstrated a continuous 
return on ATAX Funds, Year to date Occ% has grown 3%.  During the same time period the visitor spend 
has increased 30+%.  The DMO shared new date that suggest Visitors represent roughly 16% of the total 
people in Northern Beaufort County.  However their Food and Beverage spend represents 34% of the 
total F&B spend.  This past years Public Relations spend generated over $3.5 Million in publicity value 
from 121 placed stories with a total reach of 300+ Million.  Sales Team attended 18 trade shows and 
conducted 5 site visits, capturing 3,380 room nights.  
DMO recommended a focus on shoulder season activities, mainly focused on December – February and 
August – September time periods.   
  
SC Lowcountry & Resort Islands Tourism Commission,  
Promotion Beaufort County and The Lowcountry.  Recommend $93,300 
Continued focus on high value visual content and videography for on-line digital ads.  The year over year 
results for digital attendance onsite grew 21.8%, roughly 693,769.  Target market within 500 mile range 
and household Income of $100k.  A portion of the funding is specific to Travel Writer Tours and 
Familiarization Tours for influencers as their articles provide greater creditability with readers that paid 
placement advertisements.  
 
Beaufort Area Sports Council, 
Beaufort Area Sports Marketing & Sales FY 2023-2024  Recommend $60,000 
Sports Council is growing its reach to attract more sporting groups ranging from youth to adult.  It has 
attracted 3 Golf Groups, Fishing Tournaments and hosted the Annual River Swim and Run.  In addition to 
the marketing and ads placements, Sports Council will use funds for Tradeshow activities, a digital 
hosting platform for event recruitment and proposals.   
 
Beaufort County Airports, 
Destination Marketing  Recommend $40,000 
This was a dual request for Hilton Head Island Airport and the Beaufort Exec Airport.  The current spend 
and return for Hilton Head Island Airport Marketing program has provided good results for retargeting.  
We are recommending $20K for that portion of the request.   
Additionally for the Beaufort Exec Airport, the plan will be rolled out with the CVB to focus on new travel 
with the planned hanger expansion in 2024. This is a first time investment.   

62

Item 10.



 
 
 
 
 
Beaufort Film Society, 
18th Beaufort International Film Festival   Recommend $60,000 
This event is a 6 day screening festival and workshops taking place in February serving a need time to 
generate tourism activity.  The Film Society has added Marlena Smalls and Forest Gump Concert 
opening night.  Additionally they are working with Gary Sinise and the Lt. Dan Band.  Both increasing 
cost for the festival and hopes to increase tourism participation. Great Festival during an otherwise slow 
time. 
 
Festivals: Gullah Festival, Shrimp Festival, & Taste of Beaufort 
Beaufort Festivals & Events Advertising 2023-2024  Recommend $60,000 
This request is to primarily support marketing for Gullah Festival, Shrimp Festival and Taste of Beaufort.  
All funds/ads are managed and placed by the CVB.   
 
Gullah Traveling Theater, 
GTTI Decoration Day   Recommend $30,000 
$10,000 is for Social Media Marketing for Decoration Day advertising with a mixture of 
$20,000 is for TV & Radio for ads for Decoration Day Marketing and other year rounds smaller activities.   
The smaller activities are new and have asked applicant to provide data post event for tourism 
production results.  
 
Hilton Head Island Recreation Association 
Jeep Island, Oyster Festival & Wingfest   Recommend $0 
Three separate events, some are at capacity with limited growth potential.  Have been functioning 
soundly for years without support, current support is near $60k support from HHI ATAX.   
 
Hilton Head Choral Society, 
Marketing for Tourism/Visitor Development  Recommend 2,500 
A volunteer organization of 80 singers performing around HHI.  This past year accounting for roughly 
179 Tourist in tracking data.  Supported by the Town Of Hilton Head $10k. 
 
Hilton Head Hospitality Association,  
Hilton Head Wine and Food Festival  Recommend $10,000 
Provide solid results year after year with this event.  This past year it contributed 5,200 hotel room 
nights sold during the festival.  In 2024 the festival is adding additional activities.  HHI provides $130K in 
support cost.   
 
Hilton Head Island Concours d'Elegance, Inc., 
Hilton Head Island Concours d'Elegance & Motoring Festival    Recommend $38,000 
Event takes place in a shoulder season for Hilton Head and has a massive economic impact of more than 
$15 Million.  Funds are requested for marketing support of more than a $1.5M operating budget. 
 
Hilton Head Island Land Trust, 
Raptor CAM, Website, Marketing   Recommend $20,000 

63

Item 10.



Funds are for new camera, web marketing and operational expense for Eagles Nest Camera.   
 
 
 
 
Hilton Head Symphony Orchestra, 
HHSO Marketing Programs  Recommend $25,000 
Social and Digital marketing Support for programs, anticipate 6k+ tourist attendees,  Has been a good 
organization for past grants and funds used.   
 
Beaufort Area Hospitality Association   
Beaufort Oyster Festival 2024   Recommend $30,000 
Event is focused on January, historically slowest economic month in Northern Beaufort County.  In three 
years festival has grown from 250 attendees to over 14,000.  This year the event had a $542k economic 
impact, increasing visitor spend by more than 78%, year over year.    
 
Beaufort Area Hospitality Association  
New Year’s Eve Fireworks 2024   Recommend $35,000 
BAHA was asked by stakeholders and the CVB to identify a new event for New Years, there is nothing 
happening in the market to drive visitor’s to spend their New Years in Northern Beaufort County.  This 
new event will produce a one day, afternoon/evening production of fireworks and entertainment to 
generate overnight accommodations.   
 
Arts Center of Coastal Carolina, 
Tourism Marketing of Unincorporated Areas of Beaufort County  Recommend $20,000 
They have a strong record of performance results, over 12k visitors more 50 miles in the last year, 
increasing this number by 15% year over year.  Well supported with HHI ATAX to support operations.  
These funds are to help support specific marketing initiatives.   
 
Beaufort History Museum, 
Promoting "New" Beaufort History Museum   Recommend $ 4,200 
We are recommending funds to support the “Digital Marketing Campaign” for outside Beaufort County 
to promote and create awareness of events/lectures.  They have small events but have not previously 
marketed them for larger impact.  No funding from City ATAX 
 
Bluffton Gullah Cultural Heritage Center, 
Bluffton Gullah Cultural Heritage Center Development  Recommend $ 25,000 
Great new concept that will add a fixed asset to the area for year round visitor attraction.  They are on a 
capital campaign to fund the construction and startup cost.  They do have some current programming 
for workshops and lectures.  We are recommending funding to support the marketing of the current 
workshops and lectures.  We have also recommended the Organization consider applying for the Local 
H&A Tax funds to support capital cost. 
 
Coastal Discovery Museum 
Cultural and Ecotourism  Recommend $ 36,000 
One of the few fixed museums on HHI supporting tourism activities year round.  Estimated more than 
106k visitors came to the museum this year.  They have continuously performed with previous ATAX 

64

Item 10.



funding to grow their reach, improve exhibits and offering as well expanding programming.  They are 
well supported with HHI ATAX. 
 
 
 
 
Daufuskie Island Historical Foundation 
Brochure Printing     Recommend $7,000 
Annual Map/brochure printing expense for the Island used to attract tourist from visitor centers.  100k 
Visitors in the last year to the Center.  The Rob Kennedy Trail was recently recognized by Nature 
Magazine as the #1 Must See.  We have encouraged them to ask for funding from HHI ATAX in the 
future as well. 
 
Freedman Arts District, Inc. 
Chalk it Up!     Recommend $30,000 
This is a new event taking place in Northern Beaufort County.  In support and awareness of the 
Freedman’s Art District in the Northwest Quadrant neighborhood.  It is working to promote Artist and 
Arts Activities and support family ownership of property in this area with a specific focus on Heirs’ 
property.  This unique event that will start in January, a need time for activities in the area, the event 
will build into March for the Main Event.  They are working with USCB art department as well have hired 
three Professional Chalk Artist.   
 
Friends of Hunting Island State Park, Inc.  
Restoration & Construction of Exhibit space for 1st Order 1875 Fresnel Lens   Recommend $30,000 
The State of SC is contributing $3M to overall Lighthouse project. The portion of funding is restoration of 
Lighthouse Lens to be relocated to ground level and restored for public access and viewing.  Hunting 
Island is the #1 Tourist attraction in Beaufort County, the lighthouse is the most popular and requested 
attraction at the Park.   
 
Lean Ensemble Theater, 
Lean Ensemble Theater Marketing  Recommend $3,000 
Request is to support the marketing activities of the Theater Arts.  Annual Tourism impact is near 1k 
tourist.   
 
Lowcountry Golf Course Owners Association 
Golf Tourism Connected TV Advertising Campaign  Recommend $ 7,500 
Golf Continues to be strong with the desire for outdoor activities.  An estimated 366k rounds were 
played on 13 courses.  Has had significant increased funding from HHI ATAX for $100k.   
 
NIBCAA 
Hilton Head Gullah Celebration   Recommend $ 35,000 
Continued strong results for festivals and activities.  Has some remaining funds from last year to carry 
forward, HHI ATAX came in stronger this year with a recommended $225k in funding.  The plan to add 
more activities and a dinner cruise for 2024 for a great reach of tourism activities.  
 
Open Land Trust 
Old Sheldon Church Road Trail   Recommend $0 

65

Item 10.



Request to develop a trail near Old Sheldon Church, no other infostructure to support tourism activities 
such as bathrooms and no current plans to manage activities.  Trail will be nice but did not feel this 
would contribute to tourism activities.   
 
 
 
 
Historic Campbell Chapel 
Campbell Chapel Community Development  Recommend $0 
Great project to add a year round asset for tourism activities centered around History and Culture.  This 
project will require another $1M plus investment and 2-3 years for completion.  We recommended this 
project submit funding request to Local H&A Tax for consideration. 
 
Historic Mitchelville Freedom Park 
Marketing and Site Preparation/Design for Juneteenth Celebration Recommend $35,000 
The Juneteenth Celebration had a 15% increase Year over Year, they are expanding in 2024 to be a week 
long for additional tourism activity and grow length of stay.  The Holiday lights in the park takes place in 
December,  need time for activities in Southern Beaufort County.  HHI ATAX contribution $195k.   
 
Historic Port Royal Foundation  
First Annual Port Royal International Storytelling Festival  Recommends $5,000 
This is a new festival in Port Royal, great concept and exciting potential.  The 2024 event is planned for 
the middle of October during one of the busiest times of the year, will not likely have a large impact do 
to timing of event.  The planned location has a capacity of 350 people, will be limited to parking and 
tourist participation.  Recommended future dates of December – February be considered or Aug – Sept.  
No current commitment from the Town of Port Royal ATAX.  Also seeking funding from SC Arts 
Commission.   
 
Penn Center 
40th Annual Heritage Days Celebration  Recommends $30,000 
This event sold roughly 4k tickets this year, would like to continue marketing for an expanded festival 
next year in partnership with the National Park Service.  Goal of growing to 5K for next year.  There is a 
one-time $20k investment for trail preparation included in the request, 10k for marketing funds.  City 
ATAX is $9K. 
 
Port Royal Sound Foundation 
Native Gardens Exhibit and Greenhouse  Recommend $20,000 
PRSF had been a year round attraction well situated in the middle of the County.  Recommeded funds 
are for the purchase of the Greenhouse and Installation expense.  They are completing their exhibits 
enhancements from last years funds with $68K remaining.  Working to welcome more tourist to the 
estimated 13k this year.   
 
Second Founding of America  
Beaufort History Walk - A Community Volksmarch  Recommend $0 
Did not show for presentation 
 
Technical College of the Lowcountry 
Mather School Museum and Interpretive Center Accessibility Project  Recommend $0 

66

Item 10.



This is a capital project and Mather is working through management of the building with TCL with no 
current path forward.   
 
USCB Center of the Arts  
USCB Center for the Arts ADA Upgrades  Recommend $0 
This is a Capital project, primarily local use not high Tourism attendance.   
 
Gullah Roots Historical Foundation 
Daufuskie Island GullahFest  Recommend $9,000 
Looking to confirm dates of first time event, limited to Ferry Service on Daufuskie and number of 
attendance.  Anticipate 210 Tourist in first year  We recommended Sept/Oct for need times in Southern 
Beaufort County.  This will keep them out of busy May time period.  HHI ATAX $20k 
 
 
 
Fripp Island Public Service District 
Fripp Island Inlet Bridge Repair   Recommend $0 
Recent referendum passed and funding is secured.  Would use funds to reduce debt.   
 
Friends of Port Royal Cypress Wetlands, Inc. 
Guided Nature Tours    Recommend $4,500 
Started doing Master Naturalist guided tours, has grown to two a month.   Would like to expand service 
to capture more tourist.  Will track tourism impact by collecting data with ticket purchase.  Currently 
tour is free.  Will consider charging for ticket in the future to create sustainable funding model.  Port 
Royal ATAX currently $0. 
 
 
Stewart Recused from #21 and #31 
Prather Recused from #7 
Sullivan Recused from #3, #14, #15 
 
County Finance is working with ATAX Committee to evaluate previous awards and carry over funds.  
These funds will be used in next year’s ATAX Grant Process.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67

Item 10.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    
  
          
  

 

68

Item 10.



Time Contact Person Email Organization Event/Project Amount Requested Recommended
Awarded 
Last Year Amount (2022-2023)

1 12:15pm Robb Wells robb@beaufortsc.org Greater Beaufort-Port Royal CVB Tourism Marketing FY 2023-2024 195,000.00$                     195,000.00$                     yes 180,000.00$                      
2 12:30pm Peach Morrison Peach@SouthCarolinaLowcountry.com SC Lowcountry & Resort Islands Tourism Commission Promotion of Beaufort County & the Lowcountry 93,300.00$                        93,300.00$                        yes 72,545.00$                         
3 1pm Tim Waz sports@beaufortsc.org Beaufort Area Sports Council Beaufort Area Sports Marketing & Sales FY 2023-2024 60,000.00$                        60,000.00$                        yes 25,000.00$                         
4 1:07pm Jon Rembold jrembold@bcgov.net Beaufort County Airports Destination Marketing 50,000.00$                        40,000.00$                        no 
5 1:14pm Ron Tucker beaufortfilm@gmail.com Beaufort Film Society 18th Beaufort International Film Festival 60,000.00$                        60,000.00$                        yes 30,000.00$                         

6 1:21pm Denise Bullitt
sankofainspirit@gmail.com    trhicksii@gmail.com   
lroper@cityofbeaufort.org Festivals: Gullah Festival, Shrimp Festival, & Taste of Beuafort, etc. Beaufort Festivals & Events Advertising fy 2023-2024

60,000.00$                        60,000.00$                        
yes

7 1:28pm Denise Bullitt sankofainspirit@gmail.com Gullah Traveling Theater GTTI Decoration Day 60,000.00$                        30,000.00$                        yes 30,000.00$                         
8 1:35pm Leah Arnold leah.arnold@islandreccenter.org HHI Recreation Accoc. Jeep Island, Oyster Festival & Wingfest 10,000.00$                        -$                                        no 
9 1:42pm David Coyle dhcoyle@roadrunner.com Hilton Head Choral Society Marketing for Tourism/Visitor Development 5,000.00$                           2,500.00$                           yes 4,000.00$                            

10 1:49pm Jeff Gerber circlemstr@gmail.com Hilton Head Hospitality Association Hilton Head Wine and Food Festival 10,000.00$                        10,000.00$                        yes 10,000.00$                         
11 1:56pm Robert Lee/Lindsey Harrell Bob.Lee@BeaconAllied.com Hilton Head Island Concours d'Elegance, Inc. Hilton Head Island Concours d'Elegance & Motorign Festival 38,000.00$                        38,000.00$                        yes 40,000.00$                         
12 2:03pm Robin Storey/George Banino hhilandtrust@hhilandtrust.org Hilton Head Island Land Trust Raptor CAM, Website, Marketing 23,600.00$                        20,000.00$                        no 
13 2:10pm Alan Jordan/Susan Hartmann ajordan@hhso.org Hilton Head Symphony Orchestra HHSO Marketing Programs 25,000.00$                        25,000.00$                        yes 25,000.00$                         

2:17pm
14 2:27pm Ashlee Houck Ashlee@bfthospitality.com Beaufort Area Hospitality Association Beaufort Oyster Festival 2024 30,000.00$                        30,000.00$                        yes 20,000.00$                         

15 2:34pm Ashlee Houck Ashlee@bfthospitality.com Beaufort Area Hospitality Association New Years Eve Fireworks 2024 35,000.00$                        35,000.00$                        yes 20,000.00$                         
16 2:41pm Andrea Gannon agannon@artshhi.com Arts Center of Coastal Carolina Tourism Marketing of Unincorporated Areas of Beaufort County 20,000.00$                        20,000.00$                        yes 6,000.00$                            
17 2:48pm Katherine Lang klang.beaufort@gmail.com Beaufort History Museum Promoting "New" Beaufort Histroy Museum 15,000.00$                        4,200.00$                           no 
18 2:55pm Caprice Wilborn cwblufftongullah843@gmail.com Bluffton Gullah Cultural Heritage Center Bluffton Gullah Cultural Heritage Center 250,000.00$                     25,000.00$                        no 
19 3:02pm Rex Garniewicz rgarniewicz@coastaldiscovery.org Coastal Discovery Museum Coastal Discovery Museum: Cultural and Ecotourism 37,500.00$                        36,000.00$                        yes 34,500.00$                         
20 3:09pm Nancy Ludtke nlfuskie@aol.com Daufuskie Island Historical Foundation Brochure Printing 7,000.00$                           7,000.00$                           no 

21 3:16pm Stacy Applegate / Angela Dore
stacy@freedmanartsdistrict.org   
angelarenee.dore@gmail.com Freedman Arts District, Inc. Chalk it Up!

30,000.00$                        30,000.00$                        
no 

22 3:23pm Linda Miller FOHIorg@gmail.com Friends of Hunting Island State Park, Inc. Restoration & Construction of Exhibit space for 1st Order 1875 Fresnel Lens 40,000.00$                        30,000.00$                        no 
23 3:30pm Blake White blake@leanensemble.org Lean Ensemble Theater Lean Ensemble Theater Marketing 6,000.00$                           3,000.00$                           no 
24 3:37pm Barry Fleming bfleminggolf@gmail.com Lowcountry Golf Course Owners Association Golf Tourism Connected TV Advertising Campaign 25,000.00$                        7,500.00$                           yes 20,000.00$                         
25 3:44pm Eric Turpin eturpin@nibcaa.org NIBCAA Hilton Head Gullah Celebration 50,000.00$                        35,000.00$                        yes 50,000.00$                         
26 3:51pm Kate Schaefer kate@openlandtrust.org Open Land Trust Old Sheldon Church Road Trail 45,000.00$                        -$                                        no 
27 3:58pm Jon Black jblack9469@gmail.com Historic Campbell Chapel Campbell Chapel Community Development 130,874.00$                     -$                                        no 
28 4:05pm Ahmad Ward award@exploremitchelville.org Historic Mitchelville Freedom Park Marketing and Site Preparation/Design for Juneteenth Celebration 35,000.00$                        35,000.00$                        yes 35,000.00$                         

4:12pm
29 4:22pm Pamela Courtney PamelaKCourtney@gmail.com Historic Port Royal Foundation First Annual Port Royal International Storytelling Festival 25,000.00$                        5,000.00$                           yes 5,950.00$                            

30 4:29pm Charlene M. Spearen cspearen@penncenter.com Penn Center 40th Annual Heritage Days Celebration 30,000.00$                        30,000.00$                        no 19,500.00$                         
31 4:36pm Kat Armstrong karmstrong@portroyalsoundfoundation.org Port Royal Sound Foundation Native Gardens Exhibit and Greenhouse 55,400.00$                        20,000.00$                        yes 91,000.00$                         
32 4:43pm Dan Durbin DHD3495@GMAIL.COM Second Founding of America Beaufort History Walk - A Community Volksmarch 2,088.64$                           -$                                        no 
33 4:50pm Ginnie Kozak vkozak@tcl.edu Technical College of the Lowcountry Mather School Museum and Interpretive Center Accessibility Project 375,000.00$                     -$                                        no 40,000.00$                         
34 4:57pm Pinky Harriott pharriott@uscb.edu USCB Center of the Arts USCB Center for the Arts ADA Upgrades 160,000.00$                     no 
35 5:04pm Yolanda Bryant gullahrootsfoundation@gmail.com Gullah Roots Historical Foundation Daufuskie Island GullahFest 25,000.00$                        9,000.00$                           no 
36 5:11pm Jeremy Sponceller jeremysponseller@fipsd.org Fripp Island Public Service District Fripp Island Inlet Bridge Repair 500,000.00$                     no 
37 5:18pm Eileen Newton treasurer@foprcw.org Friends of Port Royal Cypress Wetlands, Inc. Guided Nature Tours 11,400.00$                        4,500.00$                           no 

2,630,162.64$                1,000,000.00$                

69

Item 10.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH BEAUFORT-JASPER WATER SEWER 
AUTHORITY AND THE TOWN OF BLUFFTON TO JOINTLY FUND THE INSTALLATION OF SEWER FACILITIES IN THE 
STONEY CREEK AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF PREVENTING FURTHER CONTAMINATION OF THE MAY RIVER 
HEADWATERS 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE – NOVEMBER 20, 2023  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Hank Amundson – Special Assistant to the County Administrator (10 mins.)  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County, Town of Bluffton and BJWSA have been discussing/planning initiatives to address ways to 
stop the contamination of the May River for more than 7 years.  The Town of Bluffton and BJWSA have already 
approved this IGA. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The joint goal of addressing sources of contamination in the May River has been a focus of local government 
councils and staff since as far back as 2014.  Substandard and failing septic systems near the May River 
Watershed have been identified as sources of fecal coliform in the water.  Areas of the May River are closed to 
harvesting, due this contamination.   
  
The Town of Bluffton and BJWSA has established priority areas and a plan of action to address areas as funding 
becomes available. This IGA addresses a specific priority area outside of the Town limits and in unincorporated 
Beaufort County, and is an area key to the health of the May River, as it is the headwaters and was identified 
as a high level contamination contributor.   
 
The total project cost is $7,900,000.  BJWSA made an application to the Rural Infrastructure Authority for 
grant funds under the SCIIP program; and was awarded funds in the amount of $5,000,000.  The Town and 
County propose to fund $1,500,000 per entity for only those costs associated with the sewer project.  BJWSA 
will solely fund the installation of water lines and connections, as water service is required. 
 
Approval of this request will allow the immediate undertaking of final plans and construction of the project. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

THIS PROJECT WAS AN ORIGINAL ARPA PLANNED PROJECT.  

TOTAL IMPACT  $1,000,000 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

70

Item 12.



MOTION TO APPROVE/DENY “RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH 
BEAUFORT-JASPER WATER SEWER AUTHORITY AND THE TOWN OF BLUFFTON TO JOINTLY FUND THE 
INSTALLATION OF SEWER FACILITIES IN THE STONEY CREEK AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF PREVENTING 
FURTHER CONTAMINATION OF THE MAY RIVER HEADWATERS”   

MOVE FORWARD TO COUNCIL FOR APPROVAL/ADOPTION ON DECEMBER 11, 2023 

 

71

Item 12.



   

1 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INTERGOVERNMENTAL JOINT FUNDING 

AGREEMENT 
(Stoney Creek Sewer Expansion Project) 

 ) 

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT ) 

 

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into with an 

effective date of _______________, 2023, (the “Effective Date”) by and among (a) Beaufort County, a 

political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), (b) the Town of Bluffton, a South 

Carolina municipal corporation (the “Town”), and (c) Beaufort Jasper Water Sewer Authority, a political 

subdivision and a special purpose district of the State of South Carolina (the “Owner” or “BJWSA”) (with 

the County, the Town, and BJWSA collectively referred to as the “Parties”). 

WHEREAS, the Parties each recognize that failing septic systems can negatively impact public health, 

environmental health, quality of life, and economic growth; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have documented that chronic leaks from the Stoney Creek watershed area's septic 

tanks have emitted fecal coliform into the upstream portions of the May River, having negative 

environmental impacts on commercial fishing, shrimping and oystering, negative impacts on eco-tourism 

companies, and negative impacts on recreation and recreation-based businesses; and  

WHEREAS, for many years, the Parties have employed various initiatives individually to achieve the goal 

of cleaner water and reduction in septic use including the Bluffton Town Council's adoption of the May 

River Watershed Action Plan in 2011 to serve as a guide in support of protecting the May River watershed 

and the May River Watershed Plan Advisory Committee in 2012 to provide specific recommendations for 

implementation; and  

WHEREAS, the May River Watershed Action Plan identifies both the elimination of and proper 

maintenance of septic systems within the May River watershed as key strategies to protect water quality; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Parties identified an opportunity to collaborate together on these shared objectives with 

funding through the South Carolina Infrastructure Investment Program ("SCIIP") grant, a one-time initiative 

to improve water, wastewater and stormwater systems throughout the state using federal funds allocated by 

the 2021 American Rescue Plan Act ("ARPA"); and 

WHEREAS, the SCIIP grant application identified this project as the May River Watershed Master Plan – 

Phase I: Stoney Creek-Palmetto Bluff Road Sewer Service Area (the “Project") which was awarded to 

BJWSA in April 2023 as the Owner of the sewer system; and 

WHEREAS, the original scope of the sewer project is defined in the SCIIP grant application, and included 

the installation of a new  sewer system for an estimated 150 individual connections with capacity to 

accommodate an additional 50 connections as shown on the map; however, due to the increase in pricing 

since the time of the grant application, the parties have agreed to revise the scope of work for the sewer 

project to limit the total project cost to $7.9 million, inclusive of work required to provide new public sewer 

service and work required for downstream sewer system improvements to accommodate the additional sewer 

flow from the priority project area in Exhibit 1; and  

WHEREAS, the estimated construction cost of the sewer project as submitted in the SCIIP application was 

$7,900,000, comprised of $5,925,000 (75%) of SCIIP grant funding and $1,975,000 (25%) local match 

detailed in Exhibit 2; and 

 

72

Item 12.



   

2 
 

WHEREAS, The SCIIP grant requires that local funds be used to pay for septic tank decommissioning 

and new sewer service connections on private property which shall be the responsibility of the Town and 

County and therefore, the local funds shall be used to pay for the costs associated with those line 

items as set forth in Exhibit 2 prior to the local funds being used for any additional portion of the 

project; and 

WHEREAS, the Town and County agree to forego their right to receive capacity credits for the cost of 

sewer infrastructure associated with this project in exchange for BJWSA waiving the sewer capacity fee 

charges for any parcel connecting to sewer as part of this project in the priority areas identified in Exhibit 

1; and  

WHEREAS, the SCIIP grant funding does not cover the water portion of the project and BJWSA will be 

responsible for all costs and fees associated with the water project and connections for the parcels connecting 

to sewer, which is estimated to be approximately $3,300,000; and 

WHEREAS, due to the disparity in the financial responsibility of the Parties as set forth above, the Parties 

understand that BJWSA may apply for other State and Federal grants, including but not limited to unspent 

SCIIP grant funds, but that the ability of BJWSA to secure satisfactory grant funding for the Project shall 

not constitute a condition precedent to or a mandatory requirement of the Parties’ obligations hereto; and 

The recitals contained herein above are hereby incorporated within this Agreement so that their contents are 

made a substantive part hereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of these premises and the mutual covenants set forth below, 

the Parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

Section 1 Roles and Responsibilities. 

a. BJWSA shall be the sole Owner of the infrastructure associated with the Project.  

b. BJWSA shall serve as the project manager. As the project manager, BJWSA shall manage the 

milestone schedule, the major elements of which include final engineered design, permitting, 

fully executing rights-of-way (temporary or permanent easements as needed), construction, and 

conducting testing and acceptance of the work.  BJWSA shall use sound project management 

techniques in an effort to keep the Project on time and within budget.  

c. BJWSA shall seek any and all necessary easements in their name as Owner. 

d. BJWSA shall serve as the grant administrator, providing timely reports and retaining records as 

required by the grant terms and conditions. 

e. The Parties shall jointly provide community outreach and marketing of the Project to property 

owners and others within the Project area. As part of those efforts, the Town shall promptly 

provide the County and/or BJWSA with any relevant support materials reasonably requested to 

market the Project.  

f. The primary function of the County and the Town is to provide timely financial support for the 

Project and, to the extent permitted by law, to assist BJWSA in the community outreach and 

marketing for the Project. The non-grant expenditures and overages for the Project shall be split 

equally by the County and the Town.  

73

Item 12.



   

3 
 

g. At the time it becomes aware of any potential schedule or cost overruns, or to any other material 

change required to the terms of this Agreement that pertains to the Project, BJWSA shall notify 

the other Parties to obtain consent for a change order and/or a written amendment to this 

Agreement.  All proposed or actual changes to the scope or any other increase to the Project 

budget are contingent upon approval and provision of funding for those increases by the 

governing bodies of the Town and the County.  

h. Any change orders to the design of the Project must be approved by the Town of Bluffton and 

Beaufort County within 15 days of receipt of the change order, provided such change orders are 

reasonably necessary for the completion of the Project. 

i. Sections 2.1.3 and 2.1.4 of the BJWSA’s Sewer Use Regulation require the owner(s) of any 

house, building, trailer/mobile home/recreational vehicle, or property available for human 

occupancy, employment, recreation or other purpose that is located within 300 feet of any street, 

alley, or right-of-way in which there is public conventional sewer to connect to said sewer within 

sixty (60) days of the completion of the Project.  The SCIIP grant requires that local funds be 

used to pay for septic tank decommissioning and new sewer service connections on private 

property which shall be the responsibility of the Town and County as included and detailed in the 

budget cost estimate in Exhibit 2. 

Section 2 Financial Reconciliation. 

a. In its role as project manager, BJWSA shall have privity of contract with and supervision of all 

third-party vendors performing work on the Project.  

b. At BJWSA's discretion but not more often than once a quarter, the Parties shall reconcile 

expenditures incurred and paid by BJWSA for the Project by comparing actual costs to the 

budgeted costs.  Costs shall not include BJWSA employee hours.  All third-party expenditures 

must be directly related to the Project.  

c. Upon RIA’s approval of the construction contract, the County and the Town shall remit their 

share of the matching funds required for the sewer portion of project to BJWSA by and through a 

check made payable to the Tupper, Grimsley, Dean and Canaday escrow account within ten (10) 

days after notice of the approval.  

d. The Parties recognize that Section 2.1.5 of BJWSA’s Sewer Use Regulations provides that any 

property connected to BJWSA’s wastewater system should also be connected to BJWSA’s water 

system. Any direct or indirect costs incurred by the Parties in furtherance of this Project that may 

be attributable, in whole or in part, to the expansion, maintenance, or development of BJWSA’s 

water system in the Project area shall be the sole and absolute financial responsibility of BJWSA 

and neither the Town nor the County shall be obligated to contribute financially to the same.     

e. Any disputes with regard to the expenditures related to the sewer portion of the project that 

cannot be resolved shall be submitted to mediation with a South Carolina Certified Mediator 

chosen by the Parties.  In the event that the Parties cannot agree to such person, the Parties will 

submit the request to the Chief Administrative Judge for the Circuit Court of Beaufort County to 

designate a mediator to conduct the mediation.  

74

Item 12.



   

4 
 

Section 3 Schedule. 

a. The terms of the SCIIP grant require that all funds be committed by 12/31/2024 and expended by 

06/01/2026.   

b. The SCIIP grant application projected the major milestone completion dates required to achieve 

the funds committed date and funds expended date.  That schedule is: notice to proceed issued to 

design engineer October 2, 2023; final design complete, including obtaining all permits and 

easements by 10/1/2024; construction solicitation/advertise for bids/notice of award complete by 

1/1/2025; construction start by 1/1/2025; construction complete by 5/1/2026.  As project manager, 

BJWSA will finalize a more detailed project schedule and attach to this IGA as Exhibit 3, which 

shall be updated from time to time.  

c. As project manager, BJWSA will make every reasonable effort to adhere to the schedule, however 

the Parties acknowledge that there may be unforeseen circumstances, material availability issues, 

or other issues outside of BJWSA's control which may extend the schedule.   

d. All parties understand that the time limitations associated with the sewer project under the SCIIP 

grant  schedule may result in a different completion date for the water project. 

Section 4 General Provisions. 

a. The term of this Agreement shall be through 12/31/2026 or whenever the Project is finished, 

whichever is later.  Termination of the Agreement in whole may only occur by an agreement by all 

the Parties. 

b. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement may not be amended, changed, modified or 

altered without prior written consent of the Parties. 

c. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any 

court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other 

provisions hereof. 

d. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an 

original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

e. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 

South Carolina. 

f. The captions or headings herein are for convenience only and in no way define, limit, or describe 

the scope or intent of any provision or sections of this Agreement. 

g. All notices required under this Agreement shall be in writing via US registered mail or via email 

with confirmation of delivery receipt.  

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Omitted. Signature Page(s) and Exhibit(s) to Follow. 

  

75

Item 12.



   

5 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have set their hands and seals to this Intergovernmental Agreement. 

WITNESS:     BEAUFORT JASPER WATER SEWER AUTHORITY 

 

 

____________________   By:__________________________________________ 

                                                        Verna Arnette, General Manager 

 

 

WITNESS:     BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

____________________   By:__________________________________________ 

                                                        John Robinson, Beaufort County Administrator 

 

 

WITNESS:     TOWN OF BLUFFTON 

 

 

____________________   By:__________________________________________ 

                                                        Stephen Steese, Town Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

76

Item 12.



   

6 
 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

MAP OF PROJECT AREA 

 

 

 

 

  

77

Item 12.



   

7 
 

 

EXHIBIT 2 

LOW PRESSURE GRINDER BUDGET COST ESTIMATE 

MAY RIVER WATERSHED SEWER IMPROVEMENTS 

October 9, 2023 

Item 
No. 

Description QTY Unit  Unit Cost 
 Cost 

Extension  

AREA 1 

1 Grinder Pump Station Install at Campground 1 EA $50,000  $50,000  

2 Grinder Pump Station Install at Parcels 12 EA $10,000  $120,000  

3 
Decommission Septic Tanks (demolish septic tank, 
install new service lateral to structure) 12 

EA 
$5,000  $60,000  

4 3" Conveyance Force Main to MH CP 100-055A  6,900 LF $35  $241,500  

5 
3" Conveyance Force Main - HDD Across Stoney 
Creek 1,000 

LF 
$65  $65,000  

6 Connect 3" Force Main to MH CP 100-055A 1 EA $4,000  $4,000  

7 
Inline 3" Air Release Valves and Manhole (assume 
every 1000') 8 

EA 
$5,000  $40,000  

8 2" Collection Force Main 0 LF $30  $0  

9 
Inline 2" Air Release Valves and Manhole (assume 
every 1000') 0 

EA 
$5,000  $0  

10 
Clearing / Grubbing (FM Length x 5 feet wide 
clear/grub area adjacent to roadway) 34,500 

SF 
$15  $517,500  

11 Dirt Road Restoration 0 LF     

12 
Dirt Road Restoration - Regrade Entire Road (15 feet 
wide road) 0 

SF 
$1  $0  

13 
Dirt Road Restoration - Clean Fill / Scrapped w/ V-
Ditch (5 feet wide) 0 

SF 
$15  $0  

14 
Dirt Road Restoration - Undistributed Backfill (25% 
Pipe Length x 5 feet wide x 3 feet deep) 0 

CY 
$24  $0  

15 
Engineered Backfill/Compacted Subgrade (10% of 
Line 19) 0 

CY 
$40  $0  

16 Flowable Fill in lieu of Compacted Subgrade 50 CY $203  $10,125  

17 
Open Cut & Patch Asphalt per SCDOT Regulations 
(30% of FM length x 10 ft width = pavement impact) 20,700 

SF 
$25  $517,500  

18 
Asphalt Overlay per SCDOT Regulations (30% of FM 
length x 10 ft width = pavement impact) 20,700 

SF 
$10  $207,000  

19 
Downstream Sewer Improvements (new pumps and 
wet well addition to CP 100) 1 

EA 
$750,000  $750,000  

78

Item 12.



   

8 
 

AREA I - Construction Subtotal $2,582,625  

      

AREA 2 

1 Grinder Pump Station Install at Parcels 41 EA $10,000 $410,000 

2 
Decommission Septic Tanks (demolish septic tank, 
install new service lateral to structure) 

41 EA $5,000 $205,000 

3 
3" Conveyance Force Main to Stoney Crest 
Campground 

5,500 LF $35 $192,500 

4 
Inline 3" Air Release Valves and Manhole (assume 
every 1000') 

6 EA $5,000 $30,000 

5 2" Collection Force Main 3,200 LF $30 $96,000 

6 
Inline 2" Air Release Valves and Manhole (assume 
every 1000') 

4 EA $5,000 $20,000 

7 
Clearing / Grubbing (FM Length x 5 feet wide 
clear/grub area adjacent to roadway) 

43,500 SF $15 $652,500 

8 Dirt Road Restoration 3,200 LF   $0 

9 
Dirt Road Restoration - Regrade Entire Road (15 feet 
wide road) 

48,000 SF $1 $48,000 

10 
Dirt Road Restoration - Clean Fill / Scrapped w/ V-
Ditch (5 feet wide) 

16,000 SF $15 $240,000 

11 
Dirt Road Restoration - Undistributed Backfill (25% 
Pipe Length x 5 feet wide x 3 feet deep) 

12,000 CY $24 $288,000 

12 
Engineered Backfill/Compacted Subgrade (10% of 
Line 14) 

1,200 CY $40 $48,000 

13 Flowable Fill in lieu of Compacted Subgrade 50 CY $203 $10,125 

14 Downstream Sewer Improvements (see Phase I) 0 EA $370,000 $0 

AREA 2 - Construction Subtotal $2,240,125 

      

AREA 
3 

          

1 Grinder Pump Station Install at Parcels 6 EA $10,000 $60,000 

2 
Decommission Septic Tanks (demolish septic tank, 
install new service lateral to structure) 

6 EA $5,000 $30,000 

3 2" Collection Force Main 2,300 LF $30 $69,000 

4 
Inline 2" Air Release Valves and Manhole (assume 
every 1000') 

3 EA $5,000 $15,000 

5 
Clearing / Grubbing (FM Length x 5 feet wide 
clear/grub area adjacent to roadway) 

11,500 SF $15 $172,500 

6 Dirt Road Restoration 2,300 LF     

79

Item 12.



   

9 
 

7 
Dirt Road Restoration - Regrade Entire Road (15 feet 
wide road) 

34,500 SF $1 $34,500 

8 
Dirt Road Restoration - Clean Fill / Scrapped w/ V-
Ditch (5 feet wide) 

11,500 SF $15 $172,500 

9 
Dirt Road Restoration - Undistributed Backfill (25% 
Pipe Length x 5 feet wide x 3 feet deep) 

8,625 CY $24 $207,000 

10 
Engineered Backfill/Compacted Subgrade (10% of 
Line 12) 

863 CY $40 $34,500 

11 Flowable Fill in lieu of Compacted Subgrade 50 CY $203 $10,125 

12 Downstream Sewer Improvements (See Phase I) 0 EA $370,000 $0 

AREA 3 - Construction Subtotal $805,125 

  

  
  
  

CONSTRUCTION SUB TOTAL = AREA 1 + AREA 2 + AREA 3 

$5,627,875 

A General Conditions & Mob/Demob (5%)       $281,394 

B Construction Contingency (10%)       $562,788 

C Professional Fees (20%)       $1,125,575 

E Total Pipe Length 18,900 LF     

F Easements (full pipe length x 15 foot width) 6.51 Acre $50,000 $325,413 

G 
Fee Simple Purchase (0.5 Acre at Stoney Crest 
Plantation Campground and access road) 

0.50 Acre $50,000 $25,000 

TOTAL PROJECT COST - AREA 1 + AREA 2 + AREA 3 $7,948,044  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80

Item 12.



   

10 
 

EXHIBIT 3 

Table 2: Proposed Project Schedule 

Task 
Anticipated 

Time 

BJWSA ISSUES NOTICE TO PROCEED FOR DESIGN SERVICES 12/1/2023 

KICKOFF MEETING WITH BJWSA 12/4/2023 

SURVEY COMPLETE 2/02/2024 

30% - PROJECT DESIGN 4/5/2024 

60% - PROJECT DESIGN 7/12/2024 

90% - PROJECT DESIGN 10/18/2024 

LAND ACQUISITION COMPLETE 11/8/2024 

PERMITTING COMPLETE 11/8/2024 

100% - PROJECT DESIGN 11/15/2024 

BID ADVERTISE DATE 12/6/2024 

BID OPEN DATE 1/10/2025 

BJWSA ISSUES NOTICE TO PROCEED FOR CONSTRUCTION 2/3/2025 

CONSTRUCTION SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION/PUNCHLST 4/1/2026 

PUNCHLIST ITEMS COMPLETE 5/1/2026 

RECEIVE AND PROCESS FINAL CONTRACTOR PAYMENT 5/15/2026 

COMPLETE CLOSEOUT WITH RIA 6/1/2026 

 

 

81

Item 12.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2 MULLET STREET 

AS SURPLUS PROPERTY,  AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO 

EXECUTE ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR THE SALE OF THE REAL PROPERTY,  AND 

ALLOCATING PROCEEDS FROM THE SALE OF REAL PROPERTY 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee; November 20, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Brittany Ward, County Attorney  

10 Minutes  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort County (“County”) is the fee simple owner of the real property located at 2 Mullet Street 
(“Property”).  The County purchased the Property and adjacent real property in order to expand and 
improve the Alljoy Boat Landing facilities.  The County has surveyed the Property and adjacent property 
to amend the boundary lines in order to complete the desired project and has no use for the home 
located on the Property.  The County desires to declare the Property surplus property and sell the 
Property upon terms and conditions most favorable to the County.  The proceeds from the sale of the 
Property will first be used to fund the desired expansion and improvement projects to the Alljoy Boat 
Landing and surround area, and any remaining funds will be allocated to the Capital Improvement Fund 
to be used to complete other projects in Beaufort County.   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Proceeds from sale of real property to be used for expansion and improvement projects to the Alljoy 
Boat landing and surround area, any remaining funds to be allocated to the Capital Improvement 
Fund for other capital improvement projects in Beaufort County.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval.  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Move forward to Council for First Reading 

(A Public Hearing is required prior to Third Reading) 

 

82

Item 13.



ORDINANCE 2024/____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2 

MULLET STREET AS SURPLUS PROPERTY,  AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR 

THE SALE OF THE REAL PROPERTY,  AND ALLOCATING PROCEEDS FROM THE 

SALE OF REAL PROPERTY 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County (“County”) is the fee simple owner of real property located 

at 2 Mullet Street, Bluffton, South Carolina with TMS Number R600 039 00C 0189 0000 

(“Property”); and  

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council approved Ordinance 2023/02 to purchase the 

Property and the adjacent real property in order to expand and improve the Alljoy Boat Landing 

facilities; and   

WHEREAS, since purchasing the Property, the County has surveyed the Property and 

adjacent property to amend the boundary lines in order to provide the County with the land 

necessary to expand and improve the Alljoy Boat Landing as desired, and does not have a use for 

the home located on the Property; and  

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the 

citizens of the County to declare the Property as surplus property and to sell the Property upon 

such terms and conditions as may be most favorable to the County; and   

WHEREAS, the County shall publicly solicit a request for proposals for both a purchase 

price and subsequent use of the Property.  The Interim County Administrator must review all 

proposals, evaluate each proposal based on the purchase price and subsequent use of the Property, 

and is authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to sell the Property upon the terms 

and conditions most favorable to the County; and  

WHEREAS, the proceeds from the sale of the Property shall first be used to fund the 

desired expansion and improvement projects to the Alljoy Boat Landing and surrounding area.  

Any remaining funds shall be allocated to the Capital Improvement Fund for other capital 

improvement projects to be completed in Beaufort County; and   

WHEREAS, S.C. Code Ann. §4-9-130 requires that the sale of any interest in real property 

owned by the County must be authorized with a public hearing and final action by Beaufort County 

Council.   

NOW, THEREFORE, be it Ordained by Beaufort County Council, that the Property is 

declared surplus property, the Interim County Administrator is hereby authorized to execute any 

documents necessary for the sale of the real property located at 2 Mullet Street upon such terms 

and conditions as he believes is most favorable and in the best interest of the citizens of Beaufort 

County, and whereby the proceeds from the sale shall be allocated as described above.   

83

Item 13.



 DONE this _______ day of _________ 2024.  

 

     COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

     ________________________________________ 

     Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

 

 _______________________________ 

 Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

84

Item 13.



N.T.S.
LOCATION MAP

SITE

© 2023

y
v

ur
e
ing

S&

27
12

 B
ul

l S
tre

et
 S

ui
te

 A
B

ea
uf

or
t, 

S
C

 2
99

02

Fa
x 

84
3.

37
9.

22
23

84
3.

37
9.

22
22

S.
C

. G
RI

D

ALLJOY BOAT LANDING
BRIGHTON BEACH

BLUFFTON
BEAUFORT COUNTY
SOUTH CAROLINA

PARCEL RECONFIGURATION
SURVEY

PREPARED FOR

BEAUFORT COUNTY

07/13/2023
10/20/2023
J. Tatter
J. Gray

1
Z23064F:\Projects\2023\2023 Proposals\Z23064 Alljoy Boat Landing, Beaufort County\DWG\Z23064_SURVEY_LtLnRev-Consol.dwg

DATUM=NAVD88

Last Revised:

Surveyor:
Drawn By:

Date Drawn:

SHEET #:

JOB:

NO
.

BY
:

DA
TE

:
DE

SC
RIP

TIO
N:

PL
AN

 RE
VI

SIO
NS

LEGEND:

85

Item 13.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 8)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 9)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 9)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "VE" (EL 11)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "VE" (EL 11)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "VE" (EL 12)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "VE" (EL 11)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 9)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAULA BRABHAM CLEMMONS  & JAMES STEPHEN CLEMMONS R600 039 00C 0179 0000 DEED BOOK 3615, PAGE 1822 DEED BOOK 3615, PAGE 1826 PLAT BOOK 29, PAGE 139

AutoCAD SHX Text
DONALD J. HAMBURGER  & ELIZABETH C. HAMBURGER R600 039 00C 0188 0000 DEED BOOK 3920, PAGE 3304

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOATING DOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALLJOY ROAD (40' R/W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAY RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULLET STREET (25' R/W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HOUSE 2 STORY FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
94.23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
R600 039 00C 0324 0000 (PORTION OF) 0.642 ACRES 27,983 SQ.FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSHES OF MAY RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TOTAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DHEC/OCRM CRITICAL  AREA LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DHEC/OCRM CRITICAL AREA LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 9)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE "AE" (EL 8)

AutoCAD SHX Text
R600 039 00C 0394 0000 0.393 ACRES (17,108 SQ.FT) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAIL SCALE: 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DHEC/OCRM CRITICAL AREA LINE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(SEE DETAIL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A 2683 sq.ft 0.062ac

AutoCAD SHX Text
R600 039 00C 0189 0000 0.283 ACRES (12,341 SQ.FT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSHES OF MAY RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSHES OF MAY RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S63°55'45"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
87.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE TO BE ABANDONED

AutoCAD SHX Text
94.23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TOTAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DHEC/OCRM CRITICAL AREA LINE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
I HEREBY STATE THAT TO THE BEST OF MY PROFESSIONAL KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION, AND BELIEF, THE SURVEY SHOWN HEREON WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STANDARDS OF PRACTICE MANUAL FOR SURVEYING IN SOUTH CAROLINA, AND MEETS OR EXCEEDS THE REQUIREMENTS FOR A CLASS "A" SURVEY AS SPECIFIED THEREIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE DESIGNS AND IDEAS PRESENTED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE COPYRIGHTED PROPERTY OF ANDREWS ENGINEERING CO., INC. THE USE OR REPRODUCTION  OF THESE PLANS OR THEIR CONTENT IS STRICTLY  PROHIBITED WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.   

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEERING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANDREWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO. C00008

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
160

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES: 1. BEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE SC STATE PLANE COORDINATE BEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE SC STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM NAD 83. 2. FIELD WORK COMPLETED: 07/07/2023 FIELD WORK COMPLETED: 07/07/2023 3. THIS PARCEL IS LOCATED IN FLOOD ZONES AS SHOWN ON THIS THIS PARCEL IS LOCATED IN FLOOD ZONES AS SHOWN ON THIS MAP AND DEPICTED ON PANEL NO. 45013C0428G EFFECTIVE DATE MARCH 23, 2021 - FEDERAL INSURANCE ADMINISTRATION FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAPS. 4. OWNER OF RECORD: BEAUFORT COUNTY  OWNER OF RECORD: BEAUFORT COUNTY  5. THIS PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS THIS PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS AND/OR RIGHT OF WAYS OF RECORD. 6. ACREAGE SHOWN IS TO THE DHEC/OCRM CRITICAL AREA LINE. ACREAGE SHOWN IS TO THE DHEC/OCRM CRITICAL AREA LINE. PROPERTY OWNERSHIP EXTENDS TO MEAN HIGH WATER MARK ALONG TIDAL BOUNDARIES. 7. LIMITED BUILDING SETBACK INFORMATION WAS DETERMINED AT LIMITED BUILDING SETBACK INFORMATION WAS DETERMINED AT THIS TIME.  THE SETBACK INFORMATION SHOWN HEREON IS AS PER THE BEAUFORT COUNTY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (3.2.80.C) 8. REFERENCES:  REFERENCES:       DEED BOOK 4234, PAGE 639; PLAT BOOK 29, PAGE 139      PLAT BOOK 30, PAGE 102; PLAT BOOK 136, PAGE 26

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE AREA SHOWN ON THIS PLAT IS A GENERAL REPRESENTATION OF DHEC-OCRM PERMIT AUTHORITY ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY. CRITICAL AREAS, BY THEIR NATURE, ARE DYNAMIC AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE OVER TIME. BY GENERALLY DELINEATING THE PERMIT AUTHORITY OF THE DHEC-OCRM, THE OFFICE OF OCRM IN NO WAY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO ASSERT PERMIT JURISDICTION AT ANY TIME IN ANY CRITICAL AREA ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, WHETHER SHOWN HEREIN OR NOT. ______________________________________________ SIGNATURE                                        DATE THE CRITICAL LINE SHOWN ON THIS PLAT IS VALID FOR FIVE YEARS FROM THE DATE OF THIS SIGNATURE, SUBJECT TO THE CAUTIONARY LANGUAGE ABOVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO. 26954

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALLJOY RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALLJOY RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASS ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEEPSHEAD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
TROUT ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: IT IS THE INTENT OF THIS PLAT TO SHOW THAT "TRACT A", CONTAINING 0.062 ACRES(2,683 SQ.FT), IS BEING CUT FROM PARCEL R600 039 00C 0189 0000 AND COMBINED WITH PARCEL R600 039 00C 0394 0000, RESULTING IN THESE PARCELS HAVING THE FOLLOWING ACREAGES: R600 039 00C 0189 0000 = 0.283 (12,341 SQ.FT) R600 039 00C 0394 0000 = 0.454 (19,791 SQ.FT) ALSO, THE PROPERTY LINE SHOWN HEREON AS LINE A - B - C - D  IS NOW NULL & VOID AND ABANDONED AND THE NEW PROPERTY LINE BETWEEN SAID PARCELS IS SHOWN HEREON AS LINE E - F .

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON PIN FOUND OR NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON PIN SET OR NOTED



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY PERSONNEL HANDBOOK 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee; November 20, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Katherine Mead, Human Resources Director; John Robinson, Interim County Administrator  

15 Minutes  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The current Beaufort County Personnel Handbook was adopted June 27, 2016. It is in the best 
interest of the County to review the Personnel Handbook from time to time to ensure the policies 
and procedures are current and address the needs and desires of the County and its employees.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

None  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval.  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to Disapprove  

Move forward to Council for Approval 

 

86

Item 14.



RESOLUTION 2023/_____ 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY PERSONNEL HANDBOOK 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council (“Council”) finds that it is in the best interest 

of Beaufort County (“County”) employees to implement uniform employment practices; and  

WHEREAS, the current Beaufort County Personnel Handbook was adopted June 27, 

2016; and  

WHEREAS, the Council recognizes that from time to time the policies and procedures 

within the Personnel Handbook must be revised in order to stay current and address the needs and 

desires of the County and its employees; and  

WHEREAS, the County administration and staff have drafted the new Beaufort County 

Personnel Handbook provided in “Exhibit A”, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference, in order to address the needs and desires of the County and its employees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Beaufort County Council hereby 

revokes and repeals all previously issued handbooks made or issued by Beaufort County Council 

and hereby adopts the Beaufort County Personnel Handbook provided in Exhibit A, attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  

This Resolution shall be effective January 1, 2024. 

Dated this _____ day of December, 2023.  

 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

    

      _________________________________ 

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman  

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

87

Item 14.



Substantive Changes / Additions to Employee Handbook Draft 
 

 Addition of Parental Leave Policy 

 Addition of Whistleblower Policy 

 Addition of Flexible Scheduling Policy 

 Addition of Telecommuting Policy 

 Council will hear grievances and appeals on matters involving allegations against the 
County Administrator (Please have labor law attorney review) 

 Addition of policy supporting the SC Lactation Accommodation Law 

 Policy added regarding Political Participation by Employees 

 Update Maximum Personal Leave Accrual limit from 280 hours to 320 hours  

 Partial day absences timekeeping for Exempt employees 

 Probationary employment decisions are not automatic and will require conscious 
decision by management to grant regular employment status 

 Added a leave accrual table for 12-hour shift employees (primarily BCSO staff) 

 Bereavement Leave – 5 days/shift per occurrence versus 3 days/shifts per year 

 Recertification reimbursement 

 Updated Emergency Leave Bank to both full and part time employees, remove 
committee due to medical privacy, and allow donations to be allowed from both PLT 
and sick leave accounts 

 Addition of Conflict of Interest and Business Ethics 

 Addition of Personal and Company-Provided Portable Communication Devices 

 Addition of Camera Phones/Recording Devices 

 Addition of Confidential County Information 

 Addition of Publicity/Statements to Media 

 Addition of Reference Policy 

 Updated Emergency Disaster Policy and Emergency Attendance & Pay Policy 

 Addition of Fleet policies 

 Updated Social Media Policy 

  

 

 

88

Item 14.



THIS IS NOT A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

BEAUFORT COUNTY

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER

89

Item 14.



 

Employee Handbook Revisions 
 

Revision Date  Section  Type 
   

 

 

 

  

90

Item 14.



DISCLAIMER 
 
 
ALL EMPLOYEES OF BEAUFORT COUNTY ARE EMPLOYED AT-WILL AND MAY QUIT OR BE 
TERMINATED AT ANY TIME AND FOR ANY OR NO REASON. NOTHING IN ANY OF BEAUFORT 
COUNTY’S RULES, POLICIES, HANDBOOKS, PROCEDURES OR OTHER DOCUMENTS 
RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT CREATES AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONTRACT OF 
EMPLOYMENT.  NO PAST PRACTICES OR PROCEDURES, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, FORM 
AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AGREEMENT TO CONTINUE SUCH PRACTICES OR PROCEDURES. 
NO PROMISES OR ASSURANCES, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, WHICH ARE CONTRARY TO 
OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH, CREATE A 
CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT UNLESS: 1) THE TERMS ARE PUT IN WRITING, 2) THE 
DOCUMENT IS LABELED “CONTRACT”, 3) THE DOCUMENT STATES THE TERMS OF 
EMPLOYMENT, AND 4) THE DOCUMENT IS SIGNED BY THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR. 
 
I acknowledge receipt of this handbook and UNDERSTAND THAT IT IS NOT A CONTRACT OF 
EMPLOYMENT. I further understand that this Employee Handbook supersedes and replaces all 
earlier handbooks, policies, and practices which are contrary to this document. 
 

 

 

 

Signature of Employee 
 
 
 
 
Printed Name of Employee 
 
 
 
 
Date 
 

91

Item 14.



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
BEAUFORT COUNTY’S MISSION AND VISION ........................................................ 12 

IMPORTANT NOTICE TO OUR EMPLOYEES ............................................................ 13 

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................... 14 

1.1 Equal Employment Opportunity ...................................................................................... 14 

1.2 Employment At-Will ........................................................................................................ 14 

1.3 Anti-Harassment Policy .................................................................................................. 14 

1.4 Sexual Harassment Policy.............................................................................................. 15 

1.5 Harassment Complaint Procedure ................................................................................. 16 

1.6 Whistleblower Policy ...................................................................................................... 17 

1.7 Drug-Free and Alcohol-Free Workplace ......................................................................... 17 

1.8 Workplace Violence ........................................................................................................ 18 

1.9 Pregnancy Accommodations .......................................................................................... 18 

1.10 Lactation Accommodations .......................................................................................... 19 

1.11 Reasonable Accommodations and Interactive Dialogue .............................................. 19 

SECTION 2 – YOUR EMPLOYMENT........................................................................... 20 

2.1 Personnel Records ......................................................................................................... 20 

2.2 References ..................................................................................................................... 22 

2.3 Employee Categories and Classification ........................................................................ 22 

2.4 Timekeeping Procedures ............................................................................................... 23 

2.5 Employee Service Credit ................................................................................................ 23 

2.6 Probationary Period ........................................................................................................ 24 

2.7 Employment of Relatives ................................................................................................ 24 

2.8 Fraternization ................................................................................................................. 24 

2.9 Transfer of Employees ................................................................................................... 25 

92

Item 14.



 

2.10 Separation of Employment ........................................................................................... 25 

2.11 Exit Interviews .............................................................................................................. 25 

2.12 Workforce Reductions .................................................................................................. 25 

2.13 Secondary Employment ............................................................................................... 26 

2.14 Employee Discipline ..................................................................................................... 26 

2.15 Examples of Conduct Warranting Disciplinary Action ................................................... 27 

2.16 Grievance Process ....................................................................................................... 28 

2.17 Promotions ................................................................................................................... 31 

SECTION 3 – EMPLOYEE EXPECTATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES ................... 31 

3.1 Working Hours and Schedule ......................................................................................... 31 

3.2 Punctuality and Attendance ............................................................................................ 32 

3.3 Remote Work/Telecommuting ........................................................................................ 33 

3.4 Fitness for Duty .............................................................................................................. 35 

3.5 Code of Conduct ............................................................................................................ 35 

3.6 Conflict of Interest and Business Ethics ......................................................................... 37 

3.7 Political Participation by Employees ............................................................................... 37 

3.8 Confidential County Information ..................................................................................... 37 

3.9 Publicity/Statements to the Media .................................................................................. 38 

3.10 Dress Code, Appearance, and Cleanliness .................................................................. 38 

3.11 Transportation and Travel ............................................................................................ 39 

3.12 Travel Expense Policy .................................................................................................. 40 

3.13 Operation of Vehicles ................................................................................................... 40 

3.14 Business Expense Reimbursement .............................................................................. 40 

3.15 County Credit Cards ..................................................................................................... 41 

3.16 Health and Safety ......................................................................................................... 41 

93

Item 14.



 

3.17 Tobacco Use (Including Electronic Smoking Devices) ................................................. 42 

3.18 Workplace Privacy ........................................................................................................ 43 

3.19 Parking ......................................................................................................................... 44 

3.20 Personal Telephone Use .............................................................................................. 44 

3.21 County Tools and Equipment ....................................................................................... 44 

3.22 Personal and Company-Provided Portable Communication Devices ........................... 44 

3.23 Camera Phones/Recording Devices ............................................................................ 46 

3.24 Solicitations/Gambling .................................................................................................. 46 

3.25 Security ........................................................................................................................ 46 

3.26 Use of Social Media ..................................................................................................... 46 

3.27 Performance Review .................................................................................................... 48 

SECTION 4 – COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS ...................................................... 48 

4.1 Compensation Plan ........................................................................................................ 48 

4.2 Holidays & Holiday Pay .................................................................................................. 48 

4.3 Payment of Wages ......................................................................................................... 49 

4.4 Overtime and Compensatory Time ................................................................................. 50 

4.5 Payroll Errors .................................................................................................................. 50 

4.6 Garnishment of Employee Wages .................................................................................. 50 

4.7 Payment at Time of Separation ...................................................................................... 50 

4.8 Payment of Accumulated PLT & Compensatory Time at Separation ............................. 51 

4.9 Personal Leave Team (PLT) .......................................................................................... 51 

4.10 Sick Leave .................................................................................................................... 52 

4.11 Partial Day Absences ................................................................................................... 54 

4.12 Disability Leave (DL) .................................................................................................... 54 

4.13 Bereavement Leave ..................................................................................................... 54 

94

Item 14.



 

4.14 Jury Duty ...................................................................................................................... 55 

4.15 Voting Leave ................................................................................................................ 55 

4.16 Military Leave ............................................................................................................... 55 

4.17 Administrative Leave with Pay ...................................................................................... 56 

4.18 Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) ................................................................................ 56 

4.19 Paid Parental Leave ..................................................................................................... 59 

4.20 Physical Disability and Personal Leave ........................................................................ 61 

4.21 Workers Compensation ................................................................................................ 61 

4.22 Education Leave Policy ................................................................................................ 61 

4.23 Recertification Reimbursement .................................................................................... 62 

4.24 Employee Emergency Leave Transfer Bank (EELTB) ................................................. 62 

4.25 Benefits Overview ........................................................................................................ 62 

4.26 Insurance Programs ..................................................................................................... 63 

4.27 Retirement Plan ............................................................................................................ 64 

4.28 Long-Term Disability Benefits ....................................................................................... 64 

4.29 Employee Assistance Program .................................................................................... 65 

4.30 County Emergency Disaster Policy, Pay and Procedures ............................................ 65 

SECTION 5 – APPENDIX ............................................................................................. 65 

5.1 A-1 County Travel/Expense Policy ................................................................................. 65 

5.2 A-2 Drug and Alcohol Policy ........................................................................................... 69 

5.3 A-3 Beaufort County Computer and Information Systems Acceptable Use Policy ......... 73 

5.4 A-4 Email Retention Policy ............................................................................................. 78 

5.5 A-5 Family Medical Leave Act ........................................................................................ 80 

5.6 A-6 Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) ................................... 82 

5.7 A-7 Worker’s Compensation Policy ................................................................................ 84 

95

Item 14.



 

5.8 A-8 Employee Emergency Leave Transfer Bank (EELTB) ............................................. 88 

5.9 A-9 County Emergency Disaster Policy .......................................................................... 90 

5.10 A-10 Beaufort County Emergency Attendance & Pay Policy ........................................ 95 

5.11 A-11 Beaufort County Fleet Policy ............................................................................... 97 

5.12 A-12 Beaufort County Fuel Card Policy ...................................................................... 105 

 

96

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 12 
 

BEAUFORT COUNTY’S MISSION AND VISION 
 

Mission 
 
Beaufort County government exists to serve the people of Beaufort County in a cost-effective manner, 
so all our citizens may enjoy and appreciate a protected quality of life, natural and developed resources 
in a coastal environment, a diverse heritage, and economic well-being.  
 
Vision 
 
Beaufort County will continue to be one of the most desirable places in the United States to live, work, 
and enjoy a sense of community in a culturally diverse coastal setting. 
  

97

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 13 
 

IMPORTANT NOTICE TO OUR EMPLOYEES 
 
The information contained in this handbook has been prepared to acquaint you with the employment with Beaufort 
County. It contains information about working conditions regarding your employment. The policies in this 
handbook are generally intended to apply to all County employees. However, some departments may have 
departmental policies addressing these same issues with more stringent rules or requirements. To the extent that 
such departmental rules exist and are more stringent than County policy, they will govern as to that Department. 
Where departmental rules are less stringent than County policy, affected employees must comply with both. This 
employee handbook, and any departmental rules are vehicles of information only, and not contracts of 
employment. 
 
As a new employee, one of your first assignments is to read, understand, and comply with all provisions of this 
handbook. Most important, if you have any questions, you are encouraged to review it with your immediate 
supervisor. As an existing employee with the County, you will probably find this handbook to be a quick reference 
source.  
 
This handbook is intended as a source of information concerning the benefits, guidelines, and rules of employment 
for all employees. The County is dedicated to continually reviewing its policies to deal with the ever-changing 
times. The benefits and information contained in this handbook may change from time to time and at any time 
without prior notice. Additionally, the County reserves the right to revise, supplement, or withdraw any policies, 
guidelines, benefits, or portions of this handbook or any departmental rules as it deems appropriate, in its sole 
and absolute discretion, with or without prior notice.  
 
It is not possible to describe all acts or omissions that constitute unacceptable conduct. However, at a minimum, 
the County expects that your conduct and performance will be compatible with its Code of Conduct (see Section 
3.5 of this handbook) and policies. You are also expected to conduct yourself in such a way as not to violate any 
local, state, or federal laws. Such conduct or activity will be subject to disciplinary action as deemed appropriate 
by the County in its sole discretion. No director, manager, supervisor, or other employee has the authority to enter 
into any agreement contrary to, or in conflict with, any provisions of this handbook, unless the agreement is in 
writing and signed by the County Administrator. The County reserves the sole discretion to interpret its own 
policies and to designate a County Official to do so. The County’s failure to enforce any of its policies shall not 
constitute a waiver of the County’s future right to enforce any or all of its policies.  
 
While you are expected to comply with the contents of this handbook, all information that you may need during 
the course of your employment may not be contained in the handbook. Your supervisor is the best source of 
information not contained in this handbook or on matters specific to your individual circumstances. If you have 
any questions regarding any aspect of your employment, please contact your supervisor. If your questions cannot 
be answered locally, please contact the Human Resources Department.  
 
This employee handbook superseded all previous employee handbooks, as well as all management 
memorandums that may have been issued on subjects covered herein.  
 
At the beginning of this handbook is an acknowledgement page. Make sure that you sign and return this page to 
the Human Resources Department for inclusion in your personnel file.  
 
We hope that your experience with us will be challenging, satisfactory, and rewarding.         

98

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 14 
 

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 Equal Employment Opportunity 
 
Beaufort County is an Equal Opportunity Employer that does not discriminate on the basis of actual or perceived 
race, color, creed, religion, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, age, sex or gender (including pregnancy, 
childbirth, pregnancy-related conditions and lactation), gender identity or expression (including transgender 
status), sexual orientation, marital status, military service and veteran status, physical or mental disability, genetic 
information, or any other characteristic protected by applicable federal, state or local laws and ordinances. 
Beaufort County's management team is dedicated to this policy with respect to recruitment, hiring, placement, 
promotion, transfer, training, compensation, benefits, employee activities, access to facilities and programs and 
general treatment during employment. 
 
Beaufort County will endeavor to make a reasonable accommodation of an otherwise qualified applicant or 
employee related to an individual's: physical or mental disability; sincerely held religious beliefs and practices; 
and/or any other reason required by applicable law, unless doing so would impose an undue hardship upon 
Beaufort County's business operations. 
 
Any applicant or employee who needs an accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of the job 
should contact Human Resources to request such an accommodation. The individual should specify what 
accommodation is needed to perform the job and submit supporting documentation explaining the basis for the 
requested accommodation, to the extent permitted and in accordance with applicable law. Beaufort County then 
will review and analyze the request, including engaging in an interactive process with the employee or applicant, 
to identify if such an accommodation can be made. Beaufort County will evaluate requested accommodations, 
and as appropriate, identify other possible accommodations, if any. The individual will be notified of Beaufort 
County's decision regarding the request within a reasonable period. Beaufort County treats all medical information 
submitted as part of the accommodation process in a confidential manner. 
 
Any employees with questions or concerns about equal employment opportunities in the workplace are 
encouraged to bring these issues to the attention of the Human Resources Department. Beaufort County will not 
allow any form of retaliation against individuals who raise issues of equal employment opportunity. If employees 
feel they have been subjected to any such retaliation, they should contact the Human Resources Director 
immediately. To ensure our workplace is free of artificial barriers, violation of this policy including any improper 
retaliatory conduct will lead to discipline, up to and including discharge. All employees must cooperate with all 
investigations conducted pursuant to this policy. 
 
1.2 Employment At-Will 

 
Employees may leave employment at any time with or without a reason. Likewise, the County reserves the right 
to terminate any employee at any time with or without reason.  
 
1.3 Anti-Harassment Policy  

 
It is Beaufort County's policy to prohibit intentional and unintentional harassment against job applicants, 
contractors, interns, volunteers or employees by another employee, supervisor, vendor, customer or any third 
party on the basis of actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, 

99

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 15 
 

age, sex or gender (including pregnancy, childbirth and pregnancy-related conditions), gender identity or 
expression (including transgender status), sexual orientation, marital status, military service and veteran status, 
physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other characteristic protected by applicable federal, state 
or local laws (referred to as "protected characteristics"). Such conduct will not be tolerated by Beaufort County. 
 
The purpose of this policy to ensure that no one harasses another individual in the workplace, including while on 
Beaufort County premises, while on Beaufort County business (whether or not on Beaufort County premises) or 
while representing Beaufort County. In addition to being a violation of this policy, harassment or retaliation based 
on any protected characteristic as defined by applicable federal, state, or local laws is also unlawful. For example, 
sexual harassment and retaliation against an individual because the individual filed a complaint of sexual 
harassment or because an individual aided, assisted or testified in an investigation or proceeding involving a 
complaint of sexual harassment as defined by applicable federal, state, or local laws are unlawful. 
 
Harassment Defined 
 
Harassment generally is defined in this policy as unwelcome verbal, visual or physical conduct that denigrates or 
shows hostility or aversion towards an individual because of any actual or perceived protected characteristic or 
has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment. Harassment can be verbal (including slurs, jokes, insults, 
epithets, gestures or teasing), visual (including offensive posters, symbols, cartoons, drawings, computer displays, 
text messages, social media posts or e-mails) or physical conduct (including physically threatening another, 
blocking someone's way, etc.). Such conduct violates this policy, even if it does not rise to the level of a violation 
of applicable federal, state or local laws. Because it is difficult to define unlawful harassment, employees are 
expected to behave at all times in a manner consistent with the intended purpose of this policy. 
 
1.4 Sexual Harassment Policy 

 
Sexual harassment can include all of the actions previously defined in Section 1.3, as well as other unwelcome 
conduct, such as unwelcome or unsolicited sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, conversations regarding 
sexual activities and other verbal, visual or physical conduct of a sexual nature when: 
 

• submission to that conduct or those advances or requests is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or 
condition of an individual's employment; or 

• submission to or rejection of conduct or advances or requests by an individual is used as the basis for 
employment decisions affecting the individual; or 

• the conduct or advances or requests have the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an 
individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment. 
 

Examples of conduct that violate this policy include: 
 

1. Unwelcome flirtations, leering, whistling, touching, pinching, assault, blocking normal movement; 
2. Requests for sexual favors or demands for sexual favors in exchange for favorable treatment; 
3. Obscene or vulgar gestures, posters or comments; 
4. Sexual jokes or comments about a person's body, sexual prowess or sexual deficiencies; 
5. Propositions or suggestive or insulting comments of a sexual nature; 
6. Derogatory cartoons, posters and drawings; 
7. Sexually-explicit e-mails, text messages or voicemails; 
8. Uninvited touching of a sexual nature; 

100

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 16 
 

9. Unwelcome sexually-related comments; 
10. Conversation about one's own or someone else's sex life; 
11. Conduct or comments consistently targeted at only one gender, even if the content is not sexual; and 
12. Teasing or other conduct directed toward a person because of the person's gender. 

 
1.5 Harassment Complaint Procedure 

 
Every report of perceived harassment will be fully investigated, and corrective action will be taken where 
appropriate. Investigatory procedures may vary from case to case, depending upon the circumstances. All 
complaints will be kept confidential to the extent possible, but confidentiality cannot be guaranteed. All employees 
must cooperate with all investigations conducted pursuant to this policy. In appropriate situations, employees may 
be asked to submit to a polygraph (lie detector) examination. 
 
The proper procedure is as follows: 

1. Report the incident(s) to your supervisor or to a higher level member in your "chain of command." 
Complaints against the County Administrator should be made to the Chairman of County Council. 

2. Report the incident(s) to the Human Resources Director.  
 
In order to avoid misunderstandings, complaints made to members of management or to the Human Resources 
Director involve the completion of a written complaint report, either by the employee or by the person to whom the 
complaint is made, which summarizes the allegations and lists any witnesses to the alleged harassment. 
Supervisors and managers who receive complaints of or become aware of harassment have a duty to notify and 
coordinate with the Human Resources Director immediately. 
 
Corrective Action 
 
If, after proper investigation, management concludes that a complaint of harassment has merit, appropriate action 
is taken. Employees may be disciplined. Non-employees may be reported to the appropriate law enforcement 
agency and/or barred from the premises. These procedures have been established to provide relief to employees 
who feel they have been the victim of harassment. The U.S. Supreme Court has said that, as a general rule, 
employees may not sue their employer for a violation of rights unless the employee first gives notice to the 
employer and provides them with the opportunity to end the harassment. These procedures are intended to 
establish a clear record of what has been reported. 
 
Retaliation Prohibited 
 
In addition, Beaufort County will not allow any form of retaliation against individuals who report unwelcome 
conduct to management or who cooperate in the investigations of such reports in accordance with this policy. If 
the employee has been subjected to any such retaliation, the employee should report it in the same manner in 
which the employee would report a claim of perceived harassment under this policy. 
 
Violation of this policy including any improper retaliatory conduct will result in disciplinary action, 
up to and including termination of employment. 
 
 
 
  
 

101

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 17 
 

1.6 Whistleblower Policy 
 
Beaufort County is committed to complying with all laws, regulations and ethical requirements applicable to the 
services we provide to our citizens.  Therefore, Beaufort County calls on and values the assistance from its 
employees to uphold this commitment. Any employee of Beaufort County who believes that: 
 

(1) some policy, practice or activity of Beaufort County violates a law, or   
(2) an employee, officer or official is violating the law, Beaufort County policies or misusing Beaufort 

County resources, 
 
should bring this belief to the attention of the individuals described below in the “Reporting” section of this Policy.  
 
The support of all employees is necessary to achieve compliance with laws and policies.  Beaufort County 
appreciates employees reporting issues of this nature and helping Beaufort County comply with the law and the 
County’s policies, and to protect its resources so they may be used for the purposes they were intended.   
 
Reporting. If any employee reasonably believes that a violation of the law or Beaufort County’s policies and 
procedures has occurred, that employee may report the alleged policy, practice, or activity to the Director of 
Human Resources, the County Attorney, or the County Administrator. An employee making such a report shall 
hereinafter be referred to in this Whistleblower Policy as a “Reporting Employee”. If the Reporting Employee is 
uncomfortable making a report to any of the foregoing individuals, or if the Reporting Employee is not satisfied 
with the response of the foregoing individuals after a reasonable period of time following the report of misconduct 
has occurred, the Reporting Employee may provide the report to the Beaufort County Council Chairman or Vice-
Chairman. Reports of violations or suspected violations will be kept confidential to the extent reasonably possible, 
consistent with the parameters of an adequate investigation and applicable law. 
 
Retaliation. No Beaufort County official, officer or employee, or any person acting on behalf of Beaufort County, 
shall influence, restrain, or prevent any Reporting Employee from disclosing information that the Reporting 
Employee has reasonable cause to believe relates to or is evidence of misconduct. Any Reporting Employee 
acting in good faith and upon a reasonable belief as a whistleblower that misconduct has occurred will be protected 
from threats or retaliation, including but not limited to, discharge, demotion, suspension, harassment, reduced 
compensation, changes in the terms and conditions of employment, or other forms of discrimination. Any County 
employee who threatens or retaliates against a Reporting Employee who has reported a violation in good faith is 
subject to discipline up to and including termination.  
 
Acting in Good Faith.  Falsely or maliciously reporting a whistleblowing allegation under this policy will be viewed 
as a serious disciplinary offense.  
 
1.7 Drug-Free and Alcohol-Free Workplace 

 
Beaufort County has instituted a Drug-Free Workplace Policy and complies with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 
1988. Employees are required to comply with the policy and notify the County of any conviction for a drug-related 
offense within 3 days of the conviction. 
 
The policy also prohibits being in possession or under the influence of any illegal drug or unauthorized controlled 
substance while working and/or on County premises or in County vehicles. 
 
The County reserves the right to test employees it reasonably suspects to be in violation of this policy. 

102

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 18 
 

 
Alcohol presents a similar problem and is subject to the same prohibitions and testing as listed above. An 
employee is deemed to be "under the influence" if any detectable amount of alcohol is in his/her system. 
 
For a list of reasons deemed appropriate to initiate reasonable suspicion testing and for a complete copy of the 
Beaufort County Drug and Alcohol policy, refer to Appendix (A.2). 
 
1.8 Workplace Violence 

 
The County takes seriously the issue of workplace violence. Violence in the workplace will not be tolerated under 
any circumstances. This includes, but is not limited to, actual physical violence, threats of violence, fights or 
arguments between employees and others, use of abusive language or bringing unauthorized weapons of any 
type into the workplace. Any employee who sees a threatening or uncomfortable situation or feels threatened 
should not try to handle the situation by themselves. Instead, they should immediately remove themselves from 
possible danger and contact a Supervisor, Human Resources, or the Police Department (911). Any incident will 
be investigated, and the employee(s) involved will be subject to the appropriate disciplinary action up to and 
including termination. 
 
1.9 Pregnancy Accommodations 

 
In compliance with South Carolina law (S.C. Code Ann. §1-13-80), Beaufort County will not discriminate against 
an individual because of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, including, but not limited to, lactation. 
Beaufort County will endeavor to make reasonable accommodations for the employee's medical needs arising 
from pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, unless doing so would impose an undue hardship on 
the operation of the business. 
 
Reasonable Accommodations 
 
Reasonable accommodations may include, but are not limited to: 

1. Making existing facilities readily accessible to, and usable by, such employees, including acquiring or 
modifying equipment or devices necessary for performing essential job functions; 

2. Providing more frequent or longer break periods; 
3. Providing more frequent bathroom breaks; 
4. Providing a private place, other than a bathroom stall for the purpose of expressing milk; 
5. Modifying work schedules; 
6. Providing seating or allowing the employee to sit more frequently; 
7. Providing assistance with manual labor and limits on lifting; 
8. Temporarily transferring the employee to a less strenuous or hazardous vacant position, if qualified; or 
9. Providing job restructuring or light duty, if available. 

 
Beaufort County will not: 
 

• Deny employment opportunities to the employee based on the need to make such reasonable 
accommodations; 

• Require the employee to accept an accommodation that the employee chooses not to accept, if the 
employee does not have a known limitation related to pregnancy, or if the accommodation is unnecessary 
for the employee to perform the essential duties of their job; 

103

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 19 
 

• Require the employee to take leave under any leave law or Beaufort County policy if another reasonable 
accommodation can be provided to the employee; or 

• Take any adverse action against the employee in the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment for 
requesting or using a reasonable accommodation. 

 
If employees have any questions concerning this policy or if they wish to request an accommodation, 
they should contact Human Resources. 
 
1.10 Lactation Accommodations 

 
Pursuant to the South Carolina Lactation Support Act, Beaufort County supports the legal right and necessity of 
employees who choose to express milk in the workplace. This policy is to establish guidelines for promoting a 
breastfeeding-friendly work environment and supporting lactating employees at Beaufort County. 
 
Beaufort County will make reasonable efforts to provide a reasonable amount of unpaid break time to 
accommodate employees desiring to express breast milk for their child. If possible, the lactation break time must 
run concurrently with break time already provided to employees. Lactation break time that cannot run concurrently 
with paid break time already provided will be unpaid, subject to applicable law. 
 
Beaufort County will make reasonable efforts to provide employees with use of a room or location in close 
proximity to their work area, other than a toilet stall, in order to express milk in private. 
 
Employees will not be discriminated against or retaliated against for choosing to express breast milk in the 
workplace in compliance with this policy and the law. Employees may contact Human Resources with questions 
regarding this policy. 
 
 
1.11 Reasonable Accommodations and Interactive Dialogue  

 
Beaufort County is committed to complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws governing reasonable 
accommodations of individuals, including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). To that 
end, we will endeavor to make a reasonable accommodation to applicants and employees who have requested 
an accommodation or for whom Beaufort County has notice may require such an accommodation, without regard 
to any protected classifications, related to an individual's: 
 

• Disability, meaning any physical, medical, mental, or psychological impairment, or a history record of such 
impairment; 

• Sincerely held religious beliefs and practices; 
• Needs as a victim of domestic violence, sex offenses, or stalking; 
• Needs related to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions; and/or 
• Any other reason required by applicable law, unless the accommodation would impose an undue hardship 

on the operation of our business. 
 

Any individual who would like to request an accommodation based on any of the reasons set forth above should 
contact Human Resources. Accommodation requests can be made in writing. If an individual who has requested 
an accommodation has not received an initial response within five (5) business days, the employee should contact 
Human Resources. 

104

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 20 
 

 
After receiving a request for an accommodation or learning indirectly that the employee may require such an 
accommodation, Beaufort County will engage in an interactive dialogue with the employee. 
 
Even if employee has not formally requested an accommodation, Beaufort County may initiate an interactive 
dialogue under certain circumstances, such as when Beaufort County has knowledge that employee's 
performance at work has been negatively affected and a reasonable basis to believe that the issue is related to 
any of the protected classifications set forth above, in compliance with applicable law. In the event Beaufort County 
initiates an interactive dialogue with an employee, it should not be construed as Beaufort County's belief an 
individual requires an accommodation but will serve as an invitation for the employee to share with Beaufort 
County any information the employee desires to share, or to request an accommodation. 
 
The interactive dialogue may take place in person, by telephone, or by electronic means. As part of 
the interactive dialogue, Beaufort County will communicate openly and in good faith with the employee in a timely 
manner in order to determine whether and how Beaufort County may be able to provide a reasonable 
accommodation. To the extent necessary and appropriate based on the request, Beaufort County will attempt to 
explore the existence and feasibility of alternative accommodations as well as alternative positions for the 
employee. Beaufort County is not required to provide the specific accommodation sought by the employee, 
provided the alternatives are reasonable and either meet the specific needs of the employee or specifically 
address the employee's limitations. 
 
As part of the interactive dialogue, Beaufort County reserves the right to request supporting documentation, to the 
maximum extent permitted by applicable law. 
 
Beaufort County will endeavor to keep confidential all communications regarding requests for reasonable 
accommodations and all circumstances surrounding the employee's underlying reason for needing an 
accommodation. 
 
Beaufort County will not allow any form of retaliation against employees who have requested an accommodation, 
for whom Beaufort County has notice may require such an accommodation, or who otherwise engage in the 
interactive dialogue process. 
 
Employees with questions regarding this policy should contact Human Resources. 
 

SECTION 2 – YOUR EMPLOYMENT 
 
2.1 Personnel Records 

 
The County maintains a personnel file for each employee. Employee files are the property of Beaufort County, 
and do not belong to the employee. An employee's personnel record begins with the completed employment 
application, resume and any other information submitted at the time of application. From time to time, information 
may be added to this personnel record. 
 
Personnel records are the property of Beaufort County. 
 
Contents of Personnel Files 
 

105

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 21 
 

Employee personnel records may include the following (but may be filed separately): 
 

• Original employment application and resume. 
• I-9 Form (filed separately). 
• Performance appraisal reports. 
• Disciplinary actions. 
• Special commendations. 
• Educational achievement and certifications. 
• Status changes impacting work and salary history. 
• Benefit information. 
• Other relevant documents as determined by management. 

 
Changes to Personal Information reporting Requirements 
 
Employees are expected to keep the County informed about any major change which may affect their employment 
status. These changes include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Name 
• Home address 
• Primary telephone number 
• Marital status 
• Number of dependents 
• Any important health information which could create a safety concern or impede the employee's ability to 

perform essential functions of their job 
• Emergency telephone numbers and whom to notify in case of an emergency 
• Change of beneficiary 
• Authorized payroll deductions 
• Additional education and special training course certifications 
• Change in status or loss of any licenses or certifications required for the employee's position 

 
Access to Personnel Files 
 
All information in employee personnel files is considered confidential. This information is available to 
the Human Resources Department, senior management personnel, supervisors, or managers who 
are responsible for the employee, and the employee. 
 
The supervisor of the department to which an employee may be transferred or promoted (or hired if 
previously employed) is also permitted to review the employee's file by coordinating with the Human Resources 
Director. 
 
Employee Review of Personnel File 
 
The following provisions apply with respect to an employee's request to review his/her personnel record: 
 

1. The employee has the responsibility to schedule a review of his/her file with Human Resources. If the 
review is scheduled during the employee's work hours, the time away must be coordinated with his/her 
supervisor. 

106

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 22 
 

2. A member of the Human Resources Department must be present while the employee reviews his/her 
personnel file. 

3. The employee may take notes or request copies of certain documents, but may not remove, deface, or 
otherwise make notations on the documents in his/her personnel file. An employee may add comments to 
his file if he disagrees with the contents of any document. 

 
2.2 References 

 
Beaufort County will respond to personnel reference requests through the Human Resources Department. 
Beaufort County will provide general information concerning the employee such as date of hire, date of discharge, 
salary and positions held. Requests for reference information must be in writing, and responses will be in writing. 
Please refer all requests for personnel references to the Human Resources Department. 
 
Only the Human Resources Department may provide personnel references. 
 
2.3 Employee Categories and Classification 

 
Employee Categories 
 
County pay policies apply to all County employees and employees of elected or appointed officials. 
Employees are divided into the following categories for the purpose of compensation and benefits. 
Only full-time employees are eligible for benefits. 
 

• Full-Time: Employees hired to work 40 hours or more per week are considered full-time employees for 
compensation and benefit purposes. 

• Variable Hour: Part-time employees who average 30 hours or more per week in a one-year look back 
period are eligible for health insurance benefits only (prior approval required from County Administrator). 

• Part-Time: Employees whose average work schedule is less than 30 hours per week are parttime 
employees and are not eligible for benefits. 

• Temporary: Employees hired as a temporary replacement for full-time or part- time employees, or for 
short periods of employment such as summer months, peak periods, and vacations are considered 
temporary employees. Temporary employees generally are not eligible for benefits. However, if a 
temporary employee fills a benefits-eligible position, he may be eligible for select benefits when 
employment is expected to last 6 months or longer and is approved by the County Administrator. 

• Seasonal: Employees hired to work during a specific season each year are seasonal employees. These 
employees may work a full-time or part- time schedule during the season. Seasonal employees are not 
eligible for benefits. 

 
Employee Classification 
 
The County maintains standard definitions of employment status and classifies employees for purposes of 
personnel and benefits administration and related payroll transactions. 
 
All employees fall into one of the following two categories: 
 
Exempt 
 

107

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 23 
 

Exempt employees are those whose positions and duties meet specific tests established by the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA) to be exempt from the minimum wage and overtime requirements of the law. Whether a 
particular position qualifies as exempt will be determined through Human Resources. Exempt employees are paid 
on a salaried basis. 
 
Exempt employees are expected to work the number of hours needed to perform the job and are not entitled to 
overtime pay or compensatory time off. However, the County Administrator may grant additional paid time off to 
an exempt employee who has worked an inordinate number of hours, such as due to a storm. This is a privilege 
to be granted at the discretion of the County Administrator, and not a right. It is intended to be utilized only in 
unusual situations. 
 
Exempt employees are also treated differently than non-exempt employees for purposes of partial day absences. 
Please see the Paid Time Off policies in the Leaves of Absence Section of this handbook for further information 
on partial-day absences. 
 
The FLSA restricts the circumstances under which an employer may make deductions from the salary of an 
exempt employee. The County's practices and policies are established and intended to ensure that improper 
deductions are not made. In the event of any inadvertent deduction, the employee will be fully reimbursed. If you 
believe that any amount has been deducted in violation of the law or our policies, you should file a complaint 
through Human Resources. If an improper deduction has been made, you will be reimbursed for the deduction 
and appropriate steps will be taken as needed to correct the problem in order to facilitate future compliance. 
 
Non-Exempt 
 
Employees whose positions do not meet FLSA exemption tests and who are paid applicable overtime pay. Human 
Resources establishes an employee's non-exempt status. See section 4.4 - Overtime and Compensatory Time 
for more information. 
 
2.4 Timekeeping Procedures 

 
Employees must record their actual time worked for payroll and benefit purposes on a time-keeping system and 
in a manner currently utilized by the County for such purposes. Non-exempt employees must record the time work 
begins and ends, as well as the beginning and ending time of any departure from work for any non-work-related 
reason, including lunch breaks. 
 
Non-exempt employees may not begin work until their scheduled starting time. Time worked beyond their regular 
schedule must have prior authorization from their supervisor. 
 
Altering, falsifying, or tampering with time records is prohibited and subjects the employee to disciplinary action, 
up to and including termination of employment. 
 
Exempt employees may be required to record their daily work attendance and are expected to work core business 
hours and any additional time before and after core hours as needed. 
 
2.5 Employee Service Credit 

 
County service credit is earned from the employee's first day through their last day of employment (any extended 
leave such as FMLA or Administrative Leave may cause an adjustment to service credit for time missed). 

108

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 24 
 

 
If an employee leaves County employment for any reason and is later re-employed, prior service credit is not 
retained unless the employee meets both of the following conditions: 
 

1. Prior service was at least five (5) consecutive years; and 
2. The employee returns to County employment within one (1) year of prior separation. 

 
2.6 Probationary Period 

 
During the first one hundred eighty (180) days of employment, the County and the new employee are given an 
opportunity to evaluate whether the employment relationship should continue. However, the probationary period 
is not a guarantee of employment for six (6) months. During this period, employees will not have access to PLT 
(paid leave) hours unless otherwise approved by the County Administrator. Probationary employees will not have 
grievance rights. 
 
Employees will be evaluated at the end of their initial probationary period of employment and a recommendation 
will be provided by the supervisor to the department director for one of the following actions: 
 

1. Removal from probationary status and continued employment; or 
2. Continued employment with an extension to the probationary status, not to exceed an additional six (6) 

months, only for the purpose of further evaluation; or 
3. Termination of the employment relationship with Beaufort County. 

 
The department director will consider the recommendation and will present it to the County Administrator, or 
designee, for a final decision. 
 
2.7 Employment of Relatives 

 
Persons who are related by birth or become related by marriage will not be employed or continued to be employed 
if one directly supervises another, interacts with another in the handling of money or compensation, works in a 
department where adequate separation is not possible, or in any other situation that administration deems 
inappropriate. 
 
If employees become related by marriage and create a situation prohibited by this policy, one of the employees 
must give up his/her position. If employees cannot choose which one of them it will be, management will make 
the decision based on such factors as business needs, performance, longevity, etc. 
 
Unrelated employees, such as domestic partners, cohabitants, or significant others, will be treated as being family 
for the purposes of this nepotism policy. Conflicts of interests, situations which at the County's sole discretion 
create the appearance of a conflict of interest, and situations not specifically noted in the policy will be handled by 
the County at its sole discretion. 
 
2.8 Fraternization 

 
A "personal relationship" is defined as a relationship between employees who have or have had a 
continuing relationship of a romantic or intimate nature. 
 

109

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 25 
 

An employee who is involved in a personal relationship with another employee may not supervise directly or work 
for the employee with whom he or she is involved. 
 
Beaufort County reserves the right to take prompt action if an actual, perceived, or potential conflict of interest 
arises concerning individuals who engage in any relationship with another employee that may affect terms of 
employment or create a distraction or disruption of business. 
 
2.9 Transfer of Employees 

 
Transfer of employees by the County from one department to another, or one location to another, may be made 
at any time at the County's discretion to support the operational needs of the County. 
 
Employees may request transfer by applying for other advertised positions within the County. Employees are 
encouraged to discuss their desire to transfer with their current supervisor; however, this is not a requirement. 
Transferring employees must provide at least a 14-day notice to their current supervisor unless the current 
supervisor agrees to a lesser timeframe. Transfers must be approved by the County Administrator or designee 
and will be made effective at the beginning of a pay period. 
 
2.10 Separation of Employment 

 
Employees may be separated from employment at any time, with or without notice, by retirement, voluntary 
resignation, involuntary termination, or abandonment of employment. An employee will be deemed to have 
abandoned their job if they fail to report for work at the regularly scheduled time for three (3) consecutive working 
days without the consent of the employer.  
 
Employees choosing to voluntarily separate are asked to provide at least two (2) weeks advance notice of 
departure. All Beaufort County, property including, but not limited to, keys, security cards, parking passes, laptop 
computers, fax machines, uniforms, etc., must be returned at separation. Employees also must return all of 
Beaufort County's Confidential Information upon separation. 
 
Any amounts owed the County and the cost of any property issued by the County and not returned may be 
deducted from the final paycheck as an advance of wages. 
 
As noted previously, all employees are employed at-will and nothing in this handbook changes that status. 
 
2.11 Exit Interviews  

 
Employees who resign are requested to participate in an exit interview with the Human Resources 
Representative, if possible. 
 
Please contact the Human Resources Department for more information. 
 
2.12 Workforce Reductions 

 
In the event that a reduction in the County's workforce becomes necessary, the number of employees over and 
above those needed to perform the available work will be laid off. In determining those employees to be retained, 
consideration may be given to the quality of each employee's past performance, the need for the position held by 

110

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 26 
 

the employee, employee qualifications for other County positions, and the length of service of each employee. 
The County will give reasonable notice of layoff. 
 
2.13 Secondary Employment 

 
If an employee desires to engage in employment in addition to his/her employment with the County, he must first 
obtain written authorization via an "Outside Employment Request Form" from his Department Head and the 
Human Resources Director for each secondary employment. Authorization must be renewed as of January 1 of 
each calendar year. 
 
If, in the County's sole opinion, an employee's outside employment conflicts with or gives the appearance of a 
conflict of interest or is deemed incompatible with his County employment, he may be asked to choose between 
the two jobs. Beaufort County employees may only hold one Beaufort County position at a time.  
 
Employees are not permitted to have dual employment within the County. 
 
Employees may not engage in secondary employment or any personal business activity while on County 
work time or in County workplaces. Employees may not use County materials or facilities for private or 
secondary employment purposes. 
 
2.14 Employee Discipline 

 
General Guidelines 
 
Instances may arise when an employee's conduct, or other actions or inactions warrant formal disciplinary 
measures. 
 
When the discipline involves suspension, demotion or termination, the supervisor must coordinate with the Human 
Resources Director and gain approval from the County Administrator or designee prior to informing the employee 
of the decision. 
 
For all written reprimands, the supervisor must turn in an "Employee Counseling Form" to the Human Resources 
Department, in which he/she outlines the circumstances involved and the action being taken. The supervisor must 
review the report (with the exception of oral warnings) with the employee for his/her signature with the 
understanding that the signature only acknowledges that the employee has seen the report or the action taken. 
The employee's signature does not mean that the employee necessarily agrees with the report and does not 
prevent the employee from appealing the action. 
 
The employee must sign the counseling form at the time it is presented. Failure to do so will result in immediate 
suspension without pay. If the employee fails to sign the counseling form by 5:00 p.m., or by the end of their 
scheduled work day, the employee may be deemed to have resigned and the County, at its discretion, may 
proceed with termination of employment. 
 
Employees will be given a copy of the signed report. The employee may submit a rebuttal and/or request to appeal 
within ten (10) calendar days. Employees are encouraged to reference the Grievance Process section of this 
handbook for further guidance in appealing a decision by management resulting in disciplinary action. 
 
Types of Disciplinary Action 

111

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 27 
 

 
Disciplinary Action which may be taken without any regards to a specific order includes, but is not limited to: 
 

• Oral counseling 
• Written reprimand 
• Suspension without pay 
• Reduction in leave balances 
• Performance Improvement Plan 
• Probation 
• Demotion / Reduction in pay 
• Dismissal / Termination of employment 

 
 

2.15 Examples of Conduct Warranting Disciplinary Action 
 
It is not possible to list all acts and omissions, which may result in disciplinary action. The disciplinary action which 
is administered for any particular act or acts of misconduct rests in the sole discretion of the Administrator. The 
following list is merely a GUIDELINE of some of the more obvious types of misconduct, which may result in 
disciplinary action. The disciplinary action that is administered for any particular act or acts of misconduct 
rests in the sole discretion of the county without regard for the way it has treated other employees and 
without regard to the way it has handled similar situations. Each act of misconduct is considered a 
separate offense. 
 

a. Conviction of, or plea of guilty or no contest to a violation of the law, which may affect County's 
reputation, or which could create concern on the part of fellow employees or the citizens. 

b. Failure to report an arrest to Human Resources/County Administration. 
c. Loss of certification or license that is a requirement for the position. 
d. Unauthorized or excessive absence, tardiness. 
e. Insubordination, including disrespect for authority, or other conduct which tends to undermine 

authority. 
f. Failure or refusal to carry out lawful instructions; failure to follow chain- of-command (except in 

instances of wrongdoing by a supervisor). 
g. Unauthorized possession or removal, misappropriation, destruction, theft or conversion of County 

property or the property of others (includes information and electronic files and data). 
h. Violation of safety rules, neglect, or engaging in unsafe practices. 
i. Interference with the work of others. 
j. Threatening, coercing, harassing, bullying, or intimidating fellow employees, including "joking" threats. 
k. Physical aggression while on duty or on County premises. 
l. Inappropriate or offensive language. 
m. Unauthorized possession of a weapon in County facilities. 
n. Unprofessional behavior when dealing with the public or coworkers. 
o. Dishonesty. 
p. Failure to report wrongdoing of a fellow county employee while on duty. 
q. Failure to provide information; misrepresentation, alteration, or falsification of information for County 

records. 
r. Failure to report personal injury or property damage. 
s. Negligence or carelessness. 

112

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 28 
 

t. Introduction, possession, or use of illegal or unauthorized prescription drugs or intoxicating beverages 
on County property or while on duty anywhere; working while under the influence of illegal drugs or 
intoxicating beverages; or the off-the-job illegal use or possession of drugs. For purposes of this policy, 
an employee is presumed to be "under the influence" if he has any detectable amount of any such 
substance in his/her system. 

u. Unsatisfactory performance. 
v. Violation of policies and procedures; violation of department work rules. 
w. Violation of state or federal laws or regulations. 
x. Any other reason, which, in the County's sole discretion, warrants disciplinary action. 

 
Employees may be disciplined or discharged for any reason which, in the County's sole discretion, warrants 
discipline or discharge. The county reserves the right to treat each employee individually without regard for the 
way it has treated other employees and without regard to the way it has handled similar situations. 
 
2.16 Grievance Process 

 
This procedure is adopted in accordance with the "County and Municipal Employees Grievance Procedure Act," 
Section 8-17-110, et seq., Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended. 
 
A grievance is defined as any complaint by an employee that he/she has been treated unlawfully or in violation of 
County policies with regard to any matter pertaining to his employment by the County. This definition includes, 
but is not limited to, discharge, suspension, involuntary transfer, promotion, and demotion. An employee's level 
of compensation or classification is not the proper subject for a grievance except as it applies to alleged inequities 
within the employee's department. If an employee believes that he has not received or been credited with or has 
otherwise lost wages or benefits to which he is entitled, he must present his grievance in accordance with this 
procedure, or such wages or benefits may be forfeited. Written warnings are not grieveable. 
 
An employee who believes that he has a grievance must conform with the following procedure: 
 

1. The employee must discuss the grievance with his immediate supervisor within ten (10) calendar days of 
the event giving rise to the grievance or his knowledge of such event. If his supervisor is unable or unwilling 
to adjust the grievance to the satisfaction of the employee, the employee must take Step 2. 

2. The employee must follow the chain-of-command in his/her department, appealing to each successive 
level of supervision. All Step 1 and Step 2 appeals may be oral or written. At each level, each supervisor 
has four (4) calendar days to render a decision. If no decision is made within this time, the grievance is 
considered denied. If a supervisor at a particular level is unavailable to consider the grievance, it is 
considered denied and the employee may appeal to the next level of supervision. 

3. If the Department Director denies the grievance, this decision is final as to any grievance brought by a 
probationary employee. For the purpose of grievance filing, a new employee is considered probationary 
until he has completed six (6) months of employment. 

 
Non-probationary employees may appeal to the Employee Grievance Committee the denial of their grievances 
by the department heads by filing a written request for appeal at the Human Resources Department. This must 
be done within seven (7) calendar days of the department head's denial of the grievance. The written request for 
appeal must include the following information: 
 

1. The purpose of the appeal and what recommendation is requested of the Grievance Committee; and 

113

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 29 
 

2. Statement that the chain-of-command has been followed in the appeal as is required by the grievance 
procedure. 

 
Human Resources Department staff will assist in preparing the appeal, if requested. 
 
The Employee Grievance Committee 
 
The County Administrator appoints a committee composed of five (5) employees to serve for terms of three (3) 
years, except that the members appointed initially shall be appointed so that their terms will be staggered, and 
approximately one- third of the terms shall expire each year. The Administrator may appoint two (2) alternate 
members to serve in the event a member cannot attend or is disqualified from serving. A member continues to 
serve after the expiration of his term until a successor is appointed. Any interim appointment to fill a vacancy for 
any reason prior to the completion of a member's term shall be for the unexpired term. Any member may be 
reappointed for succeeding terms at the discretion of the County Administrator. All members are selected on a 
broadly representative basis from among County employees. Members employed in the same department as the 
grieving employee and members having formed an opinion on the issues prior to the hearing, may not participate 
in that employee's hearing. 
 

1. The committee annually selects its own chairman from among its members. The chairman serves as the 
presiding officer at all hearings which he attends but may designate some other member to serve as 
presiding officer in his absence. The chairman has authority to schedule and to reschedule all hearings. 

2. A quorum consists of a minimum of four (4) committee members, and no hearings may be held without a 
quorum. 

3. The chairman of the grievance committee has ten (10) days from the date the grievance is received by the 
Human Resources Department to schedule the requested hearing, and to inform                                                                
the employee requesting the hearing, the affected department, as well as the Human Resources 
Department, of the date of the hearing. 

4. The presiding officer has control of the proceedings. He may take whatever action is necessary to ensure 
an equitable, orderly, and expeditious hearing. Parties abide by their decisions except when a committee 
member objects to a decision to accept or reject evidence, in which case the majority vote of the committee 
will govern. 

5. The committee has the authority to call for files, records, and papers which are pertinent to any 
investigation, and which are subject to the control of the County Administrator; to call for or consider 
affidavits of witnesses; to request and hear the testimony of witnesses; to consider the results of polygraph 
examinations; and to secure the services of a recording secretary at its discretion. The committee has no 
authority to subpoena witnesses, documents, or other evidence, nor shall any county employee be 
compelled to attend any hearing. All proceedings are recorded. Witnesses, other than the grieving 
employee and the department representative, are sequestered when not testifying. All witnesses testify 
under oath. 

 
Hearings 
 

1. All hearings are held in executive session unless the grieving employee requests, at least twenty-four (24) 
hours prior to the hearing, that it be held in open session. The official recording of all hearings shall be 
subject to the control and disposition of the County Administrator. 

2. Neither the grieving employee nor the department may be assisted by advisers or by attorneys during the 
hearing itself. However, the committee may have an attorney available to it at any and all times it considers 
necessary, and the Human Resources Department may provide assistance in reading written materials to 
the committee at the request of a grieving employee. 

114

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 30 
 

3. In disciplinary actions by department directors and their subordinate supervisors, the employee must 
receive in reasonable detail written notice of the nature of the acts or omissions which are the basis for 
the disciplinary action. This notice may be amended at any time twenty-four hours or more before the 
commencement of the hearing. The department must demonstrate that the disciplinary action is for the 
good of the County. The department makes the first presentation. The committee may base its findings 
and recommendations on any additional or different grounds developed from the employee's presentation. 

4. In non-disciplinary grievances, the employee must establish that a right existed and that it had denied him 
unlawfully, or in violation of a County policy. The employee makes the first presentation. 

5. In all grievances, the grieving employee and the department are each limited to one hour of initial 
presentation. The party required to make the first presentation is entitled to a ten-minute rebuttal of the 
other party's presentation. The chairman appoints himself or another member of the committee as 
timekeeper. 

6. In all grievances, presentations may be orally, in writing, or both; and may be supported by affidavits or 
unsworn signed statements from witnesses, by records, other documentary evidence, photographs, and 
other physical evidence. Presentations shall be made by the grieving employee (with reading assistance 
from a member of the Human Resources Department, if the employee desires), and by a directorial 
employee of the affected department. Parties may request that the committee call witnesses, and a list of 
potential witnesses should be submitted to the committee five (5) days prior to the hearing. However, 
neither party may call witnesses or question the other party, or question any witness called by the 
committee.  

 
Findings and Recommendations 
 

1. Except as provided in paragraphs 2 and 3 below, the committee, within twenty (20) days after hearing an 
appeal, must make its findings and recommendations and report such findings and recommendations to 
the County Administrator. If the County Administrator approves the recommendation of the committee, this 
shall be his decision and copies of the decision are transmitted to the employee and to the department 
director involved. If the Administrator rejects the recommendation of the committee, the County 
Administrator makes his own decision without further hearing, and that decision is final. Copies of the 
decision are transmitted to the employee, the department director involved, the grievance committee and 
the Human Resources Department.   

2. In grievances in which the complaint is lodged against the County Administrator directly, the committee, 
within twenty (20) days after hearing an appeal, must make its findings and report such findings and 
recommendations to the Chairman of County Council through the Human Resources Director. If the 
Chairman of County Council rejects the recommendation of the committee, the Chairman of County 
Council will make his own decision without further hearing, and that decision is final. Copies of the decision 
are transmitted to the employee, the County Administrator, the grievance committee, and the Human 
Resources Department. 

3. In grievances involving either the failure to promote or transfer, or the discipline or discharge, of personnel 
employed in or seeking assignment to a department under the direction of an Elected Official or an official 
appointed by an authority outside County government, the committee, within twenty (20) days after hearing 
an appeal, make its findings and recommendation and reports such findings and recommendation to such 
official. If the official approves, he shall endorse the recommendation of the committee, and a copy of the 
decision is transmitted by the official to the employee. If, however, the official rejects the recommendation 
of the committee, the official makes his own decision without further hearing, and that decision shall be 
final. A copy of the decision is transmitted to the employee, the grievance committee and the Human 
Resources Department. 

 

115

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 31 
 

Nothing in this grievance procedure creates a property interest in employment or a contract of employment, nor 
does this procedure limit the authority of the County or an Elected or Appointed Official to terminate any employee 
when the County or respective Elected or Appointed Official considers such action to be necessary for the good 
of the County.  
 
2.17 Promotions 

 
Promotions within the County are generally based on such factors as quality of work, prior job performance, 
experience, educational background, attendance, safety record, and the ability to work well with others. While 
most vacant positions are advertised, the County may give first consideration for position vacancies to current 
employees. However, nothing in County policy restricts the County's right to review external candidates prior to 
making a decision. 
 

SECTION 3 – EMPLOYEE EXPECTATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
3.1 Working Hours and Schedule 

 
Beaufort County normally is open for business from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. 
 
Work schedules shall be established by department directors and supervisors in a manner to ensure staff are 
performing the business of the County in the most efficient way possible. 
 
Flexible Work Schedule Policy 
 
Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for assistant county administrators, department directors and 
supervisors when considering alternative work schedules, also known as flexible scheduling. 
 
Applicability 
 
This policy is applicable to all employees who are under the operational authority of the County Administrator and 
whose duties and responsibilities allow for flexible scheduling. Certain functions of government may not lend 
themselves to flexible scheduling, e.g., EMS personnel on 12 or 24-hour shifts or Detention Center personnel on 
12-hour shifts. 
 
Guidelines 
 

• Flexible scheduling shall not result in staffing shortages during the County's core business hours of 
Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., nor shall it impair customer service functions. 

• Under normal circumstances, most employees are expected to work no more than 10 hours on any given 
workday. 

• Full-time employees are expected to work 40 hours a week, which begins on Saturday and ends on the 
Friday that follows. Accrual of overtime in excess of 40 hours worked per week should not occur as a result 
of flexible scheduling. 

116

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 32 
 

• Department directors and supervisors are responsible for ensuring that employees maintain a consistent 
and predictable work schedule. Under normal circumstances, an employee's work schedule should not 
vary from week to week or from pay period to pay period. 

• Decisions regarding flexible scheduling shall be made fairly and equitably. 
• The County Administrator reserves the right to terminate flexible scheduling for any individual employee, 

as well as the right to recall this policy which allows for flexible scheduling, at any time. 
 
Working Hours 
 
The County's regular work week begins on Saturday and ends on the Friday that follows. Regular 
working hours are as follows: 
 

• Core business hours for providing service to the public are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. 
• EMS: Rotating 24-hour shift schedule (24-on / 48-off). Part-time employees may be on a 12- hour or 24-

hour schedule. 
• Detention Center, Sheriff & Communications: 8- & 12-hour shift schedules, as determined by current 

staffing levels and resident census. 
 
Management will inform employees of scheduled breaks and lunch periods. Normally, lunch or meal periods are 
scheduled for no more than one (1) hour between the fourth (4) and sixth (6) hour of each workday. A fifteen (15) 
minute break or rest period may be scheduled for the first half of the workday and the second half of the workday. 
Employees may not combine meal/break periods or use meal/break periods to leave early. While lunch and break 
periods will be provided whenever possible, situations such as high work volume and staffing shortages may make 
it occasionally necessary to eliminate some break periods. 
 
Employees are expected back at their workstations ready to start work at the end of each scheduled break and 
lunch period. 
 
All non-exempt employees may not work beyond their scheduled hours without prior approval from their 
supervisor. 
 
3.2 Punctuality and Attendance 

 
Employees are hired to perform important functions at Beaufort County. As with any group effort, operating 
effectively takes cooperation and commitment from everyone. Therefore, attendance and punctuality are very 
important. Unnecessary absences and lateness are expensive, disruptive and place an unfair burden on fellow 
employees and Supervisors. We expect excellent attendance from all employees. Excessive absenteeism or 
tardiness may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. 
 
The County does recognize, however, there are times when absences and tardiness cannot be avoided. In such 
cases, employees are expected to notify Supervisors as early as possible, but no later than the start of the 
workday. Asking another employee, friend or relative to give this notice is improper and constitutes grounds for 
disciplinary action. Employees should call, stating the nature of the illness and its expected duration, for every 
day of absenteeism. 
 
Unreported absences of three (3) consecutive workdays generally will be considered a voluntary resignation of 
employment with Beaufort County. 
 

117

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 33 
 

3.3 Remote Work/Telecommuting 
 
 
Beaufort County may allow employees to work remotely if their job duties and work performance are determined 
to be eligible for remote work. Eligibility will be decided on a case-by-case basis by Beaufort County. Employees 
also may be required to work remotely during periods of public health emergencies if government orders and 
mandates recommend such work. 
 
This policy provides general information regarding remote work/telecommuting. Employees who are approved to 
work remotely should consult their individual agreement for specific details of their remote work/telecommuting 
arrangement, such as expected work hours, equipment provided, and other important information. 
 
Any remote work/telecommuting arrangement may be discontinued by Beaufort County at any time and at the 
discretion of Beaufort County.  
 
At-Will Employment 
 
This policy and any individual agreement addressing this work arrangement do not create a contract of 
employment and are not intended to be considered or construed as a promise of continued employment. 
Employment is at will and may be discontinued at any time by Beaufort County or employee without notice, cause, 
or liability. 
 
Hours of Work 
 
Scheduled hours of work will be set by the employees' manager or supervisor. Employees should maintain regular 
contact with their supervisors and managers. 
 
Non-exempt employees must accurately record all hours worked pursuant to Beaufort County's timekeeping 
system and take rest and meal breaks as if in Beaufort County's workplace and as required by law. Non-exempt 
employees may not work beyond scheduled working hours (including working more than 40 hours in a workweek) 
without prior, written authorization from their manager or supervisor. 
 
Location 
 
Employees will provide, at their expense, a secure, dedicated work area. Employees are responsible for 
maintaining the work area in a safe, secure, and nonhazardous condition at all times. Employees will maintain 
security devices and procedures necessary to prevent use by unauthorized persons, including by preventing the 
connection of any Beaufort County-furnished computer system, network, or database to any computer, network, 
or database other than a computer, network, or database to which connections are provided or authorized by 
Beaufort County. 
 
Employees that require remote work outside of South Carolina must have prior approval from the County 
Administrator or designee, in addition to notifying the Human Resources Department. 
 
Duties 
 
Employees are expected to follow all existing Beaufort County policies and procedures. The duties, obligations, 
responsibilities, and conditions of employment with Beaufort County remain unchanged. 

118

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 34 
 

Employees must stay engaged with work throughout the workday and be fully available during normal business 
hours. Employees may not hold business visits or host in-person meetings with business colleagues or customers 
at his/her home. If employees do not successfully perform their job duties remotely, this arrangement will be 
revoked. Employees are expected to follow existing Beaufort County policies with respect to scheduled and 
unscheduled time off, including the obligation to speak with their manager or supervisor before the scheduled 
start time in the event of an unscheduled absence, tardy, or early departure. 
 
Accidents and Injuries 
 
Employees agree to maintain safe conditions in the remote work space and to practice the same safety habits 
and rules applied on Beaufort County premises. If employees incur an injury arising out of the course and scope 
of the assigned job duties while working in the remote work space, the workers' compensation provisions in place 
for the state in which the employees are working will apply. Employees must notify their supervisor or manager 
immediately and complete all necessary and/or requested documents regarding the reported injury. Beaufort 
County assumes no responsibility for injuries occurring in the remote work space outside normal working hours 
or for injuries that occur as a result of a reasonably recognizable unsafe remote work space. 
 
Equipment 
 
Employees agree to use electronic equipment that has been encrypted and meets all of Beaufort County's security 
requirements. If Beaufort County provides equipment for home use, employees agree to provide a secure location 
for Beaufort County-owned equipment and will not use, or allow others to use, such equipment for purposes other 
than Beaufort County business. Employees have no expectation of ownership in such equipment, linkages, 
property, or other items installed or provided by Beaufort County. Beaufort County will bear the expense of removal 
of any such equipment, linkages, and installations provided by Beaufort County upon the termination of the 
remote work/telecommuting arrangement but not modification of or repairs to the work location. Employees hereby 
release Beaufort County from any damage or liability incurred in the installing or removal of the equipment 
provided by Beaufort County. 
 
Return of Beaufort County Property 
 
All equipment, records, and materials provided by Beaufort County will remain Beaufort County property. 
Employees agree to return Beaufort County equipment, records, and materials upon request. All Beaufort County 
equipment will be returned by employees for inspection, repair, or replacement as needed or requested or 
immediately upon termination of the remote work/telecommuting arrangement. All equipment must be returned 
within five (5) business days of written notice to the employees. 
 
Expenses 
 
Upon presentment of receipts and in accordance with the Business Expense Reimbursement policy, Beaufort 
County will reimburse employees for certain preapproved expenses. 
 
Regular household utility charges, such as electricity, water, phone, Internet service, auto, homeowners' 
insurance, etc., are not reimbursable unless state law requires reimbursement. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
Employees agree that they are subject to Beaufort County's policies prohibiting the nonbusiness use or 
dissemination of Beaufort County's confidential business information. Employees will take all appropriate steps to 

119

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 35 
 

safeguard Beaufort County's confidential business information, including segregating it from personal papers and 
documents, not allowing nonemployees to access such information, and keeping such information in locked 
drawers or file cabinets when not in use. Employees will maintain confidential information, including, but not limited 
to, information regarding Beaufort County's products or services, processing, marketing and sales, client lists, 
client e-mail addresses and mailing addresses, client data, orders, memoranda, notes, records, technical data, 
sketches, designs, plans, drawings, trade secrets, research and development data, experimental work, proposals, 
new product and/or service developments, project reports, sources of supply and material, operating and cost 
data, and corporate financial information. 
 
Contact 
 
If employees have any questions concerning this policy or would like to apply to work remotely, they should contact 
their supervisor and coordinate with Human Resources. 
 
3.4 Fitness for Duty 

 
An employee must be physically and mentally fit to perform essential job functions. 
 
Evaluation for Fitness 
 
When it is reasonably suspected that the physical or mental impairment of an employee constitutes a hazard to 
individuals or property or may prevent the employee from effectively performing the essential functions of the 
position, the employee may be required to submit to an evaluation of fitness for duty by a physician of the 
County’s choosing and expense. All such testing must be approved and coordinated by the Human Resources 
Director. 
 
Periodic Evaluation 
 
An employee may be required to submit to periodic examinations and/or undergo a program of treatment to 
qualify for continued employment, to the extent allowable by law. 
 
Disclosure Required 
 
An employee who is notified or otherwise becomes aware of a physical or mental impairment that affects or 
reasonably threatens to affect his/her ability to perform essential job functions shall report the condition 
immediately to their Department Head or to the Human Resources Director. 
 
3.5 Code of Conduct 

 
Public Trust 
 
Public trust is essential for any successful governmental entity. To that end, employees are expected to conduct 
themselves (both on and off the job) in a way that is respectful to citizens, coworkers, and all others associated 
with the County. Employees should demonstrate good judgment, discretion, and high ethical standards in 
everything they do that pertains to County business and/or could affect the County's reputation. 
 
Employees should remember at all times that they are employed to serve the public and should at all times do so 
with a high level of professionalism and respect. 
 

120

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 36 
 

Employees should also remember that public funds are being used,and should conduct business effectively and 
efficiently and protect the resources of the County. 
 
Employees should avoid any activity which could be considered or perceived to be a conflict of interest. This 
includes any action which is contrary to the best interest of the County, whether for personal gain or the benefit 
of other unintended parties. Particular care must be given in dealing with any person or organization with whom 
the County is either currently conducting business or has the potential to conduct business. 
 
Employees shall not use County property or position for personal gain. 
 
Workplace Conduct 
 
Because everyone may not have the same idea about proper workplace conduct, it is helpful to adopt and enforce 
rules all can follow. Unacceptable conduct may subject the offender to disciplinary action, up to and including 
discharge, in Beaufort County's sole discretion. The following are examples of some, but not all, conduct which 
can be considered unacceptable: 
 

1. Obtaining employment on the basis of false or misleading information. 
2. Stealing, removing or defacing Beaufort County property or a co-worker's property, and/or disclosure of 

confidential information. 
3. Completing another employee's time records. 
4. Violation of safety rules and policies. 
5. Violation of Beaufort County's Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace Policy. 
6. Fighting, threatening or disrupting the work of others or other violations of Beaufort County's Workplace 

Violence Policy. 
7. Failure to follow lawful instructions of a supervisor. 
8. Failure to perform assigned job duties. 
9. Violation of the Punctuality and Attendance Policy, including but not limited to irregular attendance, 

habitual lateness or unexcused absences. 
10. Gambling on Beaufort County property. 
11. Willful or careless destruction or damage to Beaufort County assets or to the equipment or possessions 

of another employee. 
12. Wasting work materials. 
13. Performing work of a personal nature during working time. 
14. Violation of the Solicitation and Distribution Policy. 
15. Violation of Beaufort County's Harassment or Equal Employment Opportunity Policies. 
16. Violation of the Communication and Computer Systems Policy. 
17. Unsatisfactory job performance. 
18. Any other violation of Beaufort County policy. 

 
Obviously, not every type of misconduct can be listed. Note that all employees are employed at-will, and Beaufort 
County reserves the right to impose whatever discipline it chooses, or none at all, in a particular instance. Beaufort 
County will deal with each situation individually and nothing in this handbook should be construed as a promise 
of specific treatment in a given situation. However, Beaufort County will endeavor to utilize progressive discipline 
but reserves the right in its sole discretion to terminate the employee at any time for any reason. 
 
The observance of these rules will help to ensure that our workplace remains a safe and desirable place to work. 
 

121

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 37 
 

3.6 Conflict of Interest and Business Ethics 
 
It is Beaufort County's policy that all employees avoid any conflict between their personal interests and those of 
Beaufort County. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that Beaufort County's honesty and integrity, and therefore 
its reputation, are not compromised. The fundamental principle guiding this policy is that no employee should 
have, or appear to have, personal interests or relationships that actually or potentially conflict with the best 
interests of Beaufort County. 
 
It is not possible to give an exhaustive list of situations that might involve violations of this policy. However, the 
situations that would constitute a conflict in most cases include but are not limited to:  
 

1. Holding an interest in or accepting free or discounted goods from any organization that does, or is seeking 
to do, business with Beaufort County, by any employee who is in a position to directly or indirectly influence 
either Beaufort County's decision to do business, or the terms upon which business would be done with 
such organization; 

2. Holding any interest in an organization that competes with Beaufort County; 
3. Being employed by (including as a consultant) or serving on the board of any organization which does, or 

is seeking to do, business with Beaufort County or which competes with Beaufort County; and/or  
4. Profiting personally, e.g., through commissions, loans, expense reimbursements or other payments, from 

any organization seeking to do business with Beaufort County. 
 
A conflict of interest would also exist when a member of the employee's immediate family is involved in situations 
such as those above. 
 
It is the employee's responsibility to report any actual or potential conflict that may exist between the employee 
(and the employee's immediate family) and Beaufort County. 
 
3.7 Political Participation by Employees 

 
The County supports its employees' efforts in exercising their civic duties and privileges in the democratic process. 
Employees are free to engage in political activities or join civic organizations, subject to guidelines and the 
following provisions: Employees of Beaufort County are expected to avoid public political activities that would 
have the effect of endorsing, promoting, or disparaging any Beaufort County elected or appointed official during 
working hours. While employees are encouraged to otherwise express their political opinions by voting for the 
candidate of their choice in any political election, employees shall not use their positions of employment with the 
County or other County resources for political purposes. 
 
Employees that desire to participate in any political activity, including but not limited to candidacy or funding, is 
responsible for ensuring compliance with all state and federal laws, including but not limited to the South Carolina 
State Ethics Code and the Federal Hatch Act. 
 
3.8 Confidential County Information 

 
During the course of work, employees may become aware of confidential information about Beaufort County's 
business, including but not limited to information regarding Beaufort County finances, pricing, products and new 
product development, software and computer programs, marketing strategies, suppliers and customers and 
potential customers. Employees also may become aware of similar confidential information belonging to Beaufort 

122

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 38 
 

County's customers, to include but not limited to citizens, businesses, and other stakeholders. It is extremely 
important that all such information remain confidential, and not be publicly disclosed except as part of a required 
disclosure pursuant to a Freedom of Information Act request. Any employee who improperly copies, removes 
(whether physically or electronically), uses, or discloses confidential information to anyone outside of authorized 
personnel may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.  
 
Employees are responsible to determine with their supervisors as to what information they receive in their position 
would be considered confidential.  
 
3.9 Publicity/Statements to the Media 

 
All media inquiries regarding the position of Beaufort County as to any issues must be referred to the Public 
Information Officer. Only the Public Information Officer is authorized to make or approve public statements on 
behalf of Beaufort County. No employees under the operational purview of the County Administrator, unless 
specifically designated by the Public Information Officer, County Administrator or other appropriate designee are 
authorized to make those statements on behalf of Beaufort County. Any employee wishing to write and/or publish 
an article, paper, or other publication on behalf of Beaufort County must first obtain approval from Public 
Information Officer. 
 
3.10 Dress Code, Appearance, and Cleanliness 

 
As representatives of Beaufort County, employees are expected to maintain a neat, well-groomed and 
professional appearance, in addition to good hygiene habits, while at work. County provided identification badges 
must be worn at all times on an approved lanyard around the neck or clipped to the lapel area so that it is readily 
visible.  
 
Some departments provide uniforms for employees. These employees should follow certain guidelines to maintain 
a neat and professional appearance. Uniform trousers and shorts should be worn at the waistline with a belt. Shirt 
tails should be tucked in. Hats, if provided, should be worn with the bill over the eyes (pointing forward).  Uniformed 
personnel are expected to follow all guidelines provided by their department. 
 
Non-uniformed personnel shall wear clothing and shoes that are clean, properly fitting, and appropriate to the 
work situation.  The wearing of tight-fitting, suggestive or see-through attire, jeans, shorts, jogging suits and T-
shirts is generally not permitted.   
 
Dress down days when jeans are permitted are allowed with the approval of the Department Head. 
 
Management attire should include dress shirts, ties, jackets and/or suits for certain meetings and public functions. 
 
Televised meetings warrant special attention to attire. Employees participating in televised meetings should 
ensure that they project a professional image as a Beaufort County representative. 
 
Management makes the final determination of appropriateness of attire and appearance. Employees may be 
asked to go home and change if deemed inappropriate for the workplace. Time spent away from your workstation 
changing attire is unpaid time. 
 
Clean Workplace: 
 

123

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 39 
 

A clean work environment everywhere in the County is essential for smooth and productive operations. Employees 
are expected to keep their workstations neat and orderly. The work area should be kept professional in 
appearance; personal or non-business materials should be kept to a minimum and not offensive or controversial 
to anyone with access to the area. 
 
3.11 Transportation and Travel 

 
Motor Vehicle and Workplace Equipment Operation 
 
Employees authorized to drive a County vehicle must obey all traffic laws and are completely responsible for fines 
resulting from traffic violations. Only County employees are authorized to ride in or operate a County vehicle and 
only to conduct County business (some exceptions apply with written approval from the County Administrator). 
Please see the County Vehicle Usage Policy below. Employees whose job requires that they possess a driver's 
license must immediately report all traffic violations (on or off the job) and/or suspensions to their supervisors.   
 
All employees operating a county vehicle that encounters any accident, traffic citation, or other event 
involving law enforcement must immediately report the incident to their immediate supervisor, Risk 
Management, the Fleet Manager and the Legal Department. 
 
Vehicle Usage Policy 
 
The County maintains a fleet of vehicles necessary to conduct County business. With few exceptions, vehicles 
are assigned to specific departments for use by employees of these departments to conduct County business. 
Vehicles are not assigned to individuals, and individuals are not permitted to keep personal items in County 
vehicles beyond the workday. Upon exiting the vehicle, the employee is responsible for ensuring that the interior 
of the vehicle is clean and orderly, with all trash and personal belongings removed. The vehicle should be locked, 
and keys should be submitted to the department designee after use. Department Directors are responsible for 
ensuring the cleanliness of vehicle exteriors, as well as ensuring that safety and maintenance protocols are 
followed. All County vehicles will be parked at an assigned County facility at the end of each business day. 
Vehicles must be parked at the facility most centrally located to its normal business use. Arrangements contrary 
to this policy and/or for the benefit of any employee are prohibited. 
 
County vehicles are to be used exclusively for County business. Employees are not permitted to use these 
vehicles for personal business, nor are they permitted to combine County business and personal business while 
in a County vehicle unless doing so is in the best interest of the County (this would most often apply to those who 
routinely spend the majority of their day in the field - it is often more efficient to take lunch at a location near the 
worksite than to travel back for a personal vehicle). 
 
Vehicle usage will be audited to ensure adherence to these policies.   
 
Employees who use their personal vehicle to conduct County business will be reimbursed for mileage provided 
they submit required documentation, including a signed confirmation form from their department director that no 
department vehicle was available. Department Directors are responsible for ensuring that compensable mileage 
is managed, and travel is conducted as efficiently as possible. Reimbursable mileage should be submitted with 
proper documentation within 30 days (as opposed to submitting multiple small claims frequently). Employees are 
not reimbursed for travel from home to their worksite, regardless of whether or not it is their normal reporting site, 
and regardless of whether it is during business hours or for emergencies after business hours*. Likewise, mileage 
from work to home is not reimbursable. 

124

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 40 
 

 
Travel from one worksite to another is reimbursable with proper documentation as listed above. (*While mileage 
is not reimbursable from home to work or work to home for after-hour emergencies, employees are compensated 
for after-hours emergencies from the time they leave home until the time they arrive back at home after the 
emergency, provided they travel directly from work to home). 
 
Business Travel Outside the County 
 
Administration recognizes that employees who travel outside of the County to represent the County's business 
interests must forego their living accommodations and may forfeit personal time. Accordingly, the County will 
make efforts to provide comfortable and secure accommodations for lodging, meals, and travel for employees. 
 
However, these items are not intended to be perquisites, and the County reserves the right to deny reimbursement 
of expenses that are considered lavish or extravagant. Expenses are to be within established County guidelines 
and will be reimbursed with proper documentation. Employees are expected to spend the County's money as 
carefully and judiciously as they would their own. 
 
All out-of-state travel must be approved by the County Administrator or designee.  
 
See the full Beaufort County Fleet policy in Appendix A-11. 
 
 
3.12 Travel Expense Policy 

 
Clear, honest, well-documented and organized expense reports are of vital importance to the County. Due to this 
importance, every employee should be familiar with all aspects of the current expense policies. See the full 
County Travel/Expense Policy in Appendix A-1. All questions regarding this policy should be directed to the 
Finance Department. 
 
3.13 Operation of Vehicles 

 
Employees authorized to drive a County vehicle must obey all traffic laws and are completely responsible for fines 
resulting from traffic violations. Employees whose job requires that they possess a driver's license must 
immediately report all traffic violations (on or off the job) and/or suspensions to their supervisors. 
 
See the full Beaufort County Fleet policy in Appendix A-11. 
 
 
3.14 Business Expense Reimbursement  

 
Employees will be reimbursed for reasonable approved expenses incurred in the course of business. These 
expenses must be approved by the employee's Supervisor, and may include air travel, hotels, motels, meals, cab 
fare, rental vehicles, or gas and car mileage for personal vehicles. All expenses incurred should be submitted to 
Finance Department along with the receipts in a timely manner. 
 
Employees are expected to exercise restraint and good judgment when incurring expenses. Employees should 
contact their supervisor in advance if they have any questions about whether an expense will be reimbursed. 

125

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 41 
 

 
See the full County Travel Expense Policy in Appendix A-1. 
 
3.15 County Credit Cards 

 
Employees authorized to use a County credit card are responsible for protecting the use of the credit card and for 
submitting all credit card charge tickets to the proper department for validation before payment of the credit card 
invoice. Credit cards are to be used exclusively for business purchases. 
 
Please contact the Purchasing/Procurement Department for the full policy regarding purchase cards. 
 
3.16 Health and Safety 

 
In General 
 
The health and safety of employees and others on Beaufort County property are of critical concern. Beaufort 
County intends to comply with all health and safety laws applicable to our business. To this end, we must rely 
upon employees to ensure that work areas are kept safe and free of hazardous conditions. Employees are 
required to be conscientious about workplace safety, including proper operating methods, and recognize 
dangerous conditions or hazards. Any unsafe conditions or potential hazards should be reported to management 
immediately, even if the problem appears to be corrected. Any suspicion of a concealed danger present on 
Beaufort County's premises, or in a product, facility, piece of equipment, process or business practice for which 
Beaufort County is responsible should be brought to the attention of management immediately. 
 
Periodically, Beaufort County may issue rules and guidelines governing workplace safety and health. Beaufort 
County may also issue rules and guidelines regarding the handling and disposal of hazardous substances and 
waste. All employees should familiarize themselves with these rules and guidelines, as strict compliance will be 
expected. 
 
Any workplace injury, accident, or illness must be reported to the employee's supervisor as soon as possible, 
regardless of the severity of the injury or accident. 
 
Medication 
 
Any employee taking medication that may impact his/her work or create a safety issue is required to report such 
use to their supervisors prior to their shift. Employees may be required to present a release form from the physician 
indicating that the individual is able to safely perform their daily work routine prior to working while on certain 
medications and in certain positions. 
 
Safety Equipment 
 
The County provides certain employees with safety equipment. This safety equipment (e.g., safety glasses) must 
be worn on the job. This equipment will be signed for by the employee and replaced at their expense if lost or 
stolen. The County will bear the cost of replacing equipment if the equipment is shown to be defective or no longer 
effective due to normal wear and tear. 
 
Safety Rules 
 

126

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 42 
 

Besides the following listed safety rules, each employee should make himself familiar with the work place and 
check for any additional special safety rules in the designated work area. 
 

• First aid supply kits are provided in the work area. It is the responsibility of the supervisors to see that the 
kits remain well stocked. 

• Know where the fire extinguishers are located and how to use them. 
• All defective materials or tools must be brought to the attention of the supervisor and not remain on the 

job. 
• The County, if necessary, provides safety glasses. They should be used at all times while working. 
• The County provides hearing protection for jobs that require such devices and should be used at all times 

for these jobs. 
• Wear clothes and shoes suited for the job. 
• Practice good housekeeping. Keep the work area clean and free from stumbling hazards, grease, etc. 
• Learn to lift the correct way. Bend knees. Keep back erect. Get help for heavy loads. 
• No scuffling or horseplay on the job. 
• Do not run within the work area. 
• Employees must be sure that their actions do not endanger other employees, or damage County or 

personal property. 
• Keep guards and protective devices in place at all times. 
• Use tools only for their intended purposes. Do not use broken or dull tools. Report broken tools to 

management. 
• Do not attempt to operate special machinery or equipment without permission and training. 
• Do not repair or adjust machinery while it is in operation and never oil moving parts except on equipment 

fitted with safeguards for this purpose. 
• Employees are expected to control hazardous waste and know how to handle exposure to hazardous 

waste, including blood-borne pathogens. If any employee suspects that the waste they may encounter as 
an employee is hazardous, they should inform management immediately. 

 
Reporting Injuries and Accidents 
 
Employees must advise management of all accidents, injuries or illnesses that occur while at work. All accidents, 
injuries or illnesses that occur while at work must be reported immediately, no matter how slight they may appear. 
 
The County provides the proper forms for reporting job related accidents, injuries, and illnesses. 
 
In the event of a vehicular accident involving a County-owned vehicle, or while on County business, employees 
should report all information immediately to management. Employees involved in an accident with a County 
vehicle will be required to submit to drug and alcohol screening. Exceptions to this requirement are accidents in 
which the employee is deemed not at fault by law enforcement authorities responding to the accident scene, or 
when management deems necessary due to reasonable suspicion or other departmental policies and/or 
requirements. 
 
3.17 Tobacco Use (Including Electronic Smoking Devices) 

 
All forms of tobacco use and smoking, including the use of e-cigarettes/vapes, is prohibited on Beaufort County 
premises, per Beaufort County ordinance. It is also prohibited in all Beaufort County vehicles. As part of the 
County's health benefits package, smoking cessation programs are available to employees. 

127

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 43 
 

 
3.18 Workplace Privacy 

 
The workplace is intended to be a place of work. An important part of work is communications and record keeping. 
No employee is at work 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and there are times when management needs access 
to communications or records maintained by employees in their individual workplaces. Each employee must 
understand that personal items and personal communications received or stored on County premises are NOT 
entitled to an expectation or guarantee of privacy. 
 
Management reserves the right to search County property and documents in employee desks, lockers, County-
owned vehicles, file cabinets, etc. Further, to help provide for the safety and security of County employees, guests, 
and property, the County may conduct video surveillance of County property. 
 
Electronic media raises similar issues. The County provides electronic and telephonic communication devices 
and, when necessary, computers and mobile devices to employees. Although assigned to the employee, these 
items still belong to the County. Similarly, electronic files created on a County computer or mobile device belong 
to the County. Employees should not use County computers and devices for personal business without the 
express written permission of the County. Unauthorized programs and files may not be used or installed on County 
computers without the written permission of the County. Additionally, employees may not encrypt work and may 
not use passwords other than those assigned to them by the County. Employees may not destroy or delete files 
from County computers or mobile devices except pursuant to the County's record retention policy. 
 
Employees of Beaufort County should have no expectation of privacy regarding any information or property used, 
accessed, sent or received, in both hard copy and electronic format, on any County equipment including 
telephones, cell phones, computer files, email, uploads and downloads from the internet, whether business related 
or personal. 
 
The County reserves the right to review voice mail, electronic mail, computer and mobile device files, text 
messaging, and other electronic information generated by, passed through, or stored in the County's electronic 
system. The County also reserves the right to report the findings of such reviews to appropriate agencies. 
 
The following uses are absolutely forbidden: 
 

1. To access any material the County considers to be pornographic; to transmit or knowingly accept receipt 
of any communication that is pornographic, obscene, or in the County's opinion might contribute to a hostile 
work environment in that it demeans individuals on the basis of race, sex, age, national origin, disability or 
some similar distinction. 

2. To conduct business for outside employment or a side-business. 
3. To solicit others for non-work-related reasons. 

 
County employees may not use personal electronic equipment (including but not limited to personal laptop 
computers, mobile devices, and cellular phones) on County property or at County work sites to 
engage in conduct that would be prohibited if using County equipment. 
 
Important Notice: The County has the capacity to examine the computer and mobile device usage of individual 
employees in detail. Even though an item has been "deleted" and the employee cannot retrieve it, this does not 
mean that the County cannot do so. It is also possible to generate a report of every internet connection made by 
each user and of how much time was spent in each connection. 

128

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 44 
 

 
See the Computer Usage and Email Retention Policy in Appendix A-3 and A-4 for more information. 
 
3.19 Parking 

 
An adequate parking area is provided for employees. The County assumes no responsibility for employee's 
vehicles or their contents while on County property. Parking personal vehicles in unauthorized areas without prior 
approval is prohibited and could result in disciplinary action. 
 
3.20 Personal Telephone Use 

 
County telephones are important to our everyday operation and are provided to facilitate official business. 
Employees should restrict their personal telephone calls to urgent matters only, keeping them brief and as quiet 
as possible. Employees should never engage in personal calls while with a customer or while a customer is waiting 
to be assisted. 
 
The use of County phones for personal calls, faxes, or other electronic communication is discouraged. In the 
event that charges are incurred for the use of County resources, the employee must reimburse the County, and 
may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
Except in emergency situations, the use of personal cell phones to conduct personal business except while on a 
bona fide break or lunch is prohibited. Personal cell phone use should be conducted away from the work area and 
as discretely as possible if on County property. 
 
3.21 County Tools and Equipment 

 
The County may furnish necessary tools and equipment to complete job assignments. Each employee is reminded 
that all items purchased by the County remain the property of the County and represent a valuable asset of the 
County. The costs of County issued tools and equipment is considered an advance of wages which may be 
deducted from the employee's paycheck if lost, stolen or damaged while under the employee's control. Unreturned 
property at the time of separation of employment may be deducted from the employee's final paycheck. 
 
It is the responsibility of the employee to whom tools and equipment are assigned to maintain and safeguard 
these assets as if they were their personal property. It is the policy of this County to hold the individual financially 
responsible for tools and equipment lost, stolen, or damaged though negligence. 
 
A periodic inventory of tools and equipment may be made. When leaving a work area, it is recommended that all 
tools that cannot be secured in locked storage be removed from the work area. 
 
County departments may have internal policies regarding tools and equipment and employees are expected to 
follow their department rules.  It is the responsibility of the employee to review these policies with their supervisor. 
 
3.22 Personal and Company-Provided Portable Communication Devices 

 
Beaufort County-provided portable communication devices (PCDs), including cell phones and personal digital 
assistants, should be used primarily for business purposes. Employees have no reasonable expectation of privacy 

129

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 45 
 

in regard to the use of such devices, and all use is subject to monitoring, to the maximum extent permitted by 
applicable law. This includes, as permitted, the right to monitor personal communications as necessary. 
 
Some employees may be authorized to use their own PCD for business purposes. These employees should work 
with the IT department to configure their PCD for business use. Communications sent via a personal PCD also 
may subject to monitoring if sent through Beaufort County's networks and the PCD must be provided for inspection 
and review upon request. 
 
All conversations, text messages and e-mails must be professional. When sending a text message or using a 
PCD for business purposes, whether it is a Beaufort County-provided or personal device, employees must comply 
with applicable Beaufort County guidelines, including policies on sexual harassment, discrimination, conduct, 
confidentiality, equipment use and operation of vehicles. Using a Beaufort County-issued PCD to send or receive 
personal text messages is prohibited at all times and personal use during working hours should be limited to 
emergency situations. 
 
If employees who use a personal PCD for business resign or are discharged, they will be required to submit the 
device to the IT department for resetting on or before their last day of work. At that time, the IT department will 
reset and remove all information from the device, including but not limited to, Beaufort County information and 
personal data (such as contacts, e-mails, and photographs). The IT department will make efforts to provide 
employees with the personal data in another form (e.g., on a disk) to the extent practicable; however, the employee 
may lose some or all personal data saved on the device. 
 
Employees may not use their personal PCD for business unless they agree to submit the device to the IT 
department on or before their last day of work for resetting and removal of Beaufort County information. This is 
the only way currently possible to ensure that all Beaufort County information is removed from the device at the 
time of termination. The removal of Beaufort County information is crucial to ensure compliance with Beaufort 
County's confidentiality and proprietary information policies and objectives. 
 
Please note that whether employees use their personal PCD or a Beaufort County-issued device, Beaufort 
County's electronic communications policies, including but not limited to, proper use of communications and 
computer systems, remain in effect. 
 
Portable Communication Device Use While Driving 
 
Employees who drive on Beaufort County business must abide by all state or local laws prohibiting or limiting 
PCD (cell phone or personal digital assistant) use while driving. "Use" includes, but is not limited to, talking or 
listening to another person or sending an electronic or text message via the PCD. 
 
Regardless of the circumstances, including slow or stopped traffic, if any use is permitted while driving, employees 
should proceed to a safe location off the road and safely stop the vehicle before placing or accepting a call. If 
acceptance of a call is absolutely necessary while driving, and permitted by law, employees must use a hands-
free option and advise the caller that they are unable to speak at that time and will return the call shortly. 
 
Under no circumstances should employees feel that they need to place themselves at risk to fulfill business needs. 
 
Since this policy does not require any employee to use a cell phone while driving, employees who are charged 
with traffic violations resulting from the use of their PCDs while driving will be solely responsible for all liabilities 
that result from such actions. 
 

130

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 46 
 

Texting and e-mailing while driving is prohibited in all circumstances. 
 
See Appendix A-3 Beaufort County Computer and Information Systems Acceptable Use Policy for further 
details. 
 
3.23 Camera Phones/Recording Devices 

 
Due to the potential for issues such as invasion of privacy, sexual harassment and loss of productivity, as well as 
inappropriate disclosure of confidential information, no employee may use a camera phone function on any phone 
on Beaufort County property or while performing work for Beaufort County. 
 
The use of tape recorders, Dictaphones, or other types of voice recording devices anywhere on Beaufort County 
property, including to record conversations or activities of other employees or management, or while performing 
work for Beaufort County, is also strictly prohibited, unless the device was provided to you by Beaufort County 
and is used solely for legitimate business purposes.  
 
An exclusion to this policy may only exist if the use of such devices are required to perform an essential function 
or duty of the employee's job, or if such exclusion has been expressly granted by the Beaufort County 
Administrator or designee. 
 
3.24 Solicitations/Gambling  

 
Solicitation, gambling (including athletic pools) distributions, are prohibited on County property and work-sites. 
Soliciting for or engaging in gambling activities, athletic pools or any other illegal activities are specifically 
prohibited. Employees may not solicit friends and co-workers for personal activities, clubs, charities, and other 
social organizations during either the employees' work time or in work areas frequented by the public. Written 
approval from the County Administrator is required for any exception to this policy. 
 
Additionally, County computer and communications resources may only be used for conducting County business. 
Games such as "fantasy football" or unauthorized "bulletin board" or "blogging" activity involving computer and 
communication resources are prohibited. 
 
3.25 Security  

 
All doors, files, desks, gates, and any other equipment with locks must be kept locked securely when not in direct 
use and at each day's end. Locks should be checked regularly. County vehicles should be kept locked at all times. 
Lost keys or equipment must be reported to the supervisor immediately. Any concerns about security should be 
directed to your supervisor and / or the Risk Management Department. 
 
3.26 Use of Social Media 

 
Beaufort County acknowledges the evolving communication landscape of the 21st century. To provide clear 
direction to our employees when engaging in online social media activities, Beaufort County has developed the 
following policy. The decision of whether an employee chooses to participate in activities such as blogging, wiki 
editing, online social networking, or any other form of online publishing or discussion is entirely their own.  
 

131

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 47 
 

Content produced by Beaufort County employees reflects upon the entire County and is subject to the County's 
Acceptable Use Policy and all other Policies established in the Beaufort County Employee Handbook. This 
includes personal posts, even if marked as private, which may still be subject to applicable Beaufort County 
policies and procedures, as well as relevant local, state and federal laws. By accessing, creating or contributing 
to any blogs, wikis, podcasts or other social media platforms for County purposes, you are committing to adhering 
to these guidelines.  
 
Any violation of this Policy may result in disciplinary action up to termination. 
 
What is Social Media? 
Social media refers to user-generated content shared within a collaborative online environment where individuals 
exchange opinions, knowledge and information. This digital landscape encompasses various tools, including but 
not limited to: 

• Blogs (e.g., Blogger, WordPress) 
• Wikis (e.g., Wikispaces, Google Sites) 
• Social networking sites (e.g., Facebook, Ning, YouTube, LinkedIn) 
• Photo and video sharing platforms (e.g., YouTube, Flickr) 
• Social bookmarking services (e.g., Diigo, Delicious) 
• Podcasting and Vodcasting 

 
Content. For purposes of this Policy, the term “Content” is defined as any materials, documents, photographs, 
graphics and other information that is created, posted, or transmitted using social media.  
 
 
Use of Social Media 
Employment Information. An employee may choose to provide information regarding employment on social 
media.  Any information regarding employment must be truthful and accurate.  
 
County Employee and Respectful Content. Understand that you are always considered a Beaufort County 
employee online, and whether intended or not anything you do or say can reflect on the County.  Posts and 
content shall not infer, directly or indirectly, that content or statements made are being made on behalf of the 
County.  Employees are prohibited from posting statements or content containing personal attacks on coworkers, 
reasonably calls into question coworkers’ judgment, violates the County Employee Handbook, creates hostility or 
disrupts the workplace. 
 
Any expression of ideas or opinions must be respectful.  Employees shall not post any content on social media 
which may be considered degrading, insulting, offensive, harassing, obscene, unlawful, hostile, or may be 
considered cyberbullying.    

 
Confidential Information. Understand that online postings and conversations are not private, and under no 
circumstance shall confidential information be shared.   
 
Posting Content Requires Permission.  Employee must obtain written approval from the County Administrator, 
or its designee, prior to posting any content taken in County facilities or at County activities.  An Employee must 
obtain consent before posting any content of other County Employees or citizens participating in County activities. 
 
Seek written authorization from the Public Information Officer before using any County logo or image. County 
logos should only be used in professional contexts. When using social media on behalf of Beaufort County or for 
County-related purposes, adhere to the Beaufort County Style Guide, available from the Public Information Officer. 

132

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 48 
 

 
3.27 Performance Review 

 
Depending on the employee's position and classification, Beaufort County endeavors to review performance 
annually. However, a positive performance evaluation does not guarantee an increase in salary, a promotion or 
continued employment. Compensation increases and the terms and conditions of employment, including job 
assignments, transfers, promotions, and demotions, are determined by and at the discretion of management. 
 
In addition to these formal performance evaluations, Beaufort County encourages employees and supervisors to 
discuss job performance on a frequent and ongoing basis. 
 

SECTION 4 – COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS 
 
4.1 Compensation Plan 

 
The Compensation Plan is designed to be an equitable method to pay County employees. This plan establishes 
a basic salary structure, as approved by County Council. The salary ranges encompass minimum, midpoint and 
maximum rates of pay for all positions included in the Classification Plan. However, assignment to a particular 
range does not guarantee that the employee will be paid within the range. 
 

a. Starting Rates for New Employees: In most cases, a new employee is paid between the minimum and 
midpoint rate of pay for the position with consideration of the employee’s credentials, budget constraints, 
and ensuring equity within the department. Exceptions may be granted upon written justification from the 
department head, with approval of the County Administrator or designee. Such a request must be made 
in writing by the department head and forwarded for consideration to the Assistant County Administrator 
and Human Resources Director. 

b. Part-time Employment: Part-time positions are assigned to appropriate grades by the Human Resources 
Director. The same principles which apply to the Compensation Plan for full-time regular employees 
determine salary procedures for part-time employees. 

c. Temporary Employment- Temporary positions are assigned appropriate hourly rates/salaries by the 
Human Resources Director. 

 
4.2 Holidays & Holiday Pay 

 
The following days are observed as holidays for Beaufort County employees: 

New Year's Day 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 

President's Day 
Good Friday 

Memorial Day 
Independence Day 

Labor Day 
Veterans' Day 

Thanksgiving Day 
Day after Thanksgiving 

Christmas Eve 

133

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 49 
 

Christmas Day 
Personal Floating Holiday 

 
*A holiday schedule will be produced annually and distributed to employees for planning purposes. 
 

1. In addition to the above, employees receive any other days off that are designated as holidays by the 
County Council. 

2. For administrative employees, when a recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday is 
observed as the holiday. When a recognized holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday is observed 
as the holiday. 

3. For employees who work non-standard or "shift" hours, the following governs: When an actual holiday falls 
on a Saturday or Sunday, the employees who work Saturday or Sunday receive holiday pay for the 
Saturday or Sunday and not for the Monday or Friday which are designated as holidays for standard-
schedule County employees. Shift employees who do not work the actual holiday are not paid holiday pay. 

4. Temporary employees are not eligible for holiday pay. 
 
Holiday Pay 
 

a. Standard-schedule employees, full-time and part-time, who are scheduled to work, but perform no work 
on a County recognized holiday, are paid a holiday allowance equal to their regular pay without overtime. 
Employees who are not scheduled to work on a holiday (due to being non-standard schedule employees 
or those in an inactive status (FMLA, etc.)) will not receive holiday pay.  

b. Employees required to work on a County recognized holiday are paid as follows: Regular employees 
receive holiday pay in the amount of one day's pay and regular pay for hours actually worked. Shift or 
nonstandard scheduled employees, including some law enforcement, EMS, and firefighters, receive 
holiday pay and regular pay for hours worked on the actual holiday. 

 
Under no circumstances will an employee receive holiday pay for both the County recognized and the 
actual holiday. 
 
4.3 Payment of Wages 

 
Employees are paid every two weeks on Friday, by direct deposit. Employees should examine their pay stubs 
immediately to ensure they have been properly paid for all hours and that no improper deductions have been 
made. 
 
The County deducts from employee's gross pay, federal and state income taxes, social security taxes, elective 
health coverage, court-ordered withholdings, required retirement withholding, and other county-approved 
voluntary deductions, as well as deductions for loss or destruction of County property. The County does not make 
unauthorized deductions and will reimburse employees if such deductions are made inadvertently and reported 
to payroll. 
 
Cash, debts owed the County, fringe benefits, uniforms, tools, equipment, vehicles, instruction manuals, keys, 
County identification badges and other items belonging to the County that are advanced or issued to an employee 
but not repaid or returned by him at the time of his termination/resignation are considered advances of wages, the 
value of which may be deducted from the employee's pay. 
 
Questions regarding deductions should be directed to the Human Resources Director. 

134

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 50 
 

 
4.4 Overtime and Compensatory Time 

 
Overtime 
 
Like most successful organizations, Beaufort County experiences periods of extremely high activity. During these 
busy periods, additional work is required from all of us. Supervisors are responsible for monitoring business activity 
and requesting overtime work if necessary. Effort will be made to provide employees with adequate advance 
notice in such situations. 
 
Any non-exempt employee who works overtime will be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times (1.5) 
their normal hourly wage for all time worked in excess of 40 hours each week, unless otherwise required by law. 
(All types of leave hours are not considered time worked.)  
 
Employees may work overtime only with prior management authorization. 
 
For purposes of calculating overtime for non-exempt employees, the workweek begins at 12 a.m. on Saturday 
and ends at 11:59 p.m. on the following Friday. 
 
Compensatory Time 
 
In lieu of overtime, the County may award compensatory time at a rate of time and one-half to employees who 
work in excess of the statutory maximum hours. Every effort will be made by the employee and management 
to ensure that any compensatory time accrued is used within 90 days of accrual. In accordance with the 
Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), public employees may accrue no more than the following number of 
compensatory hours: 
 

• Public Safety and Emergency Response Personnel: 480 hours 
• All Others: 240 hours 

 
However, departments may institute an internal policy that institutes lower limits as deemed necessary. 
4-5. PAYROLL 

4.5 Payroll Errors 
 
If an employee believes there is an error in pay, he/she should notify the Human Resources Director within fifteen 
(15) days of receiving the paycheck. The County will attempt to adjust the error immediately or no later than the 
employee's next pay period. 
 
4.6 Garnishment of Employee Wages 

 
Deductions may be made from wages when ordered by a court or when otherwise permitted or required by law. 
 
4.7 Payment at Time of Separation 

 
Any employee terminating their employment is expected to return any County property in his/her possession.  
 

135

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 51 
 

Any outstanding debt owed the County and the value of any property (e.g. credit cards, uniforms, tools, etc.) is 
deducted from the final check as an advance of wages. A payment agreement will be made if the final paycheck 
does not fulfill the outstanding debt.  
 
After a full accounting of the employee's and the County's accounts (as determined by the County) is completed, 
a final paycheck is issued to the employee, normally on the next regular pay date.  
 
Upon resignation or termination, the employee is encouraged to consult the Human Resources Department to 
address any questions regarding post- employment benefits and final paperwork.  
 
Should employee’s separation be due to death, final payment will be direct deposited into the bank account on 
file with the payroll department at the time of death.  Should payment be sent back to the County by the financial 
institution, the payroll department will issue a paper check payable to “The Estate of” the deceased employee, 
or as ordered by applicable Probate Court. 

 
 
4.8 Payment of Accumulated PLT & Compensatory Time at Separation 

 
An employee's last day worked (except in cases of unpaid leave such as FMLA) is his/her last day of employment. 
Accrued PLT time and compensatory time will be paid out with the departing employee's final pay. Employees will 
not be paid for any unused accrued Disability Leave hours, Sick Leave hours, or Bereavement Leave hours upon 
separation from County employment. 
 
4.9 Personal Leave Team (PLT) 

 
The Personal Leave Time account is established for regular full-time employees. Personal Leave Time is accrued 
by eligible employees receiving pay from Beaufort County for any of the following: 1) days worked, 2) days taken 
as PLT, 3) days taken for jury duty, or 4) any other approved time off with pay. 
 
Full-time employees accrue PLT provided they are "in pay status" at least fifty percent of the pay period. 
 
Accrual rates for regular employees: 

Length of Service Hours / Pay Period Hours / Year Days / Year 
0 months – 1 year* 3.693 96 12 

1 year – 5 years 4.616 120 15 
5 years – 10 years 6.154 160 20 
10 years and over 7.692 200 25 

 
*Probationary employees will accrue leave at the rate of 3.693 hours per pay period. However, they will not be 
awarded their personal leave balance until the following pay period from the date they have successfully 
completed their probationary period of employment. 
 
Accrual rates for employees who work 12-hours shifts: 

Length of Service Hours / Pay Period Hours / Year Days/ Year 
0 months – 1 year* 4.615 120 10 shifts 

1 year – 5 years 6.000 156 13 shifts 
5 years – 10 years 7.846 204 17 shifts 
10 years and over 9.692 252 21 shifts 

136

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 52 
 

 
*Probationary employees will accrue leave at the rate of 4.615 hours per pay period. However, they will not be 
awarded their personal leave balance until the following pay period from the date they have successfully 
completed their probationary period of employment. 
 
Accrual rates for employees who work 24-hour shifts: 

Length of Service Hours / Pay Period Hours / Year Days/ Year 
0 months – 1 year* 5.5390 144 6 shifts 

1 year – 5 years 6.4615 168 7 shifts 
5 years – 10 years 8.3077 216 9 shifts 
10 years and over 11.077 288 12 shifts 

 
*Probationary employees will accrue leave at the rate of 5.539 hours per pay period. However, they will not be 
awarded their personal leave balance until the following pay period from the date they have successfully 
completed their probationary period of employment. 
 
Maximum Accrual Balance 
 
A maximum of three hundred and twenty (320) hours may be accumulated in the PLT account. All PLT hours in 
excess of three hundred and twenty (320) hours, up to a maximum of three hundred and sixty hours (360), will 
automatically be transferred to the Disability Leave (DL) account (described below). 
 
Scheduling Leave (Mandatory) 
 
Employees must submit a request to their immediate supervisor for the use of PLT at least forty-eight (48) hours 
in advance (except for illness or emergency). Leave will be granted whenever possible and practical, but may be 
denied in cases of business need or excessive requests during a certain time period, etc. 
 
All full-time County employees with more than one year of service are required to take at least five days/forty 
hours of their accrued PLT each year. In order to maintain a healthy, productive work force, employees are 
encouraged to take at least one week off, i.e., five or more consecutive workdays, each year using PLT. 
Department directors and/or supervisors are responsible for monitoring this process to ensure that every 
employee has used this opportunity to take a vacation each year.  
 
In case of absences due to accidents, sudden illness or emergencies, employees must notify their supervisor or 
department directors at least thirty minutes prior to their regular time for reporting to work, whenever possible. 
 
4.10 Sick Leave 

 
The County recognizes that employees and their immediate family members sometimes become ill. Thus, the 
County offers a sick leave benefit that provides paid time away from work during illness and recovery, for full-time 
and part-time employees. 
 
Accrual and Carryover 
 
Sick leave accrues at the end of each payroll period and is reflected on your paycheck stub as "Sick Leave 
Balance." Sick leave may not be used until it has been accrued but is available as soon as it is accrued. 
 

137

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 53 
 

Full-time employees accrue 3.69 hours each bi-weekly pay period. A maximum of 720 hours may be carried over 
from the last pay period in one year to the first pay period in the following year. 
 
Employees working a 12-hour shift accrue sick leave at the rate of 3.87 hours per pay period and may carry over 
up to a maximum of 756 hours. 
 
Employees working a 24-hour shift accrue sick leave at the rate of 5.2 hours per pay period and may carry over 
up to a maximum of 1008 hours. 
 
Regular part-time employees whose position is designated to work at least 20 hours per week accrue sick leave 
on a pro-rata basis. Regular part-time employees working an average of less than 20 hours per week, P.R.N., 
and similar classes of employees do not accrue sick leave. 
 
While on authorized sick leave with pay, an employee continues to accrue annual and sick leave benefits. If an 
employee is on authorized sick leave without pay, annual and sick leave benefits do not accrue, and the employee 
is responsible for payment of any authorized payroll deductions. Failure to submit prompt payment may result in 
termination of benefits. 
 
Use and Approval 
 
Sick leave may be used for personal or an immediate family member's (spouse, child, or parent including children 
in the care of a legal guardian) illnesses, medical appointments, and like purposes provided the employee's 
presence is required. Management reserves the right to require appropriate certification or confirmation that the 
employee's presence is in fact required. 
 
In the case of FMLA leave, that requirement is automatically met when the physician's certification is submitted. 
For information about requesting FMLA, see the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) section of this handbook 
or contact the Human Resources Department. 
 
Unless department policy dictates otherwise, in the event an employee cannot attend work due to illness, injury 
or emergency, the employee must notify their supervisor as soon as possible and, except under extreme 
circumstances, one (1) hour before the scheduled start time. Unless the employee is on an approved and excused 
leave of absence, this notification shall be made daily to the supervisor if the absence exceeds one day. 
 
Annual leave may be used in lieu of sick leave at the employee's request. Unpaid leave will be granted only when 
all available paid leave is exhausted. 
 
Notification to supervisor 
 
An employee who is ill must advise his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible and no later than one hour 
after the start of the work shift. Employees in law enforcement, emergency services, security, solid waste, and 
other departments that operate around the clock must follow procedures set up by their department heads. In 
case of extended illness, the employee is responsible for keeping his/her supervisor informed of his/her progress. 
 
For twelve (12) hour and twenty-four (24) hour shift employees, the employee's supervisor may at any time request 
a doctor's statement before excusing the absence. For regular eight (8) hour employees, an employee must 
provide a doctor's statement for sick leave absences after three (3) consecutive days of sick leave. Just because 
the County has allowed an employee to accrue sick leave does not mean that any absence will be excused and/or 
paid. All accrued leave usage must be requested by the employee and approved by the employee's supervisor. 

138

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 54 
 

Excessive absences or failure to properly follow leave rules and procedures can result in disciplinary action up to 
and including termination. FMLA leave and other protected absences are not counted for the purposes of 
evaluating whether absenteeism is excessive. Under some circumstances, annual leave may be donated for use 
as sick leave. See the Employee Emergency Leave Transfer Bank (EELTB) section of this handbook. Sick leave 
is not intended to extend the employment status beyond the last date of the individual’s availability to work. 
 
Payment at Separation 
 
Unused sick leave has no cash value and is not paid out upon termination of employment. 
 
4.11 Partial Day Absences 

 
Exempt Employees: 
 
Salaried exempt employees often must work outside of regular office hours on nights, weekends, holiday, etc. In 
recognition of that, the County generally permits them to take certain small increments of time off during office 
hours without requiring that the hours be charged against paid leave. 
 
The general rule is: If the salaried exempt employee will be out of the office for LESS THAN FOUR HOURS during 
the regular work day for personal reasons, the absence normally is not charged against paid leave. If the exempt 
employee is absent for FOUR HOURS OR MORE during regular office hours for personal reasons, the leave must 
be charged to the appropriate paid leave balance. 
 
In extenuating circumstances, the appropriate supervisor may make an exception to the general rule to permit 
additional partial day absences of four or more hours without charging leave to offset an inordinately high number 
of work hours, such as after a storm or completion of a large project. 
 
This leave practice is a courtesy and not a right. If any employee has abused the privilege or where otherwise 
appropriate, a supervisor may impose a requirement that all leave be charged to paid leave balances. 
 
Non-exempt Employees: 
 
Just as all additional work hours result in additional pay, all leave hours are charged against paid leave balances. 
 
4.12 Disability Leave (DL) 

 
The Disability Leave account is established for employees to use in the case of a debilitating injury or 
physical/mental illness. Regular employees may not use this account until accrued hours in their Sick Leave and 
PLT account have been used down to eighty hours. A maximum of three hundred and sixty hours may be retained 
in the DL account. The employee must present a doctor's certificate verifying the disability or illness in order to 
use this account. 
 
When an employee has consecutive days off due to a debilitating injury or illness which has been certified by a 
doctor, and time off extends past the allowable limits of withdrawal for Sick Leave and PLT, the County reserves 
the right to request a second medical opinion from a doctor who is qualified to render it. 
 
4.13 Bereavement Leave 

139

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 55 
 

 
The death of a family member is a time when employees wish to be with their families. If the employee is full-time 
and loses a close relative, the employee will be allowed paid time off up to five (5) workdays to assist in attending 
to obligations and commitments. The employee shall be allowed up to five (5) days for each occurrence of loss 
with no annual limit to instances of Bereavement Leave in any given year. 
 
For the purposes of this policy, a close relative includes a spouse, domestic/civil union partner, child, parent, 
sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparent, grandchild or any other relation 
required by applicable law, including step-family. Paid leave days only may be taken on regularly scheduled, 
consecutive workdays following the day of death. Employees must inform their supervisor prior to commencing 
bereavement leave. In administering this policy, Beaufort County may require verification of death. 
 
4.14 Jury Duty 

 
Beaufort County realizes that it is the obligation of all U.S. citizens to serve on a jury when summoned to do so. 
All employees will be allowed time off to perform such civic service as required by law. Employees are expected, 
however, to provide proper notice of a request to perform jury duty and verification of their service. 
 
Employees also are expected to keep management informed of the expected length of jury duty service and to 
report to work for the major portion of the day if excused by the court. If the required absence presents a serious 
conflict for management, employees may be asked to try to postpone jury duty. 
 
A regular employee may receive leave with pay for up to ten (10) calendar days per calendar year when the 
employee is subpoenaed to serve on jury duty and the hours of jury duty conflict with the hours of their County 
work. If the jury duty extends beyond the ten working days, the employee may use personal leave, if available. If 
not available, then the employee will be placed on leave of absence without pay. 
 
A copy of the subpoena must be submitted to the department director and forwarded to the Human Resources 
Department within five working days prior to the actual day of duty. When an employee is excused from service 
on a jury during working hours, he shall report for duty at his regular place of work if within reasonable commuting 
distance, or he shall be charged PLT for time excused. If an employee is excused from jury because of illness, 
sick leave or PLT should be charged in accordance with policy. Employees are entitled to all fees received as a 
juror. 
 
4.15 Voting Leave  

 
Beaufort County employees may be granted one hour administrative leave with pay, preferably between the hours 
of 8:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m., or 4:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m., for the purpose of voting in any general, primary, County 
or city election. However, scheduling the administrative leave to vote is at the discretion of the Department 
Director. 
 
4.16 Military Leave 

 
All regular employees who are members of the South Carolina National Guard or any reserve unit of the United 
States Armed Forces are entitled to military leave for training or deployment in accordance with state and federal 
law. 
 

140

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 56 
 

Employees are eligible for up to 15 days (shifts) of military pay for training per year (October - September). For 
emergency deployments such as those required per operation "Enduring Freedom", an additional 30 days (shifts) 
will be paid. 
 
An employee going on military leave should present a copy of his/her orders to his Department Director within 
three (3) days of receiving them. The orders must accompany the application for leave to the Human Resources 
Department for documentation purposes. For extended leave, employees must contact Human Resources prior 
to deployment for important benefit information. 
 
4.17 Administrative Leave with Pay 

 
Administrative Leave with Pay may be granted when an employee is denied the opportunity to work, or is directed 
to not report for work, at the direction of the County Administrator for reasons other than employee discipline.  
Under no circumstances should employees receive administrative leave with pay without prior written approval 
from the County Administrator or designee, or unless in accordance with another policy, i.e. Voting Leave. 
 
Administrative Leave with Pay is only intended to make an employee's work-week whole and shall not result in 
overtime. 
 
 
4.18 Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 

 
FMLA applies only to employees who have been employed 12 months or longer and who have worked 1250 hours 
or more in the preceding 12 months, both prior to commencement of leave. 
 
General: 
 
Employees who meet the length of service and hours worked requirement described above have rights under the 
Family and Medical Leave Act. As a general rule, employees must request leaves of absence under this law and 
policy, but in appropriate situations, employees may be placed on FMLA leave status without application. 
 
Reason for Leave of Absence 
 

1. Medical and Family Leave - An eligible employee may be entitled to a leave of absence under this law and 
policy if a serious health condition, including disability resulting from an on-the-job injury, prevents the 
employee from being able to perform his job; if the employee's spouse, child, or parent has a serious 
health condition and the employee must be absent from work in order to care for that relative; or to care 
for a natural child, adopted child, or formally placed foster child, provided that entitlement to leave to care 
for a child who is newly born or newly received in the employee's household shall end 12 months after a 
natural child is born or 12 months after an adopted or foster child is received in the employee's household. 
 

2. Military Caregiver Leave - An eligible employee whose spouse, parent, child, or next-of-kin is a covered 
service member or covered veteran of the Armed Forces of the United States may be entitled to a leave 
of absence to care for the service member or veteran if he is, or was, injured while on covered active duty, 
including if the aggravates an existing injury.  
 

3. Qualifying Military Exigency Leave - An eligible employee whose spouse, parent, or child is a member of 
the regular Armed Forces of the United States and is on active duty or called to active duty on a foreign 

141

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 57 
 

deployment, or who is a member of the National Guard or Reserves and is on or called to qualifying active 
duty in federal service may be entitled to a leave of absence due to one or more qualifying exigencies 
arising out of the active duty or call to active duty. Qualifying exigencies are: (1) Short-notice deployment 
(i.e., notice of 7 days or less); (2) Military events and related activities; (3) Childcare and school activities 
(regular or routine childcare by the employee does not count); (4) Financial and legal arrangements; (5) 
Counseling; (6) Rest and recuperation; (7) Post-deployment activities; (8) Parental care (regular or routine 
parental care by the employee does not count); and (9) Additional activities not encompassed in the other 
categories, but agreed to by the employer and employee. 

 
Proof of need for leave of absence may be required regardless of the type of leave taken. 
 
Length of Leave 
 

1. Medical and Family Leave - An eligible employee may take the equivalent of a total of 12 work weeks of 
leave during any 12 consecutive months for his own serious health condition, that of a parent, spouse or 
child, or to care for a newly born or newly received child. Leave to care for a newly born or newly received 
child must be taken consecutively. Leave required because of the employee's own serious health condition 
or that of a spouse, child, or parent, may be taken intermittently or by means of a modified work schedule 
when necessary.  
 

2. Military Caregiver Leave- Leave to care for an injured service member or covered veteran may be taken 
for up to 26 work weeks in a single 12-month period. Any leave taken by the employee for any other FMLA-
qualifying reason will count against the 26 weeks of leave permitted to care for an injured service member. 

 
3. Qualifying Military Exigency Leave- Leave taken because of a qualifying exigency is available for up to 12 

work weeks in any 12 consecutive months. Leave taken because of a short notice deployment is limited 7 
days from the date of notice, and leave taken to be with the service member during periods of rest and 
recuperation are limited to 5 days per period of rest and recuperation. Leave taken to attend post-
deployment activities must be taken within 90 days of the end of active duty service. 

 
Coordination of Leave and Paid Time Off 
 
An employee who must be absent for an FMLA-qualifying reason will be paid for time lost from work from accrued 
paid time off balances, if any. Leave taken under this policy counts towards the employee's 12 weeks of leave (or 
26 weeks, where appropriate) regardless of whether all or part of the employee's leave is paid. 
 
Effect of Leave on Accrual of Fringe Benefits 
 

1. Health benefit plan- Employees taking leave under this policy must continue to pay their portion of health 
benefit plan premiums on the same date that such portion of premiums would be deducted from the 
employee's wages. 
 

2. Accrual of paid leave- Unpaid time lost from work due to leave granted under this policy is not considered 
time worked for the purpose of accrual of paid time off. 

 
Employee Responsibility 
 
Employees who request leave under this policy must give 30 days advance notice or such lesser amount of notice 
as is possible in the particular circumstances. When the need for leave is unforeseeable, the employee must 

142

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 58 
 

follow the normal procedure for reporting an absence. Employees may not engage in side employment or work 
for another employer without the express written permission of County Administrator. 
 
Termination of Leave of Absence 
 
A leave of absence under this policy will end when the need for the leave of absence ends, or when the maximum 
leave described above has been taken, whichever occurs sooner.  
 
Reinstatement 
 
At or before the conclusion of the FMLA leave of absence the employee is entitled to reinstatement to his former 
position or to a position equivalent to his former position. The employee must demonstrate that he is fit for duty 
and must give reasonable notice of intent to return to work. 
 
Extension of Leave Without Benefits 
 
An employee who is unable to perform the duties of his position due to his own disability and who has exhausted 
his entitlement to leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act by taking 12 consecutive weeks of leave may, in 
the discretion of the County Administrator, upon written application, be granted up to an additional 12 weeks of 
leave. This additional leave of absence does not entitle the employee to reinstatement or to payment of any portion 
of his health benefit plan premiums. If the employee is able to return to work prior to the exhaustion of his extended 
leave, he may be returned to his previous position if it is vacant and is to be filled, or to some other position of 
equal or lesser compensation for which he is qualified and where there is a vacancy to be filled. If the employee 
is not returned to active employment, he may be continued on extended leave of absence status until he is 
returned to active duty status or his extended leave of absence expires, whichever occurs sooner. 
 
Employees who have exhausted their FMLA leave under other circumstances, but who continue to require leave 
which would qualify for FMLA leave if such leave had not been exhausted, may apply for an extended leave of 
absence for personal reasons. Such extended leaves are granted only at the discretion of the County 
Administrator. 
 
Separation of Employment 
 
An employee's employment may terminate if he does not return to full active employment status at the conclusion 
of his leave of absence or extended leave of absence. This does not affect the employee's ability to reapply for a 
position at a later time. 
 
Further, employees with circumstances that warrant special consideration should bring those circumstances to 
the attention of management. 
 
Special Situations 
 

1. Spouses - When both a husband and a wife are employed, their combined right to a leave of absence 
because of the birth or placement of a child, or to care for a newly born or placed child or to care for a 
parent with a serious health condition is 12 weeks in a 12 month period, or 26 weeks in a single 12 month 
period to care for an injured service member or covered veteran. 

 
2. Key Employees (salaried employee in highest paid 10% of all employees). Such employees may be denied 

reinstatement rights if reinstatement would cause substantial and grievous economic injury to operations. 

143

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 59 
 

 
Notice of Rights 
 
Federal law requires that we provide you with the notice of your rights that appears in Appendix A.5. 
 
4.19 Paid Parental Leave 

 
Paid Parental Leave is a paid benefit that provides Beaufort County employees up to six (6) weeks of pay at their 
base rate. This benefit is to support parents as they expand their family and to provide support as they assist 
children in transition. This leave is provided to support parents as they bond and provide care for a newborn child, 
newly adopted child, or newly placed foster child. Paid Leave Time will continue to accrue, and any elected 
benefits will continue with the customary payroll deductions during the period of Paid Parental Leave. The leave 
described herein shall hereinafter be referenced as "Parental Leave". 
 
Parent Defined. For purposes of Parental Leave, a parent is defined as any individual who has become the legal 
guardian of a minor child via birth, adoption, or fostering of a child in their household. 
 
Foster Care Defined. For the purposes of Parental Leave, Foster Care is defined as a new, temporary living 
arrangement in the employee's home for a minor child provided through a state-certified Foster Care program. 
Placement in the employee's home is made by or with the agreement of the State, and involves a minor child who 
is in the legal or physical custody and care of the State. 
 
Eligibility 
 
Employees eligible for Parental Leave are those in budgeted positions, and those who in accordance with the 
Beaufort County Ordinances and Beaufort County Employee Handbook receive all other Beaufort County 
employee benefits. Temporary and part-time employees are specifically not eligible for Parental Leave. 
Employees of elected officials and employees in other classifications designated as "at will" are also eligible for 
Parental Leave. Parental Leave shall only be available to an eligible employee after 180 consecutive calendar 
days of employment. 
 
If both parents to a child are employed by Beaufort County, then each parent may receive six (6) weeks as 
provided for by Parental Leave. 
 
Approval 
 
Employee shall provide written notification to their supervisor and submit a request for Parental Leave no later 
than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the period of Parental Leave beginning. Employees must notify Human 
Resources for the request of the Family Medical Leave packet at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the 
anticipated date of the leave, if possible. 
 
An exception to the required notification period as set forth in this Section may be made for emergency situations 
only, which shall be reviewed and determined on a case by cases basis by the Human Resources Director. 
 
Employees shall be required to furnish applicable documentation certifying that the request to use Parental Leave 
is for the purpose of providing care for or bonding with a child. Such documentation may include, but is not limited 
to, the following: 
 

144

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 60 
 

Event Acceptable Documentation 
Adoption • Adoption Order 

• Proof of Placement 
Birth • Report of Birth or copy of Birth Certificate 

• Custody Order 
• Proof of Placement 

Foster Care • Placement Agreement 
• Custody Order 

 
Documents provided by employee must show the employee's name as the parent or legal guardian, and date of 
birth or date of placement of the minor child.  
 
Use 
 
Parental Leave shall not be used prior to a qualifying event, and must be taken within the first six (6) weeks 
following birth, adoption, or foster care placement. Eligible employees may receive up to a maximum period not 
to exceed six (6) calendar weeks in a twelve (12) month period ("Paid Leave Period"). 
 
The Paid Leave Period may be split between two (2) separate events in a twelve (12) month period. For purposes 
of this section, an event is defined as any single occurrence where birth, adoption, or fostering of a newborn or 
child under the age of eighteen (18) is placed in the employee's household. All other requirements of the Parental 
Leave policy remain in effect.  
 
The birth, adoption, or foster care placement of multiple children that is part of the same event does not increase 
the length of Parental Leave granted (e.g., birth of twins, adoption or Foster Care placement of more than one 
baby or child). The amount of Parental Leave taken for the new Foster Care placement of a child cannot exceed 
the duration of the placement. 
 
While on Parental Leave, employees shall not engage in any work activity for compensation, including job-related 
training, nor shall an employee perform service for the County for compensation in any other capacity. Engaging 
in a work activity or employment for compensation while on Parental Leave will be deemed an interruption of paid 
parental leave and any remaining Parental leave approved for that event will be forfeited. 
 
Parental Leave runs concurrently with Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), as applicable. Employees using 
Parental Leave are afforded the remaining job protection under FMLA for an absence up to a total of twelve (12) 
weeks. An employee who exhausts all available FMLA entitlements for a different reason will still be eligible for 
the Parental Leave benefit. 
 
Conditions of Repayment of Paid Parental Leave 
 
If the Human Resources Director determines that an employee has abused or falsified information, or was 
otherwise not eligible for leave, the employee will be required to repay any leave previously approved and will be 
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.  
 
Unused Parental Leave 
 
Parental Leave shall not accrue and may not be donated to another Beaufort County employee. Unused Parental 
Leave has no cash value and is not reimbursable upon termination of employment. 
 

145

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 61 
 

4.20 Physical Disability and Personal Leave 
 
(Applies to employees whose reasons for leave are not covered by the Family and Medical Leave Act.). 
 
An employee who has completed his/her initial probation (and any extension thereof) is eligible to apply for a 
leave of absence for up to three months when unable to work because of sickness, pregnancy or injury on or off 
the job. Such an employee may also apply for leave of absence for personal reasons. Personal leave is granted 
only at the discretion of the County Administrator upon recommendation by the employee's department head and 
the Human Resources Director. 
 
Employees are requested to apply for leave of absence as far in advance of need as is possible, but an employee 
may be placed on leave status without application when the circumstances warrant such action. 
 
Physical disability leaves begin on the first day of absence. Employees not covered by FMLA will be responsible 
for the full cost of their insurance benefits. 
 
After the employee has exhausted his paid leave time, sick leave and/or disability leave, as a general rule an 
employee on leave of absence is not entitled to wages or fringe benefits and does not accrue fringe benefits. 
Certain exceptions may be established by law. Employees approved for this leave are responsible for payment of 
the full cost of any benefits and do not generally have job protection except where required by law. 
 
Employees on leave of absence may not engage in other employment. 
 
Employees desiring to return to work from an unpaid leave of absence should notify the Human Resources 
Director in writing at least ten (10) days prior to their desired date of return. If the County finds that the employee 
is fit to resume his duties, the employee may be placed in his former job if a vacancy exists which is to be filled. If 
no such vacancy exists, the employee may be placed in any job in which there is a vacancy which is to be filled 
and for which he is qualified. If no such vacancy exists at the time the employee desires to return to work, or by 
the end of the 3- month leave of absence, employment is subject to termination. This action does not affect the 
employee's eligibility to be considered for hire as a new employee at some future time. Employees with 
circumstances that warrant special consideration should bring those circumstances to the attention of 
management. 
 
4.21 Workers Compensation  

 
Employees must report all work-related accidents and injuries immediately to his/her supervisor. Beaufort County 
provides Workers Compensation Insurance to provide medical benefits and/or compensation (indemnity) benefits 
for a covered worker who sustains a disabling injury as a result from an accident arising out of and in the course 
of employment. See Worker’s Compensation Policy Appendix A-7 for the complete policy. 
 
4.22 Education Leave Policy 

 
All regular employees are encouraged to take advantage of educational and vocational courses which will help 
improve their current positions and better prepare them for promotion to related and higher-level positions in 
County service. County Administrator approval is required prior to unpaid educational leave and may be granted 
when it is in the best interest of the County and when it will not cause undue disruption or hardship in the 
department.   

146

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 62 
 

 
Employees may also be granted leave with pay to attend seminars, briefing sessions, or other functions of a 
similar nature that are intended to improve or upgrade the individual's skills or professional ability. 
 
Virtual participation, when applicable, is encouraged for out-of-town attendance in continuing education courses, 
seminars, etc.  
  
 
4.23 Recertification Reimbursement 

 
Beaufort County will reimburse employees for recertifications required to maintain specific job-related functions.  
This reimbursement should be paid for by the Department’s Training and Education budget line item.  Employees 
are required to inform their supervisors at least six (6) months prior to their certification expiring. 
 
 
4.24 Employee Emergency Leave Transfer Bank (EELTB) 

 
County employees who have experienced a personal or immediate family medical or other hardship emergency 
situation may share in the employee leave bank if the employee meets eligibility requirements. The emergency 
must necessitate the employee's absence for a prolonged period of time and be anticipated to result in a 
substantial loss of income due to the unavailability of adequate paid leave time and/or sick leave time.  
 
See Appendix A-8 for a complete copy of the EELTB policy. 
 
4.25 Benefits Overview 

 
In addition to good working conditions and competitive pay, it is Beaufort County's policy to provide a combination 
of supplemental benefits to all eligible employees. In keeping with this goal, each benefit program has been 
carefully devised. These benefits include paid time-off benefits, such as vacations and holidays, and insurance 
and other plan benefits. We are constantly studying and evaluating our benefits programs and policies to better 
meet present and future requirements. These policies have been developed over the years and continue to be 
refined to keep up with changing times and needs. 
 
The next few pages contain a brief outline of the benefits programs Beaufort County provides employees and 
their families. Of course, the information presented here is intended to serve only as guidelines. 
 
The descriptions of the insurance and other plan benefits merely highlight certain aspects of the applicable plans 
for general information only. The details of those plans are spelled out in the official plan documents, which are 
available for review upon request from Human Resources. Additionally, the provisions of the plans, including 
eligibility and benefits provisions, are summarized in the summary plan descriptions ("SPDs") for the plans (which 
may be revised from time to time). In the determination of benefits and all other matters under each plan, the 
terms of the official plan documents shall govern over the language of any descriptions of the plans, including the 
SPDs and this handbook. 
 
Further, Beaufort County (including the officers and administrators who are responsible for administering the 
plans) retains full discretionary authority to interpret the terms of the plans, as well as full discretionary authority 

147

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 63 
 

with regard to administrative matters arising in connection with the plans and all issues concerning benefit terms, 
eligibility and entitlement.  
 
While Beaufort County intends to maintain these employee benefits, it reserves the absolute right to modify, 
amend or terminate these benefits at any time and for any reason. 
 
If employees have any questions regarding benefits, they should contact Human Resources. 
 
4.26 Insurance Programs 

 
The County offers a comprehensive benefits package to serve as your foundation for good health, peace of mind 
and financial security. Unless specifically noted, each benefit is available only to regular full-time employees. 
Certain benefits such as medical, dental and vision are available to employees who average 30 or more hours 
per week. The County anticipates that its benefit programs will be offered on a continuing basis but it reserves the 
right to modify or terminate any program at any time as its needs change, subject to applicable law. 
 
Since the specific details of any benefit plan depend upon the insurance carrier, plan design, and governmental 
regulations, all benefits are subject to change at any time. This Employee Handbook should only be looked to as 
a general statement regarding what benefits are offered at the time it was published. Further, this Employee 
Handbook should not be relied upon for determining the requirements for enrollment, for making changes in 
coverage or similar issues. You should refer to the specific plan policy or handbook issued for each benefit to 
determine plan details. 
 
The employee portion of your premiums for coverage you elect will be deducted from your pay. In the event of 
unpaid leave, you will be given the option to either pay all amounts due in a lump sum before the leave or to make 
monthly payments to cover required premiums during the leave. In the event that any premium should go into 
arrears, the County has the right to deduct them from future paychecks or other balances. By enrolling in any of 
the County's benefit programs, you are expressly authorizing the County to make these premium deductions. 
 
Medical and Dental Insurance 
 
All regular full-time employees and employees who average 30 or more hours per week are eligible to participate 
in the County's health plan (medical and/or dental insurance) on the first day of the calendar month on or following 
the employee's date of hire. Part-time or temporary employees who transfer to a full-time position will be eligible 
on the first day of the calendar month on or following the date on which they begin work in the full-time position. 
Within 30 days of the employee's date of hire or transfer to an eligible position, the employee must complete the 
appropriate enrollment forms and provide any additional information that may be required by Human Resources.  
 
If you elect plan coverage, your cost for this coverage will be deducted from each paycheck. The coverage you 
elect including covered dependents will remain the same throughout the plan year. Employees can update 
coverage once a year during the Annual Open Enrollment Period. Otherwise, changes may only be made during 
the plan year due to a "special enrollment event" (also called a "qualifying event"). Examples of special enrollment 
events include a marriage, the birth of a child, a spouse's loss of employment, or similar events that cause 
coverage needs to change. 
 
Any changes, additions, or deletions to the employee's coverage due to a special enrollment event must be 
reported in writing by the employee on a plan-approved enrollment form and must include appropriate supporting 
documentation. The health insurance enrollment form and supporting documentation must be received by Human 

148

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 64 
 

Resources within 30 days of the special enrollment event. Note that changes in coverage may be subject to 
evidence of eligibility/insurability and that the County reserves the right to require the necessary documentation 
to verify that the employee's dependents are eligible for coverage. Failure to provide appropriate documents within 
the above stated deadlines may result in denial of coverage. Further information and details are included on the 
intranet and in the current edition of the Benefits Guide and any amendments issued thereto. An employee may 
access this information on the intranet or contact Human Resources to request information. In case of a conflict 
between this Employee Handbook and any formal plan summary or documents, the plan documents will govern. 
 
Section 125 Plan 
 
This plan offers a tax-sheltered means for employees to pay premiums for medical, dental insurance, and vision. 
Your medical, dental and vision premiums will be deducted from your gross pay prior to taxes being deducted 
thus reducing the amount of federal and state income taxes and FICA (Social Security) contributions you are 
required to pay. 
 
Flexible Spending Accounts 
 
Flexible Spending Accounts (FSAs) are a tax-saving way to pay health care and dependent care expenses that 
you would typically pay out-of-pocket. Expenses such as deductibles, copayments, coinsurance, prescriptions, 
dental procedures and eyeglasses can quickly add up, and dependent or elder care expenses can add up even 
more. The FSAs let you pay these expenses with pretax dollars. 
 
To enroll, you must decide how much to contribute to either or both accounts for the plan year. You may contribute 
to the Health Care FSA and/or a Dependent Care FSA subject to certain rules. Each account functions separately. 
For the most current guidelines, please refer to your benefits guide or the intranet page. Please refer to the federal 
regulations for more details. Once you enroll, you cannot change your contribution amounts during the plan year 
unless you have a qualified work or family status change. 
 
Contributions are deducted from your pretax pay in equal amounts during the year. This means you save money, 
as contributions are not subject to Social Security tax, federal income tax or state income tax. 
 
When you have an eligible expense, you submit a claim for reimbursement from the appropriate account. You 
can use the Health Care FSA to pay for eligible expenses for yourself and your dependents. 
 
Health Care FSA and Dependent Care FSA enrollments are only valid for one year and must be reenrolled during 
the Annual Open Enrollment Period in order to continue. Your account(s) will not automatically renew each year. 
 
4.27 Retirement Plan 

 
Beaufort County is a participant in the State of South Carolina Public Employment Benefit Authority (PEBA) 
retirement plans. As such, eligible employees are participants in the PEBA retirement plan applicable to their 
vocation. Details of these plans are found in the compensation and benefits guide published annually by Human 
Resources. 
 
4.28 Long-Term Disability Benefits 

 

149

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 65 
 

Full-time employees are automatically enrolled in the long-term disability program and become eligible for 
disability benefits after one hundred and eighty (180) calendar days of continuous unpaid leave due to sickness 
or accident disability according to the provisions of the plan. 
 
4.29 Employee Assistance Program 

 
Employees of Beaufort County and their family members are eligible to utilize the Employee Assistance Program. 
The EAP provides counseling in both individual and group settings to assist employees or their family members 
with personal problems that may be affecting the employee's job performance or just life in general. The EAP can 
help with personal problems such as drug or alcohol abuse, marital issues, financial problems and many others. 
Contact with the EAP is held strictly confidential and not reported to the County in any manner whatsoever except 
in the case of a mandatory referral by management as explained below. 
 
The County reserves the right to require employees through a "management referral" to attend the EAP as a 
condition of their continued employment. In such cases, the EAP will report the employee's progress to Human 
Resources. If a management-referred employee fails to complete the program or to comply with the instructions 
of the EAP counselor, further disciplinary action up to and including discharge may be taken. 
 
4.30 County Emergency Disaster Policy, Pay and Procedures  

 
The Emergency Disaster Policy is provided as guidance to members of the Emergency Operations Team as well 
as other employees who may be affected by area emergencies or disasters including floods, hurricanes, 
epidemics, riots, or other public calamity. The policy defines threat levels, pay policies for EOT members, etc., as 
well as guidelines for various readiness levels.  
 
Please see Appendix A-9 for the complete Emergency Disaster Policy and Appendix A-10 for Pay and 
Attendance Policy. 
 

SECTION 5 – APPENDIX 
 
5.1 A-1 County Travel/Expense Policy 

 
General Policy 
 
Employees of the county shall be reimbursed for travel and expenses incurred in the course of their employment 
only when such travel has been authorized by the County Administrator, Deputy Administrator, CFO, or Division 
Head, as appropriate. Travel taken without prior approval may not be eligible for reimbursement.   
 
All out-of-state travel must be approved by the County Administrator or its designee. 
 
A Travel Request must be completed, approved and submitted to the Finance Department with all necessary 
documentation attached. A Travel Request is required for a day trip if a registration fee is required. All overnight 
stays require Travel Requests. 
 
A Travel Request is NOT required for on-line or virtual training. Once attendance is approved by the department 
head, the registration may be paid for with a County 

150

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 66 
 

p-card. A receipt must be obtained to submit with the monthly p-card report. If an employee does not have a p-
card, the employee must obtain an invoice for the training and submit it to Finance Department, Accounts Payable, 
for payment to the vendor. 
 
All Travel Requests must be followed up with a Travel Reconciliation after travel is completed. 
 
Travel Request must include organization number (department) to be charged. XXXXXXXX-51320. 
 
Indicate method of travel (personal vehicle, car pool, county vehicle, etc…). *A county vehicle should be used if 
possible. If a county vehicle is available and not used, personal mileage will be reimbursed at half the normal 
rate.* 
 
Travel arrangements (registration fees and hotel accommodations) may be paid for with a County p-card only 
after travel has been approved. Use of personal credit cards is prohibited if employee has been issued a p-card. 
P-cards should not be used for food purchases while traveling. If hotel charges are deemed not related to County 
business i.e.movies, room service, internet access, or alcohol purchases, then cardholder will be responsible for 
reimbursing the County within 10 days upon return from travel. 
 
 
Travel Request Forms 
 
Approved Travel Requests must be received in the Finance Department Friday, no later than 5:00 pm, to be 
included in the following weeks check run. Travel checks are cut once per week as part of the accounts payable 
run. Plan ahead to avoid late payment of registration, hotel, etc… Call Finance if you have any concerns about 
the date your check will be cut. 
 
Registration 
 
Please spell out the entire name of the organization to be paid. (Example, SCSCJA- South Carolina Summary 
Court Judges Association). Always attach conference schedule/itinerary, and any other backup information 
pertaining to the requested travel. Please provide mailing address and indicate if registration fee is to be mailed 
or hand delivered by employee.  If registration has been paid using p-card, it is imperative that this is noted on the 
Travel Request so that a check is not sent. 
Lodging 
 
Lodging expenses will be prepaid in full by County check to the applicable hotel/ motel listed on the Travel 
Request. A correct address and confirmation number are required.  If a p-card is used for lodging, report the 
amount charged on the Travel Request form and indicate that the p-card was used so that a County check will 
not be sent. A copy of the hotel receipt will be required as a part of the reconciliation process. It will also be needed 
for the p-card monthly report. 
 
When a double or higher occupancy rate is charged, only the covered traveler’s lodging costs will be reimbursed. 
 
 
Per Diem 
 
For overnight trips, per diem is either paid in advance or upon return. If paid in advance, the proper Travel Request 
Form must be submitted to Finance. Meal receipts are NOT required to be turned in with employee's Travel 
Reconciliation form upon return. Per Diem will be paid according to the rates herein, and all meals included in the 

151

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 67 
 

registration agenda will be exempt from per diem allowance. Include estimated time of departure and return on 
your Travel Request form if asking for an advance. Employees are entitled to reimbursement for breakfast 
expense if they depart prior to 6:30 a.m. and for dinner expense if they return home later than 7:30 p.m. This 
entitlement is based on the premise that early departure and late return times as provided above are out of 
necessity and not at the discretion or convenience of the employee. 
 
For day trips, reimbursement for out of pocket meal expenses will be reimbursed upon submission of a properly 
completed Travel Expense/Reconciliation Report. If a Travel Request is not required (no registration fee or 
overnight stay), then meal reimbursements will be made after receipt of a completed Travel 
Expense/Reconciliation Report. Itemized receipt(s) for meals and detailed reasons for the meal(s) (who, what, 
when, why, where) are required. Reimbursements for meals will be made for the actual amounts expended, up to 
the maximum per diem allowance stated herein. 
 
If a check is being printed for reimbursement (opposed to EFT payment to employee's bank account), please 
specify if the check is to be mailed, sent inter-office, or held for pickup. 
 
If per diem is issued (advanced) to an employee who can no longer attend training, please return the check to 
Finance. Do not allow employee to cash the check and give money to another employee taking who will be taking 
their place. A new check will be issued to the employee who will be attending. If the check has already been 
cashed, please forward to Finance a check from employee made payable to the Beaufort County Treasurer for 
the per diem amount paid to them immediately. 
Also, employees are REQUIRED to attend conference or training sessions which justify said travel and expenses. 
Abuse of this travel policy could result in disciplinary action. 
All travel reimbursement forms and all receipts are to be submitted to the Finance Department within five (5) 
working days from the date of return of said travel. 
Mileage: Employees should seek the use of a County vehicle for all travel first; however, if such vehicle is 
unavailable, employees may use their personal vehicles for travel/training. Reimbursement will be made at the 
approved IRS rate at the time of travel, calculated from either the employee’s home or office address, whichever 
is CLOSER to the meeting or conference destination. Mileage may be verified by Finance through tools available 
on the internet or otherwise (Mapquest, GoogleMaps, etc.) 
 

Breakfast $12.00 
Lunch $17.00 
Dinner $26.00 *Replaces the gsa.gov method 
Total $55.00 

 
A detailed hotel receipt, however, is ALWAYS required. Reimbursement will be made at the rates outlined above 
less any meals provided by the organization/facility during training. Meals which are INCLUDED in the 
registration/training fees are NOT reimbursable, under any circumstance. For instance, if an organization provides 
lunch for one of the days of training in which the employee attends, and the employee chooses NOT to take 
advantage of the provided meal, Beaufort County will NOT provide reimbursement to the employee of any meal 
purchased by the employee. 
 
Personal Mileage 
 
County employees shall be reimbursed for mileage at the rate set by the Federal Government upon Beaufort 
County Council approval.  Under no circumstances will mileage be prepaid for any travel. A county vehicle should 

152

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 68 
 

be used if possible. If a county vehicle is available and not used, personal mileage will be reimbursed at half the 
normal rate. 
Car pool when possible. For example, if five employees are traveling to the same location for the same purpose 
and length of time, employees should car pool. Each employee should not be requesting mileage reimbursement. 
Only the owner of the vehicle being used shall be reimbursed mileage. 
Do not use the county gas card or your p-card to fuel your personal vehicle. 
No employee shall be reimbursed for travel between his normal work site and his home.  
 
Miscellaneous 
 
Use this area for additional fees, such as memberships, parking, estimated taxi costs. Internet connection for 
business use is reimbursable. Internet for personal use is not. 
Public Transportation 
The County shall pay round-trip coach fare for employees attending county-related functions. In the event that 
coach fare is not available on any reasonable travel schedule, the county shall pay full fare. Upon approval of 
Travel Request, public transportation must be purchased with a p-card if the employee has been issued one. 
Public transportation purchased with personal funds may be reimbursed upon presentation of appropriate 
documentation of purchase. For example, a printed receipt showing the charge made to a personal credit card. 
Airfare prices must be checked on travel sites, such as Expedia or Travelocity in order to find the best rate. Keep 
in mind, personal airline points have no bearing over the flight chosen. If a higher priced airline is chosen for the 
purpose of personal points, the employee must provide a print-out of airline prices from Expedia or Travelocity on 
the day their purchase was made. Reimbursement will be based on the best price available at that time. 
If taxi expenses are incurred, the county shall reimburse employee for actual cost of trips from airports to 
hotel/motel and return, as well as hotel/motel to place of function (if not the same) and return. Reimbursement will 
be made upon completion of a Travel Reconciliation with receipts attached. Employee may use p-card for taxi 
fares if employee has been issued one. 
 
Travel Reconciliations 
 
All Travel Requests must be followed up with a Travel Reconciliation which must be presented to the Finance 
Department within five working days after return. Indicate your TR (travel request) number on your Travel 
Reconciliation. To be reimbursed for travel expenses, the traveler must submit all required receipts and 
documentation. If additional expenses were incurred during travel that were not included on the original Travel 
Request, those expenses must be approved for reimbursement by the appropriate County Administrator, Deputy 
Administrator, CFO, or Division Head. When completing Travel Reconciliation form, indicate dates in which travel 
occurred. Record registration fees under miscellaneous expenses. If payment was made with county p-card, 
please note on Travel Reconciliation. 
 
Mileage Reimbursement 
 
Mileage reimbursement is subject to Finance Department verification.  MapQuest inquiries may be used for 
verification purposes. Any additional mileage should be noted or explained. Mileage occurring for daily travel to 
and from various county duties must be reported separately from mileage pertaining to a Travel Request. 
 
 
Lost Receipts 
 

153

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 69 
 

In cases where receipts cannot be obtained or have been lost, a Missing Receipt Statement may be attached to 
the Travel Reconciliation form with the reason given. In the absence of a satisfactory explanation, the amount 
involved may not be allowed. 
 
5.2 A-2 Drug and Alcohol Policy 

 
To help ensure a safe, healthy and productive work environment for our employees and others, to protect Beaufort 
County property, and to ensure efficient operations, Beaufort County has adopted a policy and complies with the 
Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 of maintaining a workplace free of drugs and alcohol. This policy applies to all 
employees and other individuals who do work for Beaufort County. 
 
The policy prohibits being in possession or under the influence of any illegal drug or unauthorized controlled 
substance while working and/or on County premises or in County vehicles. 
 
All employees of the County are prohibited from swallowing, inhaling, injecting, dealing in, or otherwise using 
illegal drugs and substances (such as marijuana, cocaine, LSD, heroin, etc.). Further, this prohibition applies to 
the misuse, abuse or any unlawful use or possession of otherwise legal drugs. This prohibition applies to use at 
any time, both on the job and off the job. County employees are permitted to possess any substance when 
required by their jobs or for the purpose of lawful delivery to another person. 
 
All employees of the County are prohibited from using or possessing alcoholic beverages on County premises or 
time. (The term "County premises or time" includes: County vehicles and private vehicles on County premises; 
parking lots and recreation areas; and any circumstances in which an employee is representing the County, such 
as attending off-premises business meetings or conferences. Employees are not prohibited, however, from having 
unopened containers of alcoholic beverages in their personal vehicles.) The County Administrator may approve 
moderate alcohol use at designated social or business functions. 
 
All employees of the County are prohibited from reporting to or being at work while under the influence of alcohol. 
(An employee is considered to be "under the influence of alcohol" if he has any detectable amount of alcohol in 
his system). An employee taking prescribed medication which might affect their ability to perform their job is 
required to advise their supervisor. The County will determine whether the employee may continue to work. 
Employees may be required to submit to a drug screen. 
 
These prohibitions also apply to leased employees and contractors employed by the County or working on County 
property. 
 
The County reserves the right to test employees it reasonably suspects to be in violation of this policy. Refusal to 
submit to a drug screening test may result in termination of employment. 
 
Applicants for Employment 
 
Applicants tentatively selected for employment must undergo a pre-employment drug test. The County does not 
hire applicants tentatively selected for employment who refuse to submit to a drug test or who test positive for use 
of illegal or unauthorized substances or the illegal use of authorized substances. An applicant who is rejected 
under this policy may not be considered for future vacancies within one year of a failed drug screening, or until 
the applicant can demonstrate that they are no longer a user of any such substances. For example, the applicant 
may successfully complete a drug abuse treatment program and pass a more thorough drug test conducted at 

154

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 70 
 

the applicant's expense. (This may include participation in and successful completion of a rehabilitation program 
as well as a negative drug test result on a more thorough drug test). 
 
Current Employees 
 
All County employees are subject to drug testing by urinalysis where "particularized suspicion" of drug use in 
violation of this policy exists or under other lawful conditions.  
 
Particularized suspicion for drug testing is deemed to exist when: 
 

1. Information that an employee has used drugs or substances in violation of this policy is provided by a 
reliable informant; 

2. An accident occurs. "Accident" is defined as an incident involving a fatality and/or causing personal injury 
and/or involving property damage. Exceptions to this requirement are accidents in which the employee is 
deemed not at fault by law enforcement authorities responding to the accident scene. Department of 
Transportation (DOT) regulated employees (CDL Drivers) are subject to special rules for post-accident 
testing and will be tested following an accident in accordance with DOT regulations. 

3. An employee exhibits extreme mood swings; slurred speech; unusual clumsiness; staggering; dilation of 
pupils; sleeping on the job or lethargy; excessive unexplained sweating; or other aberrational behavior. 

4. Employees are also subject to testing when they have been arrested for or convicted of a violation of drug 
laws; or when an employee has tested positive for drugs or otherwise violated this policy within the past 
five years. 

 
All County employees are subject to alcohol testing where "particularized suspicion" of alcohol use in violation of 
this policy exists. 
 
Particularized suspicion for alcohol testing is deemed to exist when: 
 

1. Information that an employee has used or possessed alcohol in violation of this policy is provided by a 
reliable informant; 

2. An accident occurs. "Accident" is defined as an incident involving a fatality and/or causing personal injury 
and/or involving property damage. Exceptions to this requirement are accidents in which the employee is 
deemed not at fault by law enforcement authorities responding to the accident scene. Department of 
Transportation (DOT) regulated employees (CDL Drivers) are subject to special rules for post-accident 
testing and will be tested following an accident in accordance with DOT regulations. 

3. An employee exhibits behavior consistent with alcohol use such as, but not limited to, erratic behavior 
(mood swings, slurred speech, staggering, bloodshot eyes, sleeping on the job or lethargy, excessive 
unexplained sweating, etc.); the apparent odor of an alcoholic beverage on an employee's breath; or other 
aberrational behavior such as but not limited to excessive absenteeism or tardiness, significant 
deterioration in job performance, repeated errors or rules, violations, etc. 

4. An employee has admitted to violating the County's alcohol policy; 
5. An employee is arrested for or convicted of an alcohol related offense; 
6. An employee has tested positive for alcohol in violation of this policy, or otherwise violated this policy, 

within the past five years. 
 
Particularized suspicion testing is conducted upon the approval of the County Administrator or his designee. 
 
All sworn law enforcement officers, fire suppression personnel, employees who are required by their jobs to 
possess a Commercial Driver's License or employees whose jobs the County regards as "safety-sensitive" are 

155

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 71 
 

subject to random testing to determine compliance with this policy. A list of safety-sensitive positions is available 
in Human Resources. Random selection testing is unannounced. 
 
Employees may be tested for the use of controlled substances as part of any "fitness for duty" physical 
examination mandated by federal/state law or by the County, or as otherwise allowed by law. 
 
Employees who refuse to submit to an alcohol or drug test when ordered to do so or who adulterate or substitute 
test samples are in violation of this policy and subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of 
employment. Refusal to test includes failure to appear for a test, failure to remain until testing is complete, failure 
to provide an adequate amount of urine, saliva or breath, failure to undergo a medical examination to evaluate 
your ability to provide an adequate urine, saliva or breath specimen, or failure to sign a required certification form. 
 
Testing Procedure 
 
Drug Testing: 
 

1. Drug testing will be by urinalysis. 
2. The collection of urine samples is performed under reasonable and sanitary conditions. 
3. Urine is normally collected under conditions of semi-privacy - that is, a person of the same gender will be 

in a position to observe obvious attempts to substitute or adulterate a urine sample. Collection of the urine 
sample may be directly observed by a person of the same gender. However, where the person supervising 
the collection believes an employee has tampered with an earlier urine sample or the employee has 
previously admitted or been proved to have used drugs in violation of this rule. In addition, direct 
observation will be used in DOT-mandated testing for DOT-regulated employees when allowed or required 
by DOT regulations. 

4. Urine samples are sealed, labeled, and documented in accordance with the procedure of the drug testing 
collector or laboratory. Tests performed pursuant to DOT regulations will follow the procedures required 
by those regulations. Labeling, storage, and transportation of samples are performed so as reasonably to 
preclude the probability of erroneous identification, sample contamination, or sample adulteration. 

5. Specimens are checked for at least the following drugs: marijuana, cocaine, opiates, amphetamines, 
phencyclidine and barbiturates. (Note: Tests performed pursuant to DOT regulations check for only those 
substances mandated by the DOT regulations).  

6. Applicants and employees are provided an opportunity to provide any information which they consider 
relevant to the test, including identification of currently used prescription or nonprescription drugs, or other 
relevant information. 

7. Samples which initially result in a positive finding for drug use are re-tested by gas chromatography/mass 
spectrometry (GCMS) or an equivalent method. If the confirmatory test results in a positive finding of drug 
use, and is verified by the Medical Review Officer, the written report of the Medical Review Officer is 
conclusive for all employment-related purposes. 

8. The County's Medical Review Officer normally allows an employee whose drug test results have been 
confirmed as positive the opportunity to justify the result before the Medical Review Officer notifies the 
County. 

9. A positive-dilute result is treated as positive. A negative-dilute result will result in a retest. Absent 
satisfactory explanation, a second negative-dilute result may result in the test being considered 
adulterated. Dilute test results in DOT-mandated tests will be handled according to DOT regulations. 

 
Alcohol Testing: 
 

156

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 72 
 

1. A non-evidential screening device may be utilized to initially determine compliance with this policy. If the 
screening device indicates the presence of alcohol, or if the results of the screening device are deemed 
questionable by the County, then a confirmatory test is conducted utilizing an EBT (evidential breath 
testing) device or blood test. The County uses only DOT approved non-evidential screening devices and 
DOT approved evidential breath testing (EBT) devices for DOT-mandated alcohol testing. The County 
reserves the right to utilize blood testing for non-DOT alcohol tests. 

2. Employees will have an opportunity to provide any information which they consider to be relevant to the 
test. 

3. The EBT confirmatory test is conducted by an individual properly certified to use the equipment. (In 
situations involving DOT regulated employees, the EBT operator should be properly certified in 
accordance with applicable DOT regulations).  

4. A confirmatory test result generated through the use of an EBT or blood test which indicates the presence 
of alcohol in violation of this policy is conclusive for purposes of this policy. 

 
Notice to Employees 
 
The County attempts to distribute to all employees a copy of this policy. Additional copies of this policy are 
available upon request. By continuing to work, the employee agrees to abide by the policy as a condition of 
employment. 
 
Notice to Employer, State and Federal Grantor / Contracting Agencies and Law Enforcement Authorities 
 
As a condition of employment, employees agree to notify the County within five (5) calendar days after any criminal 
conviction for the workplace manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of illegal drugs and 
prescription drugs not prescribed for the individual employee's use. The County will notify all state and federal 
grantors/contracting agencies of such employee convictions within ten days as required by the state and federal 
Drug Free Workplace Acts. "Conviction" means a finding of guilt, imposition of a sentence, a plea of no contest, 
or a plea of guilty. 
 
The County will notify law enforcement authorities whenever illegal drugs are found in the workplace. 
 
Consequences of Violation 
 
Employees who violate this policy are subject to immediate termination of employment. Except for sworn law 
enforcement officers, in lieu of terminating an employee, the County may, in its sole discretion, condition the 
continued or future employment of an employee who tests positive for or admits to the use of illegal drugs, upon 
the successful completion of an alcohol or drug counseling/rehabilitation program. 
 
If the County, after considering all of the relevant circumstances, agrees to allow an employee who is found to be 
in violation of this policy to continue as an employee, the employee's continued employment will be subject to the 
following: 
 

1. Referral of the employee for alcohol or drug abuse counseling; 
2. Retesting the employee for alcohol or controlled substances before allowing the employee to return to 

duty; 
3. Requiring the employee to authorize any rehabilitation facility to report periodically to the County during 

the course of treatment/counseling; 
4. Placing the employee on probation for at least six months following the employee's return to duty; and 

157

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 73 
 

5. Requiring the employee to submit to unannounced follow-up alcohol and/or drug testing for a period of up 
to five years. 

 
An employee whose continued or future employment is conditioned upon the successful completion of a 
counseling or rehabilitation program and who refuses or fails to participate in a single counseling or treatment 
session is in violation of this policy and subject to immediate termination of employment. 
 
An employee whose return to duty test sample does not indicate that the employee has discontinued illegal use 
of drugs or indicates that the employee is in violation of this policy is subject to immediate termination of 
employment. 
 
Self-Reporting of Substance Abuse Problems 
 
Employees, other than sworn law enforcement officers, who have substance abuse problems and report them to 
the County before being selected for testing, and before the occurrence of an event which normally would result 
in testing, in the County's sole discretion may be, upon the first violation, be subject to the provisions outlined in 
the Consequences of Violation above, with the exception of immediate termination of employment. 
 
An employee who admits to a violation of this policy or tests positive for drugs in violation of this policy but seeks 
counseling and remains an employee of the County, is subject to immediate termination of employment if they 
again either admit to, or is otherwise found to be in violation of this policy. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
Any alcohol or drug test results or information supplied by the employee and applicant as part of the County's 
alcohol and drug testing program are kept as confidential as possible, consistent with the purposes of this policy. 
 
5.3 A-3 Beaufort County Computer and Information Systems Acceptable Use Policy 

 
This policy is established to optimize the effective, efficient, and secure utilization of Beaufort County's information 
systems. County Council has entrusted the Information Technology and Communications Division (IT) with the 
responsibility of overseeing the development, deployment, installation, maintenance, service, and security of the 
County's information systems. IT is mandated to establish and communicate approved standards, protocols, 
policies, and procedures to be adhered to by County officials and employees. These measures are put in place 
to prevent security breaches, safeguard the County from potential liabilities, minimize business disruptions, and 
mitigate service failures arising from inappropriate use of computers and other information systems. Under the 
purview of this policy, information systems encompass equipment and software such as computers, tablets, 
phones, servers, hard drives, thumb drives, files, cloud storage, and any other equipment or software utilized for 
the collection, recording, processing, display, and transmission of information. 
All software and hardware purchases must be approved by the Information Technology Department to ensure 
compatibility with County information systems. County employees are not authorized to install hardware or 
software or otherwise make changes to County electronic systems. Installation of hardware and software is to be 
performed by the Information Technology Department. Violation of any part of this policy may result in withdrawal 
of access to information systems and devices, and/or disciplinary action, up to and including termination of 
employment. Employees who have any questions regarding acceptable use of information systems should consult 
with their supervisor or contact the IT Helpdesk at helpdesk@bcgov.net. 
 
Contact Information and Technology Support: 

158

Item 14.

mailto:helpdesk@bcgov.net


 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 74 
 

For all inquiries, technology-related questions, or requests for technology support, including reporting any issues 
or suspicious computing activities, please contact our dedicated support team at helpdesk@bcgov.net. Our Help 
Desk is here to assist you promptly with any technology-related concerns or assistance you may require. Your 
proactive communication with the Help Desk helps ensure the continued efficiency and security of our computing 
environment. 

 
Authorized Access: 
Employees will receive access to the information systems essential for the performance of their specific job 
responsibilities. To obtain access, Department Heads and Elected Officials are responsible for granting 
authorization to the Information Technology department on behalf of their employees. 
Additionally, Department Heads and Elected Officials shall initiate requests for information systems equipment, 
including but not limited to computers, mobile phones, and other necessary devices, for their office's employees. 
Such requests must follow the established budget and county procurement processes. 
 
It is incumbent upon employees to exercise due diligence in the appropriate use, maintenance, and security of all 
systems and devices entrusted to them in accordance with this acceptable use policy. It is imperative to recognize 
that all information systems and devices remain the property of the County and are not considered the personal 
property of individual employees. Access to these systems and devices can be revoked at any time if an employee 
fails to adhere to the guidelines outlined in this policy. 
 
Acceptable Use: 
Improper utilization of Beaufort County Information Systems may expose the County to various risks, including 
the introduction of malicious software, compromise of network systems and services, loss of assets, exposure of 
protected information, and potential legal liabilities. As such, the following activities are strictly prohibited, and 
engaging in these activities may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. 
Please note that this list is not exhaustive: 

• Violating intellectual property rights, including but not limited to, installing, or distributing software 
products without appropriate licensing for use by Beaufort County. 

• Unauthorized use of copyrighted material in cases where Beaufort County or the end user does not 
possess an active license. 

• Accessing user accounts, data, or information systems for any purpose other than official County 
business, even with authorized access. 

• Intentionally introducing malicious programs into the County network or on information systems (e.g., 
worms, viruses, Trojans, etc.). 

• Disclosing one's account password to others or allowing another individual to use one's account. 
• Deliberately causing security breaches or disruptions in network communication. 
• Conducting unauthorized port scanning or security scanning unless expressly permitted. 
• Intercepting data not intended for the employee's host unless such activity is part of the employee's 

regular job. 
• Bypassing user authentication or the security measures of any information system. 
• Implementing honeypots or similar technology designed to lure cyber attackers for the purpose of 

detecting, deflecting, or studying unauthorized access attempts. 
• Using any program, script, command, or sending messages of any kind with the intent to interfere with, 

disable, or deny a user's access to an information system, by any means, locally or otherwise. 
• Altering the operation systems (e.g., jailbreaking) of County-issued devices. 
• Installing unauthorized remote desktop software (e.g., TeamViewer, Chrome Remote Desktop). (Please 

note that certain County employees, such as law enforcement or IT personnel, may engage in the above 
activities as part of their legitimate job duties, but only with authorization from the Department Head or 
Elected Official and the Director of Information Technology Systems.) 

 

159

Item 14.

mailto:helpdesk@bcgov.net


 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 75 
 

Public Accountability and Limited Right to Privacy: 
County employees are granted access to information systems and equipment to fulfill their assigned duties in the 
service of the public. As stewards of resources entrusted to them by the public, employees must exercise careful 
consideration regarding the most appropriate use of these resources. Personal use of County information systems 
should be minimal and should not hinder productivity or disrupt information systems access for others. 
Employees should be aware that they have no expectation of privacy for any information contained on County 
information systems, including communications of a personal nature. The County reserves the right to view or 
monitor all activity conducted on County information systems. All information stored on County information 
systems may be subject to disclosure under the Public Information Act. 
Employees are prohibited from utilizing County information systems for any of the following activities: 

• Using unprofessional, abusive, profane, or offensive language. 
• Expressing personal views on topics such as religion, politics, sexuality, or other unrelated personal 

matters. 
• Using information systems to transmit fraudulent, libelous, or threatening information or engaging in 

activities such as discrimination, harassment, degradation, or bullying of individuals or groups. 
• Using information systems to conduct personal business for financial gain. 
• Using County information systems to campaign for public office. 
• Using information systems to engage in criminal activities, gamble, view, download, or transmit explicit 

content, or participate in any activity that contravenes County policies. 
 
Information Storage and Transmission: 
Information stored on local devices (e.g., hard drives or desktops) is not covered by routine backups and cannot 
be recovered in case of data loss. Therefore, it is essential that all County data and work-related content be stored 
on network drives to prevent data loss, theft, or disruptions to business operations. County data should not be 
saved on personal cloud storage, or any unapproved cloud storage service not explicitly authorized by IT for 
County business use. Departments are not permitted to establish new cloud services without prior approval from 
IT. Please contact the Beaufort County Help Desk at helpdesk@bcgov.net to determine a list of managed and 
approved software and cloud storage locations.  
Sensitive and regulated data, such as Protected Health Information (PHI) and Personally Identifiable Information 
(PII), must be handled with the utmost care and should not be stored on computer hard drives unless the 
information is encrypted in compliance with Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS) 197. Moreover, 
sensitive information should not be shared or transmitted to external parties outside the County network via email, 
fax, instant messaging, text message, or voicemail without appropriate security controls in place. These controls 
include encryption, recipient authentication, and proper designation as confidential or sensitive. 
 
Email Usage: 
County-provided email accounts are the exclusive means for conducting Beaufort County business via email. 
These accounts should not be used for sending or receiving non-business-related emails. The use of third-party 
email services, such as Gmail or Yahoo, including the auto-forwarding of County email to external email services 
for County-related communication, is strictly prohibited. 
Employees should incorporate a Privacy or Confidentiality Statement in any email that may contain confidential, 
regulated, or sensitive information. Emails containing such information, such as PHI or PII, should not be 
transmitted outside the organization without the implementation of appropriate security measures, as detailed in 
the section above. 
Given the sensitivity of email communications, a new County email address will be assigned to employees when 
they transition to new positions outside their current departments. Please note that these email addresses are 
County property and are associated with the respective positions. Emails sent or received by users while 
conducting County business are considered Beaufort County records, and therefore, they are subject to records 
retention, open records, and security requirements. 

160

Item 14.

mailto:helpdesk@bcgov.net


 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 76 
 

 
Protection of County Issued Devices: 
County information systems devices and equipment are the property of the County and remain distinct from the 
user they are assigned to. Users are accountable for the safety and security of all equipment entrusted to them. 
In cases of device loss, theft, or damage, an assessment of the circumstances may be conducted by Risk 
Management, Human Resources, IT, and the relevant department head or elected official. Employees are 
encouraged to follow these fundamental best practices to ensure the protection of all County devices, including 
mobile devices: 

• Avoid exposure to liquids and corrosive substances and store devices in stable and secure locations. 
• Keep devices out of reach of children and pets and do not permit unauthorized use. 
• Record the device's make and serial number, which may be necessary for filing a police report in the event 

of loss or theft. 
• Keep mobile devices in personal possession whenever possible or store them in secure locations. 
• If devices must be left in a vehicle, ensure they are locked in a trunk, glove box, or concealed from view. 
• When passing a device through airport or security screening, maintain vigilant oversight during the 

process, and remember to retrieve the device afterward. 
• Store all data, particularly sensitive information, on County network drives rather than the device's hard 

drive. 
• Secure access to all County devices with passwords, dual authentication, Face or Touch ID, etc., and 

refrain from disabling or attempting to bypass these security, or antivirus protection measures. 
 
Mobile Device Management (MDM): 
All County-owned mobile devices will have Mobile Device Management (MDM) software installed to uphold 
compliance and manage access to County information effectively. Beaufort County's Information Technology 
Department will oversee the inventory, review, and management of all County-provided mobile devices. In the 
event of a lost, stolen, or damaged device, employees should promptly notify their supervisor and the IT 
Department. This notification should be accompanied by the filing of a Risk Management Incident Report. 
Additionally, for any lost or stolen County device, a police report must be filed. 
When requesting a replacement County cell phone (whether due to damage or an upgrade), the currently 
assigned County cell phone must be returned to IT before the new one is provided. It is crucial to recognize that 
County cell phones and their associated phone numbers are County property and are designated for official 
County use only. Consequently, County cell phones and phone numbers cannot be transferred when an employee 
leaves the County, changes departments, or transitions to a position where a cell phone is no longer required. 
Instead, County cell phones (along with accessories like power cords) should be returned to IT. The device will 
be wiped and reassigned to another County employee if appropriate. 
Employees will be held responsible for the replacement cost of any lost, stolen, or damaged hardware. 

 
Passwords and User Accounts: 
Unauthorized access to County information systems or the facilitation of unauthorized access by others is strictly 
prohibited. Any attempt to tamper with systems for unauthorized access is also prohibited. 
Password requirements will be established and communicated by the IT department. These requirements will be 
made accessible to all employees, including new hires during their orientation. All employees are obligated to 
adhere to these password complexity requirements, which include the use of strong passwords, especially in 
cases where the system does not enforce password requirements. Compliance includes changing passwords 
within the stipulated timeframe and refraining from sharing passwords with anyone, including system 
administrators. Employees are prohibited from using their Beaufort County user id and password combination at 
non-Beaufort County sites.  
Employees possessing local administrative privileges on County devices should be mindful of the inherent 
responsibilities and elevated risks associated with such privileges. These risks encompass potential data loss, 

161

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 77 
 

the need to adhere to copyright laws, and an increased vulnerability to compromise. The granting of local 
administrative rights should be approached with caution. 
IT will periodically review accounts that have been inactive for 21 days and may consider disabling them. Accounts 
that remain inactive for 90 days will be disabled by IT. Additionally, when using an account, if a session is idle for 
more than 15 minutes due to inactivity, users will be prompted to re-authenticate. 
 
Restrictions and Limitations on County Information Systems Usage: 
To maintain the proper use of County information systems, employees should be aware of the following 
constraints and regulations: 
• Bring Your Own Device (BYOD): 

 Personal Owned Devices (PODs) such as personal computers, smartphones, tablets, or USB 
drives are not permitted on the County network unless expressly approved by the IT Department, 
Department Director, and ACA.  

• Personal Mobile Device Use: 
 County employees may request permission to use their personal mobile devices (e.g., mobile 

phones) to access the County's primary wireless network, County email, or interact with County 
equipment. 

 To ensure compliance with access to County information systems, Mobile Device Management 
(MDM) software will be installed on the device. Compliance with software requirements specified 
by the IT Department is mandatory for access. 

 MDM software allows the IT Department to remove County information from a personal mobile 
device, when necessary, without affecting the employee's personal data and applications. 

Lost or Stolen Mobile Devices: 
• In the event of a lost or stolen personally owned mobile device, employees must promptly notify their 

supervisor and the Information Technology service desk to safeguard County information systems. 
Separation of Employment: 
• Upon separation from County employment, all County data will be remotely removed from the mobile 

device. Personal data and applications on the device will remain unaffected. 
      Access to County Guest Wireless Network: 

• Personal Owned Devices can access the County guest wireless network, which is subject to monitoring 
and inspection. 

• Unauthorized activities, data breaches, viruses, or threats to County security may result in denial of access 
to the guest network. 

• Connecting devices like iPads, tablets, mobile phones, or cameras to the County network infrastructure 
without proper approval is strictly prohibited, as these devices can introduce unnecessary risks to County 
systems and data. 

Internet of Things (IoT) Devices: 
• Use of IoT devices (e.g., Google Nest, Alexa devices) on the County network requires prior approval from 

IT. 
Removable Media: 
• Personally owned removable media devices, including thumb drives, SD cards, cameras, mobile phones, 

PDAs, and removable hard drives, are not allowed on the County network unless explicitly approved by 
County IT. 

• These devices must comply with County security policies. Any unapproved, non-compliant, or potentially 
threatening devices will be barred from connecting to County devices or the network. 

County Virtual Private Network (VPN): 
• County VPN services are exclusively intended for use on County devices and are not to be used on 

personal or non-County devices. 
• Access to County VPN will be exclusively granted by the Beaufort County Information Technology Systems 

Department.  

162

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 78 
 

• The IT Department will annually specify a certified training course that employees and officials are required 
to complete by a designated deadline. 

• Non-compliance with the training requirement may result in denial of access to County information systems 
and potential disciplinary action, including termination. 

• Employees seeking clarification regarding the training should contact their supervisor or the Information 
Technology Help Desk. 

 
Multi-factor Authentication (MFA): 
When attempting to access county resources such as email, network services, and storage from locations that 
are not under the direct management of the county, the implementation of Multi-factor Authentication (MFA) is a 
critical security measure. MFA adds an extra layer of protection by requiring users to provide multiple forms of 
verification, typically something they know (e.g., a password) and something they have (e.g., a smartphone app 
or a security token), to authenticate their identity. This robust authentication process significantly enhances the 
security of county data and systems, particularly when users are accessing them from remote or non-traditional 
settings. 

 
Separation from Employment: 
Upon termination of employment with the County, regardless of the reason, an employee's access to County 
information systems will be immediately revoked. It is mandatory for departing employees to return all County-
issued information system devices, which may include cell phones, tablets, laptops, desktops, flash drives, and 
similar equipment, on or before their last day of employment. 
In instances where an employee is unable to return County devices on their final day of employment, they may 
be granted a grace period of up to two business days to facilitate the return of the devices. During this transitional 
period, the departing employee assumes responsibility for the secure handling and safekeeping of these County 
assets. 
Failure to return County equipment within the stipulated timeframe may result in the employee being charged for 
the cost of the unreturned equipment. The County will employ any necessary measures to ensure the prompt 
return of the devices and safeguard the security of any County information contained therein. 
 
5.4 A-4 Email Retention Policy 

 
Purpose 
 
The Email Retention Policy is intended to help employees determine what information sent or received by email 
should be retained and for how long. 
 
The information covered in these guidelines includes, but is not limited to, information that is either stored or 
shared via electronic mail or instant messaging technologies. 
 
All employees should familiarize themselves with the email retention topic areas that follow this introduction. 
 
Questions about the proper classification of a specific piece of information should be addressed to your manager. 
Questions about these guidelines should be addressed to the IT department. 
 
Scope 
 
This email retention policy is secondary to State and Federal policy on Freedom of Information and County 
Procedures for Record Keeping. All BEAUFORT COUNTY email information is categorized into two main 
classifications with retention guidelines: 

163

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 79 
 

 
• Public Records (5 years) 
• Ephemeral Correspondence (Retain until read, destroy) 

 
All state and local government records, regardless of their format, must be kept for as long as needed for legal, 
fiscal, administrative, and historical reference needs. As with paper records, the retention value of electronic 
records depends upon their content, not their format. The legal retention and disposition of all state and local 
government records, including those in electronic formats, is managed through the establishment of record 
retention schedules prepared and approved in accordance with the South Carolina Public Records Act (Code of 
Laws of South Carolina, 1976, Section 30-1-10 through 30- 1-140, as amended). 
 
Most retention schedules vary between 3 or 5 years depending on classification. In order to simplify the archiving 
of email categorized as a public record, a default retention period of 5 years will be used. 
 
Policy 
 
One official copy of all email used in or relating to the transaction of government business is a public record and, 
just like all public records, must be retained and disposed of in accordance with properly approved record retention 
schedules. While Beaufort County IT will provide applicable technology to facilitate the identification, 
categorization, and archival retention of electronic documents, it is still the end users responsibility to categorize 
these documents properly. 
 
Public Records Correspondence 
 
Beaufort County Public Records Correspondence is all information encompassed but not limited to the South 
Carolina Public Records Act disseminated in the course of official County business. To ensure Public Records 
Correspondence is retained, you should "CC" relevant email to archive@bcgov.net. This will automatically 
classify the email as a public record with a 5-year retention period. 
 
Although identification of email records relating to the activities of public organizations will always be subjective, 
certain categories of records will typically be important to identify and manage. 
 
These include: 
 

• Policies and directives 
• Work schedules and assignments 
• Drafts of documents circulated for approval or comment 
• Any document that initiates, authorizes, or completes a business transaction. 
• Final reports or recommendations 
• Correspondence, memos, or messages about agency or local government business. 

 
Ephemeral Correspondence 
 
Beaufort County Ephemeral Correspondence is by far the largest category and includes: 
 

• Incoming list serve messages 
• Personal emails unrelated to County business 
• Spam or unsolicited advertisements or sales promotions 

164

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 80 
 

• Non-policy announcements 
• Telephone messages 
• Published reference materials 
• Invitations and responses to meetings, etc. 
• Thank you emails 
• Replies to routine questions, "we're open 8 - 5", "our address is.", "the deadline is." 
• Scheduling meetings 
• Out of Office auto-replies 
• Attachments to email that are identical to records that are stored and managed outside the email system 

pursuant to approved record retentions schedules 
 
These will be retained for no more than 90 days and may be deleted from your email at any time. 
 
Instant Messenger Correspondence 
 
Beaufort County Instant Messenger General Correspondence may be saved with logging function of Instant 
Messenger, or copied into a file and saved. Instant Messenger conversations that are deemed a public record 
should be copied to an email and sent to archive@bcgov.net. 
 
Recovering Deleted Email Via Backup Media 
 
Beaufort County maintains backup records from the email server. These records will only cover the prior 30 days; 
however, all email is retained on a separate archive for a minimum of 90 days. 
 
REFERENCES 
 

• General Records Retention Schedules for SC Counties 
• SC Public Records and Freedom of Information Act 
• SC Department of Archives Email Management Guidelines 

 
5.5 A-5 Family Medical Leave Act 

 
FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT OF 1993 
 
Employee Rights and Responsibilities under the Family and Medical Leave Act 
 
Basic Leave Entitlement 
 
FMLA requires covered employers to provide up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to eligible employees 
for the following reasons: 
 

• For incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care or childbirth; 
• To care for the employee's child after birth, or placement for adoption or foster care; 
• To care for the employee's spouse, son, daughter or parent, who has a serious health condition; or 
• For a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee's job. 

 
Military Family Leave Entitlements 

165

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 81 
 

 
Eligible employees whose spouse, son, daughter or parent is on covered active duty or call to covered active duty 
status may use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain qualifying exigencies. Qualifying exigencies 
may include attending certain military events, arranging for alternative childcare, addressing certain financial and 
legal arrangements, attending certain counseling sessions, and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings. 
FMLA also includes a special leave entitlement that permits eligible employees to take up to 26 weeks of leave to 
care for a covered service member during single 12-month period. A covered service member is a current member 
of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who has a serious injury or illness 
incurred in the line of duty on active duty that may render the service member medically unfit to perform his or her 
duties for which the service member is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy; or is in outpatient 
status, or is on the temporary disability retired list. 
 
Benefits and Protections 
 
During FMLA leave, the employer must maintain the employee's health coverage under any "group health plan" 
on the same terms as if the employee had continued to work.  
 
Upon return from FMLA leave, most employees must be restored to their original or equivalent positions with 
equivalent pay, benefits, and other employment terms. Use of FMLA leave cannot result in the loss of any 
employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of an employee's leave.  
 
Eligibility Requirements 
 
Employees are eligible if they have worked for a covered employer for at least one year, for 1,250 hours over the 
previous 12 months, and if at least 50 employees are employed by the employer within 75 miles. 
 
Definition of Serious Health Condition 
 
A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an 
overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either 
prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee's job, or prevents the qualified family 
member from participating in school or other daily activities. Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment 
requirement may be met by a period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive calendar days combined with at 
least two visits to a health care provider or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to 
pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition. Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing 
treatment. 
 
Use of Leave 
 
An employee does not need to use this leave entitlement in one block. Leave can be taken intermittently or on a 
reduced leave schedule when medically necessary. Employees must make reasonable efforts to schedule leave 
for planned medical treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. Leave due to qualifying 
exigencies may also be taken on an intermittent basis. 
 
Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave 
 
Employees may choose or employers may require use of accrued paid leave while taking FMLA leave. In order 
to use paid leave for FMLA leave, employees must comply with the employer's normal paid leave policies. 
 

166

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 82 
 

Employee Responsibilities 
 
Employees must provide 30 days advance notice of the need to take FMLA leave when the need is foreseeable. 
When 30 days’ notice is not possible, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable and generally 
must comply with an employer's normal call- in procedures. Employees must provide sufficient information for the 
employer to determine if the leave may qualify for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the 
leave. Sufficient information may include that the employee is unable to perform job functions, the family member 
is unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, 
or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave. Employees also must inform the employer if the 
requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously taken or certified. Employees also may be 
required to provide a certification and periodic recertification supporting the need for leave. 
 
Employer Responsibilities 
 
Covered employers must inform employees requesting leave whether they are eligible under FMLA. If they are, 
the notice must specify any additional information required as well as the employees' rights and responsibilities. 
If they are not eligible, the employer must provide a reason for the ineligibility. Covered employers must inform 
employees if leave will be designated as FMLA-protected and the amount of leave counted against the employee's 
leave entitlement. If the employer determines that the leave is not FMLA- protected, the employer must notify the 
employee.  
 
Unlawful Acts by Employers 
 
FMLA makes it unlawful for any employer to: 
 

• interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under FMLA; 
• discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by FMLA or for 

involvement in any proceeding under or relating to FMLA. 
 
Enforcement 
 
An employee may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor or may bring a private lawsuit against an 
employer. FMLA does not affect any Federal or State law prohibiting discrimination, or supersede any State or 
local law or collective bargaining agreement which provides greater family or medical leave rights. 
 
* Please refer to the Family Medical Leave Act section of this handbook for County-specific 
requirements for FMLA. 
 
5.6 A-6 Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) 

 
Throughout a career, workers will face multiple life events, job changes or even job losses. A law enacted in 1986 
helps workers and their families keep their group health coverage during times of voluntary or involuntary job loss, 
reduction in the hours worked, transition between jobs and in certain other cases. The law - the Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) - gives workers who lose their health benefits the right to choose 
to continue group health benefits provided by the plan under certain circumstances. 
 

167

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 83 
 

COBRA generally requires that group health plans sponsored by employers with 20 or more employees in the 
prior year offer employees and their families the opportunity for a temporary extension of health coverage (called 
continuation coverage) in certain instances where coverage under the plan would otherwise end. 
 
The law generally covers group health plans maintained by employers with 20 or more employees in the prior 
year. It applies to plans in the private sector and those sponsored by state and local governments. Provisions of 
COBRA covering state and local government plans are administered by the Department of Health and Human 
Services. 
 
Several events that can cause workers and their family members to lose group health coverage may result in the 
right to COBRA coverage. These include: 
 

• Voluntary or involuntary termination of the covered employee's employment for reasons other than "gross 
misconduct"; 

• Reduced hours of work for the covered employee; 
• Covered employee becoming entitled to Medicare; 
• Divorce or legal separation of a covered employee; 
• Death of a covered employee; or 
• Loss of status as a "dependent child" under plan rules. 

 
Under COBRA, the employee or family member may qualify to keep their group health plan benefits for a set 
period of time, depending on the reason for losing the health coverage. The following represents some basic 
information on periods of continuation coverage: 
 
Qualified Beneficiary Qualifying Event Period of Coverage 
Employee  
Spouse 
Dependent Child 

Termination 
Reduced Hours  

18 months* 

Spouse  
Dependent Child 

Employee entitled to Medicare 
Divorce of legal separation 
Death of covered employee 

36 months 
 

Dependent Child Loss of dependent child status  36 months 
 
 
*This 18-month period may be extended for all qualified beneficiaries if certain conditions are met in cases 
where a qualified beneficiary is determined to be disabled for purposes of COBRA. 
 
However, COBRA also provides that your continuation coverage may be cut short in certain cases. 
 
Notification Requirements: 
 
An initial notice must be furnished to covered employees and spouses, at the time coverage under the plan 
commences, informing them of their rights under COBRA and describing provisions of the law. COBRA 
information also is required to be contained in the plan's summary plan description (SPD). See fact sheet 
"Workers' Right to Health Plan Information (ERISA, Claims Procedures and SPD Regulation)" 
 
When the plan administrator is notified that a qualifying event has happened, it must in turn notify each qualified 
beneficiary of the right to choose continuation coverage. COBRA allows at least 60 days from the date the election 

168

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 84 
 

notice is provided to inform the plan administrator that the qualified beneficiary wants to elect continuation 
coverage.  
 
Under COBRA, the covered employee or a family member has the responsibility to inform the plan administrator 
of a divorce, legal separation, disability or a child losing dependent status under the 
plan. 
 
Employers have a responsibility to notify the plan administrator of the employee's death, termination of 
employment or reduction in hours, or Medicare entitlement. 
 
If covered individuals change their marital status, or their spouses have changed addresses, they should notify 
the plan administrator. 
 
Premium Payments: 
 
Qualified beneficiaries may be required to pay the entire premium for coverage up to 102% of the cost to the plan. 
Premiums may be higher for persons exercising the disability provisions of COBRA. Failure to make timely 
payments may result in loss of coverage. 
 
Premiums may be increased by the plan; however, premiums generally must be set in advance of each 12-month 
premium cycle. 
 
Individuals subject to COBRA coverage may be responsible for paying all costs related to deductibles, and may 
be subject to catastrophic and other benefit limits. 
 
5.7 A-7 Worker’s Compensation Policy 

 
A. General Policy 
  
  Title  42,  of  the  South  Carolina  Code  of  Laws  contains  the  South  Carolina  Workers' Compensation 
Act.  The Rules and Regulations of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission provide the basic 
legal foundation for administration of the Act.  Beaufort County maintains Workers' Compensation Insurance 
to provide medical benefits and/or compensation (indemnity) benefits for employees who sustain an injury 
or death by accident, occupational disease or ionizing radiation, arising out of and in the course of his or her 
employment subject to, and in accordance with, the terms and provisions of the South Carolina Workers' 
Compensation Act.   As it relates to the payment of medical and compensation under the South Carolina 
Workers'  Compensation  Act,  the  following  provides  a  summary  of  benefits  that  may  be available; 
however, the payment of Workers' Compensation benefits shall be in accordance with, and subject to, Title 42 
of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976, as amended). 

  
B. Medical Treatment and Compensation 
  
Workers' Compensation Insurance provides medical and compensation benefits.  However, in accordance 
with the South Carolina Code of Laws 42-15-60 and 42-15-80, failure to use the services of Beaufort 
County's appointed physicians or changing physicians without prior approval of the South Carolina State 
Workers' Compensation Commission, may result in denial of payment for such unauthorized medical expenses. 

  
1. Medical Treatment: An employee who sustains an injury by accident arising out of and in the 

course of his employment is entitled to all necessary medical, surgical, and hospital attention, as well 
as original artificial members and medical supplies.  Medical treatment will continue until the 

169

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 85 
 

authorized treating physician determines that the employee has obtained Maximum Medical 
Improvement (MMI) and such further treatment as may tend to lessen disability in the judgment of the 
Workers' Compensation Commission. 

  
2.   Compensation:  An employee who sustains an injury by accident arising out of and in the course 

of employment, which causes him/her to be absent from work for 7 calendar days or less, is not 
entitled to temporary disability compensation. Temporary disability compensation will begin on 
the eighth day   of disability; however, if the disability lasts longer than fourteen calendar 
days, the employee will also be compensated for the first seven days. Temporary disability 
compensation will be terminated, suspended, or reduced in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. The injured employee is entitled to 
compensation at the rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of his/her average weekly 
wage subject to the statutory maximum compensation rate.   Permanent disability compensation may 
also be payable for certain injuries in accordance with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation 
Act. 

  
 For days not worked, when the employee is entitled to temporary disability compensation, Personal Leave 

(PLT), Disability Leave (DL), or Salary Continuation Account (SCA) may be used until the earned l e a v e  
t ime i s  exhausted. The employee's timekeeper and the Workers' Compensation Claims Administrator 
should coordinate leave-time reporting. Those hours will be reinstated at sixty-six and two-thirds percent 
(66-2/3%) or less if the employee qualifies for the maximum compensation rate for Workers' Compensation, 
if the insurance carrier reimburses the County. 

  
 Also, employees receiving temporary disability compensation under the South Carolina Workers' 

Compensation Act may elect to voluntarily utilize accrued Personal Leave (PLT), Disability Leave or Salary 
Continuation Accounts (SCA) in conjunction with receiving temporary disability compensation under the 
South Carolina Workers'   Compensation   Act, not   to   exceed   normal   bi-weekly paychecks. During 
this time employees will not accrue PLT. Nor will employees receive reimbursement for leave time taken 
except which is applicable within the law.  In addition, required deductions and any voluntary deductions 
will be deducted from the paycheck. Required deductions consist of: Federal, State, Social Security (FICA), 
Medicare, and court-ordered child support payments. 

  
In addition, the employee is entitled to mileage reimbursement if the mileage to and from the facility    
exceeds ten (10) miles round trip.   

   
  

a. Health Benefits Payments:  While receiving Workers’ Compensation payments, the employee is 
responsible for paying health insurance benefits premiums, out of pocket. 

  
b. Light-Duty (Transitional) Work:  An employee on Workers’ Compensation must accept reasonable 

transitional work when it is offered to him/her, provided the employee is able to do the work offered.  
If the employee does not accept such work, all compensation payments may be denied for the 
hours he/she refuses to do the transitional work.  If the transitional work is at a lower wage, the 
employee is entitled to compensation at the rate of sixty-six and two thirds’ percent (66-2/3%) of 
the difference between the employee’s pre-injury average weekly wage and the post injury weekly 
wage subject to the statutory maximum compensation rate. 

  
C. Procedure to Follow When an Injury Occurs 

  
When an employee receives an injury arising out and in the course of employment, the employee should 
immediately inform his/her immediate Supervisor and the Supervisor must contact Beaufort County’s Risk 
Management Department.  Failure by the employee to give prompt notice of the injury by accident within the 
statutorily prescribed period can result in denial of claims for Workers’ Compensation benefits and can also cause 

170

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 86 
 

a penalty to the County and/or its Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator. 

When the Workers’ Compensation Authorization Form is not sent to the medical provider, the injured employee 
will be given a copy of the Form and sent to the County’s appointed physician (s).  The physician’s office should 
be notified that the injured employee is on the way. 

  
Exceptions: In an emergency, when an employee is out of the area, or when the appointed physicians 
are not available, the employee may use the nearest physician or the emergency room at a hospital.  
Beaufort County’s Risk Management Department is to be notified when this occurs.  In the Beaufort 
area, when an employee is seen in the emergency room or by another physician, the employee is to be 
referred to the Beaufort County Workers’ Compensation authorized physician for follow-up treatment. 
 
If the employee goes to a hospital emergency room for treatment that employee must submit all of their 
hospital paperwork to Risk Management and their Supervisor as soon as possible. 
  
In non-emergency situations, a physician other than the appointed physician(s) may see employees with 
approval from the designated Workers’ Compensation physician(s) and the County’s Workers’ 
Compensation Claims Administrator. 

  
1. Upon notification of the alleged injury, a First Report of Injury (12A), Medical Release Form, 

and Authorization Form must be completed and sent to the Risk Management Office for 
submission to the Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator.   

 
Injuries need to be reported immediately.  Failure to report an injury may result in a delay in 
processing benefits and possible denial of a claim by the Workers’ Compensation Commission.  
The County’s Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator must receive this report from Risk 
Management within three days after the accident or the Workers’ Compensation Commission 
may fine the County. The Insurance Claims Administrator must receive the First Report of Injury, 
if there is lost time, prior to any bills being paid. 
 

2. The Department Director or Supervisor, along with Beaufort County’s Risk Management 
Department investigates the accident immediately.  Afterwards, the Department Director or 
Supervisor completes the Accident Investigation Form. 

 
  

  
3.  If the employee is incapacitated and absent from work, the employee should submit a written 

statement from the County’s appointed physician, as soon as possible.  This statement should 
give the name of the employee being treated, the diagnosis, expected length of disability and 
expected date the employee can return to his normal work or return to transitional work.  
Without this written notification from the physician, the employee may not be 
considered absent due to a Workers’ Compensation injury and all medical bills may be 
submitted to the employee for payment.  Without this written notification, the Workers’ 
Compensation Claims Administrator may not pay the employee temporary disability 
compensation for lost time due to the injury or reimburse the County for compensation paid 
the employee during his/her absence. 
  

4. If there is lost time and the employee has submitted the physician’s written notification, the 
Department Director will, upon the return of the employee to normal work or transitional work, 
submit to Human Resources a Personnel Action Form showing date of return.  
  

171

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 87 
 

5. The authorized treating physician may assign an impairment rating for an injury by accident, 
arising out of and in the course of employment.  After the authorized physician assigns an 
impairment rating, the employee will be invited to participate in an informal conference before 
the Workers’ Compensation Commission to consider settlement of the employee’s entitlement 
to further compensation.  At this time the employee is encouraged to express his/her opinion 
about his/her condition and the impairment rating given by the physician.  Following payment 
of further compensation awarded at an informal conference, the employee will have one year 
to file a claim for additional benefits based on a change of condition in accordance with §42-
17-90 of the South Carolina Code (1976, as amended). 

  
6. When mileage to and from the medical facility exceeds ten (10) miles round trip, the employee 

is entitled to mileage reimbursement at a rate set by the Workers’ Compensation Commission 
and should submit to Risk Management a completed Mileage Reimbursement Form. 

  
7.  In case of death, the Department Director will notify Beaufort County’s Risk Management 

Department and the Human Resources Office immediately.  OSHA needs to be notified 
immediately.  Submit the First Report of Injury as soon as possible.  Funeral expenses, not 
to exceed two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00), and death compensation benefits will 
be paid to the deceased employee’s dependents or other beneficiaries as determined at a 
hearing before the Workers’ Compensation Commission. 

  
8. Compensation for Seven Days or Less of Lost Time:  When an employee is incapacitated 

and absent from work by written notification of the County’s appointed physician, for seven 
days or less, the employee will be charged Personal Leave for days not worked.  If the 
employee has no accrued leave days, he/she will be Leave Without Pay from their job.  
Employees do not receive Workers’ Compensation benefits for the first seven days of lost 
time. 

  
9.   The Department must submit information (either NovaTime or Payroll) as soon as possible to 

Risk Management showing the date of return and days away from work. 
  
10. Beaufort County employees’ health insurance cannot be used to pay a Workers’ 

Compensation medical claim, unless this claim was refused by Workers’ Compensation, 
and this refusal must be supported with written documentation. 

  
D.  Third Party Claims 

  
If the employee files a claim or lawsuit against a third party, in connection with an injury by 
accident arising out of and in the course of employment for which Workers’ Compensation 
benefits are claimed or paid, the employee or his/her attorney should complete Form SF 110 
and return it to Risk Management for submission to our Claims Administrator and make all 
notice filings with the County’s Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator and the Workers’ 
Compensation Commission as required by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act. 

  
1. The employee or his/her attorney can negotiate and settle his claim with the third party and not 

involve Beaufort County or the Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator. 
  

a. In this case, neither the County nor the Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator will 
pay any compensation or medical benefits under the Workers’ Compensation Act. 

  
2. The employee can accept Workers’ Compensation benefits and reserve the right to pursue 

action against the third party.  The County and its Workers’ Compensation Claims 
Administrator will maintain a lien equal to the amount of Workers’ Compensation benefits paid 

172

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 88 
 

in connection with the injury by accident less its share of attorney fees and costs subject to 
the terms and provisions of §42-1-560 of the South Carolina Code (1976, as amended).  No 
settlement of the third-party claim should be made without notice to, and the consent of, 
Beaufort County’s Workers’ Compensation Claims Administrator. 

  
3. The employee can accept the Workers’ Compensation benefits and assign his/her 

rights towards any action against the third party to the Workers’ Compensation Claims   
Administrator who would be responsible for action against the third party to recover the losses 
that have occurred, in accordance with §42-1-560 of the South Carolina Code (1976, as 
amended). 

  
The employee should notify the Risk Management Department of his/her attorney’s name and address if he/she 
is filing a third-party claim. 

  
 
5.8 A-8 Employee Emergency Leave Transfer Bank (EELTB) 

 
Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide for a program that allows County employees to donate a specified number 
of accrued leave time hours to an emergency leave bank. County employees who have experienced a personal 
or immediate family medical or other hardship emergency situation may share in this bank. The emergency must 
necessitate the employee's absence for a prolonged period of time and be anticipated to result in a substantial 
loss of income due to the unavailability of any paid leave time. 
 
Creation of Leave Bank 
 
The transfer of leave to the bank by the employee occurs on an annual basis. Beaufort County employees may 
donate from their accrued personal leave time or sick leave account. The annual minimum for the transfer of 
donated leave time is eight (8) hours. This donation of time is strictly voluntary. 
 
Definitions 
 

• Leave Donor - A Beaufort County employee who has voluntarily, in writing, authorized a transfer of eight 
(8) or more hours of personal leave or sick leave time to the EELTB. 

• Leave Recipient - A Beaufort County employee who has experienced a personal or immediate family 
medical or hardship emergency situation and has been approved to receive additional paid leave time 
from the emergency leave transfer bank.  

• Personal Emergency - An emergency situation that requires an employee's absence from duty for a 
prolonged period of time and that is anticipated to result in a substantial loss of personal income due to 
the unavailability of any form of paid leave. A catastrophic and debilitating personal or immediate family 
medical situation, severely complicated disability, severe accident or an illness of a terminal nature - any 
of which requires a sustained recuperative medical period. 

• Immediate Family Member - A spouse or minor child for whom the employee has the legal custody and 
care. 

 
Employee Eligibility for EELTB 
 

173

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 89 
 

1. Must be an employee of Beaufort County with twelve (12) continuous months of service and have a 
minimum of 40 hours paid leave time or sick leave on December 31 of each year, and donate a minimum 
of eight (8) hours or more of personal leave time or sick leave during the annually designated donation 
period for the following calendar year.  

2. County employees eligible for other paid benefits during their extended absence from work are ineligible 
to receive donated leave time from the EELTB unless they sign a waiver attesting to the fact that they will 
not file for other benefits while receiving EELTB benefits. Examples of other paid benefits may include, but 
are not limited to, paid leave, Workers' Compensation, short and long-term disability, and disability 
retirement benefits. 

3. Employees actively receiving leave donations from the EELTB may have their eligibility requirements 
waived until such time as they have been returned to work with Beaufort County. Once the employee has 
accrued sufficient leave time equal to the hours necessary for continued plan eligibility, then the 
employee's leave may be drafted and he/she will have satisfied the conditions for the current eligibility 
year. 

4. Unused portions of donated leave time to an EELTB recipient cannot be used to satisfy annual eligibility 
requirements. 

5. All paid personal leave, sick leave, disability leave, and/or compensatory time must be utilized before an 
eligible employee receives leave from the transfer bank.  

6. The maximum annual amount of transferred leave time an employee may withdraw from the EELTB is a 
total of 240 hours. 

7. Leave time received from the transfer bank is granted in increments of two (2) weeks at a time and the 
employee should provide a physician's statement before leave bank time is authorized. The County limits 
the total hours received by an employee for the duration of employment to 480 hours. Any unused donation 
not utilized by an employee is credited back to the EELTB. 

8. Donated leave time, duly authorized to be transferred to the EELTB, is not restored or returned to the 
donor. 

9. When the County employs family members, two or more members of the same family may not 
simultaneously benefit from the leave bank for the same emergency or hardship. 

10. An employee receiving donated leave time from the EELTB does not accrue leave. 
11. All requests for receiving emergency leave time must be reviewed by the Human Resources Director and 

approved by the County Administrator. 
12. An employee receiving benefits in accordance with this policy does not acquire any rights - including job 

restoration- greater than those to which he/she is entitled under the Family and Medical Leave Act or any 
County policy. 

 
Documentation 
 
The following forms can be obtained from Human Resources and completed documents must be submitted to 
Human Resources to be considered for EELTB hours: 
 

1. EELTB Donation Request Form 
2. EELTB Physician's Statement (to be completed by an attending physician) 
3. "Other Benefits" waiver if applicable 

 
Incomplete paperwork will not be considered. 
 
If hours are exhausted in the Leave Bank, no further requests will be considered until the bank is replenished 
during the annual donation period (or special donation period if approved by County Administration). 
 

174

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 90 
 

5.9 A-9 County Emergency Disaster Policy 
 
This policy is to provide guidance to the employees of Beaufort County regarding responsibilities, expectations 
and pay policies during declared emergencies / disasters. Beaufort County is mandated to provide services to the 
citizens of the county during emergencies and disaster situations in accordance with Section 25-1-420, South 
Carolina Code of Laws. An emergency, as defined by the Code, shall mean "actual or threatened enemy attack, 
sabotage, conflagration, flood, storm, epidemic, earthquake, riot, or other public calamity." 
 
The following is provided as a general description of activation levels and emergency related activities: 
 
Normal Operations 
 

• Day-to-Day operations to include normal training and exercises. 
• Review of the department' s hurricane plan and make any necessary improvements. 
• Routine watch and warning activities. 

 
Enhanced Steady State / Partial Activation 
 

• Certain EOT members / organizations are activated to monitor a credible threat, risk or hazard and/or to 
support the response to a new and potentially evolving incident. 

• At this time, certain employees may be placed on "standby" status and will be expected to be ready to 
report to work in accordance with the dictated response time requirements. 

• Possibility of an emergency that may require a limited or partial activation. 
• Disaster or emergency likely or imminent. 
• Activation of the Emergency Operation Plan or appropriate plan for the specific hazard if deemed 

necessary. 
 
Full Activation 
 

• Employees should report to their designated duty station and come prepared to stay for an extended 
period of time (i.e, more than one day) at the appointed worksite if necessary. 

• Emergency Operation Center is activated, including personnel from all assisting agencies, to support the 
response to a major incident or credible threat. 

• Disaster or emergency in effect and/or occurring emergency operations are underway 
• Evacuations may or may not be in progress 
• Maximum preparedness level with the highest State of Emergency Operations 

 
The following County procedure follows the general guidelines provided. 
 
Procedure: 
 
Responsibility 
 
Administration 
 

• The Chairman of Beaufort County Council may activate the Beaufort County Emergency Operations 
Plan/ Disaster Recovery Plan as necessitated by an actual or imminent disaster or incident. 

 
• Under the direction of the Beaufort County Emergency Policy Group, consisting of the Chairman of 

175

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 91 
 

County Council, the County Administrator, and the County Sheriff, are responsible for the administration 
of this policy and coordination of all procedures herein. The Policy Group is the authorized personnel to 
declare an emergency for Beaufort County.  

 
Management 

 
• Identify and notify those employees whose presence is essential during Full / Partial Activation.  
• Compile and maintain a listing of employees' current telephone information so they may be contacted 

during hazardous weather or other emergency conditions. 
• Ensure timesheets and activity logs are properly documented for payroll and reimbursement purposes. 
• Convey policy to new or prospective employees. 

 
Employees 
 

• Check County email for any updates regarding hazardous weather or emergency conditions. 
• Come prepared to stay at the appointed workstation for an extended period of time (i.e., more than one 

day) if designated to report to work during emergency conditions. 
• Provide supervisors with current telephone information so contact may be made during hazardous 

weather or emergency conditions. 
 
Emergency Operation Team (EOT) 
 
The EOT consists of personnel who have been identified as essential personnel and have a role in supporting a 
disaster or emergency event (natural or man-made) that affects Beaufort County. This includes, but is not limited 
to, those who hold a position in the EOC and those who may be required to stay during an evacuation or evacuate 
with the County. Some departments may not have a role in the EOT and others may require their entire department 
to provide support during an emergency event. 
 
The Finance Director, Human Resources Director, and Recovery Manager will provide a recommendation to the 
County Administrator of identified personnel for the Emergency Operation Team prior to hurricane season.  
  
The County Administrator or his/her designee shall provide final approval of county personnel to be assigned to 
the Emergency Operations Team (EOT). No employee shall be eligible for emergency event pay provisions of 
this policy unless designated by the County Administrator or his/her designee as a member of the EOT. The 
names of all approved EOT members shall be specifically listed on the approved EOT Roster. The EOT Roster 
will be reviewed and amended annually and will be provided to the Emergency Management Division prior to the 
start of hurricane season. The EOT Roster will be updated throughout the remainder of the year on an as needed 
basis to reflect staffing changes. The County Administrator will make the final determination as to who will report 
to duty during any individual activation. Individuals that are assigned to the EOT are not guaranteed automatic 
approval to report to duty for each individual event. Only individuals that are identified and approved by the County 
Administrator for an individual event are to report to duty at their designated work station. 
 
Compensation During an Emergency 
 
The County may be operating under an abbreviated schedule, closed or under a Declaration of Emergency. An 
Emergency Event is in effect when one of the following conditions are met:  
 
The County has suspended normal County operations or is operating under emergency conditions, as determined 
by the County Administrator; or 

176

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 92 
 

The Chairman of Beaufort County Council has declared that a state of emergency exists in the County, or a state 
of emergency for an area encompassing the County has been declared by the Governor or other competent 
authority. 
 
Please refer to Appendix A-10 Beaufort County Emergency Attendance & Pay Policy for explanation of 
compensation.  
 
 
Relief from Duty 
 
Employees identified to work during emergencies (identified on the Emergency Operation Team) are expected to 
report to work when called. An employee may be excused from work only in extreme situations, and only by the 
appropriate reporting authority (County Administrator.) 
 
Return to Regular Duties 
 
Once the emergency incident is declared resolved, employees who worked during emergency conditions shall be 
allowed a reasonable amount of time for rest and recuperation prior to returning to their regular assignments. 
 
Payroll Processing 
 
The Finance Department, in the event of possible or likely office closures due to an emergency, may issue a 
standard payroll prior to the normal payroll processing date to ensure that all employees will have access to wages 
if offices are closed. 
If this occurs, employees will be paid for their "standard" scheduled hours for the emergency pay run via direct 
deposit. Corrections, whether in the form of additional pay or recoupment of overpayments, will be handled as 
soon as possible after normal operations are reinstated. 
 
Re-Entry / Recovery 
 
The recovery process after a storm or other disaster may take days, weeks, or months. Payment of emergency 
administrative pay during the recovery process will be subject to weekly review and Administrator approval. Under 
no circumstance will emergency administrative pay be continued after County offices have reopened. 
Employees activated during the emergency will begin recovery operations as directed after the event. All other 
County employees are expected to report to work when County offices reopen (or when instructed to do so earlier) 
and will be paid their normal wages (and overtime as required) and may be required to perform work outside of 
their normal duties to assist with recovery efforts. This work will enable Beaufort County government to return to 
normal operations and assist citizens in returning to their normal daily routines as quickly as possible. 
 
Other Provisions 
Employees who are required to remain at their emergency duty stations will be allowed to sleep and/or rest when 
conditions allow at no loss of supplemental compensation outlined above. 
 
The Finance Director is responsible for developing and maintaining a payroll system to properly administer the 
pay practices described above. No supplemental pay will be authorized for employees who do not stay behind 
during an event or have received prior authorization by the County Administrator or designee. 
 
Elected Officials, Appointed Officials, and the County Administrator are only eligible to receive Emergency 
Administrative Pay.  

177

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 93 
 

STATE OF EMERGENCY FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS (FAQs) 
 

What is the intent of the State of Emergency Conditions? The intent of the policy is to provide an orderly 
compensation plan for Beaufort County employees during a period of emergency or disaster response and 
recovery. Emergency operations and disaster response and recovery can occur during a period of declared 
local emergency or under a period of Mutual Aid. The latter is an instance where Beaufort County mobilizes 
to assist another county or state during an emergency or disaster. 
 
Who should respond to an activation? The County Administrator or his/her designee shall provide 
final approval of county personnel to be assigned to the Emergency Operations Team (EOT). The 
County Administrator will make the final determination as to who will report to duty during any individual 
activation. Individuals that are assigned to the EOT are not guaranteed automatic approval to report to 
duty for each individual event. Only individuals that are identified and approved by the County 
Administrator for an individual event are to report to duty at their designated work station. 
 
How will I be paid if I work an Emergency or Disaster response and recovery assignment and I 
am an exempt employee?  Exempt employees who perform work in support of a declared local 
emergency will be paid their regular salary. In addition, exempt employees who work in excess of 40 
hours in a work week, if directly related to the declared emergency, will be paid overtime for all hours 
worked in excess of 40 hours per week.  
 
What if I don’t work during a period of an emergency event?  Do I receive compensation? This 
depends on your status during a declared emergency. There are multiple compensation types that will 
determine your compensation status during a period of declared emergencies (see the Beaufort County 
Emergency Attendance & Pay policy). 
 
If I am asked to report for work after I have evacuated, how will I be paid? If you have traveled out 
of town as part of an evacuation order and are asked to return to work during the evacuation period, your 
commute time back to Beaufort County will be counted as work time, and you will be paid for the travel 
time necessary to return, plus actual work time once you report for work.   
 
If I am out of town on personal leave and asked to report for work, how will I be paid?  If you are 
out of town and travel is not related to an evacuation order, you will not be paid for travel time to Beaufort 
County, and your paid work time will begin once you report for work.  
 
If I am working out of town and asked to report back for work, how will I be paid?  If you were 
instructed to report to an out of town location to perform work and then asked to return to Beaufort County, 
your travel time to the out of town location and your travel time back to Beaufort County will be counted 
as work time. 
 
If I am working during the emergency event and cannot leave due to safety reasons, how will I be 
paid? There may be times when it is not safe or legal to travel around the County. During periods such 
as this, it is expected that employees will remain at their work location, even if their shift has ended. This 
time will be treated as work time. 
 

178

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 94 
 

If I only work part of the day and it’s during a period when Administrative Leave is authorized, 
how will I be paid?  Non-exempt employees who work part of a day that has been authorized for 
Administrative Leave, will be paid for the hours worked plus receive the full number of hours of authorized 
Administrative Leave. Exempt employees will receive the full number of hours of authorized Office 
Closed Leave.  The County Administrator or his/her designee will determine whether additional pay will 
be granted to exempt employees during the period of administrative leave.   
 
I am a new employee, but my start date was moved because of an emergency or disaster event.  
Will I still be paid based on my originally scheduled start date? No. Pay will begin on your first actual 
day of work. 
 
I need extra time to prepare to evacuate but Administrative Leave is only allowed for a portion of 
the day.  How will I be paid? If you are scheduled to work, but did not report to work because you 
needed time to prepare to evacuate, you will be granted the authorized hours of Administrative Leave, 
but must use vacation time for the additional hours in the workday not covered by the Administrative 
Leave. 
 
I am required to work during the emergency event and also required to sleep at my assigned 
location.  Am I paid for this time?  All time that you are required to be at a facility or on site will be 
treated as work time, regardless of whether you have sleep time. This includes, but is not limited to, 
employees who work in the EOC, shelter in an assigned office/housing facility, and emergency service 
employees who are required to remain at given work sites. 
 
How will I be compensated for Administrative Leave if my regular work schedule is greater than 
eight hours per day or if I normally work on the weekend? Administrative Leave will be calculated on 
the regular workday of the employee, for any days County offices that will be closed to the public.  
 
What if I am already scheduled to be on approved personal leave during a declared emergency? 
Employees on approved personal leave during a declared emergency will be paid according to their 
leave approval, and not under this policy. 
 
What if I am on approved personal leave, but must report due to my Employee Category? 
Employees already on approved personal leave who report to work due to their emergency work 
assignment will be paid according to this policy.  Employees already on approved leave that are required 
to report, but don’t report will be paid according to their leave approval. 
 
What if I am scheduled to go on approved personal leave and a local emergency is declared? 
Employees approved to take personal leave who are advised to report may have their personal leave 
canceled so that they can participate in the emergency or disaster response and recovery effort. If this 
happens, employees will be paid according to this policy. 
 
What if the facility is closed before my scheduled workday begins? Exempt and non-exempt regular 
employees will be paid for the regularly scheduled shift. 
 

179

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 95 
 

What if the facility remains open and I don’t come to work?  Non-exempt employees failing to report 
to work when there is a storm event, etc. and the facility remains open, will not be paid for the day, nor 
will they be permitted to charge this lost time to Paid Time Off, unless such time off had been previously 
granted.   Employees arriving late on such days will be paid for the actual time worked. 
 
What if the facility closes after a regular workday has begun?  

a. Non-exempt employees who report to work but leave prior to the time the facility is officially 
closed will be paid up to the time they leave the facility. 

 
b. Non-exempt employees who report to work and remain at work until the facility is officially 

closed will be paid for the entire workday.   
 

5.10 A-10 Beaufort County Emergency Attendance & Pay Policy 
 
Beaufort County (‘County”) must continue to provide services during periods of bad weather, emergencies or other 
situations in which the demand for public services is expected to be great.  The need for employees to be on the 
job is especially critical during these emergencies.  Employees are expected to make every effort to report to 
work, unless specifically directed, in writing by the County Administrator or his designee.  This policy describes 
special attendance and pay provisions applicable to non-exempt (hourly) and exempt (salaried) employees 
whether performing their regular responsibilities or reassigned as a result of an emergency. 
 
The County Administrator reserves the right to amend the EOT list at its discretion due to the specific emergency 
event. 
 

A. Definitions.   

As it applies to this Policy the following terms are defined as:  
1. Emergency Conditions.  The County is open and operating.  County is monitoring, planning and 

otherwise preparing for prompt, effective use of available resources of the County or municipality 
necessary to respond to the potential Emergency Event.   

2. Emergency Event.  The County may be operating under an abbreviated schedule, closed, or under a 
Declaration of Emergency.  An Emergency Event is in effect when one of the following conditions are 
met:  

a. The County has suspended normal County operations or is operating under emergency 
conditions, as determined by the County Administrator; or  

b. The Chairman of Beaufort County Council has declared that a state of emergency exists in the 
County, or a state of emergency for an area encompassing the County has been declared by 
the Governor or other competent authority. 

3. Essential Personnel. Employees who are exempt and non-exempt, as well as, both part-time and full-
time employees, and identified as employees necessary to provide continued services during 
Emergency Conditions or an Emergency Event. 

4. Non-Essential Personnel. Employees who are exempt and non-exempt, as well as, both part-time and 
full-time employees, and not identified as essential to provide continued services during Emergency 
Conditions or an Emergency Event.    

5. Emergency Administrative Pay. Pay equal to the Employee’s regular rate pay per hour. As it applies 
to this Policy, Emergency Administrative Pay will be shown as “Emergency Administrative Pay” and 
Pay Code 166 should be used when submitting an Employee’s hours.   Emergency Administrative Pay 
hours are intended to make an employee “whole”, shall not be included in the calculation of overtime, 

180

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 96 
 

and should not exceed the maximum of regularly scheduled weekly hours, equivalent to a standard 
work week. 

6. Disaster Pay.  Pay equal to the Employee’s regular rate pay per hour. As it applies to this Policy, 
Disaster Pay will be shown as “Disaster Pay” and Pay Code 160 should be used when submitting an 
Employee’s hours.  

7. Emergency Stand-By Employee. Employee should be 1) in work ready status and able to physically 
report to work with a one hour notice; or 2) available to physically report to work within 12 hours if 
requested; or 3) immediately available to work remotely.  As it applies to this Policy, Stand-by Pay will 
be shown as “Emergency Stand-By Pay” and Pay code 162 should be used when submitting an 
Employee’s hours. 

 
B. Emergency Condition Preparation.   

While under Emergency Conditions, non-exempt and exempt employees may be required to work during 
the preparation phase leading up to an Emergency Event and will be compensated at their regular pay in 
accordance with FLSA rules.  Any overtime must be approved in writing by the County Administrator, or 
its designee. 
  

C.  Emergency Event Pay. 
 

1. Non-Essential Personnel Pay.  Employees whose offices are closed or employees who are instructed 
not to report to work by the County Administrator, or its designee, will receive Emergency 
Administrative Pay for the number of hours they were scheduled to work, within limitations set forth in 
section A.5 of this Policy.  Any overtime must be approved in writing by the County Administrator, or 
its designee.  

2. Essential Personnel Pay.  Employees required to work during an Emergency Event will receive 
Emergency Administrative Pay for the number of hours they were scheduled to work and Disaster Pay 
for the number of hours that work was performed.  This rate of pay is applicable even if they have 
taken vacation, sick leave, or holiday during the pay cycle.   

3. Emergency Standy-By Pay.  Employees are paid $3.00 hourly during an Emergency Event.  The pay 
defined in this Section shall start upon written notification from the County Administrator, or its 
designee; and shall end upon written notification from the County Administrator.   

Once the Employee has reported to their assigned workstation, the Stand-By pay no longer 
applies and the Employee shall receive Essential Personnel Pay as described in Section C.2 of 
this Policy. 
  

D. Eligibility for Pay. 
 

1. Those employees named on the EOT list are eligible for Essential Personnel Pay, Respite Time, 
or Stand-By Pay only when they have received written communication from the County 
Administrator confirming they are needed for the Emergency Event.  The aforementioned written 
communication will be provided by the County Administrator, or its designee, through electronic 
mail or text.  The EOT list will be reviewed annually.  

2. During the applicability of this Policy, scheduled leave may be cancelled and employees on leave 
may be recalled.  Eligibility for pay in such situation is described in Section C.  

3. Employees on paid or unpaid leave who are not recalled to duty during or following an Emergency 
Event are not subject to special pay provisions until such time as their leave ends and they return 
to duty. 

181

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 97 
 

4. During an Emergency Event, should an employee not report for work when scheduled or not check 
in at the designated time and/or location, the employee is not eligible to receive compensation and 
may be subject to disciplinary action. 

5. Elected Officials, Appointed Officials, and the County Administrator are only eligible to receive 
Emergency Administrative Pay.   
 

E. Recovery/Re-entry. 
 

1. When normal operations resume, should an employee not report for work when required or not 
request and receive approval for time off, the employee will be considered to have resigned from 
employment with the County. 

 

Following the Emergency Event, the County Administrator will determine which department/functions are still 
working overtime, which exempt employees will be compensated for hours worked beyond a normal pay period, 
and provide an estimated timeframe for each department to return to normal operations.  Once a department 
returns to normal work schedule, all pay returns to normal wages as defined by FLSA. 
 
5.11 A-11 Beaufort County Fleet Policy 

 
PURPOSE: To establish policy directives and procedures that ensure Beaufort County citizens that vehicles 
and motorized equipment are selected, acquired, and maintained in a manner that provides the best possible 
support to county operations while being cost-effective, safe, and environmentally responsible.  
 
RESPONSIBILITIES:  The Fleet Manager is responsible for planning, directing, managing, coordinating, and 
supervising programs for acquisition, assignment, utilization, maintenance, repair, replacement, disposal, and 
providing fleet fuels for vehicles and motorized equipment throughout Beaufort County.  Conduct and create 
annual fleet utilization reports through each department.  The fleet Manager can recommend reassignment, 
rotation, and removal of services under the Public Works Director’s guidance.  Dispose of fleet vehicles or 
equipment when the asset becomes uneconomical to maintain.  As vehicles reach their targeted miles in the 
life cycle or time for a replacement. That asset will go under a mechanical and cost evaluation to include a 
repair or replace analysis to determine whether to dispose of or reassigned the vehicle to the motor pool.  
 
County Fleet Management — These policy directives establish the requirements for the acquisition, assignment, 
identification, replacement, disposal, maintenance, and operation of county vehicles. County vehicles, as defined 
below, are those vehicles operated, maintained, purchased, or acquired by the departments.  
 
Fleet Maintenance Program — These policy directives set forth the requirements for establishing a cost-effective 
county vehicle maintenance program that shall apply to all county vehicles and county vehicle maintenance 
facilities. The maintenance of county vehicles is the responsibility of the department to which the vehicle is 
assigned. 
 
Fleet Safety Program — This policy directive was issued by the Beaufort County Fleet Manager with the 
conjunction of Risk Management. This policy promotes and enforces safe operations while operating a vehicle or 
equipment.  Properly implemented vehicles and equipment will be operated and maintained to minimize injuries, 
property damage, and additional costs associated with accidents.  
 
GUIDELINES: 

 

182

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 98 
 

I. Beaufort County Fleet Management 
 

A. Exemptions 
1) The Sheriff’s office, Airports and Emergency Medical Services (EMS) are exempt from certain 

provisions of these policy directives.  
B. Organizational Authority 

1) Beaufort County Fleet Manager is directed to develop and administer a comprehensive fleet 
management program for the county’s vehicle fleet. 

2) County Fleet Manager shall manage the county’s vehicle fleet and insured equipment.  
3) Fleet manager will monitor compliance of these policies from departments Fleet Manager will 

periodically, prepare and submit a Fleet Audit Review Report.  The Fleet Manager will report on each 
department’s performance in complying with policy directives. All departments will supply sufficient and 
accurate information as requested by Fleet Manger to evaluate compliance and prepare the Fleet Audit 
Review Report. The Fleet Manager can recommend denying the purchase of new equipment or vehicle 
to the department for failing to comply with these policy directives or any other fleet management 
directive issued by the County Fleet Manager. 

 
C. Fleet Operations Program 

1) Assignment of County vehicles will be for department use, excluding Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office, 
and the following criteria:   
a. Travel requirements of an appropriate number of annual official miles as determined by the County 

Fleet Manager.  
b. County vehicles may be assigned individually to full-time, law enforcement officers, as determined 

by department heads. 
c. County vehicles are essential to the performance of official duties by individuals. 
d. Circumstances, as determined by the Department head, warrant individual assignment in the 

county’s best interest.  
e. When county vehicles are requested to be permanently assigned to individuals, the department 

shall complete and submit the required justification to the Fleet Manager.  
f. Departments operating motor pools shall manage the motor pools by procedures approved by Fleet 

Manager. 
g. County vehicles are authorized for use of all travel or tasks necessary to accomplish official county 

business that is within the rated design capacity of the vehicle. Use is not authorized for unofficial 
travel, the transport of unauthorized persons or items, or the performance of tasks outside the rated 
capacity of the vehicle. 

D. Authorized Use 
1) Only County employees are authorized to operate a County vehicle and only to conduct County 

business. Authorized uses of county vehicles include, but are not limited to: 
a. Travel between the place of vehicle dispatch and location of official  business. 
b. When on official out-of-county travel status, travel between place of temporary lodging  and 

location of official business. 
c. When on official out-of-county travel status: 

I. Places to obtain suitable meals. 
II. Places to obtain medical assistance, including pharmacies. 

III. Places of worship. 
IV. Garment or vehicle cleaning establishments; or 
V. Similar places are required to sustain health and welfare or continued efficient 

performance of the authorized operator, exclusive of places of entertainment. 
d. Transport county employees, or official county guests, all of whom  must be on official business of 

the county. 
e. Transport of professional or commercial representatives when in the direct interest of the county. 
f. Transport of materials, supplies, parcels, luggage, kits, or other items belonging to or serving the 

interests of the county. 
183

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 99 
 

g. Transport of any person or item in an emergency, provided such movement does not endanger life 
or property. 

h. Children transported in a county vehicle will be properly secured in a child restraint system that 
meets federal motor vehicle safety standards and as prescribed by the law of the state. 

 
E. Unauthorized Use  

1) Unauthorized uses of county vehicles include, but are not limited to: 
a. Travel or task of a personal nature that has no connection with the accomplishment of official 

business. 
b. Transport of other people not serving the interests of the county. 
c. Transport of hitchhikers. 
d. Transport of pets. 
e. Tobacco use, smoking, and vaping are prohibited in all county vehicles. 
f. Transport of items or cargo having no relation to the conduct of official county business. 
g. Transport of acids, explosives, weapons, ammunition, non-prescribed medicines, alcoholic 

beverages, and highly flammable materials except by specific department authorization or by a 
duly commissioned law enforcement officer acting within his or her assigned duty. 

h. Transport of any kind of equipment or cargo projecting from the side, front, or rear of the county 
vehicle in such a manner as to constitute a hazard to safe driving, pedestrians, or other vehicles. 

i. Use of the county vehicles to provide transportation between home and place of official county 
business unless authorized by the County Administrator.  

j. Travel to or from social events unless acting as an official representative of the county. 
k. Use of a county vehicle while on leave. 

 
F. Acquisition of County Vehicles 

1) All Departments seeking to purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire vehicles, regardless of the source 
of funding, shall do so by the Purchasing and Finance Policy and Procedures Manual. All vehicle and 
equipment requests must be routed through the Fleet Department.  The Fleet Manager will annually 
establish classes of vehicles, and with the appropriate equipment. The fleet Manager will develop 
vehicle type and size procurement criteria which shall be based solely on the functional task(s) to be 
performed by the vehicle. All vehicle and equipment purchases must be approved by the Fleet 
Manager. In the event a special purpose vehicle is required and not shown on the approved listing, the 
requesting department will inform the County Fleet Manager who will, in conjunction with that 
department, will determine the proper vehicle and equipment to be purchased. The approved annual 
listing shall be provided to each department from the Fleet Department.  

 
a. If vehicle purchase orders are submitted that are off-cycle, a complete justification for off-cycle 

purchasing must be forwarded with a purchase requisition containing the desired specifications. 
Purchase of a vehicle to prevent loss of funds will not be considered a valid justification. 

 
G. Purchasing Requirements 

 The following requirements shall apply when purchasing new vehicles and or equipment: 
 

1) Purchase orders for vehicles shall be forwarded to the Fleet Manager on the New Vehicle and 
Equipment request form.  Departments shall supply any additional information necessary for Fleet 
Manager to order vehicles on the Departments behalf. Agencies shall indicate if the requested 
vehicle is a replacement for an existing vehicle or an additional vehicle. Justification must be 
provided for any “increase in class” change for existing vehicles, or any additional vehicles above 
the current allowance. Existing vehicles to be replaced with a newly purchased vehicle must be 
decommissioned or repurposed on the delivery of the new vehicle. 

2) Fleet Manager shall notify the requesting department of the status of each request and forward 
approved purchase orders to the appropriate vehicle vendor. Only the Fleet Department shall 

184

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 100 
 

submit vehicle and equipment purchase orders excluding Beaufort County Sheriff’s office, 
Emergency Medical Services, and Airport. 

3) All new vehicles and equipment will be delivered to Public Works 120 Shanklin Road Beaufort S.C. 
29906. 

4) When a vehicle is delivered to the receiving department, modifications shall not be made to the 
vehicle or optional equipment added that will alter the vehicle without the prior written approval of 
the Fleet Manager. The addition of lights, sirens, radios, window tint, and similar equipment used 
on law enforcement or emergency response vehicles shall not require prior approval, nor shall 
installation of utility bodies and features on cab and chassis type vehicle. 

5)  For vehicle purchase, the following requirements shall apply:   
 

a. Fill out a New Vehicle and Equipment Form  
b. Justification must be provided for additional vehicles. 
c. Existing vehicles to be replaced or repurposed must be approved by the Fleet Manager. 
d. Departments will indicate if the requested vehicle is a replacement for an existing vehicle. 

 
H. Vehicle Inventory System 

 
1) Fleet Manager shall maintain a current inventory of the County’s vehicle fleet. Deparments shall assist 

the Fleet Manager with keeping the inventory current. The inventory shall indicate make and model, 
original acquisition cost, and the manufacturer’s identifying serial number (VIN) for each vehicle. 

2) Vehicles shall be added to the inventory upon receipt of title and documentation as specified by Fleet 
Manager. Vehicles shall be deleted from the inventory upon receipt of a bill of sale for each vehicle. 

 
I. Registration, Licensing, and Identifying Decals 

 
1) Every county vehicle shall be registered and licensed by county law regardless of how the vehicle is 

acquired. All county vehicles shall be titled to the County. All such titles shall be received by and remain 
in the possession of the Fleet Manager and the Finance Department.  

2) The following requirements shall apply to the registration and licensing of county vehicles: 
a. Requests for license plates, titles, and license plate renewals shall be submitted to Fleet Manager. 

The Fleet Manager will obtain and forward license plates to the requesting department. 
b. At the time of purchase or acquisition, all county vehicles shall be registered with the South 

Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles showing the county as the owner. 
c. All county vehicles are to be registered through the Fleet Department regardless of how vehicles 

are acquired. 
3) Identification decals on government license plates and only county identifying decals may be displayed 

on county vehicles, which include Beaufort County Seal and asset number. This directive excludes 
BCSO, EMS, Airports and Fire Departments.  

 
 

J. Disposal of County Vehicles 
 

1) Fleet Management shall develop disposal criteria for all county vehicles. The sale of all county vehicles 
that qualify for disposal, or assets declared to be excess to the county's needs, shall be conducted by 
the Purchasing and Finance policies under the authority of the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances.  
Fleet Management will determine whether a vehicle is past its cost-effective useful life or excess to the 
needs of the county before allowing its sale or disposal. 

2) The following requirements shall apply to the disposal of county vehicles: 
a. Departments may request to dispose of a county vehicle once the county vehicle has reached 

or exceeded the recommended minimum disposal. 
b. The Fleet Manager shall determine whether the vehicle meets the minimum disposal criteria 

185

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 101 
 

by Purchasing and Finance policies that are under the authority of the Beaufort County Code 
of Ordinances.  

c. Seals, decals, and other identification strips will be removed from vehicles before delivery for 
disposal. 
 

K. Complaints 
 

The County Fleet Manager is responsible for receiving complaints concerning the possible misuse of 
County Vehicles. The fleet Manager will obtain information concerning the circumstances of each incident 
and forward complaints to the controlling department for investigation. Departments receiving complaints 
not referred to from the Fleet Manager shall investigate each incident and forward a copy of the complaint 
summary and correspondence to the Fleet Manager. 

 
L.  State Fuel Cards 

 
1) South Carolina state Fleet Manager administers the State Fuel Card System. Vendors are contracted 

by the procurement code with established pricing structures and supply requirements for county-owned 
fuel sites. 

2) State Fuel Card purchases shall be made under the following restrictions: 
a. Official state fuel cards issued by the Fleet Manager are valid for the purchase of fuel only.  
b. State fuel card purchases shall be made by County employees and other authorized operators 

and cardholders. Use of the state fuel card to procure goods or services by unauthorized 
persons, to procure unauthorized goods or services by any person, or for the purchase of goods 
or services for privately owned vehicles is prohibited. 

c. State fuel cards can be used at commercial outlets that accept the contracted fuel vendor’s 
card and all state-owned fueling sites. 

3) Authorized operators shall protect state fuel cards against loss or theft. Missing state fuel cards shall be 
reported immediately. 

4) State Fuel Cards are issued to the asset.  
 

M. Insurance 
 

Departments will be responsible for the cost of county vehicle repairs resulting from accidents or shall 
absorb the cost of such repairs within the department’s budget. Authorized operators who are not county 
employees will have insurance coverage.  

 
N. Commuting and Personal Use 

 
1) Commuting between home and a permanently assigned work location shall be the only authorized 

personal use of a county vehicle. The exception is if a stop is made on the route to and from home and 
work.   

2) Only county employees may commute in a county vehicle unless specifically authorized by the 
department head. 

 
O. Identification - This directive excludes BCSO, EMS, Airports and Fire Departments.  

 
1) Unless specifically exempted by Fleet Management, all county vehicles shall carry the county 

government license plates and display the county logo. Beaufort County Fleet Management will install 
and remove all decals. Decals that become unrecognizable or unsightly shall be replaced by the 
owning department through Beaufort County Fleet Management. 

2) Identification requirements shall not apply to County vehicles operated by law enforcement officers 

186

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 102 
 

involved in undercover law enforcement if the investigation or the investigator would be jeopardized if 
identified. The fleet manager will consult with the BCSO to determine which vehicles shall be exempt. 
No vehicle is exempt unless Fleet Management has made an exemption determination in writing. 

3) Identification exemptions involving vehicles not used in undercover law enforcement work shall not be 
granted unless it can be shown that an identified vehicle would substantially hinder the department’s 
ability to fulfill its mission or impair the privacy of the client being served. 

 
P. Vehicle Telematics and Tracking Devices 

 
1) County vehicles may be equipped with vehicle telematics or automatic tracking devices. Information 

from these devices will assist the county to ensure efficient vehicle operation. Items such as 
mechanical codes, speed, mileage, idle times, utilization, and routing will be monitored. 

2) Tampering with or removing vehicle telematics, GPS tracking device, or component thereof from a 
county vehicle is strictly prohibited. 

3) BCSO is exempt. (Fleet Management recommends having GPS installed on vehicles that are 
not undercover.) 

4) Department Heads will be issued GPS and Fleet Management software credentials. 
 

Q. Vehicle Minimum Utilization 
 

1) Fleet Management will establish minimum mileage utilization requirements for county vehicles by 
APWA/and or GSA requirements and ensure that county vehicles are used in the most cost-effective 
manner possible. Vehicles not meeting minimum mileage utilization requirements are subject to be 
returned to Fleet Management or disposed of as directed by Fleet Manager. 

2) Fleet Management will analyze department utilization data to determine if the department possesses 
vehicles that do not meet established utilization criteria. If such vehicles are discovered Fleet 
Management will advise the department to take management action (reassignment, pooling, sale, 
etc.).  

3) Fleet Management may grant exemptions to retain a county vehicle that does not meet the minimum 
mileage utilization requirements. A department can provide Fleet Management with justification for the 
need for a vehicle that does not meet minimum utilization requirements based on the unique use of the 
county vehicle. 

 
II. Fleet Maintenance Program 

 
Maintenance will include an inspection, lubrication, alignment, cleaning, and testing of components.  
Maintenance will be performed in two ways: 

 
(1) Scheduled, which is called preventative maintenance (PM); or 
(2) Unscheduled, which is a breakdown or unscheduled maintenance. 

 
A. Fleet Maintenance 

 
1) Departments will conduct basic operator weekly preventive maintenance inspections that include the 

following:  
• Walk around the vehicle looking for deficiencies.  
• Tire 
• Lights 
• Fluids 
• Mirrors  
• Instruments  

187

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 103 
 

• Insurance Card  
• Registration Card 

 
2) Departments will make an appointment with Central Garage for Preventive Maintenance.  
3) Fleet Management will develop criteria to be used by departments in implementing various 

maintenance programs and preventative maintenance schedules.  
4) Fleet Management will indicate all maintenance costs incurred by each vehicle for each department. 

This information will be available upon request, from Fleet management. Fleet management will 
process and code vehicle repairs, maintenance, and fuel according to criteria published by Finance 
excluding the BCSO.  

5) Departments with assigned vehicles are responsible for the cleanliness of the interior and exterior of 
their vehicles. 

 
B. Priority  

 
      Beaufort County Fleet Management will prioritize maintenance cycles in the following: 

1) Public Safety (BCSO, EMS) 
2) Essential Services (Stormwater, Maintenance, etc.) 
3) Preventive Maintenance (Scheduled) 
4) Breakdown (Unscheduled) 
5) Pass Due/ Missed Preventive Maintenance 
6) Modifications  

 
C. After Hours  

 
The Fleet Manager can be reached on the Beaufort County Cell Phone. In the event of a breakdown or 
emergency, Beaufort County Fleet Management shall make provisions to handle the 24-hour, 365 days a 
year, emergency road service calls from its facility for Units identified During normal working hours, both 
emergency calls and towing shall receive service within two (2) hours of notification. Fleet Management 
will provide vehicles to all county departments as a rental service. The motor pool is designed to reduce 
fleet size and in return reduce any overhead cost on underutilized vehicles. 

 
III. Fleet Safety Programs 

 
A. Driver Qualifications and Screening 

1) All authorized operators of county vehicles shall have a valid driver’s license appropriate to the type of 
vehicle being operated as more particularly outlined in the Fleet Safety Program. 

2) Criteria of the fleet safety program shall include procedures to screen the motor vehicle record (MVR) 
of all applicants for county employment, existing employees, and individuals who, because of their 
work, operate or are likely to operate a county vehicle. Restrictions shall be placed on the privilege of 
operating a county vehicle for those applicants, employees, and individuals whose MVR indicates a 
history of involvement in motor vehicle accidents, who have a considerable number of current violation 
points, or whose driver’s licenses have been suspended by the South Carolina Department of Motor 
Vehicles or any other like governmental organization or agency, including those in other states that 
issue, suspend, or terminate the operator’s driver’s license. 

 
B.  Driver Education 

 
1) Criteria of the fleet safety program shall include driver education requirements for authorized operators 

who must operate county vehicles by Risk Management. Such criteria shall, at a minimum, take into 
consideration driving requirements associated with an employee or individual’s job duties, an 

188

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 104 
 

employee or individual’s history of traffic violations or accidents involving the operation of county 
vehicles, and accident review board findings and recommendations. 

2) Advance training shall apply to law enforcement officers. All law enforcement operators of county 
vehicles shall abide by statutes, regulations, and policy directives about the operation of authorized 
emergency and pursuit vehicles. 

 
C. Compliance  

 
1) County vehicles will have GPS and telematics tracking that measure: 

a) Location  
b) Speed  
c) Harsh driving and Behaviors  
d) Idling  

 
D. Driving Practices and Maintenance 

 
1) Wearing of Seat Belts 
2) Authorized operators of county vehicles shall abide by all applicable state and federal laws, regulations, 

and policies while operating such county vehicles. All traffic signs, signals, and speed limits will be 
obeyed.  

3) County vehicles shall be maintained by county vehicle maintenance policies and procedures to 
minimize the possibility of mechanical failure causing or contributing to vehicle accidents and 
preventable expenses. 

4) County Vehicles will be locked when they are unoccupied and preferred in a well-lit area.  
5) Refrain from engine idling unless job responsibilities require the vehicle to idle.  

 
E. Handheld Electronic Devices 

 
1) Drivers of county vehicles shall not operate cell phones, multi-media enabled smartphones, MP3 

players, GPS devices, laptop computers, tablet computers, or other handheld electronic devices (an 
“electronic device”) unless the electronic device is being operated via a hands-free mode or while the 
vehicle is in the park position and is being used solely for the conduct of official county business. Any 
use of an electronic device that is not hands-free, including but not limited to talking, reading, sending, 
or receiving text messages, or reading, sending, or receiving email messages, is prohibited while the 
vehicle is in drive or motion. Drivers are prohibited from watching the screen of an electronic device 
while operating a county vehicle unless the vehicle is in the park position.  Radar detectors are 
prohibited.  

2) Personnel who, as a part of their official duties, must use an electronic device other than as outlined in 
this directive and while operating a county vehicle, are required to have authorization from his or her 
department head or their designee, submitted to the Fleet Manager for review before the department 
approving. Nothing in this directive excuses the obligation to comply with applicable traffic laws. 

3) An exception to this requirement is an emergency call placed to 911 for situations such as a fire, traffic 
accident, road hazard, or medical emergency. In such cases, the communication should be as short 
as reasonably necessary to communicate the nature of the emergency, location, etc. 

4) Departments have the option to adopt supplemental electronic device use policies as they need or 
desire if such supplement is not less restrictive than this directive. 

 
F. Eating and Drinking  

 
1) Eating and Drinking are discouraged while driving a county vehicle.  
2) Zero Tolerance for driving under the influence of alcohol, narcotics, or prescribed medication that 

indicates that the driver is not to operate a vehicle or heavy machinery. 

189

Item 14.



 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 105 
 

 
G. Safety Maintenance  

 
1) County vehicles will be properly maintained to eliminate any preventable mechanical failures. 
2) County Vehicles should be inspected before daily operations. 
3) Vehicles that are hauling or pulling should check their load before moving vehicles. 

 
H. Motor Vehicle Record (MVR)  

 
1) Fleet Manager will recommend Human Resources request an MVR annually.  
2) Operators are required to report any vehicle accidents and moving violations to their supervisors, 

including their vehicles.  
.  

I. Accident Reporting and Review 
 

1) Authorized operators of county vehicles involved in an accident resulting in property damage, injury, or 
death shall give immediate notice of such accident to the appropriate local or state law enforcement 
authorities. The authorized operator shall, as soon as practical, report the accident to the Beaufort 
County Risk Manager by Accident Reporting Review Procedures. Any authorized operator involved in 
a collision with an unattended vehicle shall immediately stop, and to the best of his or her ability, locate 
and notify the operator of the unattended vehicle. 

2) A Vehicle Accident Report form, including instructions, can be found at the back of this guide. Please 
keep a copy of the forms in the glove compartment of this vehicle. If you are involved in an accident, 
complete this form, and send it within 12 hours to the Beaufort County Risk Manager. 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICE/TELEPHONE: Public Works —Beaufort County Fleet Management 843-225-6415 
 
 
5.12 A-12 Beaufort County Fuel Card Policy 

 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines and procedures for the appropriate use of the South Carolina 
Fuel Card assigned to Beaufort County vehicles. This policy aims to ensure the efficient and responsible use of 
fuel cards while promoting compliance with contractual rates and authorized purchases.  
 
Scope: 
This policy applies to all Beaufort County employees who have been authorized and issued a valid personal 
identification number (PIN) for the South Carolina Fuel Card WEX and COMDATA. 
 
 
Guidelines: 

1. Fuel Card Usage: 
a. The South Carolina Fuel Card is assigned to each Beaufort County vehicle and is valid until 

7/2024. 
b. The fuel card must be used for self-service fuel purchases at commercial retail sites displaying 

the Wright Express (WEX) logo, state-owned facilities, and Beaufort County back yard fuel sites. 
c. A list of WEX card accepting retail locations can be found at  
d. d. Fuel prices are based on contractual rates updated daily at 

https://www.procurement.sc.gov/contracts/fuel and Beaufort County is considered Zone 4. 
 

2. Cardholders: 
190

Item 14.

https://www.procurement.sc.gov/contracts/fuel


 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 106 
 

a. Only Beaufort County employees with a valid PIN are authorized to use the South Carolina Fuel 
Card. 

b. The PIN is mandatory for card usage and should not be shared with anyone. 
c. If a PIN is required or forgotten, employees should contact Beaufort County Fleet Management. 
d. PIN request forms can be found on the Beaufort County SharePoint under County Forms. 
 

3. Card Usage Procedure: 
a. Select a fuel facility that accepts WEX fuel cards. www.wexinc.com/accepting-locations, SCDOT 

sites and Beaufort County fuel sites 
b. Swipe the fuel card into the card reader on the pump. 
c. Enter the vehicle's current odometer reading when prompted. 
d. Enter the six-digit PIN when prompted. 
e. Fuel vehicles with unleaded fuel (unless high grade fuel is required) and collect the receipt after 

fueling is complete. 
f. If the fuel facility lacks a card reader, pump the fuel first, then present the fuel card for payment to 

the cashier inside the facility. 
g. Never agree to pre-pay for fuel; if pre-payment is required, locate a different fueling facility. 

 
4. Authorized Card Purchases: 

a. Unleaded gasoline (87 octane). 
b. Diesel fuel for vehicles with diesel engines. 
c. Alternative fuels (E-85, E-10, or CNG) for vehicles and equipment required to operate on 

alternative fuels. 
 

5. Unauthorized Card Purchases: 
a. High grade gasoline, unless required for the vehicle. 
b. Food/drink. 
c. Storage, tolls, parking, or repairs. 
d. Vehicle accessories not required for vehicle operation, such as floor mats or air fresheners. 
e. Any item, service, product, or purchase other than authorized fuel products, motor oil, or car 

wash services. 
f. Exterior and/or interior vehicle cleaning. 

 
Non-Compliance: 
Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary action in accordance with Beaufort County Employee 
Manual, including the revocation of fuel card privileges. 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

191

Item 14.

http://www.wexinc.com/accepting-locations


 

Beaufort County Personnel Handbook – Effective January 1, 2024 107 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

County Administration reserves the right to change all policies, benefits, 
procedures, and other information in this personnel handbook at any time. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-END OF PERSONNEL HANBOOK- 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

192

Item 14.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of a Resolution Repealing and Replacing Council’s Rules 

and Procedures 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Chairman Joseph Passiment 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Council has spent the past several years preparing comprehensive revisions to 

its Rules and Procedures. The currently draft was provided to Council 

previously. It is now coming forward for adoption by resolution. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

See above 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

None  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Not Applicable 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve the Resolution Repealing and Replacing Council’s Rules 

and Procedures as presented, modify the Rules and Procedures as presented, 

reject them as presented, or take no action. 

 

193

Item 15.



RESOLUTION 2023/_____ 

A RESOLUTION REPEALING AND REPLACING  

THE RULES AND PROCEDURES OF  

BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL  

 

 WHEREAS, South Carolina Code of Laws, Section 4-9-110 provides that 

Council shall determine its own rules and order of business; and  

WHEREAS, on September 25, 1989, Beaufort County Council first adopted 

the Rules and Procedures of Beaufort County Council; and 

WHEREAS, the Rules and Procedures which were originally adopted on 

September 25, 1989 have been amended, in piecemeal fashion, many times over the 

years since 1989; and  

WHEREAS, Council has devoted many hours and much effort to reviewing 

and revising, in a comprehensive manner, its Rules and Procedures over the past 

several years and believes that the Rules and Procedures which are attached hereto 

as Exhibit “A” accurately restate and set forth the rules it wishes to follow and the 

manner in which Council wishes to conduct its business.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Beaufort County Council 

does hereby repeal the Rules and Procedures of Beaufort County Council which 

were originally adopted in 1989 and which have been amended to date and replaces 

them with the Rules and Procedures as set forth in Exhibit “A”. 

ADOPTED this ______day of ____________, 2023. 

 

      BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

      _____________________________ 

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

194

Item 15.



_____________________ 

Sarah Brock, 

Clerk to Council 

 

  

195

Item 15.



CODE OF ETHICS FOR BEAUFORT COUNTY OFFICIALS  
Preamble 

  
 Beaufort County Council is committed to the highest standards of conduct by and 
among County officials in the performance of their public duties. Individual and collective 
adherence to high ethical standards by public officials is central to the maintenance of public 
trust and confidence in government. 
 While County officials agree on the need for proper conduct, they may experience 
personal conflict or differing views of values or loyalties. 
 In such cases the principles contained in this Code of Ethics [which is drafted by the 
National Association of Counties  (NACo)]  provide valuable guidance in reaching decisions, 
which are governed, ultimately, by the dictates of the individual conscience of the public 
official and his or her commitment to the public good. 
 Certain of these ethical principles are best expressed as positive statements; actions 
which should be taken; courses which should be followed; goals which should permeate both 
public and private conduct.  Other principles are expressed as negative statements; actions 
to be avoided and conduct to be condemned. 
 The Code of Ethics for Beaufort County Officials has been created by and for elected 
officials.  However, these principles apply to the day-to-day conduct of both elected and 
appointed officials and employees of this County government. 
 Beaufort County Council recognizes that this Code of Ethics should serve as a valuable 
guide for all those in whom the public has placed its trust. 
  

Ethical Principles 
The ethical County official shall: 
Properly administer the affairs of Beaufort County. 
Promote decisions which only benefit the public interest. 
Actively promote public confidence in County government. 
Keep all funds and other properties of Beaufort County safe. 
Conduct and perform the duties of the office diligently, and promptly dispose of the business 
of the County. 
Maintain a positive image to pass constant public scrutiny. 
Evaluate all decisions so, the best service or product is obtained at a minimal cost without 
sacrificing quality fiscal responsibility. 
Inject the prestige of the office into everyday dealings with the public, employees and  
associates. 
Maintain a respectful attitude toward employees, other public officials, colleagues and  
associates. 
Effectively and efficiently work with governmental agencies, political subdivisions and other  
organizations in order to further the interests of the County. 
Faithfully comply with all laws and regulations applicable to the County and impartially  
apply them to everyone. 
Respect and comply with the standards of the Council-Administrator form of government 
adopted in Beaufort County. 
The ethical Beaufort County official should not: 

196

Item 15.



Engage in outside interests that are not compatible with the impartial and objective 
performance of his or her duties. 
Improperly influence, or attempt to influence, other officials to act in his or her own 
benefit. 
Accept anything of value from any source which is offered to influence his or her action as a  
public official. 
The ethical County official accepts the responsibility that his or her mission is that of servant 
and steward to the public. 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL VALUES. (added by the Chairman) 
(Michael Josephson) 

  
1.Honesty.  This is the most basic level of ethics. Everyone has the responsibility to be 
truthful, straightforward and sincere in their dealings with others. 
2. Integrity.  Integrity requires the courage to act on one’s values, beliefs and convictions, 
and to do what is right rather than what is expedient. 
3. Keeping Promises.  The ethical person must live up to the spirit as well as the letter of 
agreements and commitments that have been made. 
4. Fidelity.  The trustworthy person is loyal to the organization and the principals of public 
service. 
5. Fairness.  Because the person can exercise discretion, it is imperative that the decision-
making process be fair. There must be a commitment to justice, equal treatment, and 
tolerance. The person must be open-minded and willing to consider diverse opinions. 
6. Caring   The ethical person manifests and attitude of concern for the well-being of others 
and conducts the affairs of the organization with compassion and kindness. 
7. Respect.  It is imperative that the person demonstrate respect for human dignity and 
privacy. 
8. Citizenship.  People have the responsibility to serve as role models for others to 
encourage participation in and respect for the democratic process of decision making. 
9. Excellence.  People must be well informed and prepared to carry out their 
responsibilities. They must be diligent, reliable and committed. They must insist that the 
organization strive for excellence in carrying out its activities. 
10. Accountability.  The person has a special obligation to be accountable for his or her 
actions and the actions of the organization. 
11.  Avoidance of the Appearance of Impropriety.  Because the person is responsible to 
safeguard the public trust. What the person does must not only be right, it must look right. 
What I believe as chairman and a member of county council. 
12.  Who do you represent?  As a member of council, you represent the following: 

You represent the district that elected you. 
You represent Beaufort County Council. 
You represent all residents of Beaufort County 
You represent yourself 

  
  
  

  

197

Item 15.



TABLE OF CONTENTS (the publisher will update this section/ removed from list - 5. 
Correspondence & 8. Attendance at Seminars, Conferences, etc.) 

  
Chapter Page 
  
 1.  Officers of Council .................................................................... 3 

 2.  Meetings and Agendas ................................................................ 5 

 3.  Appearances, Presentations and Petitions to Council .......................... 12 

 4.  Ordinances ............................................................................. 14 

 5.  Conflict of Interest ................................................................... 18 

 6.  Travel and Expense Reimbursement .............................................. 19 

 7.  Standing Committees and Ad Hoc Committees ................................ 22 

  

Historical Background 

Section 4-9-100, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended. 

Adopted:  April 8, 1985 

Amended:  ____________  __, 202__ 
November 9, 2015 
  October 25, 2010 
  August 14, 2006 
           June 25, 2001 
           April 14, 1997 
           June 12, 1995 
           September 13, 1993 
           August 9, 1993 
           January 13, 1992 
           January 28, 1991 
                  September 25, 1989 

  

  

198

Item 15.



CHAPTER 1 
  

OFFICERS OF COUNCIL 
  

Council shall elect a Chairman and Vice Chairman, for terms as hereinafter set forth, 
on the first business day in January following each General Election. 
  
A.  CHAIRMAN 
  
Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Chairman for a two-year term on 
the first business day in January following each County General Election.  
Nominations for Chairman must be made by a Council member. No second required. 
Nominations will be reviewed in the order nominated. Six votes shall be required to 
elect. 
  
The Chairman shall preside at all regular and special meetings of Council, shall 
execute, on behalf of Council, all ordinances, resolutions, directives, deeds, bonds, 
contracts and other official instruments or documents, and shall have such other 
duties and perform such functions as above set forth in these Rules and in the State 
Code.  The Chairman shall serve as an ex-officio member of each standing committee 
of Council and shall be entitled to vote but whose presence shall not be counted 
towards a quorum.  
  
B.  VICE CHAIRMAN 
  
On the first business day in January following each County General Election, Council 
shall also elect one of its members to serve as Vice Chairman for a two-year term.  
Election of Vice Chairman shall be in the same manner as set forth above for election 
of Chairman. 
  
In the event the Chairman shall be temporarily absent or unable to serve, the Vice 
Chairman shall serve as Chairman in his stead. 
  
  
  
  
__________________ 
  

The term “Council” when used herein shall mean Beaufort County Council. 
  

The term “Councilmen” is used herein without regard to gender. 
  
  
  
  
 
  

  

  

199

Item 15.



  

 

C.  RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS 
  

 Section 4-9-90 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, provides generally 
for the election of members of County Council and for the replacement of members who do 
not serve a full term.  Section 4-9-610, which is the provision for the Council-Administrator 
form of government, further provides that a County Council member must be a qualified 
elector of the County.  The Code defines a qualified elector as one who is a resident in the 
district or the County in which he votes.(1) (Chairman wanted this language checked) 

  

D.  PARLIAMENTARIAN 
  

 The Chairman may appoint one member of Council to serve as Parliamentarian. Absent an 
appointed parliamentarian, the Chair shall determine all parliamentary questions subject to 
appeal by any member of the body. 

  
E.  CLERK TO COUNCIL 

  
 Council shall appoint a person, not a member of Council, to serve as Clerk for an indefinite 
term.  The Clerk to Council shall keep a journal in which shall be recorded the minutes of 
Council’s proceedings, which shall be open to public inspection. (Section 4-9-110 of the Code 
of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended.) 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

__________________ 
  

 (1) Reference   County   Attorney’s   letter   dated  July  6, 1989; Judge Kemmerlin’s Order dated June 
1, 1990. 

  
  

  

  

200

Item 15.



CHAPTER 2 
  

MEETINGS AND AGENDAS 
  

A.  REGULAR / SPECIAL / COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
  

Council shall give written notice of its regular meetings at the beginning of each calendar 
year.  This should include the dates, times and places of each meeting (Section 4-9-110 of the 
Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended). 

  
Agendas, committee meetings and emergency meetings frequently pose problems for 
conforming with notice requirements.  The agenda shall be posted as required by the South 
Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) at least 24 hours prior to meetings.  

  
Council shall hold its regular meetings for the transaction of official business at least once 
each month in accordance with the schedule adopted by Council. Council members, when 
necessary, may attend committee or council meetings virtually.  Council members are 
responsible for ensuring video and audio quality.  Council meetings will not be delayed due 
to poor quality unless the issue lies with the county broadcast team.   
 
When attending virtually the following rules shall apply: 

1. Council members must have video on at all times. 
2. Council members must be visible throughout the duration of the meeting.  
3. Due to liability concerns, council members shall not operate motor vehicles while 

attending meetings. 
 
Special meetings and workshops may be called by the Chairman, or majority of Council, but 
no special meetings or workshops shall be held unless all members are notified at least 24 
hours in advance of such meeting.  

   
B.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

  
Meetings of public bodies are to be open to the public, unless they are specifically exempted.  
Exemptions may be made for (Reference Section 30-4-70, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 
1976, as amended): 

  
1. Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion, 

discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body 
or the appointment of a person to a public body; however, if an adversarial hearing 
involving an employee or client is held, such employee or client has the right to 
demand that the hearing be conducted publicly.  Nothing contained in this item shall 
prevent the public body, in its discretion, from deleting the names of the other 
employees or clients whose records are submitted for use at the hearing. 
  

2. Discussion   of   negotiations   incident   to   proposed   contractual arrangements and 
proposed sale or purchase of property, the receipt of legal advice, settlement of legal 

201

Item 15.



claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary situations involving the 
assertion against said agency of a claim. 
  

3. Discussion regarding the development of security personnel or devices. 
  

4. Investigative proceedings regarding allegations of criminal misconduct. 
  

5. Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision 
of service encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the 
area served by the public body. 
 

6. Prior to going into executive session, the public agency shall vote in public on the 
question and when such vote is favorable, the presiding officer shall announce the 
specific purpose of the executive session.  No formal action may be taken in executive 
session.  As used in this item “formal action” means a straw vote committing the body 
concerned to a specific course of action.  No vote may be taken in executive session. 
 

7. In accordance with the Code of Ethics for Beaufort County Officials, members of the 
body participating in executive session are expected to keep the deliberations 
confidential. 
 

C. CONDUCT AT MEETINGS 
  

1. Pledge of Allegiance 
 Every regularly scheduled Council meeting shall open with the Pledge of Allegiance to the 
Flag and follow with an invocation. 
 
2.  Decorum in Speaking 
 Every member, when recognized by the Chairman to speak, shall address the Chairman 
and, in speaking, avoid disrespect to Council and any personalities, and shall confine 
himself to the question under consideration.  In debate each member has the right to speak 
twice on the same question on the same day (except on an appeal) but cannot make a 
second speech on the same question as long as any member who has not spoken on that 
question desires the floor.   

  
3. Addressing the Chair 
 The Chairman, when addressed by a member shall recognize the member by name, using 
no title, but that of “Mr.,” “Mrs.,” “Miss” or “Ms.”  The member first recognized shall be first 
heard; and if several address the Chairman at the same time, the Chairman shall decide 
who is first to speak and shall recognize such member. 

 
4. Public Comment 
A public comment period is provided at each Council meeting.  The first public comment 
period will be for a total of 15 minutes allowing public comment about agenda items only. 

202

Item 15.



The second public comment period will be for a total of 15 minutes at the end of the 
meeting allowing for public comment for non-agenda items.     

· Each speaker is limited to three minutes 
· Only one speaker may speak at a time. 
· Giving of a speaker’s time to another is not allowed. 
· Speakers may not speak on behalf of other individuals. 

  
5. Recognition of Person(s) 
 When any person, including employees of Council and the County are heard, that person, 
when they have completed their presentation, shall be seated and no person other than a 
member of Council will be recognized to make any statement on such matter unless 
requested to do so by Council or by any member of Council through the Chairman.  

  
6. Items added after a posted Agenda 

a. A two-thirds vote of the members present and voting shall be required to add 
an item to an agenda after the agenda has been posted.   

b. A two-thirds vote, and a finding of exigent circumstances is required before final 
action can be taken on an item which is added to an agenda after an agenda is 
posted. 

  
  11 votes– 8 required 
  10 votes– 7 required 
   9 votes – 6 required 
   8 votes – 6 required 
   7 votes– 5 required 
   6 votes – 4 required 
 
D.  FISCAL MATTERS 
All appropriations shall require a minimum of six affirmative votes. 

  
E. PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE 
Meetings of Council shall be conducted in accordance with Robert’s Rules of Order Newly 
Revised, unless provided otherwise herein. 

  
F. AGENDA 
The agenda is set by the Chairman and Vice Chairman with the County Administrator’s 
assistance no later than the Thursday immediately preceding the council meeting.  

  
G. MATTERS NOT WITHIN COUNCIL’S JURISDICTION 
No matter shall be entered on the agenda or heard by council unless it is within council’s 
authority or jurisdiction. Council may entertain requests from other governmental bodies, 
departments or agencies that make recommendations to council.  

  
H. CONSENT AGENDA  

203

Item 15.



The consent agenda is used for non-controversial action items organized apart from the rest 
of the agenda and approved as a group. This includes all business items that require formal 
approval and yet, because they are not controversial, there is no need for Council discussion 
before taking a vote. If a member considers a specific item to need discussion, it may be 
removed and placed on the regular agenda for the Council meeting.  

  

1. Agenda Package 
Packages are prepared and distributed on the Friday immediately preceding the council 
meeting.  Background information pertaining to agenda items, shall be enclosed in the 
package. Members are expected to review agendas, agenda backup, and committee 
discussions on any item they feel they need additional information on. 

 
2. Potential Agenda Items 
The Clerk to Council shall maintain a log of potential agenda items for upcoming 
meetings, particular reference being made to Ordinance readings.   

  
3. Request for Agenda Time 
Any person requesting agenda time, including Council members, must submit their 
request to the Chairman, County Administrator, or Clerk to Council, plus backup material, 
no later than 5:00PM Tuesday prior to the Wednesday immediately preceding the 
Council meeting. 

  
4. Department Heads’/Elected Officials’ Request for Agenda Time 
Any department head or elected official wishing to appear before Council, should be 
handled in the same manner as set forth above.  The Chairman may assign the matter for 
action following a short presentation by the individual at a regular Council meeting. 

  
I. APPOINTMENTS TO AGENCIES, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND AUTHORITIES 

  
1. Notification 
The Clerk to Council shall notify all Council members thirty (30) days prior to the 
expiration date of any Board member’s term, or within ten (10) days after receipt of a 
Board member’s resignation. Council members will have thirty (30) days to provide 
names and appropriate documentation (application and re sume ) for consideration to the 
appropriate Standing Committee.  The thirty (30) days will begin on the date the Clerk to 
Council has notified Council of the vacancy. 
 
2. Nominations 
The appropriate Committee shall review all applications on file and select nominee(s) to 
be submitted to full Council.  Interviews may be scheduled at the request of the Chairman 
or Committee Chairman.  In situations where technical or other special qualifications are 
required within the Charter for appointment, the Committee will review and analyze the 
technical qualifications of the applicant(s) and will recommend and forward to Council 
only those names of qualified candidates. 
 

204

Item 15.



The Committee shall nominate at a subsequent full council meeting, the candidate(s) for 
membership.  Once the floor is open for nominations, any Council member may place a 
name in nomination.  There is no requirement that the name of said nominee is 
previously on file. 
3. Representation 
Council shall appoint Agency, Board or Commission members with consideration for 
demographic representation.  In addition, Council shall consider: 

a. Knowledge and experience relevant to the needs of the particular Agency, Board 
or Commission; 

b. Diverse representation of backgrounds, professions and viewpoints; 
c. Diverse ages and economic levels; 
d. Diverse race and gender composition; 
e. Diverse geographic representation of the County. 
  

For those nominated other than through a committee (i.e., by a Council member when the 
floor is open for such additional nominations) a re sume  will be made available to Council 
members no later than the Friday prior to the meeting at which the vote for appointment 
is taken. Absent such a re sume  the nominee will be disqualified. 
 

4. Voting (3) 
A vote will be taken if there is a single or multiple candidate(s) seeking membership.  A 
simple voting majority of Council members will decide the selected nominee unless a 
greater number of affirmative votes is necessary under the Template Ordinance(4). 

 
If, when there are three or more candidates for a single position and no person receives 
the required number of votes.  The two candidates receiving the most votes will be 
considered in a second, and final vote. 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

__________________ 
  

205

Item 15.



   Reference Attorney General’s Opinion No. 84-4, issued January 17, 1984, and a subsequent opinion   
dated April 24, 1984 

  
 Reference Template Ordinance No. 2005-5, as amended. 

  

CHAPTER 3 
  

APPEARANCES, PRESENTATIONS AND  
PETITIONS TO COUNCIL 

  

A.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
Any person desiring to address Council during public comment may do so by submitting a 
request to be heard to the Clerk to Council prior to, or at the beginning of, the meeting. 
  

1. Each request must include the name and address of the person appearing and the 
nature of the presentation. 

2. In the event a presentation should be made on behalf of an organization or group 
of persons, the organization or group will designate one spokesman to make the 
presentation. 

3. Every member of the public who is recognized to speak, shall address the 
Chairman and, in speaking, avoid disrespect to Council and any personalities and 
shall confine himself to  topics (?) under the jurisdiction of Council.  

4. All persons making public comment shall be limited to three (3) minutes, so as to 
allow others an opportunity to be heard. (See Page 8) 

  
B.  COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR 
  

1. If the Chairman determines insufficient time is available for a personal 
appearance at a particular meeting, he may schedule the personal appearance for 
any subsequent meeting (considering the availability of time). The Chairman may, 
at his discretion, establish time limits for any presentation or personal 
appearance. 

  
2. No person shall be allowed to make personal appearances, presentations, present 

petitions, or otherwise be recognized from the floor for comment, except as 
permitted under the agenda. 

  
3. This procedure shall not apply to representatives of the electronic and print 

media, County staff members, or other County employees who may be recognized 
by the Chairman for questions and comments relating to the business of Council. 

  

CHAPTER 4 

COMMITTEES 

  

A. ASSIGNMENTS 

206

Item 15.



All committees, subcommittees, chairmanship, and tasks shall emanate from the Chairman.  
Upon approval by the Chairman, the County Administrator may assign to a Committee or 
Ad Hoc Committee, specific requests and/or tasks which emerge   either from Council 
discussions, incoming correspondence or memoranda.  Each assignment shall be added to 
the appropriate committee’s work in progress and completed status report.   

  
B. SCHEDULING MEETINGS 
All members of Council are welcome to attend any committee meeting.  Non-committee 
members may enter the discussion, and may have a vote on any matter under the 
committee’s consideration.  

   
C. REPORTING 
From each committee meeting, complete minutes shall be produced, posted on the county 
website and distributed to all Council members. 

  
  

CHAPTER 5 
  

ORDINANCES  
  

Legislative actions of Council are called ordinances.  An ordinance may be introduced by any 
member (§4-9-120).  Except for Emergency Ordinances (reference paragraph G) all 
ordinances must be read at three public meetings of Council on three separate days, with an 
interval not less than seven days between the second and third readings. When substantive 
modifications or amendments to an ordinance are proposed after second reading, the 
Chairman shall remand the ordinance for an additional reading.  All Council proceedings 
must be recorded, and ordinances adopted by Council must be compiled, indexed, codified, 
published, and made available for public inspection at the Office of County Council (§4-9-
130). Public hearings or notice must be held in certain instances: adoption of standard 
codes or technical regulations and furnishing copies thereof, emergency ordinances (§4-9-
110). 

  
A.   NEED FOR PUBLIC HEARING 
Public hearings, after reasonable public notice, must be held before final Council action is 
taken to: 

  
1. Adopt annual operational and capital budgets; 
2. Make appropriations, including supplemental appropriations; 
3. Adopt building, housing, electrical, plumbing, as and all other regulatory codes 

involving penalties; 
4. Adopt zoning and subdivision regulations; 
5. Levy taxes; 
6. Sell, purchase, lease, contract to sell or lease real property owned by the County. 

  

207

Item 15.



The Council may adopt any standard code or technical regulations authorized under §6-9-
60 by reference thereto in the adopting ordinance. The procedure and requirements 
governing the ordinances shall be prescribed for ordinances listed in (1) through (6) above. 

  
Copies of any adopted code of technical regulations shall be made available from the Clerk 
of Council for distribution or for purchase at a reasonable price.  

  

B.  NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
No less than fifteen days’ notice of the time and place of such hearings shall be published in 
at least one newspaper of general circulation in the County.   

  
C.  HANDICAP ACCESSIBILITY 
All public hearings shall be held at locations accessible to the handicapped. 

  
D. SCRIVENER’S ERRORS 
Scrivener’s errors may be made to correct an existing ordinance and approved minutes 
with 8 votes of Council.  

  

E. FLOW CHART OF ORDINANCE PASSAGE 
  
 To be inserted by publisher 
      
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

F. PASSAGE OF EMERGENCY ORDINANCES 
To meet public emergencies affecting life, health, safety or the property of the people, Council 
may adopt Emergency Ordinances. They may not, however, be used to levy taxes, grant, 
renew or extend a franchise or impose or change a service rate. 

  
1. Every Emergency Ordinance shall be designated as such and shall contain a 

declaration that an emergency exists and describe the emergency. 
 

2. Every Emergency Ordinance shall be enacted by the affirmative vote of at least two-
thirds of the members of Council present. 

 
3. An Emergency Ordinance is effective immediately upon its enactment without regard 

to any reading, public hearing, publication requirements or public notice 
requirements. 

208

Item 15.



 

4. Emergency Ordinances shall expire automatically as of the 61st day following the date 
of enactment. 
 

 
CHAPTER 6 

  
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 
1. Any member of Council who has a substantial interest in any business which 

contracts with the County for sale or lease of land, materials, supplies, equipment or 
services, or who personally engages in such matters, shall make known that interest 
and refrain from voting upon or otherwise participating in his/her capacity as a 
member of Council in matters related thereto. 

 
2. No member of Council and no business with which a member of Council is associated 

shall enter into any contract with a governmental agency or department which is to 
be paid in whole or in part out of government funds unless the contract has been 
awarded through a process of public notice and competitive bidding. 

 
3. Any member of Council who has a business interest in any matter before Council, or 

who has a business or ownership interest in any property or business that will be or 
may be directly affected by any ordinance or action item pending by Council, shall 
fully disclose on the record such business or ownership interest prior to casting any 
vote on the matter. 

 
4. Complete and submit the “Beaufort County Statement of Conflict of Interest” form and  

file it with the Clerk to Council. 
  
 

CHAPTER 7 
 

TRAVEL AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT 
  

A. POLICY  
1. Attendance   of   Council   members   at   seminars, conferences, etc.  is 

encouraged.  Advance permission must be secured from the Chairman.   

2. Reimbursement will be made only upon presentation of a County requisition 
form to the Finance Department along with  supporting receipts and 
statements. 

3. The Finance Department shall maintain a list of mileage to various locations 
from Beaufort and reimburse only the mileage for the shortest distance on 
their list. 

  
B. TRAVEL 

209

Item 15.



1. Private Automobile 
 Council shall be reimbursed mileage equal to the rate established by the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS).  When two or more Council members travel 
in the same vehicle, only the individual owner of the vehicle being used shall 
be reimbursed mileage. 

  
2. Commercial 

a. Airplane.  The County shall pay round-trip  economy class fare for Council 
members attending County-related functions.  In the event that  economy 
class fare is not available on any reasonable travel schedule, the County 
shall pay the entire cost of the lowest class fare available. 

b. Bus and Train.  The County shall pay the total round-trip fare for Council 
attending County-related functions. 

c. Taxi Expenses.  The County shall pay for the actual cost of trips  from 
airports to hotel/motel and return; hotel/motel to place of function (if not 
the same) and return. 

  

C. EXPENSES 
1. Registration.   The County will pay the registration costs for authorized 

conventions, conferences and seminars. 
2. Per Diem.  Council members traveling outside the County on County business 

shall receive reimbursement for meals and County-related expenses in 
accordance with the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA). 

3. Official County Meetings.  Reimbursement for official County conferences or 
meetings? must be approved by the Chairman prior to attendance of the 
conference or meeting?. 

  
D. PAYMENTS 

1. Documentation required by the Finance Department must be presented to the 
Finance Department within five (5) working days after return. 

 
E. MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 
1. Upon  approval of the Chairman, all Council members shall be reimbursed for their 

direct expenses as they relate to County business. 
  
IS THERE A SECTION “F” TITLED: “ATTENDANCE AT SEMINARS, CONFERENCES, 
ETC.”? THE DRAFT I RECEIVED HAS SUCH A SECTION. WE HAVE SOME SUGGESTED 
EDITS TO IT.   

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

210

Item 15.



211

Item 16.



212

Item 16.



Beaufort County Boards & Commissions 

Appointments and Reappointments 

1. BEAUFORT COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE APPOINTMENT OF JOHN VAROL TO THE 
BEAUFORT COUNTY TRANSPORATION COMMITTEE FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH 
THE EXPIRATION DATE OF NOVEMBER 2027.  
 RECOMMENDED BY VICE-CHAIR MCELYNN  
 APPROVED BY KRAIG GORDON, BOARD CHAIRMAN 
 DISTRICT 10 RESIDENT, SWAP CHANGE APPROVED BY COUNCIL MEMBER REITZ 
 TERM: 1ST  
 OCCUPATION: RETIRED  

 
 

 
 

213

Item 17.


	Top
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	DONE 09.18.23

	Item 8.	FINANCE DEPARTMENT UPDATE - Denise Christmas, Interim Deputy Administrator & Christine Webb, Director of Compliance
	1STQTRHHAIRPORT
	1STQTRBEAIRPORT
	SOLID WASTE
	1STQTRSTORMWATER
	1stQtrGenFund

	Item 9.	GFOA Award for Excellence in Financial Reporting for 2022
	5 - Certificate
	Announcement of Award
	AFRA, Finance Department
	1 - Result Letter - Qualified

	Item 10.	DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE STATE A-TAX BOARD
	2023_24 2_ ATAX Recommendations Narrative
	2023-2024 State ATAX Applicants Recommendations

	Item 12.	Henry D Amundson
	AIS - IGA- STONEY CREEK SEWER BW 11-13
	IGASCIIPProject.bjwsafinalv3

	Item 13.	AN ORDINANCE DECLARING CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2 MULLET STREET AS SURPLUS PROPERTY,  AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR THE SALE OF THE REAL PROPERTY,  AND ALLOCATING PROCEEDS FROM THE SALE OF REAL PROPERTY
	2 Mullet Street Sale AIS
	Ordinance, 2 Mullet Street
	2 Mullet Survey 2023

	Item 14.	A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY PERSONNEL HANDBOOK
	AIS New Employee Handbook 2024
	Resolution 2024 Employee Handbook
	Summary of Substantive Changes to Employee Handbook - Copy
	FINAL DRAFT EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK - 11.17.2023

	Item 15.	Resolution Adopting Updated Rules and Procedures
	AIS - Council Rules and Procedures
	Resolution Repealing and Replacing Council's Rules and Procedures 2023
	11.15.2023 DRAFT Rules  Procedures_ 10.13.2022 w TJK edits[91]

	Item 16.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AMANDA DICKMAN, LIBRARY DIRECTOR TO THE FIRST STEPS PARTNERSHIP BOARD
	First Steps board appointment_Library Board

	Item 17.	AGENCIES, BOARDS, AND COMMISSIONS APPOINTMENTS & REAPPOINTMENTS
	appt and reappt 11.20.23

	Bottom

